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HIGHLIGHTS

Highlights

Women’s tournaments return 
with a bang 

Following the interruptions caused by the COVID-19 
pandemic, 2022 was the year when football truly was 
able to return to normal – and the delayed FIFA U-17 
Women’s World Cup™ was played in India. In addition, 
the FIFA U-20 Women’s World Cup™ was staged in Costa 
Rica, giving young women from every corner of the world 
the opportunity to shine on the global stage once again. 

Safeguarding, sustainability and 
anti‑discrimination take centre stage 

The delivery of the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
Sustainability Strategy, comprehensive anti-discrimination 
training and an awareness programme, as well as 
continuously working to develop safeguarding policies 
and procedures across the global game, were just some of 
FIFA’s key social responsibility achievements in 2022. 

Football Unites the World  
in Qatar
The globe came together as one to enjoy the FIFA 
World Cup Qatar 2022™, with more than five billion 
people watching around the world, 3.4 million attending 
matches and one million visiting. The 29-day tournament 
proved to be like no other, with Lionel Messi achieving 
his final footballing dream: lifting the FIFA World Cup 
Trophy for his beloved Argentina. 

FIFA Forward drives global  
football development 
With FIFA Forward 3.0 confirmed to launch in January 2023, 
the previous iteration of FIFA’s global football development 
mechanism completed its second cycle with countless 
examples of investment in 2022, taking the total amount 
reinvested back into football through the programme to 
USD 2.3 billion.

Giving every talent a chance 
FIFA launched an innovative FIFA Talent Development 
Scheme, offering bespoke assistance to member 
associations to help them achieve their full potential and 
continuing the measures taken to reduce the disparity in 
the level of football between different regions of the world.

The Vision 2020‑2023 
As it reaches its final year, enormous strides have been 
taken towards achieving each of the 11 goals of The Vision 
2020-2023. The vision was announced by FIFA President 
Gianni Infantino in 2020, on the fourth anniversary of his 
having taken office.  



ANNUAL REPORT 2022

3



4

ROLL OF HONOUR

Roll of honour 2022

2022
February

FIFA Club World 
Cup UAE 2021™

Winners: Chelsea

May

Blue Stars/ 
FIFA Youth Cup™

Men’s winners: FC Basel 1893
Women’s winners: FC Zürich

FIFA U-20 Women’s 
World Cup  

Costa Rica 2022™
Winners: Spain

August

October

FIFA U-17 
Women’s World 
Cup India 2022™

Winners: Spain

November - 
December

FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022™
Winners: Argentina
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FIFA Club World Cup 
Morocco 2022™

February

May - June

FIFA U-20 World Cup 
Indonesia 2023™

FIFA Women’s World 
Cup Australia &  

New Zealand 2023™

July - August

2023

FIFA U-17 World 
Cup Peru 2023™

November - 
December

Tournaments in 2023 and beyond
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The best  
FIFA World 
CupTM ever

FIFA PRESIDENT’S FOREWORD
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The 22nd edition of the FIFA World Cup was 
everything we had all hoped for, and more. 
Not only was it the best-ever edition of 
the tournament, but it was also one that 
definitively proved football’s unifying power 
as fans from all over the world rubbed 
shoulders in and around one city, sharing the 
hope, passion and joy of football with peace 
and harmony. They witnessed incredible 
drama as well as some surprise results, and 
many did so while enjoying the rich culture  
of Qatar and the Arab world for the very  
first time.

Further historic chapters will be written 
into football’s history books in 2023 when 
Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand 
welcome the world for the biggest-ever 
FIFA Women’s World Cup, with 32 teams 
participating for the very first time. Indeed, 
it is FIFA’s duty to ensure not only that global 
tournaments engage with girls and boys, 
women and men from all corners of the 
world, but also that football continues to 
provide opportunities to everyone, wherever 
and whenever they are born.

As the global governing body, we must play 
our part in ensuring a level playing field for 
all our members. The launch of FIFA Forward 
3.0 means that we can do so by providing 
support for development projects, hand-in-
hand with the six Confederations and the 
211 FIFA Member Associations. Over this 
four-year cycle, there will be an increase in 
investment in Forward of 29% compared to 
the previous period, and that means that 
solidarity payments have now increased by 
a factor of seven in the space of just seven 
years. It is important to bear in mind that 
our revenues did not multiply by a factor of 
seven in that time; this increased investment 
is a result of the new FIFA being efficient, well 
governed and fit for purpose.

More than five billion people 
were inspired by football’s 
most iconic tournament in 
2022, helping FIFA to lay 
even stronger foundations 
for the sport’s sustainable 
development.

FIFA PRESIDENT’S FOREWORD
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“It is FIFA’s duty to ensure 
not only that global 
tournaments engage with 
girls and boys, women 
and men from all corners 
of the world, but also 
that football continues to 
provide opportunities to 
everyone, wherever they 
are born.”
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It is our collective duty to create a 
brighter, stronger future for those who 
follow us, through football. It is vital that 
we leverage the game’s power through 
education systems all over the world, 
working with governmental stakeholders 
and non-governmental organisations 
(NGOs) alike, and our FIFA Football for 
Schools programme is just one example 
of that. It is equally important that we 
help to preserve our planet through 
best sustainability practice in our daily 
business, that we use our voice to call out 
discrimination, and that we ensure that, 
in an ever more digital world, players 
performing in FIFA tournaments are 
protected from the scourge of online hate 
speech. In doing so, we must acknowledge 
the impact of such issues on mental 
health, but we also know that we can 
promote a healthier, more active lifestyle. 
Football is such an important platform  
in getting that and many other  
messages across.

Last year drew to a close with Lionel Messi 
lifting the ultimate trophy at the Lusail 
Stadium and being congratulated by Pelé 
on his, and his team’s, achievements. 
Despite the sporting rivalry of their two 
great nations, respect and humanity 
flourished above all. Sadly, just 11 days 
later, “O Rei” left us, uniting the world in 
grief at the news of his passing. I extend 
once more my deepest sympathies to his 
friends, family and loved ones all around 
the world.

In 2023, we will enjoy more international 
football that will stimulate and motivate us, 
and we will witness moments that will fill 
us with emotions. We should cherish each 
of these moments while paving the way for 
many more to be enjoyed in the future.

Yours in football,

Gianni Infantino 
FIFA President

In 2022, the launch of the FIFA Clearing 
House brought more transparency, 
integrity and accountability to the 
global transfer system, ensuring a fairer 
regulation and redistribution of money 
from player transfers throughout the 
football pyramid. Targeted investments, 
accountability and transparency are 
something that we are continually working 
towards, not only through the work of 
FIFA’s Regional Development Offices 
but also through the new base for the 
Member Associations Division in Paris, 
FIFA’s maiden home in 1904. 

Being closer to you all allows us to better 
understand your needs, hear your 
opinions and diversify our approach. 
With that in mind, I would like to thank 
everyone who has contributed to the 
discussions on how the football calendar 
should be shaped in the future, helping 
us to explore new competitions as well 
as optimise the ones that we have. 
Competitions drive development, and 
thanks to the implementation of the 
Talent Development Scheme by Arsène 
Wenger, Jill Ellis and their teams in 2022, 
we can now see a clear pathway towards 
giving every talent a chance in a way that 
also works for the society around them.
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2022 saw a surge in opportunities through football for 
people across the world, with men’s teams in Qatar 
offering inspiration to billions and the best women’s 
teams preparing to go #BeyondGreatness in Australia 
and Aotearoa New Zealand in 2023.

At the beginning of the year, there was much 
uncertainty despite the prospect of the pandemic 
coming to an end. Communities, societies and 
families had been separated by the impact of 
COVID-19, football was either suspended or 
played without fans and the existing health 
challenges were being compounded by problems 
in the global economy. By the end of the year, 
football had reaffirmed its unifying power, and 
together, we have created more opportunities 
for people to be touched by it, and to a greater 
extent than ever before.

It was my pleasure to be at Kinshasa’s Stade des 
Martyrs in February to witness the inaugural 
staging of the Africa Schools Champions Cup, 
organised by FIFA with support from CAF and 
the African Union. For many of the players, their 
journey was the first outside their own country, an 
occasion on which to learn and make new friends 
through the beautiful game. Our belief in football’s 
place at the heart of education is unwavering.

The Football for Schools projects launched 
throughout the year were testament to that belief 
and empowered a range of collaborators outside 
football to support the member associations in the 
realisation of these initiatives. Although the sport 
has an incredible ability to support social change 
on its own, when FIFA works with as many external 
collaborators as possible, we can achieve amazing 
things together.

For FIFA, good results are demonstrated by the 
number of people who can benefit from access to 
our sport, and in 2022 it was evident that women’s 
football is a top priority for all of us in this respect. 
Over the past four years, FIFA has invested heavily 
in women’s football, and while these funds are 
crucial, the female game is also being driven 
forward by stakeholders sharing knowledge 
about their projects. Today, 85% of our member 
associations have strategies in place to develop  
the women’s game and we will be unrelenting in 
our quest to get that number closer to 100%.  
The goal is to have 60 million girls and women 

around the world actively participating in football 
by 2026 and many of those will be spurred into 
action by what they witness in Australia and 
Aotearoa New Zealand this year at what will be the 
biggest-ever FIFA Women’s World Cup.

At the time of writing, we already know of five 
teams whose flags will fly at the tournament for 
the first time and we can therefore already speak 
of a significant legacy potentially being left by the 
tournament. Indeed, creating a lasting impact 
through all of our projects is imperative to the 
health of the global game, all the more so thanks 
to the range of reforms that have taken place 
over the past seven years under the leadership 
of FIFA President Gianni Infantino. I would like 
to thank him for his support on all of the various 
programmes and to congratulate him on earning 
the backing of an overwhelming cross section of 
the member associations for another term  
in office.

We can be satisfied with the progress made, but 
we must never rest on our laurels. The success of 
the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 was the product of 
much hard work from the FIFA team and our many 
trusted collaborators and the football played was 
indeed a delight to behold, but various challenges 
lie ahead, such as preparing new competitions, 
advancing football development and paving the 
way for a FIFA World Cup in three countries in 
2026, to name but a few. Whatever the challenge, 
our commitment to working efficiently and taking a 
truly global approach to the world’s most popular 
sport will be crucial and we appreciate everyone’s 
support in that endeavour.

Yours sincerely, 

 
Fatma Samoura 
FIFA Secretary General



LOOKING AHEAD

The FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
may be over but there is plenty 
more to look forward to in 
the months ahead, including 
the ninth edition of the FIFA 
Women’s World Cup™ as well 
as the FIFA Club World Cup™. 
Indonesia and Peru will also be 
hosting FIFA tournaments, as 
football continues to be truly 
global. In addition, an election 
for FIFA President will take 
place in March. 
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Looking ahead

February: FIFA Club  
World Cup 2022™ 
Seven clubs representing the six 
confederations, including Real Madrid 
(UEFA), Wydad (CAF), Flamengo 
(CONMEBOL), Seattle Sounders 
(Concacaf), Auckland City (OFC),  
Al Ahly (CAF) and Al Hilal (AFC), will 
compete in the 19th edition of this 
tournament in Morocco in 2023.

February: Play-Off 
Tournament for the  
FIFA Women’s World Cup 
Australia & New Zealand 
2023™ 

Ten teams – two each from the AFC, 
Concacaf, CAF and CONMEBOL and 
one each from the OFC and UEFA – will 
travel to Aotearoa New Zealand to 
compete in an inter-zonal competition 
for the final three slots at the FIFA 
Women’s World Cup 2023™. Matches 
will take place in Hamilton/Kirikiriroa 
and Auckland/Tāmaki Makaurau from 
18 to 23 February.

March: 73rd FIFA Congress 
The 73rd FIFA Congress will take 
place in Kigali, Rwanda, on Thursday, 
16 March and will include the 
election of the FIFA President for  
a four-year mandate.

March: Draw for the 
FIFA U-20 World Cup 
Indonesia 2023™ 
The draw for the group stage of the 
tournament will be held in Jakarta 
in March 2023. The 24 teams will 
be divided into pots, according to 
their seedings, and drawn into six 
groups of four. Hosts Indonesia will 
be automatically seeded to Pot 1 
and placed into the first position 
of Group A. Teams include the 
Dominican Republic, who will be 
taking part in a FIFA tournament for 
the first time.

20 July – 20 August:  
FIFA Women’s World Cup 
Australia & New Zealand 
2023™ 
The ninth edition of the FIFA Women’s 
World Cup™ kicks off at Eden Park 
Stadium in Auckland/Tāmaki Makaurau 
on 20 July and will feature 32 teams, 
having been expanded from the 
previous 24-team format in response 
to the remarkable growth of the 
women’s game. 

It will be the first FIFA Women’s World 
Cup to be staged in the southern 
hemisphere and the first to be  
co-hosted by two member associations. 
It will also be the first senior FIFA 
tournament to be held in Oceania. 

The tournament, which will see the 
USA try to defend the title they won in 
France in 2019, will be played across 
nine cities and ten stadiums and will 
end on 20 August 2023 with the final in 
Sydney/Gadigal at Stadium Australia.

February: The Best FIFA 
Football Awards™ 
On 27 February, in Paris, FIFA will 
honour the beautiful game’s most 
outstanding performers in 2022. In 
addition to crowning the best male 
and female players of the year – and 
the best coaches – the FIFA Puskás 
Award will also be given to the best 
goal of the year. There will also be 
awards for fair play and  
fan commitment.

May – June: FIFA U-20  
World Cup Indonesia 2023™ 
Indonesia will stage a major FIFA event 
for the first time when it hosts the 23rd 
edition of a tournament that is firmly 
established in the football calendar. 
The 24-team contest often provides a 
sneak preview of some of the stars of 
the future. The tournament, which will 
take place from 20 May until 11 June, 
was originally scheduled for 2021 
but was postponed because of the 
COVID-19 pandemic.
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November – December: 
FIFA Beach Soccer World 
Cup UAE 2023™ 

After first playing host to the tournament 
in 2009, Dubai will again be the setting 
for the FIFA Beach Soccer World Cup™ 
at the end of 2023 – when 16 nations 
will compete for the title of world 
champions. It will be the 12th edition of 
the tournament.

15

November – December: 
FIFA U-17 World Cup  
Peru 2023™ 

Peru will stage the FIFA U-17 World 
Cup™ for the second time, having 
previously hosted the tournament 
in 2005 when it was won by Mexico. 
Twenty-four teams will take part with 
matches to be played in five cities – 
Lima, Callao, Tacna, Chiclayo and Piura. 
The competition – which will be played 
from 10 November until 2 December 
2023 – was originally planned for 2021 
but had to be postponed because of 
the COVID-19 pandemic. 
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2022 AT A GLANCE

2022 at a 
glance

In 2022, history was 
made as Lionel Messi’s 
Argentina were crowned 
champions of the 
football world in Qatar 
and the best-ever FIFA 
World Cup™ was staged. 
However, 2022 was a 
remarkable year for FIFA 
on many levels.

The images of Lionel Messi lifting aloft 
the most precious trophy in world 
sport was the crowning moment in a 
tournament – and final – that will be 
remembered forever. Every one of the 
88,966 fans packed into Lusail Stadium 
on 18 December 2022 will be able to 
say that they were present not only at 
arguably the greatest FIFA World Cup™ 
final to have ever been played, but also 
at one of the greatest games ever.

In a tournament of firsts, the 22nd 
edition of the FIFA World Cup™ took 
place in the Arab and Muslim world.  
It was the first in which fans could 
attend multiple games in a single day, 
and the first in which fans of 32 nations 
were able to all gather in a single place.  
It was fitting that it should end with  
a final like no other. 
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The tournament culminated in a match 
filled with unexpected twists and turns, 
heartbreak and emotion, as the best 
players in the world went toe-to-toe for 
120 minutes in a pulsating 3-3 draw. In 
the end, only penalties could separate 
Didier Deschamps’ France team from 
Lionel Scaloni’s Argentina. By the time 
Gonzalo Montiel stepped up to take the 
decisive penalty, the tournament had 
already cemented its place in history as 
the greatest-ever FIFA World Cup.

In addition to the FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022™, the year also saw a wide 
range of FIFA tournaments, activities 
and initiatives delivered. 

In February, Chelsea were crowned FIFA 
Club World Cup™ champions for the 
first time in their history after beating 
Brazil’s Palmeiras at the Mohammed bin 
Zayed Stadium in Abu Dhabi. 

The future of the women’s game 
in Spain is bright, with the country 
completing a memorable double in 
2022. In August, led by Pedro López, 
they were crowned FIFA U-20 Women’s 
World Cup™ champions in Costa Rica. 
Two months later, Kenio Gonzalo’s side 
matched the feat by winning the FIFA 
U-17 Women’s World Cup India 2022™.

The Blue Stars/FIFA Youth Cup also 
returned, the Host Cities for the FIFA 
World Cup 2026™ were confirmed 
and FIFA+, a free streaming service 
that shows live matches, on-demand 
shows, documentaries and full 
match replays from various FIFA 
competitions, launched to  
widespread acclaim.
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FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™

The 22nd edition of 
the FIFA World Cup™ 
took place in Qatar in 
November and December 
and proved to be an 
unforgettable 29 days.

FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022™
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The FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ was 
always certain to be a tournament like 
no other. It was the first time that the 
most famous competition in global 
sport was held in the Arab world, 
that it was played in such a small 
geographic area, and that fans of all 
32 nations could congregate in one 
space to bond over a shared passion. 
It was also the first time that Lionel 
Messi finally got his hands on the most 
coveted prize of them all: the FIFA 
World Cup Trophy.

After six goals in the Argentina v. 
France match, including a hat-trick 

for France’s Kylian Mbappé, and 
120 minutes of pulsating action in 
what many are calling the greatest 
final ever, it proved to be a fairy-tale 
ending for Messi as – after having 
scored a brace – his converted 
penalty helped send Argentina  
on their way to a 4-2 penalty  
shoot-out victory against the  
reigning champions. 

In 2022, records were broken on 
and off the pitch – and with a total of 
172 goals scored during the 64-game 
tournament, the goalscoring record 
was one of those to fall. 

Five, and arguably some of the most 
pivotal, were scored by Argentina’s 
captain, Lionel Messi. Not even the 
Albiceleste’s fiercest rivals could 
begrudge this wonderful player his 
well-deserved moment with the prize 
he had coveted for so long. During 
the trophy presentation ceremony, 
he was also given the honour of 
being named the adidas Golden Ball 
winner, an award decided by the FIFA 
Technical Group.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Morocco: pride of Africa and the Arab world 

In a FIFA World Cup™ packed with 
surprises and intrigue from the 
off, few other squads managed to 
win the hearts and minds quite 
like Morocco, who became the first 
nation from Africa, and the first-
ever Arab nation, to reach the semi-
final stage.

For the first time in 88 years, an 
African team reached the World Cup 
semi-finals. 

Morocco were the continental 
trailblazers. After sinking Belgium 
in the group stage, they eliminated 
Spain in the round of 16 and 
Portugal in the quarter-finals. The 
Atlas Lions also gave France a strict 
examination in the semi-finals 
before losing an end-to-end 
encounter with Croatia 2-1 in the 
battle for third place.

FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™



Qatar 2022TM 
fact file
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Honourable mentions 

Croatia

Croatia’s achievements are among the 
greatest in FIFA World Cup history. 
Despite a population of less than four 
million, they finished second and third 
in back-to-back editions. 

While Zlatko Dalić lost several key 
players of his 2018 side, such as 
Danijel Subašić, Ivan Rakitić and Mario 
Mandžukić, new stars emerged in the 
shape of Dominik Livaković and Joško 
Gvardiol to complement the divine 
talent of Luka Modrić. The Croatian 
highlight was the stunning elimination 
of tournament favourites Brazil en 
route to finishing third. 

 

FIFA Fan Festival™ 
attendances
1.8 million visitors 

Stadium 
attendances 

3.4 million 
spectators 

Goals 

172  
(a new record)

Volunteers 

20,000 from 150 
different nations  
(selected from a record 
420,000 applications)
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Japan 

It was not to be for four-time champions 
Germany or 21st-century titans Spain in 
Group E. Japan had other ideas, and in 
slaying both those giants they finished 
top in the group. The Samurai Blue also 
became only the third team in World Cup 
history, and the first since West Germany 
in 1970, to win two separate games in 
which they had been trailing at half-time. 

FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™
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FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022™ 
award winners

adidas Golden Boot

Kylian Mbappé  
(FRA)

adidas Golden Glove

Emiliano Martínez  
(ARG)

Young Player Award

Enzo Fernández  
(ARG)

adidas Golden Ball 

Lionel Messi  
(ARG)

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

Kylian Mbappé

With eight goals in seven appearances, 
the France talisman joined an elite 
group of six men to have scored eight 
or more goals in a single edition of the 
tournament. Mbappé became just the 
fifth player in FIFA World Cup history to 
score in separate finals, the first to score 
a hat-trick in a final since Geoff Hurst 
in 1966, and is now established as the 
highest-scoring player in the history of 
football’s showpiece fixture with four 
goals across the 2018 and 2022 matches.



FIFA CLUB WORLD CUP 2021™
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English Premier League side  
beat Palmeiras late in extra  
time as European teams  
continue to dominate.

Chelsea win  
FIFA Club World 
Cup™ for the 
first time

29

The FIFA Club World Cup UAE 2021™, presented by 
Alibaba Cloud, was delayed until February 2022 due 
to the knock-on effects of the COVID-19 pandemic. 
The title went to a European side for the ninth time 
in a row as Chelsea beat South American champions 
Palmeiras 2-1 late in extra time of the final. In fact, 
Chelsea had been the last European side to lose 
in the final, when they were beaten by Palmeiras’ 
neighbours Corinthians back in 2012.

Palmeiras became the eighth Brazilian team to reach 
the final thanks to Raphael Veiga and Dudu scoring 
either side of half-time to give them a 2-0 semi-final 
win over CAF champions Al Ahly, who had eliminated 
Concacaf champions Monterrey with a 1-0 win in the 
second round.

Meanwhile, Chelsea overcame AFC champions Al 
Hilal – who had previously beaten Al Jazira from the 
host nation – thanks to the match’s only goal, scored 
by Belgium forward Romelu Lukaku after half an 
hour of their semi-final. 
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Lukaku struck again when he headed in Callum 
Hudson-Odoi’s cross to put Chelsea ahead in the 
54th minute of the final at the Mohammed bin 
Zayed Stadium. But Palmeiras, given impressive 
backing throughout the tournament by a large 
contingent of supporters who had travelled to Abu 
Dhabi from various parts of the world, levelled ten 
minutes later with a penalty converted by Veiga. 

The game appeared to be heading for penalties 
until Kai Havertz converted a penalty, awarded for 
handball, with three minutes remaining in extra 
time. Al Ahly beat Al Hilal 4-0 to win the  
third-place play-off.

Real Madrid, with four titles, are the competition’s 
most successful team followed by Barcelona with 
three and Corinthians and Bayern Munich with 
two apiece.

FIFA CLUB WORLD CUP 2021™
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Awards
adidas Golden Ball

Thiago Silva (Chelsea)

adidas Silver Ball

Dudu (Palmeiras)

adidas Bronze Ball

Danilo (Palmeiras)

Alibaba Cloud Award

Thiago Silva

FIFA Fair Play Trophy

Chelsea

Away from  
the pitch
FIFA and the World Health Organization (WHO) ran 
a special campaign throughout the FIFA Club World 
Cup UAE 2021, encouraging football fans, world 
leaders and policymakers to work together to end 
the COVID-19 pandemic.

The #ACTogether campaign encouraged people 
to get vaccinated and keep following public health 
measures daily to prevent the spread of COVID-19. 
It also appealed to world leaders and policymakers 
to support the WHO’s Access to COVID-19 Tools 
(ACT) Accelerator, an initiative aimed at providing 
fair access to COVID-19 vaccines, treatments  
and diagnostics.

The #ACTogether branding was displayed on 
pitchside perimeter boards and the campaign video 
was played on giant screens at the stadiums.

31

“I think it’s so important for 
the fight against COVID-19 that 
everyone gets the same access  
to the vaccines.”

Didier Drogba
FIFA Legend and WHO Goodwill Ambassador  
for Sport and Health 

“I’ve waited 37 years 
for this moment. I’ve 
made a lot of sacrifices 
for this. It’s so, so 
difficult to become a 
world champion. I’m 
really happy. We’re all 
really happy.” 
Thiago Silva
Chelsea 
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The Blue Stars/FIFA Youth Cup 
returned for its 82nd edition in Zurich 
following the COVID-19 pandemic, 
which had forced the tournament to 
be cancelled in both 2020 and 2021. 
The U-19 tournament was first held in 
1939 and the likes of Pep Guardiola, 
David Beckham, Xherdan Shaqiri, Kaká 
and Seraina Piubel are among those 
who took part before going on to 
achieve worldwide fame.

The men’s and women’s competitions, 
featuring eight teams each, were 
both won by Swiss clubs on penalties. 
FC Basel 1893 emerged victorious 
in the men’s tournament, beating 
Germany’s 1. FSV Mainz 05 5-4 in 
the shoot-out after a goalless draw 
in the final. In the women’s event, 
Olympique Lyonnais led the final until 
the closing minutes when FC Zürich 
scored to clinch a 1-1 draw before 
going on to win 6-5 on penalties.

Blue Stars/
FIFA Youth 
Cup™ 
returns 
after 
two-year 
absence

BLUE STARS/FIFA YOUTH CUP 2022™

Swiss teams won both 
the men’s and women’s 
tournaments at the 
traditional U-19 event  
in Zurich.
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“It was an amazing 
experience to be able to 
play at this tournament. 
I’m so proud of our team – 
the fact that we were able 
to come out on top against 
international opponents  
is incredible.”

Leela Egli
FC Zürich, Best Women’s Player

“It’s a very important 
tournament for young 
players. It helps them grow 
and develop, and they 
come up against other very 
competitive teams from 
different countries.”

Nuno Gomes
Former SL Benfica and Portugal forward 

Awards

Best Men’s Player

Brajan Gruda  
(1. FSV Mainz 05)

Best Women’s Goalkeeper

Féérine Belhadj   
(Olympique Lyonnais)

Best Men’s Goalkeeper

Tim Spycher   
(FC Basel)

FIFA Fair Play Trophy

VfL Wolfsburg  
(women)

SL Benfica  
(men)

Best Women’s Player 

Leela Egli  
(FC Zürich)



FIFA U-20 WOMEN’S WORLD CUP COSTA RICA 2022™

Spain crowned FIFA 
U-20 Women’s World 
Cup™ champions

34
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At the end of a  
thrilling 18-day 
competition, Spain laid 
the ghosts of 2018 to 
rest by beating Japan 
in a repeat final of the 
previous edition.

In October, the best young female 
players from 16 nations representing 
all six confederations competed for the 
title of FIFA U-20 Women’s World Cup™ 
champions. Played in two host cities – 
Alajuela and San José, over 18 days – the 
final took on a familiar line-up, as Spain 
and Japan went head-to-head for the 
second edition in a row. 

In 2018, Japan were victorious, but four 
years later Spain laid the ghosts to rest 
by the same 3-1 scoreline. A goal from 
Inma Gabarro and two from Salma 
Paralluelo gave Pedro López’s side what 
turned out to be an unassailable 3-0 
head start, with Suzu Amano’s goal two 
minutes into the second half proving to 
be nothing more than a consolation.

It was Spain’s first title at U-20 level,  
meanwhile it was also a hugely 
successful tournament for the 
Netherlands and Brazil, who both 
reached the semi-final stage: 
Netherlands, for the first time in their 
history, and Brazil for the first time 
since 2006. However, in 2022, they both 
narrowly lost out 2-1, to Spain and  
Japan respectively.

Although the results may not have been 
what they had wished for, host side 
Costa Rica certainly touched the hearts 
of the nation, drawing combined crowds 
in excess of 56,000 for their three 
group-stage games. 
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adidas Golden Glove

Txell Font  
(ESP)

FIFA Fair Play Trophy

Japan
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Awards

adidas Golden Ball

          Goals

Maika Hamano 
(JPN)

8

“I’m in shock. I can’t 
believe what we 
achieved. We are an 
incredible team. I have 
no words to describe 
what we did.” 
Inma Gabarro 
Spain

adidas Silver Ball

          Goals

Inma Gabarro 
(ESP)

4

adidas Bronze Ball

          Goals

Tarciane 
(BRA)

3
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FIFA U-20 WOMEN’S WORLD CUP COSTA RICA 2022™

Away from the pitch

The FIFA U-20 Women’s World Cup Costa 
Rica 2022™ was not only about the best 
young talent on the pitch, it was also an 
opportunity for FIFA to continue its work  
to make football truly global. During the  
18-day tournament, a wide range of 
activities and initiatives also took place. 
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“It’s not just that we’re 
all here today, but that 
we’re all here today 
with a smile, with 
happiness, with a heart 
filled with joy.”
Gianni Infantino
FIFA President

Gianni Infantino 
inaugurates FIFA 
Forward project

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

In May 2022, FIFA launched 
the second edition of its Coach 
Mentorship Programme, in which 
20 women from across the world 
were mentored by 20 of the game’s 
most accomplished coaches. The 
accomplished mentor list included 
two FIFA Women’s World Cup™-
winning coaches and the Canada 
women’s national football team and 
Olympic Gold-winning head coach, 
Bev Priestman (pictured below).

As one of the eight programmes 
available under the FIFA Women’s 
Development Programme banner, the 

FIFA Coach Mentorship Programme 
aims to develop and empower a new 
generation of female coaches who  
are individually mentored by a top 
coach from the women’s game over 
an 18-month period. 

In a key milestone of the programme, 
the coaches came together for a 
three-day workshop at the FIFA U-20 
Women’s World Cup Costa Rica 2022, 
which provided an invaluable forum 
for knowledge-sharing between 
the coaches and saw some of the 
mentees and mentors meet in person 
for the first time.

FIFA Coach Mentorship Programme  
taken to the next level

On Sunday, 28 August, FIFA President 
Gianni Infantino visited the sports 
complex of the Costa Rican Football 
Association (FCRF) in Alajuela, where he 
held a series of meetings and cut the 
ribbon on a football pitch funded by 
FIFA’s Forward Programme.

The pitch inauguration was also 
attended by Costa Rican President 
Rodrigo Chaves Robles, FIFA Secretary 
General Fatma Samoura, and FCRF 
President Rodolfo Villalobos, as well 
as other dignitaries, leaders and 
prominent figures from the world  
of football.

The delegation then took a tour of the 
complex’s facilities, which included the 
new natural-grass pitch. The work was 
initiated in March 2022 and concluded 
three months later. The pitch 
represents part of the legacy of the 
FIFA U-20 Women’s World Cup Costa 
Rica 2022™ and will be exclusively used 
by women’s teams. In fact, during the 
tournament, it was used as an official 
training pitch, and a commemorative 
plaque to mark the moment  
was unveiled.
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FIFA U-20 WOMEN’S WORLD CUP COSTA RICA 2022™

The host nation of the FIFA U-20 
Women’s World Cup 2022™ seized 
the moment to launch Football for 
Schools, the FIFA programme that 
uses football as a social development 
tool within the school curriculum of 
the countries that implement it. 

The official ceremony took place at 
the Estadio Municipal in Tibás on 
Friday, 12 August. In attendance were, 
among others, FIFA Secretary General 
Fatma Samoura, Football for Schools 

Director Fatimata Sidibé and Costa 
Rican football legends Shirley Cruz 
and Paulo Wanchope.

The festival of football brought 
together 100 local schoolchildren,  
and brought the curtain down on 
a two-day workshop run by FIFA 
instructors, during which they 
provided training to the 29 educators 
who will be responsible for passing  
on the methodology to all of Costa 
Rica’s regions.

Football for Schools launches in Costa Rica
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FIFA safeguarding programme breaks new ground

The FIFA U-20 Women’s World Cup 
Costa Rica 2022 saw the introduction 
and successful implementation of  
the first-ever comprehensive  
event-safeguarding programme at  
a FIFA youth tournament. 

Concrete and expert-supported 
measures were put in place to ensure 
the protection and well-being of players 
and adults, both participating in and 
attending the event. In line with FIFA’s 
commitment to embed safeguarding 
measures across the game, processes 
were designed to minimise risks of 
abuse, exploitation and harassment 
towards children and adults.

The measures included the guarantee 
of one FIFA safeguarding official on 
duty for each of the 32 matches, as well 
as a representative from Costa Rica’s 
National Children’s Institute. 

The programme also included, amongst 
other initiatives, a presentation on 
safeguarding at each Team Arrival 
Meeting, visits to the teams’ training 
sites and hotels during the tournament 
and the development and distribution 
of materials at venues to raise 
awareness and provide guidance on 
the scope of the reporting mechanism 
available for incidents. 



FIFA U-17 WOMEN’S WORLD CUP INDIA 2022™

Kenio Gonzalo’s U-17s 
followed in the footsteps 
of the country’s U-20 
side to make it a FIFA 
Women’s World CupTM 
double in 2022.

Spain reign 
supreme  
once again

40
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Just 94 days after lifting the FIFA U-20 
Women’s World Cup Costa Rica 2022™, 
Spain were once again victorious as they 
edged past Colombia to win the FIFA U-17 
Women’s World Cup India 2022™ after 
almost three weeks of compelling action.

The seventh edition of the tournament took 
place across three Host Cities in India and 
included 16 nations from six confederations. 
Over the 19-day tournament, 32 games 
were played, 95 goals scored and over 
185,000 people attended games, as the best 
young players from around the world went 
toe-to-toe for the honour of being crowned 
world champions.

On the day of the final, in front of 
24,824 people and in a closely fought 
contest, it was an 82nd-minute own goal from 
Ana Guzmán that propelled Spain to their 
second consecutive title at U-17 level.

Earlier on the same day, and also in the 
DY Patil Stadium in Navi Mumbai, the 
two beaten semi-finalists – Nigeria and 
Germany – played out a thrilling 3-3 draw 
in the battle for third place. It was a 
battle Nigeria eventually won, following a 
3-2 victory on penalties. Having never gone 
further than the quarter-final stage before, 
it was a record-breaking finish for Bankole 
Olowookere’s side.

Three countries made their debuts in the 
competition: hosts India, Morocco and 
Tanzania. India had the most experience 
of the three but came up short against the 
USA, Morocco and Brazil. Despite Morocco’s 
handsome win against India, they too fell at 
the first hurdle. 

Bucking the trend were Tanzania, who 
sprang a major surprise in the country’s 
very first FIFA World Cup appearance. 
They beat France 2-1 and drew 1-1 with 
Canada to qualify for the knockout phase. 
Even though defeated 3-0 by Colombia in 
the quarter-finals, the Tanzanians had an 
unforgettable experience on their debut on 
the global stage.

Awards
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adidas Golden Ball

Vicky López (ESP)

adidas Silver Ball

Linda Caicedo (COL)

adidas Bronze Ball

Mara Alber (GER)

adidas Golden Glove

Sofía Fuente (ESP)

FIFA Fair Play Trophy

Japan 
FIFA tournament regulations state that for 
players finishing on equal goals scored, 
the Golden Boot winner shall be decided 
by: assists, fewest minutes played and 
finally Technical Study Group selection.

adidas Golden Boot

          Goals

Loreen Bender (GER)

4

adidas Silver Boot

          Goals

Momoko  
Tanikawa (JPN)

4

adidas Bronze Boot

          Goals

Linda Caicedo (COL)

4
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FIFA U-17 WOMEN’S WORLD CUP INDIA 2022™

Away from 
the pitch

As well as all the action 
on the pitch, the 19-day 
tournament in India also 
allowed for a series of 
important events to take 
place away from the pitch, 
as FIFA continued to ensure 
the legacy of the tournament 
lives on long after the final 
ball was kicked.
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“This is a partnership to 
give every talent of India 
a chance to become 
a world star, but also, 
more than that, to try to 
make every Indian girl 
and boy benefit from 
the values of football.”
Gianni Infantino
FIFA President

On the day of the final, FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino signed 
a memorandum of understanding 
(MoU) with the Ministry of Education 
in India and the All India Football 
Federation (AIFF) to launch Football 
for Schools across India, with the goal 
of reaching 25 million schoolchildren 
throughout the country. 

At the event, representing the 
local government and football 
authorities, the MoU was also 
signed by India’s Minister of 
Education, Dharmendra Pradhan, 
and the President of the AIFF, 
Kalyan Chaubey.

Football for Schools launches in India

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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FIFA U-17 WOMEN’S WORLD CUP INDIA 2022™

Volunteers seize their 
chance to shine at the 
FIFA U-17 Women’s 
World Cup India 2022™

Close to 650 volunteers were selected 
from over 7,000 people who applied 
to be a part of the tournament. 
The volunteers across the three 
venues were given intensive training 
and worked closely with the Local 
Organising Committee (LOC) to ensure 
all key deliverables were met. 

Working under the guidance of the 
LOC’s Volunteer Management Team, 
supported by the FIFA Volunteer 
Management Department, many of 
them were motivated to be part of the 
20-day tournament by the chance to be 
close to the sporting action and their 
lifelong passion for football.

“I love football so much that if you  
ask me what would be my last wish 
before life ends, I would say I want  
to play a game of football. So, there 
was no way I was going to miss out 
on this opportunity,” said 23-year-old 
Solomon Ogba when asked about the 
reason he decided to volunteer for  
the tournament. 

FIFA’s volunteer programme provides 
an opportunity to people from all walks 
of life to be a part of its tournaments 
and learn by working with FIFA officials. 
Participants not only end up with 
lifelong memories but also get to 
witness the sporting action from the 
closest of quarters.
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Among those volunteering in 
India were 12 young nationals, 
who became part of FIFA 
history because of an important 
responsibility that they had  
been assigned. 

This group worked as safeguarding 
volunteers for the tournament, 
the first time a FIFA youth 
tournament had engaged people 
in this role to support the on-site 
safeguarding competition team. 
This was made possible thanks 
to the collaboration between the 
Volunteer Management team and 
the Safeguarding & Child Protection 
Department at FIFA. 

FIFA’s safeguarding programme is 
aimed at protecting participants 
and fans from abuse, exploitation 
and harassment. It was first 
implemented at the FIFA U-20 
Women’s World Cup Costa Rica 
2022™. At the tournament, one 
FIFA safeguarding official was on 
duty for each of the 32 matches, 
along with a representative  
from Costa Rica’s National 
Children’s Institute. 

Safeguarding added to the volunteers’ agenda 
for the first time
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On a glitzy summer’s evening in  
New York City, FIFA confirmed 
the 16 cities chosen to host the 
23rd edition of the FIFA World Cup™.

Diversity and 
entertainment 
whet appetite 
for 2026 as Host 
Cities announced  
in New York

“I think this part of the world doesn’t realise what 
will happen here in 2026,” a smiling Gianni Infantino 
told the media in New York, who gathered in June 
for the big reveal of the 16 Host Cities chosen for the 
23rd edition of the FIFA World Cup™. “The world will be 
invading Canada, Mexico and the USA with a big wave 
of joy and happiness, because that’s what football is  
all about.”

FIFA President Gianni Infantino was joined at the top 
table by Concacaf counterpart and FIFA Vice-President 
Victor Montagliani, both reflecting on the unifying force 
of the biggest-ever FIFA World Cup on such diverse, 
multicultural communities. 

“This is a beautiful 
moment.” 

Hirving Lozano
Mexico international
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FIFA WORLD CUP 2026™ HOST CITY ANNOUNCEMENT 

“There are so many 
beautiful cities.”

Christian Pulisic
USA international

A taste of the entertainment to come in 
the first-ever 48-team FIFA World Cup 
was on show in the New York studio 
broadcast that revealed the 16 Host Cities 
in June 2022. Fox Sports quartet Rob 
Stone, 1994 FIFA World Cup™ star Alexi 
Lalas, Stu Holden and Jenny Taft were 
joined by Telemundo duo Andrés Cantor 
and Ana Jurka and music artist and 
actress Becky G in announcing the cities 
that would welcome the world in 2026. 

The latter, the daughter of 
American-Mexican parents, rounded 
off the event with a performance, 
having released her second studio 
album not long before, suggesting  
that the first tournament to be  
co-hosted by three countries will be 
one of diversity and entertainment.



ANNUAL REPORT 2022

On-pitch news also created a buzz in 
the Big Apple, with all three member 
associations having confirmed their 
places at the FIFA World Cup 2022™ 
directly through Concacaf qualifying. 

Jonathan Osorio helped Canada 
to their first appearance at the 
tournament since 1986 and was 
delighted by the selection of Toronto 
and Vancouver as he took part in 
the live show alongside the USA’s 
Christian Pulisic and Mexico’s Hirving 
Lozano. “It’s amazing that the World 
Cup is finally coming to Canada; it’s 
something as kids it was hard to  
even dream of,” Osorio enthused. 
“This will be huge for the growth of  
the game, similar to what the 
1994 FIFA World Cup did for soccer 
in the USA. It will grow the sport and 
unite the people.”

Host Cities
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“We’re both sons of 
immigrants, me in 
North America and 
Gianni [Infantino] in 
Switzerland, and football 
is probably what linked 
us to our fathers more 
than anything else. 
So, this is, obviously, a 
momentous occasion 
for our region and a 
watershed moment for 
our sport.”

Victor Montagliani
Concacaf President  
and FIFA Vice-President

•  Atlanta 

•  Boston 

•  Dallas

•  Guadalajara

•  Houston

•  Kansas City

•  Los Angeles

•  Mexico City 

•  Miami 

•  Monterrey

•   New Jersey/ 
New York

•  Philadelphia 

•  San Francisco 

•  Seattle 

•  Toronto

•  Vancouver 
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In 2022, FIFA announced the landmark launch of 
FIFA+, the free digital platform created to bring 
football fans across the globe closer to the game 
they love. Since its launch, the platform has 
continued to go from strength to strength.

FIFA+: the new digital 
home for football fans
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“FIFA+ represents the 
next step in our vision 
to make football truly 
global and inclusive.” 
Gianni Infantino
FIFA President 

In April, FIFA announced the launch 
of FIFA+, a free world-class digital 
platform created to bring football fans 
across the globe closer to the game 
they love. 

The launch of FIFA+ means fans can 
access live football matches from 
every corner of the world, as well 
as a series of interactive games, 
news, tournament information, 
groundbreaking, unrivalled video 
content delivering truly global 
storytelling around the men’s and 
women’s game and much more.

In having launched the platform, FIFA 
became the first sports federation ever 
to offer such an extensive streaming 
and content experience to its fans. 

“FIFA+ represents the next step in our 
vision to make football truly global and 
inclusive, and it underpins FIFA’s core 
mission of expanding and developing 
football globally,” said FIFA President 
Gianni Infantino. 

“This project represents a cultural 
shift in the way different types of 
football fans want to connect with 
and explore the global game and 
has been a fundamental part of my 
2020-2023 vision. It will accelerate the 
democratisation of football and we are 
delighted to share it with fans.”
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FIFA+

Redefining digital football fandom

The completely free platform launched 
with a slate of original content, 
an in-depth archive and extensive 
live coverage, including 40,000 live 
matches from around the world and 
award‑winning documentaries like 
Croatia: Defining a Nation, Captains, and 
Ronaldinho: The Happiest Man in  
the World.

Building on this wealth of content and 
ahead of the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022™, FIFA+ entered its second 
stage and transformed before the 
tournament kicked off to welcome 
a host of new, immersive and 
engaging features that brought a truly 
game-changing experience to fans 
around the world.

FIFA+ captured the tournament 
in full across its channels, with an 
industry-leading live blog running 
non-stop, capturing the sights, sounds, 
atmosphere and energy of the world’s 
biggest football celebration. 

The platform was also FIFA’s official 
home of video highlights, with each 
and every match recapped within 
minutes of the final whistle and all the 
thrills, drama and emotion available to 
fans in every corner of the globe – with 
a version available to watch in sign 
language as well. 

For those in Qatar, the 
groundbreaking FIFA+ Stadium 
Experience revolutionised how 
fans enjoyed the beautiful game. 

The function, which allowed fans at 
matches in Qatar to use multiple 
camera views or see an augmented 
reality overlay of match statistics on 
the pitch in real time on their phone 
using the FIFA+ app, went viral around 
the world, with a TikTok video landing 
more than 26.2 million views on TikTok 
alone, with millions more shares on 
other platforms.

Elsewhere, the FIFA+ Play Zone 
featured the official FIFA World Cup™ 
Fantasy game, played by millions 
around the world, while the digital 
Panini Sticker Album, daily predictor 
challenge and World Cup trivia game 
kept fans engaged each and  
every second.
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In a groundbreaking first for FIFA, FIFA+ 
live-streamed the entire tournament 
for free in Brazil, partnering with the 
likes of YouTube streaming sensation 
Casimiro and Brazilian legend Ronaldo 
to deliver an innovative and engaging 
feed to a new generation of fans.

The streams were responsible for 
more than 40 million unique visitors, 
while the dramatic quarter-final 
against Croatia saw a huge 6.9 million 
concurrent viewers – a world record for 
a live stream on YouTube.

All of the above was underpinned by  
a personalised experience and a 
rich notification integration, where 
fans registered for free, chose their 
favourite FIFA World Cup team and 
enjoyed a bespoke journey through 
the tournament, with news, highlights, 
insights and analysis relevant to  
them specifically.

With 2023 set to bring even more 
innovation than ever before, FIFA+ 
is looking to continue redefining the 
future of digital football fandom.
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY & EDUCATION

Positively impacting society through the power 
of football is a key goal in The Vision 2020-2023. 
Throughout the past 12 months, FIFA has played 
an active role in improving matters in a wide 
range of sustainability, anti-discrimination and 
safeguarding initiatives.

The FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
represented a large part of FIFA’s 
work throughout 2022 – with 
groundbreaking firsts not only 
taking place on the pitches in 
Qatar, but in the stands too.

Social 
Responsibility  
& Education
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SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY & EDUCATION

Delivery of the Sustainability Strategy in Qatar 

The FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ was 
a game changer in terms of organising 
a sustainable tournament. As well as 
there being no need for internal air 
travel, innovations that will have a 
lasting influence on the way similar 
events are planned and delivered in 
the future were everywhere to be seen 
in Qatar.

For example, a dedicated programme 
managed stadium energy and water 
impacts through efficient design, 
construction and operations. 

•   All stadiums were 30% more energy 
efficient and consumed less water 
than international benchmarks. 

•   Recycled water vapour from  
cooling systems in stadiums was 
used to irrigate the surrounding 
stadium landscape. 

•   90% of temporary diesel generators 
were replaced by electric sub-
stations providing greener grid 
power and reducing air pollution. 

•   All five energy centres at the FIFA 
World Cup Qatar 2022 stadiums  
had GSAS Seasonal Energy  
Efficiency certification.
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In addition to no internal air travel, the  
state-of-the-art metro, a fleet of 
311 eco-friendly hybrid and electric 
vehicles and ten electric buses were 
provided by sponsors Hyundai and Kia  
for use as ground transport for teams, 
officials and VIPs at the FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022. This marked the first time 
that electric vehicles were deployed 
in such numbers to service event 
organisers, a precedent which is sure 
to be followed as FIFA continues to 
emphasise the need for clean mobility. 

The ecological imperative to avoid, 
reduce, re-use and recycle was a 
defining policy of the FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022 from the early planning 
stages, reflecting the organisers’ 
leadership and commitment to  
divert all tournament waste from 
landfill, including: 

•   Tournament-wide recycling of plastic, 
aluminium, cardboard, paper and 
glass and composting of waste food 
and compostable tableware at all 
stadiums, training camps and other 
official sites. 

•   All uniforms for workforce staff and 
20,000 volunteers were made from 
recycled materials and distributed  
in bags converted from signage  
and stadium dressing from  
previous events. 

•    Local charity Hifz Al Naema 
redistributed leftover food from 
stadiums and events to people  
in need. 

Inclusivity was also high on the  
agenda when it came to delivering  
the sustainability promises made. 

Not only was this edition the most 
sustainable in tournament history,  
it was also the most accessible.

•   Mobility assistance, accessible 
transport, parking, facilities and five 
ticket types for people with disabilities 
and people with limited mobility.

•   Audio-descriptive commentary in 
English, and for the first time Arabic, 
for blind and partially sighted  
people to enjoy matches in the  
live stadium atmosphere.

•   For the first time at a FIFA World 
Cup™, sensory rooms for people 
with sensory access requirements to 
allow them to attend a match without 
becoming overwhelmed by the 
sounds and stimuli of matchday.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



60

SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY & EDUCATION
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FIFA Women’s 
World Cup 2023™ 
Sustainability Strategy 
launched
In September 2022, FIFA published 
the sustainability strategy for 
the FIFA Women’s World Cup 
Australia & New Zealand 2023™. 
The commitments it includes are 
aligned with FIFA’s long-standing 
sustainability framework and 
ambitions, as well as with the social, 
economic and environmental 
priorities in Australia and Aotearoa 
New Zealand. 

The actions and measures for the 
tournament will cover the key 
topics of accessibility, safeguarding, 
human rights, workers’ rights, 
gender equality, health, climate 
action, waste minimisation, green 
buildings and procurement. 

The FIFA Women’s World Cup 
2023™ is a co-hosted tournament 
and recognises the unique stories 
and cultures of First Nations 
people in Australia, and Māori as 
mana whenua in Aotearoa New 
Zealand. In Australia, the organisers 
acknowledge the Traditional 
Custodians of the Lands and pay 
respect to Elders, past, present and 
future. In Aotearoa New Zealand, 
the organisers acknowledge Māori 
as tangata whenua and te tiriti o 
waitangi partners.

Key pillars  
of the strategy

•     Accessible venues  
An accessible event for disabled people and people 
with limited mobility across tournament site 
infrastructure, overlay and services.

•      Human rights and workers’ rights   
Proper policies, procedures, grievance mechanisms 
and training programmes will all be in place to 
identify and address negative impacts and structural 
discrimination.

•     Safeguard and protect  
Ensure smooth engagement and collaboration with 
the local safeguarding stakeholders in the host 
countries and Host Cities.

•     Minimise waste   
Avoid and reduce waste as per the FIFA Sustainable 
Sourcing Code and all other relevant standards.

•     Develop women’s football  
Harness the power of the competition to identify 
and develop programmes that will drive popularity, 
participation and awareness.

•     Protect health  
Protect the right of non-smokers to breathe clean 
air that is not contaminated by carcinogens and 
other harmful substances.

•     Promote gender equality and equity  
Identify key issues affecting women and girls in 
the host countries and region and develop joint 
initiatives with key partners.

•     Reduce climate impact  
Estimate and reduce the competition’s greenhouse 
gas emissions, mitigate emissions and use the 
platform to educate fans on climate change.

•     Foster more sustainable buildings  
Promote sustainable building design, construction 
and operations of event-related venues.

•     Ensure sustainable procurement  
Establish and apply a sustainable procurement 
policy and sourcing code across the competition.
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Human rights − key focus for FIFA World Cup 2026™ 

Following the announcement of the FIFA 
World Cup 2026™ Host Cities in June 
2022, FIFA also published its evaluation 
reports for each of the cities selected to 
stage matches during the 23rd edition of 
the tournament.  

FIFA is committed to ensuring that the 
tournament has a positive and lasting 
impact. Human rights have been a  
key consideration from the outset. 
FIFA’s new human rights requirements 
for tournaments, which were developed 
in consultation with a wide range  
of stakeholders and with the technical 
support of the Office of the United 
Nations High Commissioner for Human 
Rights, were implemented for the 

first time for a major event during the 
bidding process for the FIFA World Cup 
in 2026. 

As part of the bidding process, 
candidate host countries and host cities 
were required to commit, amongst 
other things, to their obligations under 
the United Nations Guiding Principles 
on Business and Human Rights and 
to develop respective strategies. Over 
the past two years, human rights have 
also featured in the host city selection 
process. FIFA required candidate host 
cities to engage with local stakeholders 
and develop detailed human  
rights plans.
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Anti-discrimination measures at the FIFA World Cup™ 

Discrimination – in all its possible 
forms and expressions – is one of 
the most common forms of human 
rights violations and abuse. It affects 
millions of people every day, stifling 
opportunities, harming physical and 
mental health, wasting human talent 
and accentuating social tensions  
and inequalities.

Anti-discrimination has been a core 
principle in the implementation of 
new measures to transform FIFA 
since 2016. A policy of zero tolerance 
towards racism and discrimination was 

incorporated into the FIFA Disciplinary 
Code in 2019, and FIFA has introduced 
a monitoring system to report 
incidents of discrimination at matches 
in FIFA competitions. Guidance has 
been provided for the 211 member 
associations, supported by the 
principles outlined in the FIFA Statutes 
(article 4).

At the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022, 
and in accordance with this statutory 
commitment, a vast number of 
measures were planned, delivered and 
implemented in Qatar.
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Anti-discrimination 
monitoring system 
•    36 fully trained match 

observers worked throughout 
the tournament

•    Risk assessment for each 
match was shared with the 
relevant FIFA match officials 
and security workforce

•    Two to four match observers 
were present at each match

•    Ten incidents in group 
stage were reported to 
the secretariat of the FIFA 
Disciplinary Committee 

•    Assessors checked  
374 pre-applied flags and 
banners and more than 
10,000 flags, banners and 
other fan items at the gates 
and in the stadium bowl at 
each match

Workforce training 

•    Cultural sensitivity 
workshop for FIFA 
employees delivered

•    Workshop for FIFA 
employees delivered

•    All relevant safety and 
security workforce at 
venues received  
anti-discrimination and 
cross-cultural training 

•    All volunteers received 
training 

•    Other relevant workforce 
received cross-cultural 
training (hospitality, 
accreditation, access 
management)

Procedures for 
discriminatory 
incidents 
implemented  
at all matches 

•    All FIFA match officials 
received subject-specific 
training

•    Proactive anti-discrimination 
message was displayed 
before every match

•    Reactive stadium 
announcement was initiated 
for the first time in FIFA 
World Cup history 

•    Three-step procedure was  
in place
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FIFA joins forces with World Trade Organization  
to further economic inclusion  

In September 2022, FIFA joined forces 
with the World Trade Organization 
(WTO) to look at ways of using football 
to promote economic inclusion, 
particularly in the developing world. 

The partnership was established in a 
memorandum of understanding signed 
by FIFA President Gianni Infantino and 
WTO Director-General Ngozi Okonjo-
Iweala where the two sides agreed 
to collaborate by exchanging views 
on their respective activities and by 
preparing and implementing common 
strategies and projects.

The two organisations committed  
to work together to analyse the 
economic impact of football and its  
role in unlocking its global economic 
growth potential, as well as to 

explore options for the development 
of capacity-building activities that 
supported the use of football as a tool 
for women’s economic empowerment.

“FIFA redistributes its revenue among 
our 211 member associations to 
help them develop football in their 
countries, notably by investing in 
infrastructure, facilities, competitions, 
refereeing and coaching,” said FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino. 

“Yet, we believe that there is still more 
that football can do, especially for 
youth in the developing world. This 
important partnership can help us 
find ways of ensuring that football 
can further promote sustainable 
development for everyone to benefit 
from the global football economy.”

“We believe that 
there is still more 
football can do, 
especially for 
youth in the 
developing world.”

Gianni Infantino
FIFA President

FIFA’s safeguarding commitment continues  

In 2022, the FIFA Guardians™ 
Safeguarding in Sport Diploma 
celebrated reaching nearly 5,000 
learners since its launch – together 
with the Open University – in 2021.

FIFA is committed to bringing about 
child protection at all levels of football 
and, to that end, the diploma provides 
an educational pathway enhancing the 
protection not only of children, but also 
of other at-risk groups, such as young 
elite players, women, LGBTQ+ players 
and people with disabilities, against  
all forms of harassment, abuse  
and exploitation. 

The first online course was launched 
on 28 January 2021, with learners 
registered from member associations, 
confederations, regional associations 
and the football family in general 
forming the inaugural cohort. 

Thanks to the webinars and other 
educational resources made available 
to them, learners from member 
associations were able to become 
familiar with the tasks and various 
responsibilities involved in the role of a 
safeguarding professional in football.
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New safeguarding courses delivered 

In May and December 2022, Course 3: 
Developing Your Safeguarding 
Effectiveness, Course 4: Embedding 
Safeguarding Practice, and Course 5: 
Promoting Wider Safeguarding 
Change were launched, completing 
the full suite of courses. 

This online learning content was 
complemented in February by two 
additional webinars on how member 
associations and clubs can collaborate 
to strengthen safeguarding processes 
and procedures. A webinar entitled 
“Safeguarding in Competition Time” 
rounded off the year.
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FIFA teams up with  
leading UK university 
In April 2022, FIFA entered into a 
formal multi-year partnership with  
the School of Sport, Exercise and 
Health Sciences of Loughborough 
University to conduct an independent 
evaluation of the impact of its FIFA 
Guardians™ programme on the 211 
member associations.

Key stakeholder 
relationships developed 
In 2022, active engagement with 
external stakeholders continued with 
a view to enhancing a safeguarding 
culture within football around the 
world by, among others, having 
fruitful exchanges on this and other 
topics with a delegation from the 
ASEAN Committee (May 2022) and 
delegations from the European 
Parliament and European Parliament 
Sports Group (July 2022).



FIFA FORWARD PROGRAMME

FIFA Forward continued 
to foster football 
development in 2022
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The FIFA Forward Programme plays a key 
role in promoting football development 
globally, which is one of the central pillars 
of The Vision 2020-2023, as laid out by FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino. FIFA’s flagship 
development programme also helps to 
increase global competitiveness, another 
tenet of the aforementioned action plan.

Following the election of Gianni Infantino 
as President, the FIFA Forward Programme 
seeks to improve the way in which FIFA 
develops and supports football globally with 
a view to enabling the game to achieve its full 
potential in every country and allow everyone 
who wishes to participate in the sport to do 
so without facing any barriers.

FIFA’s key development programme pursues 
these objectives by offering each of its 211 
MAs and the six confederations tailor-made 
support that is based on three guiding 
principles: more impact, more investment 
and more oversight.

71

The FIFA Forward 
Programme financially 
supported a number of 
infrastructure projects led by 
member associations (MAs) 
throughout the world in 
2022, with funding increased 
by 29% from 2023.

FIFA Forward  
core principles

•  More impact

•  More investment

•  More oversight
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“A sevenfold increase 
of money that goes 
where it has to go: into 
solidarity projects, football 
development projects. 
This USD 2.3 billion will go 
straight to the member 
associations’ development 
programmes.” 

Gianni Infantino
FIFA President

During the 2019-2022 cycle, FIFA 
Forward provided each MA with 
investment of USD 6 million to 
finance operational needs and 
development projects. 

In terms of the breakdown of this 
figure, each MA had access to USD 
1m per year to cover operational and 
running costs and was also entitled 
to USD 2 million over the cycle, with 
priority being placed on football 
infrastructure-related projects, such 
as pitches, technical centres, training 
grounds, stadiums and headquarters. 
Such projects had to be tailored to 
the MA’s agreed objectives.

Increased investment from 2023

A further USD 1 million was allocated 
to MAs with an annual revenue of USD 
4 million or less to support their travel 
and equipment needs.

The six continental confederations 
each received USD 12 million per 
year, while regional associations were 
entitled to USD 1 million per year.

At the 72nd FIFA Congress, held in Doha 
on 31 March 2022, President Infantino 
announced a 29% increase in FIFA 
Forward 3.0 funding, which is due to 
be launched in 2023. As a result, each 
MA will receive approximately USD 8 
million over a four year period, which 
represents a sevenfold increase on the 
amount distributed prior to 2016.
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The past year provided many examples 
of funding for various FIFA Forward 
projects across a wide range of nations 
across all six confederations.

Africa

Nations across the continent of 
Africa benefitted from numerous 
projects in 2022. Cameroon’s National 
Technical Centre in Odza continues 
to grow under Cameroonian Football 
Association President, Indomitable 
Lions legend Samuel Eto’o. It is a 
similar story in Tunisia, where the FTF’s 
Technical Centre received a facelift in 
the form of a sport and health unit and 
accommodation facilities. 

A FIFA delegation also travelled to Liberia 
and toured ongoing projects, namely 
the construction of new association 
headquarters and the refurbishment of 
the Antoinette Tubman Stadium (ATS) 
in Monrovia. Liberia’s national arena, 
the Samuel Kanyon Doe Stadium, which 
backs on to the ATS, has also benefitted 
from extensive redevelopment work, 
which is motivated by a desire to 
broaden the appeal of the city’s main 
football venue and the focal point of the 
local football community.

In Sierra Leone, a three-year hiatus 
ended with the new Women’s Premier 
League established with a 12-team 
competition for the first time.

Funding has also contributed to the 
development of women’s football in 
Morocco. The North African country 
hosted the Women’s Africa Cup of 
Nations in July 2022, and the runners-
up spot secured by the Atlas Lionesses 
was enough to see them land a place at 
the FIFA Women’s World Cup Australia 
& New Zealand 2023™, which will be 

“When it comes to 
infrastructure, the most 
important thing for us is 
that we’re able to operate 
in an environment that 
allows us to express 
ourselves.” 

Rigobert Song
Cameroon national-team coach

FIFA Forward delivers 
solutions throughout 
2022
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the team’s first-ever appearance on the 
game’s biggest stage.

FIFA Forward was also instrumental in 
the launch of national youth leagues 
in Senegal, which aim to enhance the 
competitive level of the nation’s youth 
players. The competitions, run at U-15, 
U-17 and U-20 levels for boys and in the 
U-15 and U-17 age groups for girls, are 
operated as year-round leagues that 
are contested across the 14 regions that 
make up the western African country.
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“We’re very thankful to 
FIFA for the generous 
support in developing 
football in Bhutan.  
The enormous support 
to small MAs like 
the Bhutan Football 
Federation from FIFA 
epitomises its core 
values.”

Dasho Ugen Tsechup
Bhutan Football Federation President

Asia

Exemplifying the diversity of nations 
benefitting from FIFA Forward is the 
world’s most populous continent, Asia. 
Significant strides are being taken in 
the tiny Himalayan nation of Bhutan, 
where a range of recent projects was 
headlined by the inauguration of the 
first-ever football academy for boys  
at Changjiji in mid-2022. Less than 
three months later, another major 
milestone was reached with the 
groundbreaking ceremony for the  
new association headquarters. 

It was a similar scenario for another 
ambitious football nation, the 
Philippines, with the Philippines 
Football Federation hosting a high-
profile groundbreaking ceremony in 
July for its new world-class facilities  
and headquarters. 

 
 
FIFA Forward can also have a more 
immediate impact on on-pitch 
development though, with Japan 
notably using some funding for their 
ever-impressive player production line. 
The annual Prince Takamado Trophy 
JFA U-18 Premier League has produced 
dozens of top players, including Gaku 
Shibasaki, who represented his country 
at Qatar 2022. Meanwhile, Singapore’s 
FIFA-supported VAR introduction aided 
the development of Muhammad Taqi 
Aljaafari Bin Jahari, with the highly 
regarded referee featuring at Qatar 
2022 as a video match official.

The Mongolian Football Federation 
Football Centre, which hosts men’s 
national-team matches, underwent 
an environmentally friendly pitch 
renovation, which involved the use  
of cork, as opposed to rubber, to  
refill the infill layer.
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Europe

In Europe, Forward funding has 
contributed to the development of 
football in Poland by enabling the 
Polish Football Association to add 
the Central Youth League to its youth 
football provision. The competition, 
which comprises men’s and women’s 
leagues at U-15, U-17 and U-19 levels, 
seeks to streamline standards in 
the country’s youth leagues while 
providing the next generation of elite 
talent with opportunities to compete 
against one another.

Elsewhere, the Football Centre of 
Excellence at the Vale Resort in 
Hensol, Wales, and the country’s 
National Football Development 
Centre in Wrexham are central to 
the efforts to propel the Welsh game 
to the next level, with both facilities 
having received financial support 
from FIFA Forward.

North and  
Central America

FIFA Forward funding can take 
many guises, as was the case in 
the Concacaf region in November 
2022, with all 22 Caribbean member 
associations attending a workshop 
to receive information and tools 
to help implement FIFA’s flagship 
development programme. 

One such regional island nation 
to have benefitted is Barbados, 
where the pitches at the national 
stadium and national training 
centre are undergoing upgrades. 
Cuba, meanwhile, had dual reason 
for celebration in February as they 
earned a FIFA Women’s World Cup™ 
qualifier win on their brand-new 
world-class all-weather pitch at the 
Estadio Antonio Maceo in Santiago. 
In Puerto Rico, the first boys’ U-13, 
U-15 and U-17 competitions were 
conducted thanks to financial and 
technical support from FIFA Forward.
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To ensure that FIFA Forward Programme 
funding reaches its intended 
destination, MAs must meet a number 
of criteria. One of these requirements 
is that tailor-made projects must be 
linked to an association’s objectives, 
which are previously agreed with FIFA. 
The projects, legacy and impact are 
monitored by world football’s governing 
body and independently audited.

Following the roll-out of FIFA 
Forward 2.0 in 2019, MAs must also 
ensure that the principles of  
anti-discrimination, diversity, 
accessibility, inclusion and human  
rights for all are protected and 
promoted in the projects that benefit 
from funding. In addition, associations 
must take measures to protect and 
safeguard children and minors from 
potential abuse and to promote their 
well-being within football.

Auditing
South America

A major project in Paraguay 
headlined the activity in South 
America, where FIFA President Gianni 
Infantino attended the opening of 
a state-of-the-art high-performance 
training centre for women’s national 
teams. Meanwhile, in Argentina, the 
first edition of the FIFA-funded Copa 
Federal took place, a women’s football 
tournament that brought together 
more than 400 clubs from 44 leagues 
across the country. 

Oceania

In Oceania, a major project was 
incrementally opened in Vanuatu 
during the course of 2022, with the 
new stadium and FA headquarters set 
to be officially unveiled in early 2023. 
Meanwhile, work has commenced on 
a new football centre in the Papua 
New Guinea highlands, a key football 
heartland in the country. 



AFC
Projects approved in 2022 23

MAs involved 12

Funding committed USD 14.2 mllion

Forward projects (total) 261

MAs (total) 38

Funding committed (total) USD 108 million

CAF
Projects approved in 2022 33

MAs involved 22

Funding committed USD 12.3 million

Forward projects (total) 394

MAs (total) 53

Funding committed (total) USD 148 million

Concacaf
Projects approved in 2022 21

MAs involved 18

Funding committed USD 7.5 million

Forward projects (total) 397

MAs (total) 35

Funding committed (total) USD 93.6 million

FIFA Forward in numbers

In 2022, FIFA approved 109 football development 
projects across the world. In doing so, the global game’s 
governing committed a total of USD 52.1 million funding, 
all of which helping to realise the FIFA President’s Vision 
of making football truly global.  

Here is a breakdown of the Forward projects to which 
FIFA has committed, by confederation.
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Making football truly global

Since the inception of FIFA Forward, a total of 
1,756 projects have been approved for an overall 
amount of USD 611 million.

CONMEBOL
Projects approved in 2022 4

MAs involved 4

Funding committed   USD 5.7 million

Forward projects (total) 64

MAs (total) 10

Funding committed (total) USD 32 million

OFC
Projects approved in 2022 13

MAs involved 7

Funding committed USD 6 million

Forward projects (total) 217

MAs (total) 11

Funding committed (total) USD 34.4 million

UEFA
Projects approved in 2022 15

MAs involved 11

Funding committed USD 6.5 million

Forward projects (total) 423

MAs (total) 54

Funding committed (total) USD 194.9 million



TECHNICAL DEVELOPMENT

In 2022, in line with The Vision 2020-2023, 
FIFA launched a groundbreaking new 
programme – the Talent Development 
Scheme – to give every talent a chance.

Technical 
Development
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In February 2022, FIFA launched the 
innovative FIFA Talent Development Scheme 
(TDS), offering bespoke assistance to member 
associations to help them achieve their full 
potential and continuing the measures taken 
to reduce the disparity in the level of football 
between different regions of the world.
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As the year progressed, the TDS 
became part of FIFA’s collaborative 
work with member associations to 
increase global competitiveness. FIFA 
takes a holistic approach to technical 
and education projects, also 
represented by new performance 
analysis and insights on the field as 
well as the FIFA Training Centre, 
launched in 2021 as a modern and 
dynamic knowledge-sharing platform.

“One of our over-arching aims is to 
give every talent a chance,” said FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino. “The 
launch of the FIFA Talent Development 
Scheme is one of the keys to achieving 
that objective. It follows on from the 

groundbreaking analysis of the 
football talent development 
ecosystem in over 200 of our  
member associations and will  
give boys and girls the chance to 
maximise their potential.”

FIFA Chief of Global Football 
Development Arsène Wenger further 
explained the significance of the TDS, 
and how it will be rolled out worldwide. 
“I am delighted that, with the launch of 
the FIFA Talent Development Scheme, 
we have taken another significant step 
towards giving every talent a chance, 
no matter where or when they are 
born,” said Wenger. “By launching this 
programme for global benefit, we can 
improve the equality of opportunity 
for players across all six 
confederations and all 211  
member associations.”

The Vision 2020-2023 targets  
working towards increasing global 
competitiveness, with Goal 6 
specifying the ambition of having 
50 national teams and 50 clubs 
competing at the highest level for 
global silverware. 
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A busy year for the FIFA Technical Study Group  

Starting at the FIFA Club World Cup 
2021™ in Abu Dhabi, FIFA’s Technical 
Study Group (TSG) monitored, tracked 
and coded the performance of every 
player, noting their movements with 
and without the ball, how many times 
they broke through lines of defence, 
and how much pressure they put on 
opposition ball carriers. 

This analysis work collected over 
15,000 data points per game. The 
vision of Arsène Wenger is for this 
data to be used to increase and 
develop the understanding of the 

game for team analysts, coaches, 
players and the media, as well as to 
improve the overall fan experience.

As part of their work, the analysts 
used the new FIFA Football Language, 
an open resource for coaches and 
players all across the world that was 
more than two years in the making 
with the aim of aligning technical 
expertise and developing all levels 
of the game. The same process was 
later used at the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022™ to better understand trends at 
the top end of the game.

“One of our over-arching 
aims is to give every 
talent a chance.”

Gianni Infantino 
FIFA President
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FIFA Training Centre  
Launched in November 2021, the FIFA 
Training Centre is an innovative tool that 
is available to players, coaches and fans all 
across the world. 

Boasting a comprehensive bank of technical 
football information, the online academy 
features insightful resources developed by 
the sport’s leading experts and illustrates 
FIFA’s goal to harness technology for the 
benefit of the global game – a key part of 
The Vision 2020-2023, as set out by FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino.

In 2022, a number of new sessions were 
added to the platform, including:

•  Goalkeeping

•   Possession

•   Transitions and overloads

•   Counter-pressing

•   Link-up play

•   Switching play

•   Defensive transitions
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FIFA Coach Educators’ Development  
Pathway seminar
As soon as Argentina were crowned 
world champions in Qatar, the FIFA 
Global Football Development Division 
turned their attention to the next 
edition of the tournament. In 2026, 
the FIFA World Cup will be hosted 
by three Concacaf countries – the 
USA, Mexico and Canada, with the 
latter also hosting a seminar on the 
FIFA Coach Educators’ Development 
Pathway on 19 December 2022. 

With the senior men’s team having 
qualified for the FIFA World Cup for 

the first time since 1986 and the 
women’s team winning an historic 
Olympic gold in 2021, Canada is 
certainly reaping the rewards of the 
effectiveness of its development 
programmes with the support of FIFA 
and Concacaf. 

Not every member association has 
the same level of resources to call 
on, however, and FIFA – as set out in 
The Vision 2020-2023 – is looking to 
extend its support to each and every 
one of them.



WOMEN’S FOOTBALL

Women’s football continued to 
develop on and off the pitch, 
and in all corners of the world 
in 2022, in line with The Vision 
2020-2023, as set out by FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino.

Women’s football 
continues to 
grow in 2022
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Groundbreaking 
club licensing guide 
published 

Club licensing is one of the most 
effective ways of raising standards and 
developing strong domestic leagues 
where women can play in a competitive 
professional environment.

With this in mind, FIFA published its  
first-ever Guide to Club Licensing 
in Women’s Football. This is a 
practical tool intended to help 
member associations to implement 
club licensing for women’s football 
competitions and will contribute to the 
professionalisation and development 
of the women’s game at club level 
around the world.

The guide consists of ten steps that 
member associations can follow to set 
up a club licensing system and another 
eight steps that will help leagues to 
maintain the club licensing structures 
on a season-by-season basis.

Six confederations stage continental 
championships 
As the countdown to the FIFA 
Women’s World Cup™ continued, it 
was an important year for women’s 
international football with UEFA, 
Concacaf, CONMEBOL, CAF, the 
AFC and the OFC all staging their 
continental championships – with 
all but UEFA’s competition acting as 
qualification mechanisms for the  
32-team tournament in July and  
August 2023.

England hosted and won the UEFA 
Women’s EURO 2022, beating 
Germany 2-1 after extra time in the 
final. China PR were triumphant 
in India, winning their ninth AFC 
Women’s Asian Cup. Morocco became 
the first Arab nation to host the CAF 
Women’s Africa Cup of Nations and 

also reached the final, which South 
Africa won 2-1, claiming their first title. 

The Concacaf W Championship, hosted 
by Mexico, was won by the USA who 
beat Canada 1-0 in the final. Brazil 
claimed the Copa América Femenina for 
the eighth time after overcoming hosts 
Colombia in the final, also with a 1-0 
scoreline. Papua New Guinea clinched 
the OFC Women’s Nations Cup for the 
first time with a 2-1 win over hosts Fiji 
in the final.

The tournaments also acted as 
qualifiers for the FIFA Women’s World 
Cup 2023™, except in Europe where 
UEFA organised a separate World Cup 
qualifying competition.
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Women in Football 
Leadership 
Football as a whole benefits from 
greater representation of women at 
senior level because it can draw on 
many more valuable perspectives, 
experiences and backgrounds, with a 
view to being as inclusive and diverse 
as possible worldwide. 

Thirty-two women from around the 
world took part in the third edition 
of the Women in Football Leadership 
Programme in Lausanne, a joint 
initiative with UEFA and the IMD 
Business School. The participants 
received leadership training and  
one-to-one coaching, empowering 
them through role play, harnessing 
and developing their sense of  
self-awareness, and creating a strong 
global network of like-minded people.  

In addition, there were also plenty of  
real-life examples of how women’s 
football is growing around the world. 

Saudi Arabia staged its first-ever 
nationwide women’s championship, 
with 16 teams taking part. The teams 
were divided into three regional 
groups, with eight teams qualifying for 
a knockout competition in Jeddah.
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In another first, Saudi Arabia also 
played a women’s international 
match for the first time, beating the 
Seychelles 2-0 in a friendly played in 
the Maldives.

Women’s football in Sierra Leone 
entered an exciting new era as the 
country’s Women’s Premier League 
kicked off in October. For the 
first time, the African nation’s top 
12 women’s teams are facing each 
other home and away and fighting it 
out for the title.

Paraguay opened a state-of-the-art  
high-performance centre built 
exclusively for women’s national 
teams, with help from the 
FIFA Forward Programme and 
CONMEBOL’s Evolución Programme. 

The Centro de Alto Rendimiento del 
Fútbol Femenino features two sets of 
accommodation, one for the senior 
women’s national team and one for 
youth national teams, plus seven 
pitches, media facilities, a gymnasium 
and stands for spectators. 

“This marks a before 
and an after for 
women’s football in 
our country.”

Robert Harrison 
Paraguayan Football  
Association President
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“The FIFA Diploma in 
Club Management 
programme allows 
me to invest in myself 
and my club, to meet 
my peers, learn from 
their experiences, and 
broaden my views on 
what’s possible.”

Julie Uhrman
Angel City FC President

PROFESSIONAL FOOTBALL

The inaugural edition of the FIFA 
Diploma in Club Management drew to 
a successful conclusion at the Home of 
FIFA in May 2022 as the 32 participants, 
including club executives and former 
internationals from all around the 
world, received their certificates from 
FIFA President Gianni Infantino. 

In line with the vision of making 
football truly global, the diploma 
is part of FIFA’s efforts to further 
professionalise the game, enabling 
a larger number of clubs from every 
region of the world to compete at the 
highest level both on and off the pitch. 

Professional 
Football

“It is really important to 
understand what other 
club executives and 
some of the brightest 
minds of the industry 
are thinking about right 
now, which is why this 
diploma is just a great  
fit for my career path.”

Carli Lloyd
Two-time FIFA Women’s World  
Cup™ winner and two-time  
Olympic gold medallist

2022 was another 
important year for 
the FIFA Professional 
Football Relations 
& Development 
Subdivision as, among 
other important projects 
and initiatives, the 
FIFA Diploma in Club 
Management went from 
strength to strength.
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During the 13-month course, the 
participants debated and exchanged 
views with industry experts and 
leading voices within football on topics 
such as club operations and stadium 
management, finance, marketing and 
communications, youth academies, 
governance and legal matters, as well 
as leadership and negotiation. All 
students also devised a strategic plan 
for their respective clubs.

Following the success of the first 
edition, FIFA launched the second 
instalment in New York in September. 
This time, 40 participants – drawn from 
across all six confederations – joined 
the programme, which is taught by 
world-class experts and includes on-
site and online modules.

The group successfully completed a 
module during the FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022™, which concluded with 
a visit from FIFA President Gianni 
Infantino. Speaking at the end of 
the six days in Doha, President 
Infantino congratulated delegates 
on their participation and took part 
in a question and answer session 
that covered topics such as FIFA’s 
commitment to and strategy for  
global football development, the 
continued growth and investment in 
the women’s game at club and  
national level, the Football Unites the 
World campaign and the success of 
Qatar 2022.

“I’m excited to 
be a part of this 
prestigious diploma. 
It’s important for 
me to continue 
my education with 
executives who work 
in football globally 
and to share our 
experiences.”

Tim Cahill
FIFA Legend and current KAS 
Eupen board member

“In an industry 
that’s changing 
constantly, it’s a great 
opportunity to learn 
about all the latest 
global trends in club 
operations from 
experts with different 
backgrounds.”

Mauricio Culebro
Club Tigres President



FIFA and global players’ association 
FIFPRO signed a heads of 
understanding at a meeting in 
Doha in December 2022, with FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino and 
FIFPRO President David Aganzo 
outlining the proposed structure of 
an agreement that both organisations 
will aim to finalise in 2023.

“It is important that football 
stakeholders have a healthy and 

transparent working relationship, 
and today’s meeting was held in this 
spirit,” said Aganzo. “I am pleased 
we have started working towards 
a new cooperation agreement that 
will take more steps to put players 
at the heart of the decision-making 
and development of professional 
football. We will keep progressing to 
safeguard players’ rights, and these 
negotiations will seek to establish 
greater influence, involvement 

and protections. Next to finalising 
this agreement, our joint priorities 
are now the international match 
calendars and player conditions for 
the upcoming Women’s World Cup.” 

The existing six-year cooperation 
agreement between both 
organisations was signed in 2017, 
under which FIFPRO and FIFA have 
introduced several improvements 
to benefit professional footballers, 

FIFA and FIFPRO take further steps towards 2023 agreement 
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“It is important football 
stakeholders have a 
healthy and transparent 
working relationship. 
I am pleased we have 
started working towards 
a new cooperation 
agreement that will 
take more steps to put 
players at the heart of 
the decision-making 
and development of 
professional football.”

David Aganzo
FIFPRO President

89

including new maternity regulations, 
upgrades to employment regulations, 
and a fund to provide financial aid to 
players whose clubs have shut down.

Under an agreed timeframe, FIFA and 
FIFPRO will now seek to conclude a 
new agreement in 2023, underlined 
by a commitment towards close and 
consistent collaboration around 
matters affecting players. 
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Thirty-five 
former pros 
take part in 
The Next 90

In January, 35 former professional 
footballers gathered for the first 
online session of The Next 90 – a 
programme designed to provide 
former female and male footballers 
with the skills, tools and confidence 
they need to succeed in the next 
stages of their lives after they have 
hung up their boots. The programme 
is organised by the FIFA Legends and 
their partner, the International Centre 
for Sports Studies (CIES). 

The programme began with a welcome 
speech from FIFA President Gianni 
Infantino. “Thank you for being here 
with us, for embracing this project, and 
for taking part in such an exciting 
adventure: The Next 90,” he said.

When the bright lights  
and noise of the 
crowd fade – and 
retirement looms – it 
can be a daunting 
time for thousands of 
professional footballers 
every year. The Next 90 
aims to tackle that.

“We will continue 
to support you on 
your journey.”
Gianni Infantino 
FIFA President
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“When we come to the end of our 
careers, we become ex-teachers or 
former presidents. But when you 
retire, you don’t become ex-players as 
such. You go from being players to 
legends, which is something unique to 
football, as you are role models for 
children around the world and you 
have a special role to play in society.  
As FIFA President, I would like to 
thank you for everything you have 
done and continue to do in football 
and for football.”

Taking a practical approach to 
learning, the inaugural edition of  
The Next 90 comprised seven modules 
and ran for ten months. It came to an 
end with an in-person session in 
December 2022, at which the 
participants showed what they had 
learned during the programme and 
presented a final project to mark the 
start of their second careers. 

The Next 90 programme is aimed at 
former players with at least one 
international cap to their name and a 
good command of English, both 
written and spoken. 

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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Margaret Aka (Papua New Guinea) 

Mercy Akide (Nigeria) 

Abdulbaset Al Hammadi  
(United Arab Emirates) 

Juan Pablo Ángel (Colombia) 

Luke Blakely (Antigua and Barbuda) 

Rachel Brown-Finnis (England) 

Emma Byrne (Republic of Ireland) 

Tim Cahill (Australia) 

Sol Campbell (England) 

Renata Capobianco (Brazil) 

Gabriel Cichero (Venezuela) 

Mohamed Fadl (Egypt) 

Gemma Fay (Scotland) 

Laura Georges (France) 

Josephine Henning (Germany) 

Astor Henríquez (Honduras) 

Ricki Herbert (New Zealand) 

Alexi Lalas (USA) 

Carli Lloyd (USA) 

Martín Machón (Guatemala)

Norman Maroto (Zimbabwe)

Pablo Melgar (Guatemala) 

Mbo Mpenza (Belgium) 

Heather O’Reilly (USA) 

Patrick Paranjody (Singapore)

Romina Parraguirre (Chile) 

Ricardo Pérez (Colombia) 

Douglas Reed (England) 

James Sangala (Malawi) 

Julia Simic (Germany) 

Jean Sseninde (Uganda) 

Thomas Sweswe (Zimbabwe) 

Sun Wen (China PR) 

Ayisat Yusuf (Nigeria)

List of participants
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FIFA has adopted an 
innovative approach as it 
continues to look for new 
revenue streams that will 
allow more investment in 
football development.

96

Growing 
revenues 
sustainably 
to reinvest  
in football

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION
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FIFA’s purpose is to serve football 
and its 211 member associations. It is 
FIFA’s duty to ensure that its revenue 
is channelled back into football to 
help the game develop and flourish 
in all corners of the planet, from 
industrialised nations to the remotest 
island states.

One of the pillars of the FIFA 
President’s strategic document  
The Vision 2020-2023 is to grow  
these revenues sustainably so that 
even more can be reinvested, and  
to ensure the continuous flow of  
this investment.

Since 2016, FIFA has been continually 
improving its governance structures, 
and a robust auditing process 
ensures that the money is used for its 
intended purpose.

One of the best-
governed international 
sporting federations 

FIFA has again been rated among the 
international sporting federations with 
the best standards of governance, 
following a review conducted by 
the Association of Summer Olympic 
International Federations (ASOIF) in 
June 2022.

FIFA was among seven out of 
33 international federations that 
achieved a score of 175 points or 
more out of 200 and were placed 
in the top group, A1, which ASOIF 
described as “an exclusive group”. The 
project aims to promote and ensure a 
culture of good governance within the 
international sporting federations and 
help drive continuous progress.

The review looked at five aspects of 
governance – transparency, integrity, 
democracy, development and control 
mechanisms – and these were further 
divided into ten subsections, with a 
score of zero to four awarded for each.

“FIFA believes that such  
a multilayered 
experience will result 
in a truly inclusive and 
fun gameplay – in turn, 
engaging new and 
existing football fans from 
across the globe, as well 
as promoting the values 
of the sport to an even 
broader audience.”

Romy Gai 
FIFA Chief Business Officer

Landmark partnership 
with Roblox 
As part of its commitment to 
developing new and diverse interactive 
football experiences for fans, FIFA 
signed a multi-year partnership with 
leading metaverse platform Roblox on  
12 October 2022.

FIFA and Roblox are working  
together to create an exciting new 
online immersive experience for all 
football fans to earn rewards and 
collect exclusive virtual items through 
various skill games and multiple 
collector challenges.
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Action -packed 
year for FIFA 
Foundation

The FIFA Foundation’s 
programmes enjoyed 
another year of growth  
and prosperity, helping  
to deliver the FIFA 
President’s 2020-2023 
Vision to positively impact 
society through the power 
of football. 

In 2022, FIFA played its part in achieving 
The Vision 2020-2023 to make football 
truly global, as it took the FIFA Football  
for Schools Programme to all  
six confederations.

At the time of publication, 32 of FIFA’s 
211 member associations had successfully 
implemented the FIFA Football for Schools 
Programme. Following FIFA Legend Yakubu 
Ayegbeni’s visit to Tonga to witness the 
programme’s local launch, it is now also 
active across all six confederations.

Before Tonga, several other member 
associations joined the movement 
in 2022, including Paraguay in South 
America, Belize and Costa Rica in Central 
America, France in Europe, Djibouti and 
Côte d’Ivoire in Africa, and Guam and 
Indonesia in Asia. 

In total, 23 Football for Schools activities 
were organised across the globe and 
54 member associations received 
preliminary training at one of five  
regional seminars.

Football for Schools aims to 
promote the development 
and empowerment of close to 
700 million children around the 
world. The programme is now 
overseen by the FIFA Secretary 
General’s Office and will continue 
to grow and prosper in 2023.
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FIFA Foundation partners with key players in Qatar 

In March 2022, the FIFA Foundation 
teamed up with the Qatar Foundation 
and the Generation Amazing 
Foundation to deliver a range of 
football initiatives that go beyond 
the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
to empower young people and the 
community of Qatar. 

The announcements came during 
the Doha Forum, where the FIFA 
Foundation signed agreements  
with the Qatar Foundation and  
the Supreme Committee for  
Delivery & Legacy’s Generation 
Amazing Foundation. 

The entities agreed to work together 
to roll out the FIFA Football for 
Schools Programme across Qatar. The 
initiative, run by FIFA in collaboration 
with UNESCO, works to contribute 
to the education, development and 
empowerment of hundreds of millions 

of children around the world, and seeks 
to make the sport more accessible to 
both boys and girls around the world 
by incorporating football activities into 
the education system.

Speaking after the signing, FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino said:  
“It is with great pleasure that today 
the FIFA Foundation officially partners 
with Generation Amazing and the 
Qatar Foundation. To be able to 
positively impact society through 
the power of football is a shared 
goal and responsibility between 
each of our organisations, and using 
sport to reach the next generation 
is something all three place at the 
forefront of everything they do.  
We look forward to working together 
over the coming months and years 
in many common projects, and 
particularly to deliver Football for 
Schools in Qatar.”

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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FIFA Foundation joins UPL Ltd. for European launch  
of Gigaton Carbon Goal 
In July 2022, and following the successful 
launch in South America, the FIFA 
Foundation joined UPL Ltd. for the 
European launch of the Gigaton Carbon 
Goal, an ambitious plan aimed at  
reducing atmospheric carbon dioxide  
by one gigaton (one billion tonnes)  
by 2040 through more sustainable  
farming methods. 

The FIFA Foundation was represented 
at the launch in Paris by its Executive 
Chairman, the former President of 
Argentina, Mauricio Macri, and FIFA 
Legends Louis Saha and Didier Drogba, 
former internationals for France and Côte 
d’Ivoire, respectively. 

“At the FIFA Foundation, our mission is 
simple but very powerful: we want to 
use football to make a positive impact 
on people’s lives,” said Mr Macri, who is 
also a former president of Boca Juniors. 

“Sustainable development and education 
are our two main priorities. We believe 
that, through football, we can promote  
and raise awareness of any issue that 
helps make the world a better place.” 

“By joining forces, we are trying to 
contribute to protecting the environment 
and improving the lives of millions 
of people globally. It is through 
collaboration, and collective action, that 
we will achieve our aims.”

FIFA’s ongoing commitment to the Gigaton 
Carbon Goal is part of its contribution to 
tackling climate change. FIFA’s climate 
strategy, unveiled last year, includes a 
commitment to reduce football’s emissions 
and contribute to achieving the global 
goals with a 50% reduction in carbon 
emissions by 2030, and carbon neutrality 
by 2040, as per the goals established in the 
Paris Agreement in 2015. 
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FIFA Foundation promotes football as a social tool 

In May 2022, the FIFA Foundation, 
through its Community Programme, 
visited the Golitos Foundation,  
which helps children with autism 
through football.

Representatives of the FIFA 
Foundation, which provides financial 
support to Golitos through its 
Community Programme, participated 
in one of the organisation’s specially 
organised sessions. 

The sessions focused on harnessing 
the power of football to develop 

social skills, and reduce restrictive 
and repetitive behaviours, cognitive 
delays, motor impairments as well 
as the social and communication 
difficulties that can affect those  
with autism.

During the visit, FIFA Foundation 
delegates also visited schools already 
implementing the FIFA Football for 
Schools Programme. Football for 
Schools was first launched as a pilot 
programme in Puerto Rico in 2019 
and has since gone on to reach every 
corner of the globe.
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Following two years of disruption due to the COVID-19 
pandemic, 2022 was the year the world’s most 
famous football museum was able to return bigger 
and better than ever.

FIFA Museum: sharing 
the magic of football

With the impact of the COVID-19 
pandemic starting to subside in 
2022, the FIFA Museum was able 
to significantly increase its number 
of visitors in 2022, welcoming 
195,000 football fans to Zurich 
from more than 135 different 
countries. A new special exhibition 
entitled “211 Cultures. One Game” 
in collaboration with FIFA’s member 
associations also opened in Zurich to  
shine a light on the unique football 
cultures around the globe.

The permanent exhibition has been 
partly redesigned to present the 
Trophy Room, in which all trophies 
from all FIFA tournaments are on 
display. The cinema has also been 
redesigned to give visitors easy access 
to the lift and to allow them to move 
freely between floors. 

A new collaboration with the Zurich 
Film Festival was launched to bring 
football to the big screen, and a  
series of  new live events called 
“History Makers”, with guests such  
as Lothar Matthäus, Diego Forlán  
and Gianluca Zambrotta, was  
also delivered.

The first digital exhibition, “The Origins 
of Football”, and all other digital 
contents allowed the FIFA Museum to 
engage with more than 5.4 million fans 
worldwide in 2022. 

The final highlight of the year was 
the FIFA Museum presented by 
Hyundai, which welcomed more than 
180,000 visitors from all around the 
world to its special exhibition “Goals  
Create History” at the FIFA Fan 
Festival™ in Doha during the FIFA 
World Cup Qatar 2022™ to share the 
magic of football and to safeguard 
and celebrate football heritage and 
culture with fans from around the 
world. Another 22,000 people visited 
a touring exhibition in various major 
cities in China PR during the FIFA 
World Cup finals.

“We are looking back on a year with a 
total of almost 400,000 visitors on the 
domestic as well as the international 
market on FIFA’s lively and passionate 
cultural platform, and we even 
welcomed our one millionth visitor 
since the opening of the FIFA Museum 
in 2016,” said Managing Director 
Marco Fazzone.
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FIFA Museum in 2022

•  195,000 visitors in Switzerland

•  From 135 different countries

•  “The Origins of Football”: 5.4 million fans around the world

•  FIFA Museum presented by Hyundai: 180,000 visitors
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President‘s Office

President

Reforms Implementation

Football for Schools

Executive Office

Secretary General

Audit, Risk & Advisory

Communications

Legal & Compliance

Finance

Judicial Bodies

Partnerships & Media

People, Technology & Operations

Social Responsibility & Education

Administration

DSG Football Office

FIFA Foundation

FIFA Museum 

Global Football Development

Member Associations

Professional Football

Refereeing

Women’s Football

World Cup

Football

Full-time employees

40
Average 
age

16-25 | 3.5%

26-35 | 31%

36-45 | 39.8%

46+ | 25.7%

100
Nationalities

40%
Female

60%
Male

FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022TM 371

FIFA Women‘s World Cup  
Australia and New Zealand 2023TM 238

FIFA World Cup 2026TM 4

FIFA Museum 71

FIFA Development AG 28

FIFA Clearing House 8

FIFA® 814
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Tournaments  
& Events

108 FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ in numbers

116 Football Unites the World

126 FIFA World Cup™ fan experience 

134 FIFA Executive Football Summit

138 FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ social impact

150 FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ in pictures

162  FIFA Women’s World Cup  

Australia & New Zealand 2023™ 

166 FIFA U-20 World Cup Indonesia 2023™

168 FIFA U-17 World Cup Peru 2023™

170 Olympic Football Tournaments Paris 2024
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FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022™ in numbers

FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™ IN NUMBERS
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The first FIFA World Cup™ to 
take place in the Arab world 
was as record-breaking as it was 
groundbreaking. Below are some 
of the official facts and figures 
from the greatest-ever edition of 
football’s biggest competition.
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As Argentina lifted the FIFA World Cup Trophy at 
the end of one of the most exhilarating games 
of football in living memory, it capped the end of 
a more-than-memorable 29 days of football. For 
the first time in tournament history, an African 
nation reached the final four – as Morocco 
defied the odds to go on the FIFA World Cup 
journey of a lifetime – and fans of all 32 teams 
were able to gather in one place to bond over a 
shared passion for the beautiful game.
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In what many called the 
greatest FIFA World Cup final  
of all time, records tumbled:

Argentina captain Lionel Messi hoisted 
the coveted winner’s trophy for the 
first time in his storied career, while 
notching up his record 26th FIFA World 
Cup appearance and winning the adidas 
Golden Ball Award along the way. 

Kylian Mbappé became only the second 
player to score a hat-trick in a FIFA World 
Cup final, while also holding his nerve to 
convert his spot kick in the decisive penalty 
shoot-out, finishing as the tournament’s 
top scorer with eight goals and taking 
home the adidas Golden Boot. 

Mbappé’s second-half volley to level the 
scores at 2-2 was clocked at 123.34km/h, 
making it the most powerful scoring shot 
in the tournament.

The six-goal final helped to make Qatar 
2022 the highest-scoring FIFA World Cup 
ever. A total of 172 goals were scored, 
eclipsing the previous tournament record 
of 171 goals, achieved in 1998 and 2014.
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As the impressive figures kept coming 
in, viewership numbers and global 
interest also reached peak levels, 
telling the story of how football 
successfully united the world:

The magnificent 
moments on the pitch 
were not the only 
remarkable thing about 
this FIFA World Cup. 

3.4 million spectators 
The attendance at the final pushed 
the cumulative total for this FIFA 
World Cup to over 3.4 million 
spectators, with an average overall 
attendance capacity of 96.3%.

1 million + 
Over one million visitors travelled 
to Qatar to watch matches in 
person, with the top visiting 
nations being: Saudi Arabia,  
India, the USA, the United  
Kingdom and Mexico.

1.8 million + 
Al Bidda Park in Doha saw more 
than 1.8 million fans enjoy the 
live broadcasts of games and the 
vibrant entertainment on offer at 
the FIFA Fan Festival™.

First FIFA World Cup in 
the Arab world
The first FIFA World Cup in the 
Arab world introduced much of 
the world to the local culture and 
demonstrated the passion for 
football held by fans in the region.

FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™ IN NUMBERS
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For the first  
time ever... 
For the first time ever, countries 
from five different continents 
qualified for the knockout stage, 
with Morocco becoming the  
first-ever African or Arab nation to 
make it as far as the semi-finals.

420,000 volunteer 
applications
A record 420,000 volunteer 
applications were received, 
of which 20,000 were chosen, 
including 3,000 international 
volunteers from 150 different 
nations to help support and deliver 
all facets of the tournament.

The most compact  
FIFA World Cup 
The most compact FIFA World Cup 
since the inaugural edition in 1930 
also benefitted fans, teams and media 
representatives, who had the option 
of attending several matches and 
entertainment activities per day.

9.19 million trips 
During the group stage, the busiest 
phase of the tournament, the Doha 
Metro and Lusail Tram networks 
notched up 9.19 million trips, with a 
daily average of 707,032 passengers.
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Audience figures
Around five billion people engaged 
with the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022, 
following tournament content across 
an array of platforms and devices 
across the media universe. On 
social media, according to Nielsen, 
there were 93.6 million posts across 
all platforms, with a 262 billion 
cumulative reach and 5.95  
billion engagements.

France
The final on TF1 attracted an average 
audience of 24.08 million viewers, 
81% of the audience share. This was 
24% greater than the audience for 
the France v. Croatia final in 2018 
(19.38 million) and an all-time viewing 
record in France.

Argentina
The final was aired across three 
channels (TV Publica, TyC Sports and 
DirecTV) – with a combined audience 
of 12.07 million viewers.

USA
The final attracted a combined 
audience of almost 26 million – with 
the coverage on FOX being the most 
watched English-language broadcast 
of a FIFA World Cup in the USA. The 
final was also the most-watched 
match of the tournament in Spanish, 
with a Total Audience Delivery (TAD) of 
nine million viewers – a 65% increase 
compared to the 2018 final.

Pan-Middle East  
and North Africa 
Coverage of the final aired live across 
the MENA region on beIN Sports. The 
match achieved an audience reach of 
242.79 million viewers – equivalent 
to 67.8% of the channel’s potential 
television audience.

Rest of the world 

Brazil
The tournament as a whole 
attracted an overall reach in the 
country of 173 million – 81% of 
the population.

Japan
More than 36 million watched 
the coverage of Japan’s second  
group-stage match against 
Costa Rica on TV Asahi – 
achieving an audience share of 
66.5% – a record in 2022.

United Kingdom
51.22 million UK viewers were 
reached across the entire 
tournament, representing 
83.9% of the potential  
market audience.

Korea Republic
A total of 11.14 million viewers 
watched Korea Republic’s 
opening match against Uruguay 
– representing a 97% increase in 
Korean TV audience compared 
to the average group-stage 
figures at the previous FIFA 
World Cup.

Portugal
Coverage of Portugal’s  
round-of-16 match against 
Switzerland delivered the  
most-watched FIFA World Cup 
broadcast ever recorded in 
Portugal, with an average of 
3.89 million viewers – 71.8% of 
the broadcast share.

FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™ IN NUMBERS
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Together, these companies, 
along with the sponsors of 
other FIFA tournaments, 
ensured that FIFA comfortably 
exceeded its budget for 
marketing rights revenues 
during the 2019-2022 cycle.

The sale of licensing rights 
achieved excellent results 
in the 2019-2022 cycle, with 
revenues 28% higher than in 
the 2015-2018 cycle.

Other achievements of note:

•   FIFA ran its largest-
ever licensing and retail 
programme at the FIFA 
World Cup, with retail 
revenues exceeding those 
from the previous edition.

•   As well as tournament 
stores, a permanent flagship 
FIFA Store was also opened 
at Hamad International 
Airport in Doha.

•   154 FIFA Store outlets were 
opened and operated across 
the eight stadiums.

•   FIFA also launched a major 
ecommerce offering –  
fifastore.com – featuring 
product ranges for the 
FIFA World Cup and all of  
FIFA’s properties.

•   Licensing revenues also 
included contracts with FIFA 
Branded Licensees such 
as Taittinger, Hublot, Louis 
Vuitton and Panini.

Commercial Affiliates
The 22nd edition of the FIFA World Cup 
was also hugely successful for FIFA’s 
Commercial Affiliates – with over five 
billion people reached, the platform 
that the tournament provides is like no 
other. All global and regional sponsorship 
packages were sold out, with the 
32 Commercial Affiliates activating more 
than 600 special marketing programmes.

•  Seven FIFA Partners

•   Seven FIFA World  
Cup Sponsors

•   18 Regional Supporters 
across FIFA’s five regions



The Vision 2020-2023, as outlined by the 
FIFA President Gianni Infantino, rests on two 
cornerstones: not only to protect football’s 
positive values but to use its considerable 
influence to impact wider society. There was 
no more prominent illustration of that than 
when football united the world in Qatar.

Football 
Unites the 
World 
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When the words of FIFA President Gianni 
Infantino’s strategic document The Vision 
2020-2023 were first committed to paper, 
readers could hardly have credited how 
prescient they would be. The duty to protect 
and foster the sport’s core principles remains, 
and the importance of social impact in 
bringing people from all over the world 
together was arguably never more pressing 
than in 2022, as football came together for its 
most compact celebration in a polarised world 
emerging from the isolation occasioned by the 
global COVID-19 pandemic.

Using the platform of a worldwide 
followership in excess of five billion, the 22nd 
edition of the FIFA World Cup™ emphasised 
football’s unifying powers, with a host of 
international icons coming together in a 
powerful video campaign. It was launched 
by FIFA President Infantino at the Executive 
Football Summit in Doha on the morning of 
the big kick-off and projected to fans in the 
stadiums and via an array of rights-holding 
broadcasters throughout the tournament.

Alisson Becker, Karim Benzema, Lucy Bronze, 
Didier Drogba, Giulia Gwinn, Kaká, Robert 
Lewandowski, Carli Lloyd, Édouard Mendy, 
Lionel Messi, Neymar, Emmanuel Petit and 
Cristiano Ronaldo all highlighted football’s 
unrivalled ability to bring people together. 
Qatar captain Hassan Al-Haydos appeared 
in the TV advert too and walked out to an 
expectant Al Bayt Stadium on the opening 
night sporting the armband of the campaign. 
His opposite number, Enner Valencia, showed 
his support for the message of togetherness, 
and the Ecuador skipper struck a double 
to earn a 2-0 win and plenty of worldwide 
coverage on the night.

FIFA President Infantino had predicted “a 
celebration of unity and passion for the 
game we love so much” when he announced 
the programme, as well as mentioning the 
successful implementation in Doha, where 
1.9 million Hayya applications had been 
approved with the top five countries for 
visitors being: Saudi Arabia, India, the USA,  
the United Kingdom and Mexico. 

“We have had an international atmosphere 
and a joyous atmosphere with football uniting 
the world,” said the FIFA President. “People 
have been coming together from all the 
different countries in one city, enjoying their 
time, maybe also [wanting] to forget some of 
their issues and [have] pleasure.”

FIFA Legends reflected on how they had 
experienced communities, societies and 
diverse groups of fans from all over the world 
coming together around the FIFA World 
Cup. Fans were also invited to share their 
experiences via social media throughout 
the month-long competition, which were 
celebrated in a further video compilation 
ahead of the thrilling finale at Lusail Stadium.

Under the “Football Unites the World” banner, 
FIFA also teamed up with the World Health 
Organization (WHO) and the United Nations 
World Food Programme to promote  
and highlight causes such as physical health,  
anti-discrimination, sustainability,  
education and ending child hunger. A number 
of these topics were featured among FIFA’s 
key social priorities throughout 2022 and 
awareness around them was raised during  
the FIFA World Cup.
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No discrimination 

FIFA’s drive against discrimination 
continued in 2022, in accordance with 
article 4 of the FIFA Statutes, which 
states that “discrimination of any kind 
against a country, private person or 
group of people on account of race, 
ethnic, national or social origin, gender, 
disability, religion, political opinion or 
wealth, birth or sexual orientation is 
strictly prohibited”.

The advent of the first FIFA World Cup 
in the Middle East, the Gulf region and 
the Arab world was an opportunity not 
only to reiterate what is unacceptable, 
but also to send a positive message 
of togetherness and understanding of 
what was to many visitors a new and 
rich culture.

The most-digitally experienced FIFA 
World Cup brought with it the perils 
of online hate and discriminatory 
discourse, highlighted in an 
independent report commissioned by 
FIFA and published on 18 June 2022 
to coincide with the United Nations 
International Day for Countering  
Hate Speech.

The study highlighted the increasing 
levels of abuse directed at footballers 
and coaches during international 
tournaments, using artificial 
intelligence to track over 400,000 
posts on social media platforms during 
the semi-final and final stages of two 
international competitions (UEFA 
EURO 2020 and CAF Africa Cup of 
Nations 2021). It identified that over 
50% of players received some form of 
discriminatory abuse, with much of 
that coming from the players’  
home nations. 

FOOTBALL UNITES THE WORLD
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In response, FIFA and FIFPRO joined forces to 
launch a dedicated in-tournament moderation 
service across men’s and women’s football 
that scans over 30,000 recognised hate speech 
terms to identified social media accounts and, 
once detected, prevent comments including 
them from being seen by the recipient and 
their followers.

The message took centre stage around the 
quarter-final matches of the FIFA World Cup, 
with national-team captains speaking out 
against discrimination in all its forms. The 
messages were shown on giant screens  
and posted on social media, as well as on  
LED boards in the stadium, reaching a  
global audience.

Recognising the negative impact that 
discriminatory behaviour has on mental 
health, the World Health Organization (WHO) 
joined FIFA on the campaign, which was timed 
to mark International Human Rights Day. 

“Stigma and discrimination can be extremely 
harmful to mental and physical health and 
can prevent people from accessing the health 
services they need,” said Dr Tedros Adhanom 
Ghebreyesus, WHO Director-General.  
“WHO is proud to partner with FIFA on  
the ‘No Discrimination’ campaign.“ 

14 million comments 
scanned during the FIFA 
World Cup

286,895 abusive or spam 
comments hidden on 
behalf of opted-in teams 
and players

4,908 social media users’ 
accounts flagged to law 
authorities for potential 
prosecution

“Everyone has the right 
to health, and fighting 
stigma and discrimination 
whenever and wherever 
they appear is essential 
for realising that right.”

Dr Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus 
WHO Director-General
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The healthiest FIFA  
World Cup ever 
The FIFA-WHO partnership has grown 
ever stronger since the signing of the 
2019 memorandum of understanding 
and the advent of the COVID-19 
pandemic. The two organisations 
have teamed up on a range of public 
awareness messages and the State of 
Qatar – including representatives from 
the Qatar Ministry of Public Health and 
the Supreme Committee for Delivery & 
Legacy – agreed to use the FIFA World 
Cup as a platform to promote healthy 
lifestyles, as well as to protect the 
health of all involved in the first  
mega football tournament since 
COVID-19 emerged. 

There was a commitment to 
providing healthy food options inside 
stadiums and fan zones, as well as 
the enhancing of tobacco prevention 
messaging in official tournament areas. 
Furthermore, there was a drive for 
fans – and youngsters, in particular – to 
#BeActive, considering that over 80% 
of children worldwide fail to take the 
hour of exercise each day needed for a 
healthy lifestyle. 

The most visible means of reinforcing  
sports and health as a pathway to  
general health was the #BringTheMoves 
challenge, where children were invited 
to invent new goal celebrations and 
task their favourite players to replicate 
them on the global stage. As well as 
uploading these moves on social  
media and tagging their heroes,  
the project energised groups of fans 
from all 32 teams across the eight 
state-of-the-art stadiums at the FIFA 
World Cup.

FOOTBALL UNITES THE WORLD
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Whilst the messaging ran throughout 
the year and was visible for the 
duration of the FIFA World Cup, it 
reached a peak around Universal 
Health Coverage Day on 12 December. 
Trinidadian-born artist The Mad 
Stuntman delivered a sensational 
performance of hit song I Like to Move It 
which featured in the hero film of the 
campaign at the FIFA Fan Festival™.  
It was followed up with half-time 
shows at each of the FIFA World Cup 
semi-finals at both Lusail and Al  
Bayt Stadiums. 

A number of players past and present 
got in on the act as well, including the 
oldest player ever to score in a FIFA 
World Cup finals. Cameroon’s Roger 
Milla’s silky moves at the 1990 FIFA 
World Cup™ featured in the campaign 
launch video and, after receiving an 
award for his historic achievements in 
Italy 32 years earlier, Milla brought the 
moves in front of the cameras to show 
his backing for the project.
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FIFA’s dedication to ensuring a healthy 
planet was detailed in the unveiling 
of its Climate Strategy at the United 
Nations Climate Change Conference 
in Glasgow in 2021. In its policy, FIFA 
has committed to reducing emissions 
by 50% by 2030 and reaching net 
zero by 2040 through the continued 
incorporation of sustainable operations 
into the organisation’s daily business.

WHO also deemed the climate crisis to 
be a health crisis, estimating that more 
than 13 million deaths around the 
world annually were due to avoidable 
environmental causes. Keeping 
the planet healthy by taking urgent 

action is not only a significant part of 
FIFA’s partnership with WHO but also 
furthers FIFA’s overall aims to make a 
brighter future through football.

The messaging was associated with 
action throughout the year. On the 
day of the FIFA World Cup draw in 
Doha, FIFA signed a memorandum 
of understanding with the Pacific 
Islands Forum (PIF), a collaboration 
intended to raise awareness through 
football and drive climate change 
action, which is vital to the region 
and aligns with the Framework for 
Resilient Development in the Pacific 
2017-2030.

Save the Planet

FOOTBALL UNITES THE WORLD
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The partnership with PIF focuses on 
education around climate change and 
fostering disaster resilience, including 
helping to develop advocacy strategies 
and boost community initiatives. The 
partnership creates synergies between 
the PIF’s work and FIFA Forward projects 
to lay football foundations across OFC 
member associations, particularly 
relevant with the FIFA Women’s World 
Cup 2023™ to be played in Australia and 
Aotearoa New Zealand. 

FIFA President Gianni Infantino fronted 
a campaign midway through the 
year, challenging football players and 
personalities from the sporting world 
and beyond to show a “Green Card for 
the Planet”. They in turn challenged 
others through a range of media to do 
their bit to make the future brighter. 

The sustainability commitment 
manifested itself further in visibility 
through flags, LED boards and 
armbands bearing the “Save the Planet” 
slogan during the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022, reinforcing FIFA’s partnership 
with the host country during the 
final tournament to deliver the most 
ambitious environmental programme in 
FIFA World Cup history. 

In addition to messaging to global 
audiences, FIFA Legend and 
ambassador Marcel Desailly led an 
operational video shown ahead of all 
64 matches, asking fans to join him to 
“Make Recycling [Their] Goal”. 
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FIFA used the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022 to support UNESCO’s mission 
to build peace, eradicate poverty 
and drive sustainable development 
by projecting the Education for All 
campaign to viewers worldwide.

Football’s symbiotic relationship with 
education was echoed in development 
and learning programmes across the 
world throughout 2022. Education is 
a fundamental human right, yet many 
children are being deprived of access 
to quality education, with 244 million 
children still out of school and 70% 
of ten-year-olds unable to read and 
understand simple written text. 

FOOTBALL UNITES THE WORLD

“Football is a great tool 
for teaching values 
such as team spirit 
and respect, and for 
developing life skills such 
as self-confidence.”

Audrey Azoulay 
UNESCO Director-General

Supporting youngsters 
through football
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Therefore, the FIFA World Cup was the 
stage to increase awareness of the 
extent of existing education poverty, a 
situation that worsened with the onset 
of the global pandemic in recent years. 
The theme not only echoes The Vision 
2020-2023 but followed on from a 
series of Football for Schools projects 
launched during the year in all corners 
of the world, including a significant 
legacy project for Qatar.

One further rallying cry during the 
FIFA World Cup was that every child 
has the right to healthy food and to 
feel safe, and have their basic human 
needs met. FIFA’s alliance with the 

United Nations World Food Programme 
raised awareness with the tagline 
“Protect Children, End Hunger” being 
amplified around matches in the 
tournament, which took place in a year 
of unprecedented global hunger, with 
acute food shortages rising from 135 
million to 345 million since 2019 and 
with many of those affected  
being children.

“Millions of children around the world 
are involved in football,” said President 
Infantino. “What these children all have 
in common is the right to enjoy football 
in a safe environment, in a culture of 
respect and understanding.”

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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“I really love meeting 
fans from all over the 
world and this has been 
a great place to do that. 
It is really a unique 
experience.” 

Irina
France supporter

From the wonders of the 
FIFA Fan Festival™, to 
the magical soundtrack 
and the unprecedented 
accessibility to facilities, 
the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022™ was not only the 
best-ever edition on the 
pitch, but off it too. 

As the climax of the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022™ reached a spectacular crescendo 
with the greatest final in history, the FIFA 
Fan Festival™ at Al Bidda Park in Doha, 
Qatar, saw more than 1.8 million visitors 
come to enjoy the live match broadcast 
of games and the vibrant entertainment 
on offer. 

Opening on Saturday, 19 November 2022, 
the FIFA Fan Festival was the hub for both 
international and local fans during the 
tournament, showing every FIFA World 
Cup Qatar 2022 match on a giant 1,800m2 
screen and providing free entertainment 
with some of the most famous names 
from music scenes around the world, 
including Diplo, Maluma, Kizz Daniel, 
Nora Fatehi, Trinidad Cardona and  
Calvin Harris.

The 145,000m2 and 40,000-capacity 
venue welcomed an average of 70,000 
visitors per day, with 146 music artists 
performing 162 hours of live music, 
and more than 700,000 beverages sold 
throughout the tournament. Fans from 
every nation experienced all that the 
venue had to offer. “This is my fifth time 
visiting the FIFA Fan Festival and I love it!” 
said France supporter Salim Ghana, 27. 

A FIFA World Cup™ fan 
experience like no other

FIFA WORLD CUP™ FAN EXPERIENCE
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“It has been so nice to 
meet fans from Saudi 
Arabia, Morocco and 
Mexico, and watch the 
games. The atmosphere 
has been amazing and 
it’s been special to see 
everyone enjoying it 
together!” 

Federico and Luciana
Argentina fans

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

“Welcome to Qatar” 
opening events and 
FIFA World Cup Trophy 
unveiling

FIFA Fan  
World Cup

FIFA Fan Festival 
1,000,000th guest 
award ceremony

FIFA Museum 
presented  
by Hyundai

FIFA Fan  
Festival  
hospitality

“Football Unites  
the World” 
exhibition

International FIFA 
Fan Festival Events in 
London, Mexico City,  
Rio de Janeiro, São Paulo, 
Seoul and Dubai

Fans’ Cup Volunteer 
celebration  
event

Sensory  
room  
facilities

A month‑long celebration of football
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Fans praise “amazing” accessibility experience at  
FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022
FIFA and the Supreme Committee for 
Delivery & Legacy (SC) worked tirelessly 
together for years in order to be able to 
successfully deliver the most accessible  
FIFA World Cup in history.

The tournament included a vast range 
of accessibility features, five types of 
accessibility tickets, including sensory 
rooms, audio-descriptive commentary for 
blind and partially sighted fans in Arabic 
and English, mobility assistance services in 
the last mile and inside the stadiums, and 
facilities to ensure the safety and comfort  
of all fans. 

Tournament preparations were supported 
by the Accessibility Forum, which was 
launched by the SC in 2016 and meant that 
fans with disabilities contributed to the 
development of facilities and projects to 
ensure this edition of the FIFA World Cup 
catered for every section of society. 

To add to the already groundbreaking 
matchday experience for those attending, 
before every kick-off at the FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022, two fans in the accessibility 
seats were invited to meet their heroes and 
be a part of the pre-match ceremony. It was 
a small gesture, but one which meant a lot 
for those lucky enough to experience it. 

Ten-year-old Aidan Bell was chosen to line 
up with England ahead of their quarter-final 
match against France at Al Bayt Stadium, 
and for his dad, George, seeing his son next 
to Three Lions captain Harry Kane was a 
special moment.

FIFA WORLD CUP™ FAN EXPERIENCE
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“It was amazing – words can’t do justice 
to how proud that made me. Watching 
the national anthem at a World Cup 
quarter-final and seeing Aidan there – 
it was unbelievable,” said George, an 
accountant who has lived in Qatar 
since 2017. He added: “The accessibility 
at this World Cup is absolutely 
amazing. From the moment you arrive, 
everything is brilliant – the parking, the 
security, the volunteers – everyone is 
so helpful. Everything is very clearly 
signposted and the facilities are very 
good. Aidan loves coming to games 
– this is his third so far – and we are 
having a great time.”

Ahmed Al Bahar, from Kuwait, was 
chosen to be on the pitch for the 
France team ahead of kick-off, and he 
was full of praise for the accessibility 
features of the tournament. 

He said: “This is one of the best 
accessibility experiences I have  
seen. From the moment I got to the 
stadium, everyone was so helpful.  
The entrance is wonderful and there 
are many restrooms – which is a big 
deal for disabled fans. The seating is 
beyond amazing, and I thank  
everyone organising this event –  
it has been incredible.”
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|12 October: England

|11 October: Wales

|15 October: Mexico

FIFA World Cup™ Trophy 
Tour by Coca‑Cola

The FIFA World Cup™ Trophy Tour by  
Coca-Cola kicked off its 51-country tour 
with a first-stop event in Dubai in May, 
where former FIFA World Cup winners  
Iker Casillas and Kaká came together to 
send the original FIFA World Cup Trophy 
on its journey around the world ahead  
of the tournament.

“As football fans around the world 
gear up to support their teams, 
Coca-Cola is thrilled to offer fans the 
opportunity to experience the trophy 
ahead of the tournament,” said Brad 
Ross, Vice-President of Global Sports & 
Entertainment Marketing and Partnerships 
at The Coca-Cola Company.

As the most famous trophy in sport 
started its global tour, Coca-Cola invited 
fans to a once-in-a-lifetime opportunity to 
experience the real magic of the world’s 
largest and most anticipated single-sport 
event: the FIFA World Cup. 

For the first time ever, the tour visited all 
32 countries that qualified for the FIFA 
World Cup, inspiring fans across the world 
through exclusive consumer experiences. 

Colin Smith, FIFA’s COO, World Cup, said: 
“The first phase of the FIFA World Cup 
Trophy Tour by Coca-Cola was a fantastic 
success, engaging the broader public with 
the magic of the largest football festival  
on earth. 

“By visiting all FIFA World Cup qualifying 
nations for the first time, the momentum 
of the Trophy Tour will continue to build, 
giving fans of all ages a taste of the 
excitement to come – and we hope  
they will join us in Qatar later this year  
for the ultimate celebration of the 
beautiful game.”

FIFA World Cup winners Iker Casillas and 
Kaká shared their passion for the game at 
the first-stop event in Dubai. Kaká said:  
“It is an incredible honour to be part of the 
first stop of the FIFA World Cup Trophy 
Tour by Coca-Cola. My first FIFA World Cup 
as a player was when I was just 20 years 
old, and it is still fresh in my mind. For me, 
it was a dream come true.” 

|19-20 August: Switzerland

|24-25 August: Korea Republic

|26-27 August: Japan

|29-30 August: Australia

|3-4 September: Ghana

|10-11 September: Morocco

|28 Septem
ber: D

enm
ark

|25 Septem
ber: Netherlands

|22 September: Poland

|8-9 September: Cameroon   
|20 September: Serbia

|17 September: Croatia

|16 September: Spain

|15 September: Portugal

|6-7 September: Senegal  |13-14 September: Tunisia

FIFA WORLD CUP™ FAN EXPERIENCE
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|12 October: England

|11 October: Wales

|4 October: Belgium

|6 October: France

|15 October: Mexico |25 October: Argentina

|2 November: Costa Rica

|5 November: USA

|21 October: Brazil

|11 November: Saudi Arabia

|9 November: Canada

|22 September: Poland

|8-9 September: Cameroon   
|20 September: Serbia

|17 September: Croatia

|16 September: Spain

|15 September: Portugal

|6-7 September: Senegal  |13-14 September: Tunisia

|3 O
ctober: Germany

|31 October: Ecuador

Qatar 
13 November

|28 October: Uruguay



132132

FIFA World Cup™ Official 
Soundtrack

The tournament was all about bringing the world 
together in harmony. For the first time ever, instead 
of one official song, a full FIFA World Cup™ Official 
Soundtrack was released.

A multi-song collection, featuring international artists 
across a variety of musical genres delivering smash hits, 
set the tone for a truly global celebration at the FIFA 
World Cup Qatar 2022.

FIFA WORLD CUP™ FAN EXPERIENCE
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Soundtrack on YouTube 

•   More than 480 million views across nine album tracks

•    Dreamers and Tukoh Taka topped YouTube Global Music Videos chart  
the week of 25 November

 —   Tukoh Taka topped the charts in the week of its release,  
18 November

 —    Both tracks in the top 3 in the week commencing 25 November
 —   Dreamers was still number 2 in the first week of December

Soundtrack on Shazam

Three tracks in the Top 200 most Shazamed tracks in the 
world in the week commencing 19 December

•    Tukoh Taka Number

•    Arhbo  Number

•    Dreamers Number

11

15

32

Across all digital service providers until 
13 December. Streams of the top three tracks: 

•    Tukoh Taka released on 18 November

•    Dreamers released on 20 November

•  Arhbo released on 26 August

97 million streams 

188 million streams

39.5 million streams

Dreamers by Jung Kook (of BTS) 
Released on 20 November 2022  
Chart peaks week of 18-24 November

•  Number     Spotify Top Songs Global and US (debut)

•  Number     Billboard Global 200, number 4 in the US

•  Number     on iTunes in more than 100 countries 

1

1

9
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On the morning of 
the opening match of 
the FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022™, the FIFA 
President and Secretary 
General hosted a 
summit for the member 
associations representing 
all six confederations.

In the presence of His Highness Sheikh 
Tamim bin Hamad Al Thani, Amir of  
the State of Qatar, His Excellency 
Hassan Al Thawadi, Secretary General 
of the Supreme Committee for 
Delivery & Legacy, FIFA Secretary 
General Fatma Samoura, FIFA Council 
members and FIFA Legends from 
around the world, FIFA President Gianni 
Infantino welcomed leaders from 
member associations representing 
all six confederations to Doha for the 
FIFA Executive Football Summit 2022 
and encouraged all in attendance to 
continue their work together to unite 
through football and develop the  
global game.

FIFA 
Executive 
Football 
Summit

FIFA EXECUTIVE FOOTBALL SUMMIT



“We are united to 
bring global football 
forward. Together 
with all 211 member 
associations, with all 
confederations, we 
will continue to work 
together for the next 
four years and we will  
do great, great things.” 

Gianni Infantino
FIFA President

Following the opening remarks by 
His Highness The Amir, President 
Infantino – in his first address to 
member associations since it was 
confirmed that the elective 73rd FIFA 
Congress in March 2023 would be 
uncontested – thanked the member 
associations at the summit for their 
support. “I’m truly humbled, I’m 
extremely honoured, to have received 
the official support of over 200 member 
associations from all continents and 
this shows that we are indeed united,” 
said the FIFA President. “We are united 
in wanting to bring global football 
forward. Together with all 211 member 
associations, with all confederations, 
we will continue to work together for 
the next four years and we will do great, 
great things: we will make football truly 
global; we will make football bigger.”

FIFA
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Giving every talent a chance 
As well as the message of unity, 
togetherness and financial growth, 
the summit gave FIFA’s Global Football 
Development Division and Refereeing 
Subdivision the opportunity to address 
the member associations. In doing 
so, they were able to present their 
proposals on the latest developments 
and offerings from FIFA to help ensure 
that every talent is given a chance to 
shine – regardless of where they  
are born.

FIFA Chief of Global Football 
Development Arsène Wenger and Jill 
Ellis – who leads the Technical Advisory 
Group on the Future of Women’s 
Football – answered questions on 
the FIFA Talent Development Scheme 
and the ongoing development of the 
women’s game, respectively. FIFA 
Secretary General Fatma Samoura’s 
address focused on the development 
opportunities a 32-team FIFA Women’s 
World Cup™ would offer. 

FIFA EXECUTIVE FOOTBALL SUMMIT
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Harnessing technology for 
refereeing excellence   
FIFA Referees Committee chairman 
Pierluigi Collina also took part to discuss 
how FIFA continued to harness the power 
of technology in all areas of officiating, 
including at the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022, to provide “Team One”, which was 
made up of the referees, assistant referees 
and video match officials, with the best 
possible tools to enable them to carry out 
their duties at elite level.

FIFAANNUAL REPORT 2022
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FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™ SOCIAL IMPACT

From the volunteers 
to the FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022™ Legacy 
Fund, the 22nd edition 
of the greatest show on 
Earth touched the lives 
of millions – and will 
continue to do so.

As the tournament drew to a close, 
FIFA President Gianni Infantino took 
to the stage at Al Bidda Park to thank 
those people without whom none of 
the events of the month-long festival 
of football would have been possible – 
the volunteers. 

In his address at the volunteer 
celebration event, President Infantino 
described the 20,000-strong army of 
volunteers as the “heart and soul” of 
the tournament. 

“You are the best volunteers ever for 
the best World Cup ever, thank you very 
much from the bottom of my heart, 
from all of those who love football, to 
all of you. You are fantastic,” he told the 
thousands who had gathered at the 
FIFA Fan Festival™ for the celebration. 

Pointing out that only 20,000 had been 
selected from the over 400,000 people 
who had initially applied to become 
FIFA World Cup volunteers, President 

Celebrating 
social 
impact and 
creating 
legacy
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“You are the best 
volunteers ever for the 
best World Cup ever, 
thank you very much from 
the bottom of my heart.”

Gianni Infantino
FIFA President

Infantino also made it clear that those 
who had made it were the best of  
the best. 

“Congratulations,” he said. “You are the 
heart and soul of the World Cup and, 
most importantly, you are the face and 
the smile of the World Cup. You are 
the first person that people see when 
they come to this fantastic World Cup, 
and the last person they see when they 
leave. Your smile is making this World 
Cup what it is, which is the best ever.”

Volunteers were at the heart of the 
tournament’s operations, providing 
support across a wide variety of 
sites such as stadiums, training sites, 
airports, fan zones, hotels and metro 
stations. They are always regarded as 
essential to the joyful atmosphere of 
any FIFA World Cup. 
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International Volunteer Day 

Alongside the event at 
Al Bidda Park, and to celebrate 
International Volunteer Day  
on 5 December 2022, 
tournament organisers paid 
tribute to the volunteers during 
the Japan v. Croatia and Brazil v. 
Korea Republic matches at  
Al Janoub Stadium and  
Stadium 974 respectively.

In addition, volunteers were  
able to pose with the FIFA World 
Cup 2022 Winner’s Trophy at  
the volunteer hub located in  
the Doha Exhibition Centre  
for a once-in-a-lifetime  
photo opportunity.

Workforce and Administration 
Director for FIFA World Cup 

Qatar 2022 LLC Rasha Al Qarni 
said, “We are so proud of all 
our volunteers. Their generous 
spirit can be felt in the positive 
atmosphere around the city and 
I’m certain their impact will create 
a lasting legacy for the culture of 
volunteering in the region.”

FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™ SOCIAL IMPACT
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A day in 
the life of a 
volunteer 
To truly understand the volunteer 
experience first-hand, French 1998 
FIFA World Cup™ winner Marcel 
Desailly, former Manchester City and 
Ivorian superstar Yaya Touré and 
Qatari world and Olympic high-jump 
champion Mutaz Barshim went the 
extra mile and agreed to become 
volunteers for the day at the busy 
uniform distribution centre in Doha. 

The three ambassadors were 
given official volunteer uniforms 
and briefed in their duties to help 
distribute uniforms to FIFA World 
Cup workforce staff and volunteers. 

Asked how he enjoyed spending a 
day in the life of a volunteer, Desailly 
replied, “It was a great experience 
to understand the dedication, the 
passion and the commitment of the 
volunteers. Now we know, and we 
want each of the 20,000 volunteers 
to know, that all their amazing 
hard work is fully recognised and 
appreciated. The tournament could 
not be delivered without them.” 

Workforce uniform volunteer Wan 
Nizam said, “Having these amazing 
sportspeople volunteering with us 
was a fantastic experience that I will 
cherish for life. It was an honour 
and pleasure to explain our role and 
guide them.”

141141
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“The legacy of the FIFA World Cup will 
take a different direction following 
the tournament in Qatar by having an 
international dimension that helps people 
most in need all across the world.” 

Gianni Infantino
FIFA President

FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ Legacy Fund

On the eve of the opening game, FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino announced 
that the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
Legacy Fund would take a more global 
approach by focusing on educational 
projects and supporting the creation of 
a labour excellence hub. 

“The legacy of the FIFA World Cup will 
take a different direction following 
the tournament in Qatar by having 
an international dimension that helps 
people most in need all across the 
world,” said President Infantino in his 
address to the Goal 2022 and Generation 
Amazing Youth Festival in Doha. 

“Previous FIFA World Cup legacy 
funds have focused on developing 

football in the host country of that 
final tournament, but given Qatar’s 
capabilities, for this edition FIFA will take 
a more global direction. I would like to 
thank our colleagues in Qatar for 
accepting our proposal, which will help 
support many people in many countries.” 

As part of this legacy plan, FIFA will 
allocate funding to support the 
education of children, particularly girls 
and women, located in developing 
countries so that they are provided 
with more opportunities to succeed. 
These projects will help to give children 
a chance to develop their skills and 
progress in their own lives, equipping 
them with the tools they need to create 
a better future for themselves. 

FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™ SOCIAL IMPACT

In addition, FIFA will set aside funds 
dedicated to establishing a labour 
excellence hub in partnership with the 
International Labour Organization. 
The role of the programmes will be to 
share best practices in labour matters 
and support adherence to the United 
Nations Guiding Principles on Business 
and Human Rights when hosting  
FIFA tournaments. 

Although the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022 Legacy Fund is financed by 
a percentage of the commercial 
revenue generated through the 
competition, FIFA also invited external 
contributors to provide support after 
the tournament ended, in keeping with 
previous editions.
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Giving workers the experience of a lifetime 

Delivering the infrastructure required 
to host the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 
was a construction project like no other. 
In addition to the training sites, seven 
brand-new stadiums – and one fully 
refurbished one – were delivered. This 
was an enormous undertaking involving 
thousands of construction workers. 

In the final week of the tournament, 
some of those who had worked on 
these projects were handed the  
once-in-a-lifetime opportunity to play 

with and against some of the  
world’s most famous ex-footballers –  
at a stadium many of them had  
helped build.

In front of more than 5,400 friends and 
colleagues, 24 workers who had helped 
deliver key FIFA World Cup projects 
overseen by the Supreme Committee 
for Delivery & Legacy (SC) took to the 
field alongside some of most iconic 
names in global football at Al Thumama 
Stadium in Doha. 

FIFA WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™ SOCIAL IMPACT
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“It’s a great idea from 
FIFA to give back to some 
of the workers who 
have put so much hard 
work into the fantastic 
stadiums.” 

John Terry
FIFA Legend and former  
England captain
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The workers had been part of 
projects related to the eight  
state-of-the-art stadiums and  
42 training sites and were selected 
based on their passion for 
football, their involvement in their 
community football programmes 
and their past participation in 
the Workers Cup – an annual 
tournament organised by the  
SC and the Qatar Football 
Association for migrant workers  
in the country.

The FIFA Legends, who included 
FIFA World Cup winners Marco 
Materazzi, Roberto Carlos,  
Cafu, Youri Djorkaeff and 
Alessandro Del Piero, played  
two 30-minute halves. 

Former England captain John Terry, 
who played in two FIFA World Cups, 
was also among the legends, and 
praised the initiative. 

“It’s a great idea from FIFA to give back 
to some of the workers who have put 
so much hard work into the fantastic 
stadiums,” he said after the game.  
“To open the stadium up to other fans 
to come and see [it] free of charge, 
as well. It’s fantastic. It’s just great for 
them to come and play with us,  
but also for us to meet them 
personally, and experience the pitch. 
As ex-players, it’s always nice.”

Meanwhile, one of the participants 
lining up against the FIFA Legends, 
Justice Boye Odoi from Ghana, said 
it was an experience he would never 
forget. “It was incredible,” he said 
after the game. “I really enjoyed 
everything. It was like a dream come 
true to see some of these guys.  
They are legends. The emotions 
were amazing, I enjoyed every bit of 
it. I was excited to see [Alessandro] 
Del Piero, especially, and Clarence 
Seedorf. They are amazing players.” 

“I really enjoyed 
everything. It was like 
a dream come true to 
see some of these guys. 
They are legends. The 
emotions were amazing, 
I enjoyed every bit of it.” 

Justice Boye Odoi
Construction worker from Ghana
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“As a child with autism, his senses 
can be overloaded, but these 
sensory rooms make the experience 
very manageable.”

Adel Al Awad 
Brother of Ibrahim, sensory room user  
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Introducing sensory rooms: another FIFA World Cup first   

Working with local stakeholders, the Supreme 
Committee for Delivery & Legacy, FIFA and the 
FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 LLC set up sensory 
rooms for fans with access requirements at 
three Qatar 2022™ stadiums: Al Bayt, Lusail and 
Education City. 

The spaces allowed fans to watch matches in a 
quieter place equipped with assistive technology 
and expert staff on hand. The offering also 
included the largest deployment of sensory 
rooms at a mega sporting event in history. 

A number of mobile sensory rooms were also 
set up across Qatar to give fans the opportunity 
to step away from large crowds or loud music. 
Locations included the Corniche, where the SC 
organised a vast number of cultural activations, 
and the FIFA Fan Festival at Al Bidda Park.

For Adel Al Awad, bringing his 13-year-old 
brother, Ibrahim, to a FIFA World Cup match 
was an important experience. “I am delighted 
to see Ibrahim being given the opportunity to 
attend football matches. He loves the game, and 
is always excited when we go to the stadium. 
Although he loves the sights and sounds of 
being in the stands, they can sometimes be a 
bit too much for him. As a child with autism, his 

senses can be overloaded, but these sensory 
rooms make the experience very manageable,” 
he said. 

Federico Addiechi, FIFA’s Head of Sustainability 
& Environment, added: “For each edition of the 
FIFA World Cup, we step up our commitment 
to sustainability. Qatar 2022 is becoming a 
standard bearer for other major sporting events 
when it comes to accessibility, going beyond 
basic infrastructure. This is about ensuring that 
every fan feels welcome and a part of this event, 
and we are proud of what we have achieved.” 

The 22nd edition of the FIFA World Cup also 
featured a number of firsts for disabled fans, 
including the availability of audio-descriptive 
commentary in Arabic at all matches.  
In addition, the tournament was hailed as the  
most accessible edition of the FIFA World Cup  
in history – with all eight stadiums being 
outfitted with facilities for disabled fans.
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The FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
was the best-ever edition of 
football’s greatest tournament. 
Here are some of the most iconic 
images of players and fans, 
experiencing the emotions only 
the beautiful game can induce.

Pride, passion 
and pure joy
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FIFA WOMEN’S WORLD CUP AUSTRALIA & NEW ZEALAND 2023™
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All eyes on Australia 
and Aotearoa New 
Zealand for the FIFA 
Women’s World Cup™ 
set to top 2023

The ninth edition of the 
FIFA Women’s World Cup™, 
with 32 teams, hosted 
across two confederations, 
in ten magnificent stadiums 
and nine host cities, will 
be a new landmark in 
the development of the 
women’s game.
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Qualified teams 
Five of the six confederations used 
their respective continental 
championships to decide their 
representatives at the FIFA Women’s 
World Cup 2023, while UEFA staged  
a separate qualifying competition.

The main part of the qualifying 
competition finished on 11 October 
2022 with 29 of the 32 places filled. 
Five nations – Morocco, the Philippines, 
the Republic of Ireland, Vietnam and 
Zambia – all qualified for the first time, 
as the decision to expand the finals to 
32 teams brought immediate benefits 
by giving more teams a chance to shine 
on the global stage. 

The remaining three places will be  
filled at the first-ever play-off 
tournament to be played at two venues 
– in Auckland/Tāmaki Makaurau and 
Hamilton/Kirikiriroa, Aotearoa New 
Zealand – from 17 to 23 February 2023. 
This tournament will feature ten teams 
– Paraguay, Chile, Papua New Guinea, 
Portugal, Chinese Taipei, Thailand, 
Haiti, Panama, Cameroon, Senegal – 
and will give more teams a chance to 
play meaningful competitive matches, 
in line with FIFA President Gianni 
Infantino’s Vision.

“We will unite the world 
in Australia and in New 
Zealand; we will unite 
the world in joy, because 
football is joy.”

Gianni Infantino
FIFA President

The FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023™,  
in Australia and Aotearoa New Zealand, 
will be the first to feature 32 teams, 
and the first to be co-hosted by 
two member associations and two 
continental confederations.

The tournament will take place from 
20 July 2023 to 20 August 2023 across 
nine cities, with the opening match 
between New Zealand and Norway 
at Eden Park, Auckland/Tāmaki 
Makaurau, and the final at Stadium 
Australia, Sydney/Gadigal. 
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FIFA WOMEN’S WORLD CUP AUSTRALIA & NEW ZEALAND 2023™

The draw 

The draw took place at the Aotea 
Centre in Auckland/Tāmaki Makaurau, 
Aotearoa New Zealand, on 22 October 
2022, and was conducted by former 
US international and two-time 
Women’s World Cup champion Carli 
Lloyd and CNN International sports 
presenter Amanda Davies. Draw 
assistants included Maia Jackman, 
Julie Dolan, Ian Wright, Alexi Lalas, 
Geremi and Gilberto Silva.

The 800 guests included 28 coaches 
from the qualified teams and eight 
from countries competing in the 
play-off tournament, as well as the 
FIFA President and Secretary General, 

Aotearoa New Zealand Prime Minister 
Jacinda Ardern, Australian Federal 
Minister for Sport Anika Wells, 
representatives from the teams and 
FIFA Legends. They were treated to a 
spectacular celebration of Māori and 
First Nations culture.

Before the draw, the tournament 
mascot was unveiled: a penguin 
named Tazuni™. The name is a fusion 
of her home – the Tasman Sea – and 
“unity”, a key value of the event.

The defending champions, the USA, 
were drawn against the Netherlands 
– promising a rematch of the final in 
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2019 – and Vietnam. The group will be  
completed by either Cameroon, 
Thailand or Portugal, depending on 
which nation qualifies from the  
play-off tournament. European 
champions England were pitted 
against Denmark, China PR and 
another of the play-off winners (Chile, 
Haiti or Senegal). 

New Zealand will take on Norway in 
the opening game of the tournament 
on 20 July, with co-hosts Australia 
playing their first match against the 
Republic of Ireland later that day.

“Sport changes lives. This World 
Cup will change lives. Not just for 
players, but for fans captivated 
in stadiums and at home, and 
for the children watching on and 
believing that they can be great – 
as they witness something beyond 
greatness.”

Anika Wells
Australian Minister for Sport
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FIFA U-20 WORLD CUP INDONESIA 2023™

FIFA U-20 World 
Cup Indonesia 
2023™

With the tournament 
due to take place in  
May and June 2023, 
appetites were whetted 
as the official mascot 
was revealed.
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In September 2022, a Javanese 
rhinoceros called Bacuya™ was 
introduced to the world as the Official 
Mascot of the FIFA U-20 World Cup 
Indonesia 2023™, which will take place 
across six Host Cities between 20 May 
and 11 June 2023.

Children and fans of all ages were able 
to catch a glimpse of Bacuya when he 

was unveiled at Jakarta’s iconic Selamat 
Datang Monument, before embarking 
on a parade down Sudirman Street 
during the city’s car-free day. 

The event was attended by FIFA’s 
Director of Tournaments, Jaime Yarza, 
the Indonesian Minister of Youth and 
Sports, Zainudin Amali, the President of 
the Football Association of Indonesia, 

Mochamad Iriawan, and Local 
Organising Committee Project Lead, 
Maaike Ira Puspita.

The 2023 tournament will be the 
23rd edition of FIFA’s biennial men’s 
youth tournament – 23 nations will join 
hosts Indonesia, but reigning champions 
Ukraine will not be present to defend 
their title, after failing to qualify. 
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FIFA U-17 WORLD CUP PERU 2023™

Having been cancelled in 2021 
due to the ongoing pandemic, 
hosting rights were re-awarded 
to Peru for 2023, and the 
19th edition of the FIFA U-17 
World Cup™ will be held from 
10 November to 2 December.

FIFA U-17 
World Cup™ 
returns after 
COVID-19 
disruption
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Twenty-four teams will take part in the 
tournament, which Peru has staged once 
before, in 2005, when Mexico ran out winners. 
Brazil hosted and won the most recent edition 
in 2019, beating Mexico 2-1 in the final.

Numerous players have taken their first 
tentative steps in international football in the 
competition and gone on to achieve worldwide 
fame. The illustrious list includes Neymar, 
Casemiro, Mario Götze, Toni Kroos, Eden 
Hazard, Giovani dos Santos, Cesc Fàbregas, 
Andrés Iniesta, Landon Donovan, Ronaldinho, 
Gianluigi Buffon, Nwankwo Kanu, Alessandro 
Del Piero and Luís Figo.

Five cities will host matches – Tacna, Chiclayo, 
Piura, Lima and Callao. The 24 teams will 
be divided into six groups of four, with 16 
qualifying for the knockout stage.
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OLYMPIC FOOTBALL TOURNAMENTS PARIS 2024

In July 2022, the match schedules 
for the men’s and women’s football 
tournaments at the Paris 2024 Olympic 
Games were confirmed.

The tournaments, which include 12 and 
16 nations competing in the women’s 
and men’s competitions respectively, 
will begin on Wednesday, 24 July 2024 
and conclude at the Parc des Princes 
on Saturday, 10 August 2024. 

At Paris 2024, the women’s competition 
will, for the first-time ever, close 
the Olympic Football Tournaments, 
with the men’s gold-medal match 
taking place the day before on Friday, 
9 August.

Olympic 
Football 
Tournaments 
Paris 2024
The dates, times and 
venues for all 58 fixtures 
to be played in France in 
2024 have been revealed, 
with the women’s final 
given the honour of 
bringing the curtain down.



171

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

In another first for the Women’s 
Olympic Football Tournament,  
in 2024 there will also be no  
double-headers, with every game 
being a stand-alone fixture. 

The FIFA President and IOC member, 
Gianni Infantino, said: “FIFA is today 
very happy to reveal the Olympic 
Football Tournament match schedules 
for what will be a truly fantastic 
summer Games in just two years’ 

time. We are especially delighted to 
announce that the final of the Women’s 
Olympic Football Tournament will, for 
the first time, close the competition, 
with every game up to that being a 
stand-alone attraction. 

That this should take place in France 
is particularly exciting. A country 
with a distinguished history of 
developing and excelling in both 
men’s and women’s football, which 
has hosted some of the most iconic 
FIFA tournaments in history, including 
the last FIFA Women’s World Cup in 
2019, and where FIFA has recently 
re-opened an office to better serve 
its 211 member associations. We look 
forward to Paris 2024 immensely.” 

The schedules confirmed that in 
addition to the 11 games scheduled 
to take place in Paris, the residents 
of six other cities throughout France 
– Bordeaux, Lyon, Marseille, Nantes, 
Nice and Saint-Etienne – will also  
get their chance to witness  
Olympic football.

“We are especially 
delighted to announce 
that the final of the 
Women’s Olympic 
Football Tournament will, 
for the first time, close 
the competition.”

Gianni Infantino
FIFA President
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FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE GOVERNANCE, AUDIT AND COMPLIANCE COMMITTEE

Foreword by the 
chairperson of the 
Governance, Audit and 
Compliance Committee

In 2022, FIFA continued to observe and 
enforce the highest level of governance 
and compliance standards across all 
sectors. Its efforts in this regard were 
very successful, with many projects 
that were initiated during the 
pandemic coming to fruition. In a  
world that had rediscovered its  
energy, the football community was 
alight with activity.

For many member associations facing 
pandemic-induced hardships, FIFA’s 
unprecedented injection of 
USD 1.5 billion in financial aid provided 
much-needed support and sustenance. 
Consisting of strictly audited grants 
and loans, the initiative was overseen 
by the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan 
Steering Committee at both member 
association and confederation levels. 
The funds released in the third and 
final phase enabled member 
associations to seamlessly resume 
competitions, pay administration and 
operating costs, and maintain their 
football infrastructure.

In addition, 2022 saw the successful 
roll-out of the first World Football 
Remission Fund project. In 
compensation for losses suffered by 
FIFA, CONMEBOL and Concacaf as 
victims of corruption schemes, 
USD 201 million had been awarded by 
the US Department of Justice to the 
FIFA Foundation in August 2021. 
Overseen by the World Football 
Remission Fund Board and closely 
monitored by the Governance, Audit 
and Compliance Committee, FIFA is 
ensuring that these funds are rightfully 
channelled back to where they are 
most needed. 

This year, Governance, Audit and 
Compliance Committee members 
continued to observe their mandate  
to oversee important areas, including 
human rights and sustainability as well 
as audit and compliance. For example, 
in 2022, the Audit and Compliance 
Working Group carried on monitoring 
and reviewing the distribution of FIFA 
Forward funds to ensure that the funds 
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were deployed for their intended use 
and to develop football. Similarly, the 
Review Committee and Compensation 
Sub-Committee performed their tasks 
transparently and with impartiality 
throughout the year. FIFA also 
continues to lead by example by 
dedicating a section of this report to 
publishing the annual compensation 
paid to key members of FIFA senior 
management, the chairpersons of its 
committees and members of the  
FIFA Council. 

FIFA’s commitment to paving the way 
in governance and compliance matters 
for the sport industry is unwavering. 
Following a review by the Association 
of Summer Olympic International 
Federations in 2022, world football’s 
governing body was again placed in the 
top band of international sporting 
federations with the best standards of 
governance. FIFA’s 4th Compliance 
Summit, which was attended by over 
200 international delegates in person 
and online, focused on shifting 
perspectives on best practices  
in compliance. 

After taking into account the lessons 
learnt from the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022™, I am looking forward to what is 
to come in 2023, as FIFA continues on 
its governance, audit and compliance 
journey as a transparent and 
accountable organisation. 
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“FIFA’s commitment 
to paving the way 
in governance and 
compliance matters for 
the sport industry is 
unwavering.”

Mukul Mudgal 
Chairperson of the Governance,  
Audit and Compliance Committee
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On 31 March 2022, the 72nd FIFA Congress took 
place in Doha – on the eve of the Final Draw 
for the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ – with 
President Gianni Infantino announcing his 
intention to stand for re-election in 2023.

FIFA President Gianni Infantino used 
the platform offered by the 72nd FIFA 
Congress in Doha to make a plea for 
world peace and informed delegates 
from the 210 member associations 
(MAs) in attendance about the launch 
of the next iteration of the FIFA 
Forward Programme, Forward 3.0, 
while also revealing his intention to 
stand for re-election at the 73rd  
FIFA Congress.

Staged on the eve of the Final Draw for  
the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™, 
the 72nd FIFA Congress convened in 
person for the first time in three years, 
and although COVID-19 pandemic 
restrictions resulted in several MAs 
joining virtually, delegates looked 
ahead to the upcoming tournament 
– the first edition to be hosted in the 
Arab world.

President Infantino also called on 
world leaders to engage in dialogue 
to bring an end to war and conflict. 
“We live in an aggressive world, in a 
divided world, but I’m a big believer 
in the power of football to bring 
people together and to cross cultural 
boundaries,” he said in reference to 
ongoing wars across the globe. 

“Nelson Mandela said that sport 
has the power to change the world. 
Football is the world sport. We aren’t 
naïve to believe football can solve the 
world’s problems. Once this terrible 
conflict is over and all other conflicts 
around the world as well, hopefully 
very soon, football can play a small 
part in rebuilding relationships, in 
establishing peace and understanding 
– and we’ll be there at the forefront of 
doing that.” 

“My plea to all of those who have 
some power in this world, to all of 
those who are in important political 
positions in the world, please, please 
stop conflicts and wars,” he added. 

“Nelson Mandela said  
that sport has the  
power to change the 
world. Football is the 
world sport.”

Gianni Infantino
FIFA President
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Human rights: the path to progress 
FIFA underlined its commitment 
to protecting rights and improving 
the welfare of everyone involved 
in delivering FIFA competitions. 
Delegates at the 72nd FIFA Congress 
were shown a film charting the 
progress made in the 12 years since 
Qatar was awarded the rights to 
host the FIFA World Cup.

Human rights: the path to progress 
profiles how in 2010, when the FIFA 
World Cup 2022™ was awarded to 
Qatar, urgent calls were made for 
labour reforms. The film hears from 

a number of leading lobbyists and 
experts in international workers’ 
rights, offers an overview of some 
of the progress achieved to date 
and highlights that necessary 
further work would continue during 
and beyond the tournament.

“Please, for our children, for our 
future. Please engage in dialogue, 
even with your worst enemy. Please 
try to come together. And football 
will be there and will help in working 
together for peace. Because we have 
to learn again to live together and we 
have to learn again what it means to 
live together.” 

Regarding the Future of Football 
project, the FIFA President reiterated 
world football governing body’s 
commitment to developing football, 
increasing global competitiveness 
and continuing the ongoing pledge to 
eradicate all forms of discrimination 
within the game. 

The FIFA President, together with 
several delegates, spoke about the 
FIFA World Cup™ in Qatar and the 
positive impact and legacy that 
the tournament could bring. The 
agenda also included addresses 
from His Excellency Sheikh Khalid bin 
Khalifa bin Abdulaziz Al Thani, Prime 
Minister of Qatar, and World Health 
Organization (WHO) Director-General, 
Dr Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus. 

In the context of the FIFA Annual 
Report 2021, the Congress approved 
FIFA’s consolidated financial 
statements and statutory financial 
statements for 2021, as well as an 
amendment to article 9 of the FIFA 
Statutes. The FIFA President then 
concluded the Congress by stating  
his intention to stand for re-election 
in 2023.

72ND FIFA CONGRESS
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Dr Tedros takes to the stage 
Dr Tedros Adhanom Ghebreyesus also 
addressed the 72nd FIFA Congress, 
where he underscored the important 
role that football had to play in 
helping the global population to live 
healthy lives.  

“The World Health Organization’s 
partnership with FIFA is one of 
the most powerful opportunities 
to beat the global threat of 
non-communicable diseases, including 
heart and lung diseases, diabetes  
and cancers, which are responsible  
for over 70% of diseases globally,” 
said Dr Tedros. “This partnership will 
deliver help globally.” 

“Leveraging the inspiration and 
influence of football, we all have a 
unique opportunity to help young 
people and all our communities 
lead healthy lives through improved 
physical activity, healthy diet, and 
saying ‘no’ to tobacco.” 

Dr Tedros also had words of 
appreciation for the work being 
carried out by Qatar and its Ministry 
of Public Health. 

“Qatar might be small in size, but it’s 
large in stature,” he said. “I especially 
thank them for the role they have 
played in supporting the WHO 
emergency operations in Afghanistan 
over the past year.” 

“We very much appreciate their 
support for protecting and promoting 
the health of people all over the 
world, but I want you to know that 
we’re also committed to protecting 
and promoting the health of the 
people of Qatar.” 

The signing of a four-year 
memorandum of understanding 
between the WHO and FIFA in 2019 
kick-started a range of joint initiatives 
in a show of commitment from both 
organisations to promote health  
for all.
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FIFA Council

The FIFA Council met four times in 2022 
and took or ratified a wide range of 
key decisions, including regarding the 
groundbreaking transfer regulatory reform 
and new budgets for global football 
development for the upcoming cycle.

FIFA COUNCIL
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No. 19: 30 March 2022 
Doha, Qatar 

The second FIFA Council meeting 
of 2022 took place in Doha, Qatar, 
on the eve of the 72nd Congress and 
two days before the Draw for the 
FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™.  
The meeting, which was in hybrid 
format as some members were 
unable to attend due to ongoing 
COVID-19 pandemic restrictions, 
marked the first time that the FIFA 
Council had met in person since 
24 October 2019.

Key points from the FIFA  
Council meeting:

•    The electoral calendar for  
the FIFA presidential election  
was confirmed.

•    The FIFA Council received a 
detailed progress report on the 
FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022.

•    Recent decisions taken by the 
Bureau of the Council were ratified.

No. 18: 24 February 2022 
Held via videoconference 

Due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic 
and the challenges presented by the 
development of the Omicron variant, 
the first FIFA Council meeting in 2022 
took place via videoconference.

Key points from the FIFA  
Council meeting:

•    The agenda of the 72nd FIFA Congress 
in Doha, Qatar, on 31 March 2022 
was approved.

•    The FIFA Annual Report was 
published with the financial 
statements for 2021 and the budget 
for 2023.

•    FIFA condemned the use of force by 
Russia in Ukraine and any form of 
violence to resolve conflicts, stating 
that violence was never a solution. 

•    FIFA called on all parties to restore 
peace through constructive dialogue.

•    FIFA also continued to express its 
solidarity to the people affected by 
the conflict.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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No. 20: 22 October 2022 
Auckland, Aotearoa New Zealand

At its meeting in Auckland/Tāmaki 
Makaurau, Aotearoa New Zealand – its 
first in the Oceania region – the FIFA 
Council approved the FIFA Clearing 
House Regulations, a major step 
towards safeguarding transparency 
and accountability in the global 
transfer system.

Key points from the FIFA  
Council meeting:

•    The FIFA Clearing House Regulations 
were approved.

•    The regulations are the result of 
FIFA’s comprehensive transfer 
system reform and follow an 
extensive consultation process 
initiated by the FIFA Football 
Stakeholders Committee in 2017.

•    The regulations entered into force  
on 16 November 2022.

•    Amendments to the Regulations on 
the Status and Transfer of Players 
were also approved.

•    Detailed updates on the FIFA 
Women’s World Cup Australia &  
New Zealand 2023™ were presented.
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Doha, Qatar 

The last FIFA Council meeting of 2022 
took place in Doha, Qatar, two days 
before the FIFA World Cup™ final. FIFA 
President Gianni Infantino began the 
meeting by hailing the 22nd edition of 
the tournament as the “best ever”, 
following nearly a month during which 
“football reinforced its unique cohesive 
power by uniting the world in a spirit of 
peace and friendship”.

Key points from the FIFA  
Council meeting:

•    The budget for the 2023-2026 
cycle was confirmed and will see 
USD 9.7 billion invested in football.

•    Dedicated funding of 
USD 200 million was approved to 
cover the 2023-2026 operational life 
cycle of the groundbreaking Talent 
Development Scheme.

•    Several key strategic principles 
related to the international match 
calendars and competitions for  
both men’s and women’s football 
were endorsed.

•    A 32-team FIFA Club World Cup –  
to take place every four years 
beginning in June 2025 – was 
approved, alongside several 
principles across men’s, women’s 
and youth competitions  
and calendars.

•    The FIFA Football Agent Regulations 
were approved.

•    The United Arab Emirates and the 
Seychelles (FIFA Beach Soccer World 
Cups™) were appointed to host  
FIFA tournaments.

•    Morocco was appointed to host the 
FIFA Club World Cup 2022™  
(1-11 February 2023).

No. 21: 16 December 2022 
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Legal & 
Compliance

LEGAL & COMPLIANCE

In line with The Vision 2020-
2023, and as part of FIFA’s 
work to modernise the football 
regulatory framework, a 
number of milestones were 
delivered by the FIFA Legal & 
Compliance Division in 2022.

FIFA Clearing House  

Wednesday, 16 November 2022 was a 
groundbreaking day for football as the FIFA 
Clearing House began operations. 

As highlighted by FIFA President Gianni 
Infantino at the 71st FIFA Congress, there is 
still a significant imbalance in world football 
and insufficient rewards for training clubs. 
To help remedy this, the FIFA Clearing House 
will ensure that training compensation and 
solidarity payments are made to the clubs 
that are entitled to them. It is estimated 
that, under the FIFA Clearing House, close to 
USD 400 million will be distributed each year 
to training clubs, which currently only receive 
approximately USD 70-80 million.

With an initial focus on the centralisation, 
processing and automation of payments 
between clubs relating to training rewards 
(training compensation and solidarity 
contribution), as well as on the promotion of 
financial transparency and integrity within the 
international transfer system, the FIFA Clearing 
House represents a new era for the global 
transfer system.

For the first time in the history of football, 
training rewards will be automatically 
calculated and distributed by the newly 
established entity, thereby increasing solidarity, 
transparency and integrity in the football world. 
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All training rewards triggered by 
transfers or first professional 
registrations will now be automatically 
calculated by FIFA systems and then 
processed by the FIFA Clearing House, 
an independent entity established in 
Paris which has been granted a licence 
to operate as a payment institution by 
the French Prudential Supervision  
and Resolution Authority (Autorité  
de contrôle prudentiel et de  
résolution, ACPR). 

Educating key 
stakeholders  
Prior to the FIFA Clearing House 
becoming operational, and in order to 
brief those who will be directly affected 
by the new regulation, FIFA hosted a 
series of seven webinars for more than 
300 representatives from 160 member 
associations.

These interactive webinars focused on 
the key objectives of the FIFA Clearing 
House: the centralisation and processing 
of payments between clubs as well as 
the promotion of financial transparency 
and integrity within the international 
transfer system.

The FIFA Clearing 
House will work with 
member associations 
in the following areas:

•    Training reward triggers: training 
reward triggers (international and 
domestic transfers, as well as first 
professional registrations) are 
declared by member associations 
and processed by FIFA systems to 
identify any potential entitlements

•    Electronic player passport: when a 
training reward trigger is identified, 
an electronic player passport 
is created with the registration 
information of the relevant member 
associations. A review process then 
ensures that the electronic player 
passport is complete

•    Distribution of training rewards 
through the FIFA Clearing House: 
the FIFA Clearing House will conduct 
a compliance assessment of all 
parties, and once this has been 
accepted, the Clearing House 
processes the payments from the 
new club to the training club(s) 
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FIFA Legal Portal  

In May 2022, as part of its ongoing 
commitment to modernising the football 
regulatory framework, FIFA launched 
the FIFA Legal Portal, an online platform 
through which proceedings before the FIFA 
Football Tribunal and FIFA judicial bodies 
are now conducted. This new portal enables 
football stakeholders, such as clubs, players, 
associations, intermediaries, law firms with  
a power of attorney, and anyone else 
involved in proceedings, to lodge a claim  
with the relevant FIFA decision-making or 
judicial body. 

While the proceedings are still governed 
by the respective FIFA regulations, the 
notification of communications, submissions, 
decisions and other documents are handled 
through the FIFA Legal Portal, which aims 

to ensure simple, secure and transparent 
communication between FIFA and the parties 
involved, as well as a better understanding of 
the proceedings and heightened traceability. 

The new platform also gives users the 
possibility to report conduct that is 
considered incompatible with the FIFA 
regulations, supplementing the existing 
whistleblower platform.

The FIFA Legal Portal is gradually replacing 
the current email communication system. 
After the transitional period, proceedings 
will only be initiated through the portal, and 
all correspondence concerning proceedings 
before the FIFA Football Tribunal and FIFA 
judicial bodies will solely be conducted via 
the portal.
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Update on World Football Remission Fund  

In June, the United States Department 
of Justice (DoJ) announced a further 
distribution of approximately 
USD 92 million in compensation for 
losses suffered by FIFA, Concacaf, 
CONMEBOL and various constituent 
national member associations as  
victims of decades-long football 
corruption schemes.

The announcement followed the DoJ’s 
August 2021 decision to award the 
initial sum of USD 201 million to the FIFA 
Foundation by way of compensation. 

These funds will continue to be 
channelled into the World Football 
Remission Fund, established under the 
auspices of the FIFA Foundation to help 
finance football-related projects with a 
positive community impact across  
the globe.

Speaking upon the announcement 
of the first remittance, FIFA President 
Gianni Infantino said: “I want to sincerely 
thank the US justice authorities for their 
efforts in this respect, for their fast and 
effective approach in bringing these 
matters to a conclusion, and also for 
their trust in general.”

President Infantino continued: “The 
truth is that, thanks to their intervention 
back in 2015, we have been able to 
fundamentally change FIFA, from a 
toxic organisation at the time to a highly 
esteemed and trusted global sports 
governing body. Thankfully, we are well 
past that unfortunate period in history 
now and it’s great to see significant 
funding being put at the disposal of the 
FIFA Foundation, which can positively 
impact so many people across the 
football world, especially through youth 
and community programmes.”
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Global Integrity Programme

In August 2022, FIFA and the United 
Nations Office on Drugs and Crime 
(UNODC) completed the first 
instalment of the FIFA Global Integrity 
Programme. The first of its kind 
anywhere in the football world, the 
programme is designed to support 
all 211 member associations in their 
efforts to tackle match manipulation 
in football. 

Launched in 2021 in collaboration 
with UNODC, the FIFA Global Integrity 
Programme aims to educate and 
build integrity capacity within 
member associations, and to share 
knowledge and resources with 
integrity officers in football. 

Since the launch of the programme, 
some 400-plus representatives 

from governments and football 
associations across the globe 
have taken part in 29 workshops 
covering several key topics, including 
establishing an integrity initiative, 
reporting mechanisms, competition 
protection, and cooperation between 
and among member associations and 
law enforcement.  
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In February 2022, and in line with 
Goal 1 of The Vision 2020-2023 to 
modernise the football regulatory 
framework, FIFA launched the 
Executive Programme in  
Football Agency. 

FIFA first regulated the football 
agency industry in the 1990s, which 
required the use of highly qualified 

professionals who are able to 
adequately represent and protect 
the interests of their clients in the 
transfer market. 

The Executive Programme in Football 
Agency is the first such educational 
programme in FIFA’s history, and it 
highlights the importance that FIFA 
places on the education of football 

stakeholders to further enhance the 
professionalism and effectiveness  
of the football industry. 

The programme was launched 
following proposals and requests 
from various agents associations all 
around the world. 

Executive Programme in Football Agency

ANNUAL REPORT 2022
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2022 Legal Handbook published 

September 2022 saw the publication 
of the 2022 edition of the Legal 
Handbook, providing a unique 
overview of the latest regulations, 
statutory documents and circulars 
issued by world football’s  
governing body. 

The 2022 edition includes all recent 
changes and amendments to the 
regulations and rules applicable to 
football organisations and matches, 
such as the FIFA Statutes, the 
Regulations on the Status and Transfer 
of Players and the Procedural Rules 
Governing the Football Tribunal. 

LEGAL & COMPLIANCE
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Temporary rules regarding the movement  
of Ukrainian players   

Following Russia’s invasion of Ukraine in 
February, FIFA kept a close eye on the situation 
in order to be in the best possible position to 
assist Ukrainian clubs and players in any way, 
including by adopting temporary amendments 
to its regulations.

On 7 March 2022, the Bureau of the FIFA 
Council decided to temporarily amend the 
Regulations on the Status and Transfer of 
Players and provide urgent legal certainty and 
clarity on a number of regulatory matters, and 
an interpretative note was also enclosed with 
FIFA circular no. 1787 to provide guidance to 
member associations and their stakeholders.

On 2 July 2022, the Bureau of the FIFA Council 
approved further temporary amendments 

to the FIFA regulatory framework in order 
to extend the application of Annexe 7 to the 
Regulations on the Status and Transfer of 
Players (RSTP) until 30 June 2023.

Additionally, in relation to the protection of 
minors, it was clarified that minors fleeing 
Ukraine to other countries with their parents 
due to the armed conflict will be considered 
to have fulfilled the requirements of article 19 
paragraph 2 a) of the RSTP, exempting them 
from the rule preventing the international 
transfer of players before the age of 18.

FIFA continues to monitor the situation 
in Ukraine to ensure that the regulatory 
framework reflects any further developments.
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FIFA Diploma in Football Law – 2nd edition 

In 2022, and following the success 
of the inaugural FIFA Diploma in 
Football Law, FIFA – in collaboration 
with the International Centre for 
Sports Studies (CIES) – launched 
the second edition with modules in 
Miami, Asunción and Cairo.

In line with The Vision 2020-2023, 
as laid out by FIFA President Gianni 
Infantino, to make football truly 
global, the FIFA Diploma in Football 

Law aims to provide sports legal 
executives working at FIFA member 
associations, leagues, clubs, players’ 
unions and private practices from 
all around the globe with a working 
knowledge of the latest and most 
relevant aspects in the legal field.

Reflecting the international 
dimension of football and subject 
to health and travel restrictions, 
the diploma comprises virtual and 

in-person lessons. It is delivered 
over the course of 13 months, during 
which renowned football experts, 
arbitrators and lawyers offer a full 
array of theoretical and practical 
insight across five modules.

Football Law Annual  
Review – 4th edition 
The fourth edition of the FIFA Football 
Law Annual Review was held in 
Buenos Aires on 10 and 11 March 
2022. Attendance at the two-day 
event was free of charge and open 
to all representatives of member 
associations, confederations, leagues, 
clubs, players’ and agents’ unions. All 
sessions were also streamed live on 
FIFA.com in English, French  
and Spanish. 

FIFA organised the first-ever FIFA 
Football Law Annual Review in 2019 
in order to present, on an annual 
basis, the regulatory work, case law 
and main decisions of its decision-
making and judicial bodies, as well 
as the main Court of Arbitration for 
Sport (CAS) proceedings arising from 
FIFA’s decisions.
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FIFA Executive Programme in Sports  
Arbitration – 2nd edition 
Throughout 2022, FIFA continued 
with the delivery of the second 
edition of the Executive Programme 
in Sports Arbitration, with sessions in 
Paris, Zurich and online.

The programme offers a practical, 
personalised learning method, 
backed up by theory and research 
that focuses primarily on proceedings 
and practical aspects before CAS as 
well as exploring arbitration at other 
sports bodies. 

FIFA has long-standing and extensive 
practice before CAS, and no other 
international federation has as much 
experience of dealing with such 
procedures, with FIFA having been 
involved in thousands of cases before 
CAS, covering the whole spectrum of 
legal disputes.



194

Second edition of FIFA 
Executive Programme  
in Anti-Doping planned 
for 2023
The FIFA Executive Programme in 
Anti-Doping will return for a second 
edition in 2023 – with modules 
scheduled to take place in Zurich 
(March) and Paris (April) – before 
returning to Zurich for the third and 
final module in May. 

The programme provides an in-depth 
analysis of the main regulatory, 
institutional and scientific aspects 
of anti-doping in sport. Since 
the establishment of the World 
Anti-Doping Agency (WADA) in 1999, 
the fight against doping in sport 
has evolved dramatically, and the 
interaction between WADA’s World 
Anti-Doping Code and sports governing 
bodies’ regulations and national 
legislation has led to considerable 
complexity in this field.

LEGAL & COMPLIANCE
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New regulations on the loan system come  
into play 
Following a decision passed by the 
FIFA Football Stakeholders Committee 
in May 2021, the new regulations 
concerning player loans came into 
force on 1 July 2022.

The introduction of a new regulatory 
framework for loans is another 
important step in the context of the 
wider reform of the transfer system,  
a process that began in 2017.  
Initially planned to come into force 
in July 2020, the implementation 
of the new rules had to be delayed 
as a consequence of the COVID-19 
pandemic.

Discussions with various stakeholder 
groups laid the foundations for this 
new framework and ensured that the 
new rules are firmly anchored on the 
following core objectives: 

•   Developing young players 

•   Promoting competitive balance 

•   Preventing the hoarding of players 

At domestic level, FIFA’s member 
associations will be granted a period  
of three years to implement rules  
for a loan system that is in line with  
the principles established at  
international level. 
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FIFA World Cup Integrity Task Force

The Integrity Task Force, established 
by FIFA to monitor the FIFA World  
Cup Qatar 2022™, was able to 
successfully monitor all 64 matches 
and to subsequently report that  
there were no signs of betting or 
match manipulation.

The establishment of the task force 
was in line with FIFA’s core objective 
of safeguarding and promoting the 
integrity of football across all of its 
competitions, and it followed similar 
initiatives implemented within the 
scope of the FIFA Arab Cup 2021™ and 
the FIFA Women’s World Cup 2019™. 
With the support of the task force, 
Qatar 2022 was the first time that FIFA 
was able to monitor both the betting 

markets and in-game action in real 
time at every FIFA World Cup™ match.

To ensure that integrity matters were 
handled in a coordinated and timely 
manner by experienced officers,  
FIFA joined forces with key 
organisations, including the Qatar 
Safety & Security Operations 
Committee, the Council of Europe and 
its Group of Copenhagen, INTERPOL, 
the Global Lottery Monitoring System, 
Sportradar and the International 
Betting Integrity Association. 
Additionally, the Federal Bureau 
of Investigation, the principal law 
enforcement and investigative service 
of the United States, will join the 
group to provide its experience 

FIFA Football Agent 
Regulations approved
On 16 December 2022, the FIFA 
Council took a major step towards 
establishing a fairer and more 
transparent football transfer  
system by approving the FIFA 
Football Agent Regulations, which 
seek to introduce basic service 
standards for football agents and 
their clients, including a mandatory 
licensing system, the prohibition 
of multiple representation to 
avoid conflicts of interest, and 
the introduction of a cap on 
commissions. The overall objectives 
are to reinforce contractual stability, 
to protect the integrity of the 
transfer system and to achieve 
greater financial transparency. 
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Also published in 2022

•   Football Tribunal Report

•  Disciplinary and Ethics Report

•  Intermediaries in International Transfers

•  Global Transfer Report

•   International Transfer Snapshot – January 2022

•   International Transfer Snapshot –  
June-September 2022
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and expertise in preparation for the 
FIFA World Cup 2026™.

In addition to setting up the Integrity 
Task Force, FIFA organised seminars 
with the integrity officers of all 
32 participating member associations, 
as well as with the appointed referees.
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FOOTBALL TRIBUNAL REPORT 
2021/2022

INTERNATIONAL
TRANSFER SNAPSHOT 

1 JUNE – 1 SEPTEMBER 2022

DISCIPLINARY AND 
ETHICS REPORT 

2021/2022

INTERNATIONAL
TRANSFER 
SNAPSHOT
January 2022

GLOBAL 
TRANSFER 
REPORT
2021

Intermediaries in International 
Transfers 2022

DECEMBER 2022
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4th Compliance Summit  
in Costa Rica

199

Agenda points
•   Protecting football from 

corruption

•   Speak-up culture

•   Conflicts of interest

•   Digital privacy

Alasdair Bell, FIFA Deputy Secretary 
General (Administration), and Chris 
Mihm, chairman of the FIFA Audit and 
Compliance Working Group, closed  
the summit. 

In his closing remarks, Alasdair Bell 
said: “We have seen the commitment 
of our member associations to 
continuous growth and improvement 
in the sphere of compliance. A 
commitment, not only to establish 
and maintain ‘good’ compliance 
programmes, but to take those 
programmes above and beyond  
best practice.”

ANNUAL REPORT 2022

In September 2022, the 4th FIFA Compliance 
Summit took place in Costa Rica, and for 
the first time since the start of the COVID-19 
pandemic, more than 200 representatives 
from FIFA’s member associations, as well as 
governance and compliance experts from the 
world of football gathered – the majority in 
person – to expand on the issues discussed at 
the previous summit held in 2020.

The summit was opened via videoconference 
by FIFA President Gianni Infantino, who 
encouraged member associations to 
“go beyond good practice and approach 
compliance in a different way”, citing the 
transformation that FIFA has been executing 
on compliance since 2016 based on “credibility, 
transparency and accountability”.

President Infantino added: “We had to make 
some fast and radical changes and reforms 
via the new Legal & Compliance Division, 
and when it comes to compliance matters, 
it is like a referee in a game. When you don’t 
notice the referee, this means that they are 
doing a pretty good job. This is because (at 
FIFA) we have installed some very important 
good governance principles, and it’s important 
that we remind all of us, always, of what we 
did. The new FIFA is a credible, trustworthy 
organisation, which is, and has to be, at the 
service of football, not the other way around.”

The President of the Costa Rican FA, Rodolfo 
Villalobos, echoed those words by telling the 
summit attendees that “this is why FIFA invited 
you here, to help you, prepare you, and give 
you the necessary tools”.

FIFA Director of Compliance Patrick Trépanier, 
who orchestrated the summit, was also 
in attendance, as was FIFA Chief Legal & 
Compliance Officer Emilio García Silvero,  
who opened the general session.
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To play its part in helping FIFA to 
realise The Vision 2020-2023, the FIFA 
Compliance Subdivision launched, 
undertook and delivered a wide range 
of activities, initiatives and programmes 
throughout 2022. Here are some of the 
highlights of a very busy year:

Goals and 
achievements  
in 2022

200
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Modernise the football 
regulatory framework 

Worked closely with the Member Associations 
Division to provide recommendations on 
amendments to the Forward 3.0 Regulations

Grow revenues 
sustainably for further 
reinvestment in football

Participated in evaluation meetings for the 2014 FIFA 
World Cup Brazil™ Legacy Fund, seeking and receiving 
clarification on revenue reinvested into football

Increase FIFA’s efficiency 
and efficacy

Launched a third-party due diligence screening 
module to simplify and centralise FIFA-wide 
onboarding and screening 

Ensure the success of 
FIFA’s iconic competitions 

Supported the establishment of robust local 
compliance programmes for the tier 1 tournaments in 
2022 and 2023, and proactively put compliance on 
the agenda for the FIFA World Cup 2026

Globalise FIFA’s 
competitions

Provided dedicated support to the local compliance 
team for the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 with  
ongoing capacity-building and knowledge-sharing  
on a global scale

Increase global 
competitiveness

Helped to launch the FIFA Clearing House to process 
payments related to training rewards. The Director of 
Compliance also sits on a Supervisory Board to guide 
the Clearing House operations

Maximise FIFA’s impact  
on global football 
development

Supported member associations on-site and remotely 
with training, development and implementation of 
compliance programmes

Accelerate the growth of 
women’s football

Contributed to the assessment and amendment of 
regulations on preparation funds for the FIFA 
Women’s World Cup Australia & New Zealand 2023, 
enshrining proper use and transparency

Harness technology  
in football

Assisted member associations and FIFA Football 
Technology & Innovation on opportunities and 
restrictions for implementing VAR technology in key 
focus areas

Protect positive values  
in football

Assessed the impact of economic sanctions on football 
and the continuation of development programmes

Impact society through 
the power of football

Collaborated across both football and non-football 
related fields, including with the UNODC, the 
International Partnership Against Corruption in Sport 
and the Group of States against Corruption
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Internal audit  

The internal audit function supports 
FIFA in achieving its objectives by 
applying a systematic and disciplined 
approach to evaluating and improving 
the effectiveness of FIFA’s governance, 
risk management and control 
processes. Internal audits enhance 
organisational value by ensuring 
that FIFA’s operations, programmes 
and processes are fit for purpose, 
effectively performed and efficiently 
delivered. They also provide core 
assurance, advise the business, help 
the business anticipate risk and serve 
as a proactive champion of strong 
governance standards and ethical 
culture within FIFA and its  
broader community.

The Audit, Risk & Advisory Subdivision 
adds value to FIFA and its senior 
management by providing objective 
assurance and advice to support 
the adoption of strong governance 
and best practices, thereby 
protecting FIFA’s assets, reputation 
and sustainability. This includes 
recommending improvements to 
eliminate errors, reduce inefficiencies 
and/or to mature processes as well 
as monitoring the implementation of 
recommendations via FIFA’s internal 
audit portal. Through its reporting 
and monitoring services, the internal 

audit function also has an important 
role to play in helping the Governance, 
Audit and Compliance Committee to 
discharge its oversight responsibilities.

Internal audits at FIFA are risk-based, 
which means that FIFA’s annual 
internal audit plan is developed and 
approved based on key risk areas 
identified by senior management and 
other risk owners during FIFA’s risk 
management process.

FIFA’s internal audit framework 
is aligned with the good-practice 
elements of The Institute of Internal 
Auditors’ International Professional 
Practice Framework, including the Core 
Principles for the Professional Practice 
of Internal Auditing, the Internal Audit 
Code of Ethics, the International 
Standards for the Professional Practice 
of Internal Auditing (Standards) and 
the Definition of Internal Auditing.
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Risk management 

The purpose of risk management is to create 
and protect value. It improves performance, 
encourages innovation and supports the 
achievement of FIFA’s objectives.

FIFA operates a modern risk management 
system aligned with ISO 31000:2018, providing 
guidance to identify, measure, manage, monitor 
and report significant risks to the achievement 
of FIFA’s objectives and to identify opportunities 
to pursue. The Audit, Risk & Advisory Subdivision 
provides senior management as well as the 
Governance, Audit and Compliance Committee 
with objective and independent information on 
FIFA’s key risks and measures to address them.

The risk management framework ensures that this 
information is reported via FIFA’s risk management 
portal and used as a basis for decision-making 
and accountability at all relevant organisational 
levels. Changes in the risk environment, based on 
new information, may result in changing strategies 
employed to treat risk and exploit opportunities. 
Risks at FIFA are therefore continuously monitored 
and reassessed when required.

Risk management is not a one-time “project”, 
but rather a continuous discipline that evolves 
over time as risks and opportunities change. 
The introduction of risk management and 
ensuring its ongoing effectiveness require strong 
and sustained commitment from FIFA’s senior 
management, as well as strategic and rigorous 
planning at all levels.

Risk management and 
other functions 
Risks identified in the risk management 
process may require the risk owners 
to define adequate controls in 
collaboration with FIFA’s internal  
control system managed by the  
Finance Division.

FIFA Women’s World 
Cup 2023™ risk 
management 

The Audit, Risk & Advisory Subdivision 
ensures that risk management at FIFA’s 
subsidiary in Australia and Aotearoa 
New Zealand, which is responsible for 
organising the FIFA Women’s World 
Cup 2023™, is in line with FIFA’s  
overall risk management framework 
and methodology.
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COMPENSATION

FIFA Council
According to the rules and principles  
in place for 2022, the FIFA Council  
Senior Vice-President and  
Vice-Presidents who are also 
confederation presidents each 
receive a net annual compensation of 
USD 300,000 (USD 300,000 in 2021). 
FIFA Council Vice-Presidents who are 
not confederation presidents and FIFA 
Council members each receive a net 
annual compensation of USD 250,000 
(USD 250,000 in 2021). The net 
compensation may vary depending on 
the taxation situation of the individual 
Council member.  Individual Council 
members voluntarily waived some or 
all of their compensation during their 
term of appointment. Each member 
also receives a daily allowance while 
on duty of USD 250, or USD 150 if FIFA 
covers breakfast and lunch or dinner.
Under the FIFA Compensation, 
Expenses and Benefits Regulations 
for Senior Officials, FIFA covers the 
employer’s and employee’s social 
security contributions. Withholding 
taxes are deducted from the 
compensation and paid directly 
by FIFA to the tax authorities. FIFA 
does not cover social security 
contributions or taxes that may also 
be due in the Council member’s 
country of residence.

FIFA President and FIFA Secretary General

The gross salary (variable) awarded in 2022 will be paid in 2023. The amounts listed 
above are before taxes payable by the President and the Secretary General. As with 
all of its employees, FIFA contributes to the Swiss social charges, pension fund, 
accident insurance and other employee benefits for both the President and the 
Secretary General. 

As part of FIFA’s statutory commitment to transparency, 
the annual compensation paid to the key members of 
FIFA senior management, the chairpersons and deputy 
chairpersons of its committees and the members of the 
FIFA Council is published below.

Compensation

FIFA Council members and FIFA senior management

All figures in USD
Without pension  

contributions
With pension  
contributions

FIFA Council members* 12,797,440 13,189,990

FIFA management** 17,364,489 18,749,387

Total 30,161,929 31,939,377

*  An annual pension payment is made to long-serving FIFA Council members not 
falling under the FIFA Compensation, Expenses and Benefits Regulations for Senior 
Officials, which entered into force in March 2017. Previous pension entitlements 
are limited to a maximum of the number of years that the member has served on 
the Council. 

**  As at 31 December 2022, the FIFA management comprised the President and the 
Secretary General, the two Deputy Secretaries General and the eight division Chief 
Officers. FIFA management members ending or starting their employment during 
the year were compensated on a pro-rata basis. The FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
bonus awarded in 2022 to the Deputy Secretaries General and the division Chief 
Officers will be paid in 2023. 

All figures in CHF
Gross salary 

(base)
Gross salary 

(variable)
Flat-rate  

allowances

FIFA President  
Gianni Infantino 1,950,000 1,650,000 24,000

FIFA Secretary General 
Fatma Samoura 1,300,000 600,000 24,000
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Members of the FIFA Council as at 31 December 2022

Name From Member since

President Gianni Infantino Switzerland/Italy 2016

Senior Vice-President Shk. Salman bin Ebrahim Al Khalifa Bahrain 2013

Vice-Presidents

Alejandro Domínguez Paraguay 2016

Victor Montagliani Canada 2016

Aleksander Čeferin Slovenia 2016

Sándor Csányi Hungary 2017

Lambert Maltock Vanuatu                                       2018

Patrice Motsepe South Africa 2021

David Martin Northern Ireland                         2021

Members

Hany Abo Rida Egypt 2009

Sonia Fulford Turks and Caicos Islands 2013

Kohzo Tashima Japan 2015

Fernando Sarney Brazil 2015

Pedro Chaluja Panama 2016

Luis Hernández Cuba 2016

María Sol Muñoz Altamirano Ecuador 2016

Evelina Christillin Italy 2016

Ramón Jesurún Colombia 2016

Dejan Savićević Montenegro                                       2017

Mahfuza Akhter Kiron Bangladesh 2017

Mariano Araneta Philippines 2017

Georgios Koumas Cyprus                                          2018

Johanna Wood New Zealand 2019

Rajesh Patel Fiji                                                 2019

Du Zhaocai China PR 2019

Praful Patel India 2019

Saoud Al Mohannadi* Qatar 2019

Noël Le Graët France 2019

Ignacio Alonso Uruguay 2019

Fouzi Lekjaa Morocco 2021

Mamoutou Touré Mali 2021

Mathurin de Chacus Benin 2021

Amaju Pinnick Nigeria 2021

Isha Johansen Sierra Leone 2021

Răzvan Burleanu Romania 2021

Peter Peters Germany 2021

Yon de Luisa Mexico 2021

*  FIFA Council member Saoud Al Mohannadi sadly passed away on 10 January 2023. He was elected to the FIFA Council in April 2019. 
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All figures in USD 2022

Statutory audit fees* 920,130

Fees for other assurance-
related audit services 524,000

Fees for non-audit services 591,154

FIFA committees
Chairpersons, deputy 
chairpersons and all members 
of independent committees and 
the independent members of 
all standing committees receive 
flat-rate compensation as 
outlined below.

Members of the Governance, Audit 
and Compliance Committee and of 
the investigatory chamber of the 
Ethics Committee receive annual 
compensation of USD 15,000. 
Members of the other independent 
committees, the independent 
members of all standing committees 
and the members of all football 
tribunal committees receive annual 
compensation of USD 7,500, with the 
exception of the independent member 
of the Compensation Sub-Committee, 
who receives annual compensation of 
USD 35,000. 

In addition to the annual flat-rate  
compensation paid to chairpersons 
and deputy chairpersons, members 
of independent committees and 
independent members of all FIFA 
standing committees are granted 
a daily allowance while on duty of 
USD 250, or USD 150 if FIFA covers 
breakfast and lunch or dinner.

Members who do not receive annual 
compensation are granted a daily 
allowance while on duty of USD 300, or 
USD 200 if FIFA covers breakfast and 
lunch or dinner. In addition, members 
of FIFA’s committees may be separately 
compensated for special assignments 
given to them by the respective 
committee. No bonuses of any kind  
are granted.

The following figures represent 
the total gross compensation 
in USD dollars, excluding daily 
allowances and employees’ social 
security contributions covered by FIFA, 
due in 2022.

Governance, Audit and  
Compliance Committee 
The total costs of the Governance, 
Audit and Compliance Committee 
in 2022 were USD 731,533, which 
includes daily allowances,  
travel/transport, accommodation  
and meals, external services and  
staff-related costs.

Judicial bodies 
The total costs of FIFA’s judicial bodies 
in 2022 were USD 3,075,042, which 
includes daily allowances,  
travel/transport and security, 
accommodation and meals, freelance 
contractors, translation/interpreting, 
printed materials, IT hardware/
software and communications, legal 
consultancy and staff-related costs.

The costs were as follows:

All figures in USD 2022

Ethics Committee 1,689,156

Disciplinary Committee 744,343

Appeal Committee 641,543

Committee chairpersons  
and deputy chairpersons 
The annual compensation for the 
chairpersons and deputy chairpersons 
of the independent and standing 
committees is detailed in the table 
opposite.

Transactions with related 
parties 
FIFA’s related-party policy requires FIFA 
officials to disclose related parties and 
related-party transactions in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS). Each year, all Council 
members renew their Related-Party 
Declarations, thereby identifying any 
relevant possible conflicts of interest. 
Any such disclosures are managed on  
a case-by-case basis.

External audits 
Under the FIFA Statutes, the external 
auditors (currently PwC) are appointed 
by the FIFA Congress, and are 
responsible for auditing the annual 
consolidated financial statements of 
FIFA and submitting an audit report 
to the FIFA Council. In addition to the 
statutory audit, PwC also provided 
other assurance-related and non-audit 
services to FIFA.

*  Total statutory audit fees are based on PwC 
engagement letters in the 2022 financial year 
and exclude out-of-pocket expenses.
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FIFA committee chairpersons and deputy 
chairpersons as at 31 December 2022

   *  Mukul Mudgal is also the chairperson of the Review Committee and of the Compensation Sub-Committee, but he did not receive any compensation for 
these roles. Christopher Mihm is also a member of the Review Committee, but he did not receive any compensation for this role. Alejandro Domínguez is 
also a member of the Compensation Sub-Committee, but he did not receive any compensation for this role.

**  Members of the FIFA Council do not receive additional compensation for their roles as chairpersons and deputy chairpersons of FIFA committees. 

***  Individuals ending or starting their terms during the year were compensated on a pro-rata basis.

Committee Role Name
Annual gross base  

compensation in 2022 (USD)***

Independent committees

Governance, Audit  
and Compliance

Chairperson Mukul Mudgal* 250,000

Deputy chairperson Christopher Mihm* 75,000

Ethics – investigatory chamber

Chairperson Martin Ngoga 250,000

Deputy chairperson Bruno De Vita 75,000

Deputy chairperson Parusuraman Subramanian 75,000

Ethics – adjudicatory chamber

Chairperson Vassilios Skouris 215,000

Deputy chairperson María Claudia Rojas 53,000

Deputy chairperson Fiti Sunia 53,000

Disciplinary
Chairperson Jorge Palacio 160,000

Deputy chairperson Anin Yeboah 26,000

Appeal
Chairperson Neil Eggleston 160,000

Deputy chairperson Thomas Bodström 26,000

Standing committees

Development
Chairperson Shk. Salman bin Ebrahim Al Khalifa** –

Deputy chairperson Lydia Nsekera 26,000

Finance
Chairperson Alejandro Domínguez*/** –

Deputy chairperson Sandra Fruean 26,000

Football Stakeholders
Chairperson Victor Montagliani** –

Deputy chairperson Evelina Christillin** –

Medical Chairperson Vacant –

Member Associations
Chairperson Vacant –

Deputy chairperson Sonia Fulford** –

Organising Committee for  
FIFA Competitions

Chairperson Aleksander Čeferin** –

Deputy chairperson María Sol Muñoz Altamirano** –

Referees
Chairperson Pierluigi Collina 215,000

Deputy chairperson Hany Taleb Al-Raeesi 7,500

Football Tribunal

Players’ Status Chamber
Chairperson Javier Vijande Penas 53,000

Deputy chairperson Sarah Ochwada 7,500

Dispute Resolution Chamber

Chairperson Frans de Weger 160,000

Deputy chairperson Clifford Hendel 75,000

Deputy chairperson Omar Ongaro 75,000

Agents Chamber
Chairperson Vacant –

Deputy chairperson Vacant –
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FOREWORD BY THE CHAIRPERSON OF THE FINANCE COMMITTEE

FIFA reports record 
investment back into 
football
After two years of interruptions, 
cancellations and postponements  
due to the COVID-19 pandemic, FIFA 
can report that 2022 was a year of 
recovery, prosperity and growth.  
The year ended with FIFA in a robust 
financial position following a disrupted 
period, the like of which we have never 
seen before.

The FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
exceeded all expectations – both on 
and off the field of play. It was the first 
FIFA World Cup™ to be hosted in the 
Arab world and only the second time 
that FIFA has taken the game’s top 
international event to Asia. 

In addition to the 29-day festival of 
football in Qatar, the tournament drove 
the favourable financial figures that 
FIFA is able to present at year-end.

Throughout the 2019-2022 cycle, 
revenues developed consistently, 
despite the impact of the pandemic on 
the global economy. FIFA can report a 
record total revenue of USD 7,568 
million, which represents a 18% 
increase (USD 1,147 million) on the 
2015-2018 cycle and is 18% higher 
(USD 1,128 million) than the full-cycle 
revenue budget.
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Following his election in 2016,  
FIFA President Gianni Infantino set 
about realising his vision of making 
football truly global. During the 
2019-2022 cycle, the benefits of 
increased revenues also came to  
the fore. Through the FIFA Forward 
Programme, FIFA has been able  
to steadily increase football 
development through its member 
associations in every corner of the 
world, clearly demonstrating  
how this vision is becoming reality. 
Furthermore, the financial success  
of the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 
has provided a solid foundation for 
this work to continue and grow at 
record levels in the next cycle.

As at 31 December 2022, FIFA’s 
reserves had reached an 
unprecedented high of USD 4 billion. 
These reserves ensure that FIFA is in 
an ideal position to cover all of its FIFA 
World Cup obligations and the 
increased commitments under FIFA 
Forward 3.0. Due for launch in 2023, 
the latter will increase the funds 
currently available under Forward 2.0 
by a significant 29% to USD 2,250 
million. This record-breaking 
achievement is largely thanks to the 
success of Qatar 2022™, along with 
FIFA’s ongoing cost containment drive 
in relation to its administrative tasks, 
which is testament to the prudent 
governance practices implemented 
across the organisation.

We look ahead to 2023, a year  
in which FIFA will organise the FIFA 
Women’s World Cup Australia & New 
Zealand 2023™, with great optimism  
and excitement.

During the 2019-2022 
cycle, FIFA achieved 
record revenues and 
invested more money 
back into football than 
ever before.

Alejandro Domínguez, 
Chairperson of the Finance Committee
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2022 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS | 2019-2022 CYCLE IN REVIEW

2022 results crown 
the cycle and boost 
FIFA’s vision of 
making football 
truly global 
From the rousing opening 
match to the thrilling final,  
the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022™ delighted football lovers 
around the world, with many 
hailing it as the best World Cup 
ever. This huge sporting success 
came at the tail end of the 2019-
2022 financial cycle, delivering 
an unmatched financial 
achievement and providing FIFA 
with a solid financial foundation 
on which to achieve its vision 
of making football truly global. 

FIFA operates in a four-year cycle,  
the FIFA World Cup™ being the 
crowning event in the fourth year and 
the main source of its income.
Therefore, FIFA’s financial figures are 
best analysed considering the full 
four-year cycle. 

A detailed analysis of FIFA’s financials 
over the entire cycle is presented in 
the following pages.

This page provides the financial 
highlights of 2022. For more details  
on the 2022 financials, please refer  
to the chapter on the 2022 financial 
statements.

Revenue in 2022 totalled USD 5,769 
million, a record figure that exceeded 
the 2018 amount by 24%. The sale of 
television broadcasting rights 
contributed the lion’s share of the 
annual revenue, followed by 
marketing rights, hospitality rights 
and ticket sales, licensing rights, and 
other revenue and income.

FIFA’s disbursements in 2022 
amounted to USD 3,404 million, of 
which 59% was dedicated to 
organising and staging the FIFA World 
Cup Qatar 2022™ and other FIFA 
events. Once again, FIFA’s 
Development & Education 
programmes played a critical role in 
supporting the growth of the game 
and making it truly global at every 
level. Investment in this area totalled 
USD 1,038 million, including USD 
605 million for FIFA Forward 2.0. The 
global pandemic delayed the use of 
funds and FIFA’s member associations 
were unable to use the entire Forward 
2.0 entitlements. FIFA therefore 
reserved all outstanding entitlements 
for future use.

The net result for 2022 came to USD 
2,368 million, which offset the 
structurally negative results in the first 
three years of the cycle, leading to a 
net result of USD 1,187 million for the 
full 2019-2022 cycle, which was more 
than 11 times higher than the 
budgeted net result.

FIFA’s balance sheet continued to be 
strong, with total assets amounting to 
USD 6,796 million at the end of 2022, 
85% of which were in the form of cash 
and cash equivalents and financial 
assets. FIFA’s reserves reached a new 
high of USD 3,971 million, 45% higher 
than the level at the end of the 
2015-2018 cycle. FIFA’s financial 
position remains exceptionally robust 
and sustainable with a substantial 
cash base and sufficient reserves.

Overall, the final year of the 2019-2022 
cycle will be remembered for the 
spectacular FIFA World Cup in Qatar. 
At the same time, FIFA’s investments 
in Qatar 2022™ also achieved 
outstanding results on a financial 
level, producing the most profitable 
World Cup to date and record reserves 
for future investment in football.

5,769
+24% versus budget revenue in 2022  
(in USD million)

3,084
+14% football investments in 2022 
versus budget
(in USD million)

2,359
Result before taxes and financial result  
in 2022
(in USD million)

3,971
Reserves 
(in USD million)

2022 FINANCIAL YEAR – KEY FIGURES:



Revenue 

Regularly budgeted  
investments in football  
and administration

Emergency investment  
via the FIFA COVID-19  
Relief Plan (stage 3)

Result before taxes  
and financial result

7,568

6,302

945

321

6,440 budget

2019-2022

2019-2022

2019-2022

2019-2022

5,769

3,404

2,359

6

2022

2022

2022

2022

766

1,077

-355

44

2021

2021

2021

2021

267

774

-778

271

2020

2020

2020

2020

766

1,047

-281

2019

2019

2019

2019

6,340 budget
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Statement of profit or loss 2019-2022 (USD million) 
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2019-2022 REVENUE | 2019-2022 CYCLE IN REVIEW

2019-2022 revenue 
reaches record high
Revenue developed very 
successfully during a 
challenging period, delivering 
a new record of USD 7.57 
billion for the 2019-2022 
cycle. This excellent result, 
achieved despite the COVID-19 
pandemic, can be attributed 
to an improved performance 
across all revenue categories 
and will enable investment in 
football to continue to grow. 

The total revenue of USD 7,568 million 
for 2019-2022 represents a cycle-on-
cycle increase of 18% (USD 
1,147 million) compared to USD 
6,421 million for 2015-2018, and is 18% 
higher (USD 1,128 million) than the 
full-cycle revenue budget. 

The largest share came from the sale 
of television broadcasting rights, 
which at USD 3,426 million accounted 
for 45% of the full-cycle revenue. 
Revenue in this category rose by 10% 
in 2019-2022 compared to the 
previous cycle. Europe became the 
largest sales territory with USD 
1,061 million, followed by Asia and 
North Africa, which contributed USD 
1,025 million. The data shows that the 
FIFA World Cup Qatar™ was the 
most-watched edition in the 
tournament’s history, with over five 
billion viewers following the action 
through various channels, way above 
half of the world’s population.

The second-biggest source of income 
was the sale of marketing rights. FIFA 
Partners include blue-chip companies 
such as adidas, Coca-Cola, Hyundai. 
Kia, the Wanda Group, Qatar Airways 
and Visa, as well as a recent addition, 
QatarEnergy. FIFA also signed up 
seven FIFA World Cup Sponsors: 

Budweiser, McDonald’s, vivo, Hisense, 
Mengniu, Byju’s, and Crypto.com. FIFA 
successfully sold all available 
sponsorship packages for the FIFA 
World Cup Qatar at both global and 
regional levels. Together with 
18 Regional Supporters, the number 
of partners and sponsors for the 
tournament amounted to 32. These 
companies, along with the sponsors of 
other FIFA tournaments, generated 
USD 1,795 million in marketing rights 
revenues during the 2019-2022 cycle.

The sale of licensing rights continued 
to achieve excellent results, with 
revenue totalling USD 769 million, 28% 
higher than in the 2015-2018 cycle.
FIFA ran its largest-ever licensing and 
retail programme at the FIFA World 
Cup Qatar 2022™. Alongside the retail 
tournament outlets, the permanent 
flagship FIFA Store was launched at 
Doha’s Hamad International Airport in 
November. In 2022, FIFA also launched 
fifastore.com, a major ecommerce 
offering featuring exciting new 
product ranges for the FIFA World 
Cup™ and all of FIFA’s properties. 
Licensing revenues for the cycle also 
came from FIFA’s branded licensees 
such as Taittinger, Hublot and Louis 
Vuitton, as well as collectible trading 
card and sticker licensee Panini. 
During 2019-2022, FIFA’s four core 
esports tournament brands, namely 
the FIFAe Club Series™, the FIFAe 
Nations Series™, the FIFAe World 

Cup™ and the FIFAe Continental Cup™, 
were successfully either launched or 
relaunched. Another innovation was 
FIFA+ Collect, a new blockchain-
enabled platform allowing fans 
around the world to own and collect 
digital FIFA World Cup and FIFA 
Women’s World Cup™ moments.

Revenue from hospitality rights and 
ticket sales reached a new high  
of USD 949 million, of which  
USD 686 million was generated 
through the sale of tickets and  
USD 243 million through the sale of 
hospitality rights for the FIFA World 
Cup Qatar. The remainder was 
delivered by other FIFA tournaments 
and events at USD 20 million.

Other revenue and income totalled 
USD 629 million, nearly double the 
previous cycle amount  
(USD 323 million). The increase was 
primarily thanks to an award by the 
United States Department of Justice as 
compensation for the losses suffered 
by FIFA as the victim of decades of 
football corruption schemes, 
contributions received for the 
operational event costs of hosting and 
staging the FIFA Arab Cup™ and the 
FIFA World Cup, break fees relating to 
contract cancellations, and gains from 
property sales. Of these items, the 
host-country contribution was the 
largest source of income, amounting 
to USD 200 million.

929
Record sales of tickets and 
hospitality rights for the FIFA 
World Cup Qatar 2022™  
(in USD million)

32
Sponsors signed for the  
FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™

7,568
Record full-cycle  
revenue (in USD million)

96.3%
Average stadium 
occupancy at the FIFA 
World Cup Qatar 2022™



100% =  
USD 7,568 million
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2019-2022 revenue by category (USD million)

2019-2022 revenue by year (USD million)

2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

Television broadcasting rights 343 2 123 2,958 3,426

Marketing rights 165 74 131 1,425 1,795

Licensing rights 160 159 180 270 769

Hospitality rights and ticket sales 8 0 12 929 949

Other revenue and income 90 32 320 187 629

Total 766 267 766 5,769 7,568

8% Other revenue and income   629
Other revenue 246
Other income 383

10%    Licensing rights 769
Brand licensing rights 757
Other licensing rights 12

24%    Marketing rights 1,795
FIFA Partners 1,052
FIFA World Cup Sponsors 599
FIFA Regional Supporters 128
FIFA National Supporters 12
World Cup Partners/Women’s 
Football Partners 4

13%    Hospitality rights and ticket sales 949
Hospitality 243
Ticket sales 706 45%   Television broadcasting rights 3,426

Europe 1,061
Asia and North Africa 1,025
South and Central America 451
North America and the  
Caribbean 650
Rest of the world 108
Other broadcasting and FIFA  
event  revenue (revenues from  
host broadcasting  services and  
other FIFA events) 131
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REVENUE FROM THE FIFA 
WORLD CUP QATAR 2022™

The sale of rights relating to the FIFA 
World Cup Qatar 2022™ made up the 
majority of FIFA’s revenues (USD 6,314 
million or 83%) for all categories. This 
was a record high and the tournament 
was the most profitable in FIFA’s 
history. Of this figure, USD 929 million 
was generated by FIFA in ticket sales 
and hospitality rights.

Ticket sales 
With 3,182,406 tournament tickets 
sold, the ticketing programme for the 
FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 generated 
USD 686 million in revenue. The 
average attendance rate across each 
of the tournament’s 64 matches was 
96.3%, while 88,966 fans packed into 
a resplendent Lusail Stadium for the 
final to witness a victorious Argentina 
team hold aloft the hallowed FIFA 
World Cup Trophy. In addition, more 
than 1.8 million fans enjoyed the live 
broadcasts of the 64 matches and 
vibrant entertainment at the FIFA Fan 
Festival™ in Doha’s Al Bidda Park. The 
top countries in terms of supporters

 
 
 
visiting Qatar for the tournament were 
the USA, Saudi Arabia, the UK, Mexico 
and the United Arab Emirates.

Thanks to the tournament’s uniquely 
compact nature and short travel 
times between all eight state-of-the 
art stadiums, the FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022 offered football fans an 
unprecedented opportunity to attend 
more than one match per day. 

FIFA World Cup Qatar tickets were 
made as affordable and accessible 
as possible. Demand from the 
general public was impressively high, 
accounting for approximately three 
quarters of overall ticket sales. In 
line with FIFA’s ticketing policy for 
the tournament, Qatar residents had 
exclusive access to the most affordable 
category 4 tickets, with prices starting 
at just QAR 40 each. Disabled people 
and those with limited mobility were 
entitled to a dedicated allocation of 
accessibility tickets.

 

 
 
 
Hospitality sales 
For the FIFA World Cup 2022 hospitality 
programme in Qatar, six hospitality 
products were offered, ranging from 
the convivial and relaxed club to the 
more luxurious and exclusive Pearl 
Suite. A total of 259,116 hospitality 
packages had been sold by the end of 
the tournament across all hospitality 
products, of which 39% were 
purchased by the Qatari host market. 
Together with Mexico, the USA, Saudi 
Arabia and Argentina, these were the 
top five countries worldwide with the 
highest number of hospitality packages 
sold. The hospitality programme 
generated a total of USD 243 million in 
revenue, USD 95 million (64%) higher 
than the amount earned from Russia 
2018.

2019-2022 REVENUE | 2019-2022 CYCLE IN REVIEW

1.  The number of tournament tickets sold is subject 
to change in accordance with the ongoing final 
reconciliations.

Category 1 36%

Other 1%Obstructed view 0,1%

Category 2 27%

Category 3 22%

Category 4 12%

Skyboxes 2% 

100% =  
3,182,406¹

General public 71% 
Member associations 8%
Hospitality 8%
Commercial Affiliates 5%
Host country 4%
Other 4%
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2019-2022 INVESTMENTS/EXPENSES | 2019-2022 CYCLE IN REVIEW

Football investment 
in 2019-2022 cycle 
higher than ever 
Ultimately, FIFA’s key mission 
is to make football truly global 
and ensure a level playing field 
for all. Thanks to the success 
of the FIFA World Cup Qatar 
2022™ and continued cost 
containment measures in 
relation to FIFA’s administrative 
tasks, the 2019-2022 cycle saw 
a record investment in football 
development across the globe.

In line with its strategy to make 
football truly global, FIFA had 
reinvested more than 89% of its net 
revenue after sales costs in football by 
the end of the 2019-2022 cycle. 

FIFA’s total investments for the cycle 
were fully dedicated to its overarching 
goals and to easing the impact of 
the pandemic. They amounted to 
USD 6,302 million, comprising USD 
5,266 million in football activities and 
USD 1,036 million in administrative 
and commercial activities. FIFA 
also invested USD 321 million in 
emergency funds through stage 3 of 
the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan. 

REGULARLY BUDGETED 
INVESTMENTS IN FOOTBALL 
AND ADMINISTRATION

FIFA dedicated a total of USD 
2,542 million to organising 
Competitions & Events in this cycle. 
The majority (USD 1,831 million) was 
spent on FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
investments, of which USD 123 million 
was offset by host country 
contributions for staging the event. 
The first FIFA World Cup™ to be held in 
the Middle East kicked off on 
20 November 2022, as the world’s best 

32 national teams met in Qatar. 
Compared to the 2018 edition, the 
prize money for the 32 participating 
teams in Qatar was increased by 10%. 
The total amount of USD 440 million 
represents the largest-ever prize 
money pool for the FIFA World Cup. In 
addition, a total of USD 209 million 
was shared with the clubs of the 
participating players under the Club 
Benefits Programme.

Although amounts paid to the 
participating teams increased 
considerably, total expenses net of 
host country contributions were lower 
compared to 2018, largely thanks to 
the creation of a joint venture 
between FIFA and the Qatar 2022 
Local Organising Committee for the 
planning and delivery of the 
tournament. This operating model 
provided efficiencies while enhancing 
the FIFA World Cup experience for  
stakeholders. 

Operating costs were also reduced by 
internalising certain core functions 
such as ticketing services, and also as 
a result of having just eight stadiums 
and fewer local travel requirements. 

A further USD 155 million was 
dedicated to the FIFA Women’s World 
Cup France 2019™, which drew a 
record 1.12 billion viewers, 
demonstrating that the women’s game 
is well and truly on the rise. FIFA also 
invested an additional USD 276 million 
in youth, beach soccer and futsal 
competitions, FIFA eFootball 
tournaments and other competitions.

As a result of successful negotiations 
with a new partner and COVID-19-
related changes to the International 
Match Calendar, costs for the FIFA 
Club Protection Programme dropped 
to USD 80 million.

5,266
Total 2019-2022 investments 
in football activities
(in USD million)

1,746
Investments in Forward 2.0
and Football Development Fund 
(in USD million)

2022
Go-live of FIFA Clearing House,       
created to promote financial              
transparency and integrity in the 
payment of training rewards

440
+10% price money versus previous  
2015-2018 cycle
(in USD million) 
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Investments in the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ (USD million)

Prize money for the FIFA World Cup 2022™ (USD million)

Position Teams Prize money

Champions Argentina 42

Runners-up France 30

Third place Croatia 27

Fourth place Morocco 25

5th-8th place Brazil, England, the Netherlands and Portugal (each) 17

9th-16th place Australia, Japan, Korea Republic, Poland, Senegal, Spain, Switzerland and the 
USA (each) 13

17th-32nd place Belgium, Cameroon, Canada, Costa Rica, Denmark, Ecuador, Germany, Ghana, 
IR Iran, Mexico, Qatar, Saudi Arabia, Serbia, Tunisia, Uruguay and Wales (each) 9

Total 440

24%    Prize money 440

14%    TV operations 248

11%    Club Benefits Programme 209

23%    Operational expenses 425
Special events 65
Safety and security 49
Competition management 26
Event transport 36
Ticketing 23
Hospitality 36
Guest management 51
Technical services 35
Commercial 15
Insurance 25
Logistics 12
Referee services 13
Volunteers 9
Legal 8
Football technology 7
Sustainability 8
Communications 7

100% = 
USD 1,831 million¹

5%  Other FIFA World Cup™ items 87

12%  Workforce 217

4%   Marketing rights delivery  77

5%   Team services 92

2%   ICT 36

1. An amount of USD 123 million invested in the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ was offset by host country contributions. Net investment in the tournament amounted to 
USD 1,708 million (net presentation).
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FIFA’s total investment in 
Development & Education for the 
2019-2022 cycle amounted to USD 
2,577 million, an increase of USD 
907 million or 54% over the 2015-
2018 figure (USD 1,670 million). 
This growth was linked to increased 
investment in new and existing 
development programmes.

The FIFA Forward Programme 
remained FIFA’s signature development 
programme and accounted for the 
biggest increase compared to the 
previous cycle. The programme is 
the means by which FIFA shares 
the success of the FIFA World Cup 
with its member associations, and 
it is also a highly prominent sports 
development programme in global 
terms. FIFA Forward is designed to 
provide comprehensive, tailor-made 
football development support for each 
of our member associations and the six 
confederations and is based on three 
principles:

· More investment
· More impact
· More oversight

Forward was launched in 2016 and 
entitlements increased from USD 328 
million in the 2011-2014 cycle under 
the Financial Assistance Programme 
to USD 1,161 million in 2015-2018 and 
then to USD 1,746 million in 2019-
2022. The COVID-19 pandemic delayed 
the use of funds and FIFA’s member 
associations were unable to use all of 
their Forward 2.0 entitlements. FIFA 
therefore reserved all outstanding 
entitlements for future use as part of the 
Football Development Fund. For more 
detailed information regarding FIFA 
Forward funds released, please see the 
Annexe to this report.

In the 2019-2022 cycle, FIFA also 
launched a series of new campaigns 
and programmes. In 2020, it donated 
USD 10 million to the World Health 
Organization (WHO) to support the 
fight against COVID-19. In 2021, FIFA 

provided the World Football Remission 
Fund with a sum of USD 60 million to 
help finance football-related projects 
with a positive community impact 
across the globe.

In 2022, the FIFA Council approved 
the launch of the Talent Development 
Scheme implementation phase with 
funds of USD 200 million. The scheme 
provides assistance to member 
associations to give every child a 
chance to play football and maximise 
their full potential while further 
reducing the disparity in the level of 
football between different regions of 
the world. In the same year, FIFA also 
went live with a new streaming video 
service called FIFA+, which delivers free 
live matches from competitions around 
the world, as well as original content 
and documentaries. The new platform 
contains an extensive archive of every 
World Cup match (both men’s and 
women’s competitions) ever filmed.

As a result of the COVID-19 pandemic 
and related project and meeting 
cancellations, decreased travel and 
the temporary closure of the FIFA 
Museum, operational expenses 
turned out to be lower than expected 
and created savings in the area of 
technical development, women’s 
football promotion, refereeing, the FIFA 
Foundation and the FIFA Museum.

FIFA dedicated USD 147 million to 
Football Governance, 19% more than 
in the previous cycle. In 2020, FIFA and 
world players’ union FIFPRO launched 
the FIFA Fund for Football Players with 
a total of USD 16 million, the aim being 
to provide financial support to players 
who have not been paid by their clubs. 
Another important milestone was the 
go-live of the FIFA Clearing House in 
2022. The adoption of the FIFA Clearing 
House system will effectively ensure 
the payment of solidarity contribution 
and training compensation amounts 
to training clubs all around the world 
and will remove a major weakness 
of the previous transfer system. The 

FIFA Clearing House has the potential 
to increase the amount of money 
distributed to training clubs by up 
to five times of what they previously 
received. It will be run as a separate 
entity in charge of processing these 
payments and will perform an ex ante 
risk assessment and compliance due 
diligence on all parties involved.

In the 2019-2022 cycle, FIFA 
Governance & Administration 
expenses stood at USD 767 million, 
USD 31 million below the level of the 
previous cycle. This reduction was 
mainly due to the FIFA Congress and 
FIFA committee meetings being held 
virtually in 2020 and 2021 and strict 
cost containment measures in relation 
to FIFA’s internal organisation lowering 
costs in communications, buildings 
and maintenance as well as in litigation 
and compliance. FIFA also successfully 
shifted to a hybrid work model that 
supports both remote and in-office 
modes and gives its employees a better 
and more modern work experience. In 
so doing, it reduced the costs of office 
supplies and office rentals. 

In the 2019-2022 cycle, FIFA spent 
USD 269 million on Marketing & 
TV Broadcasting. In line with its 
commitment to invest in the digital 
field as part of the FIFA 2.0 vision, 
FIFA carried out a technical upgrade 
of its archive to a cloud-based 
storage solution and increased its 
digital content and social media 
activities. In addition, there was a 
natural increase in sales commission 
expenditure as a result of FIFA’s 
unprecedented revenues in the 
areas of TV broadcasting rights and 
marketing rights.

2019-2022 INVESTMENTS/EXPENSES | 2019-2022 CYCLE IN REVIEW
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2019-2022 investments/expenses by category (USD million)

2019-2022 investments/expenses by year (USD million) 

2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

Competitions & Events 239 63 234 2,006 2,542

Development & Education 513 471 555 1,038 2,577

Football Governance 33 30 44 40 147

Total expenses for football activities 785 564 833 3,084 5,266

FIFA Governance & Administration 218 169 192 188 767

Marketing & TV Broadcasting 44 41 52 132 269

Total expenses for administrative activities 262 210 244 320 1,036

Total 1,047 774 1,077 3,404 6,302

3%      Football Governance 147
Football Governance bodies  
and third-party services 67
Personnel expenses 72
Depreciation of property  
and equipment 8

12%    FIFA Governance  
& Administration 767
Information technology 91
Communications 83
Legal costs 59
Annual FIFA Congress  
and committees 54
Buildings and maintenance 26
Other 80
Personnel expenses 347
Depreciation of property  
and equipment 27

4%      Marketing & TV Broadcasting 269
Marketing rights 47
Broadcasting and media rights 33
Licensing rights 12
Sales commission and other 82
Personnel expenses 87
Depreciation of property and 
equipment 8

40%    Competitions & Events 2,542
FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 1,831
Other FIFA events 432
FIFA Club Protection Programme 80
Personnel expenses 178
Depreciation of property  
and equipment 21

41%    Development & Education 2,577
FIFA Forward 1,719
Football Development Fund 27
FIFA Talent Development 
Scheme 210
Other projects 80
World Football Remission Fund 60
Digital development services 53
Technical development  
programmes 52
Refereeing 30
Women’s football promotion 22
Education 19
FIFA Foundation 17
Audit and financial education 11
Sustainability, human rights 
and safeguarding 10
WHO solidarity fund 10
Medicine and science 5
FIFA Museum  21
Personnel expenses 150
Depreciation of property  
and equipment 81

100% =  
USD 6,302 million
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EMERGENCY INVESTMENTS VIA 
THE COVID-19 RELIEF PLAN

Following the outbreak of the COVID-19 
pandemic, all but four of our 211 
member associations were forced to 
temporarily halt their football activities, 
leading to enormous financial distress 
for each member association and 
its respective football infrastructure. 
FIFA’s very strong financial position 
enabled a substantial financial relief 
plan to be put in place, amounting to 
USD 1.5 billion in total and consisting 
of three stages, as outlined in the 
graphic below.

 
 
 
The implementation of the COVID-19 
Relief Plan is well on track. As part 
of stage 3 of the emergency fund, 
FIFA also committed USD 321 million 
to the football community through 
grants, which are paid from FIFA’s 
excess reserves. For more detailed 
information regarding the funds 
released under the plan, please see the 
Annexe to this report.

 
 
 
A key feature of the plan is the 
provision of robust compliance and 
auditing standards. Every single 
member association and confederation 
that receives funding from FIFA is 
audited twice: once by the auditors 
sent by FIFA under the current system 
of central reviews and once by its own 
statutory auditors. 

USD 1.5 billion Funds available under the FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan

ST
A

G
E 

1

Provision of immediate
liquidity relief to MAs

Release of 2019 and 2020 
Forward 2.0 operational-cost 

entitlements to MAs

Financed from existing
Forward budgets

U
SD

 1
52

  M
IL
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O

N

ST
A

G
E 

2

Provision of additional 
support to MAs

Transformation of Forward-specific 
project allocations into 
COVID-19 relief funds

Financed from existing 
Forward budgets

U
SD

 4
65

 M
IL
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O

N

ST
A

G
E 

3 Support for MAs 
and the wider football 

community

Grant-and-loan facility to provide 
assistance to MAs, the confederations 

and the wider football community

Financed from FIFA’s 
excess reserves of 

the 2015-2018 cycle

U
SD

 8
84

 M
IL

LI
O

N

For each member association For each confederation

1
Solidarity grants for 
each MA 
(in USD million)

0.5
Grants per MA 
specifically for women’s 
football (in USD million)

Up to 5
Interest-free loans 
per MA 
(in USD million)

2
Solidarity grants for 
each confederation 
(in USD million)

Up to 4
Interest-free loans 
per confederation 
(in USD million)

2019-2022 INVESTMENTS/EXPENSES | 2019-2022 CYCLE IN REVIEW
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Continued strong 
financial position 
with record 
reserves 
At the end of the 2019-2022 
cycle, FIFA’s financial position 
was exceptionally healthy with 
a substantial cash base. FIFA’s 
reserves had risen to a new 
high, enabling the organisation 
to cover its unprecedented 
commitments under the future 
Forward 3.0. 

At the end of 2022, FIFA’s balance 
sheet totalled USD 6,796 million, an 
increase of USD 2,407 million 
compared to the amount at the end of 
the 2015-2018 cycle. Cash and cash 
equivalents and financial assets 
amounted to USD 5,745 million, 
representing a significant share of 85% 
of the total assets. FIFA’s liquidity 
levels also remained healthy, 
providing the ability to react quickly to 
unexpected circumstances with a 
current ratio of 229%.

FIFA operates in a four-year cycle, with 
the FIFA World Cup™ being the main 
source of income in the fourth year of 
the cycle. A large share of the FIFA 
World Cup 2022™ revenues was 
contracted and collected well in 
advance of the event, and recognised 
as contract liabilities. In line with IFRS 
15, revenue is recognised on the 
successful staging of the FIFA World 
Cup and related contract liabilities are 
derecognised at the same time. 
Contract liabilities had thus dropped 
by 90% at the end of 2022.

As at 31 December 2022, FIFA’s 
reserves had reached an 
unprecedented high of USD 
3,971 million, USD 1,227 million or 45% 
higher than the amount at the end of 

the 2015-2018 cycle. Accordingly, the 
equity ratio at the end of the 2019-
2022 cycle had increased to 58%. 

Having sufficient reserves with high 
liquidity ensures that FIFA can cover 
all of its obligations to the FIFA World 
Cup and its increased commitments 
under the future FIFA Forward 3.0. The 
budget for the 2023-2026 cycle takes 
the available reserves into 
consideration. Accordingly, FIFA 
Forward 3.0, due for launch in 2023, 
will increase the funds currently 
available under Forward 2.0 by a 
significant 29%. In addition, FIFA’s 
solid financial position maintains its 
ability to react quickly to unforeseen 
circumstances beyond its regular 
commitments. 

Asset management 
In accordance with Goal 11 of the FIFA 
President’s 2020-2023 vision to “make 
football work for society”, the FIFA 
Council and the FIFA Finance 

Committee approved the revised FIFA 
Financial Asset Management 
Regulations in 2022. Sustainability was 
added to the strategic investment 
objectives of FIFA’s investments and 
the relevant asset categories were 
adjusted to fulfil best practices for 
sustainable investment. 

FIFA’s investment portfolio is 
dominated by fixed-income 
investments, with a very small portion 
of equities. 2022 proved an challenging 
year for investors, as the US Federal 
Reserve raised interest rates several 
times at a total rate of 4.25% in an 
effort to combat persistently high 
inflation. At the same time, stock 
markets were plunging world wide. 
Overall, the entire FIFA investment 
portfolio returned a risk-appropriate 
yield of -1.8% (mark-to-market), a result 
that was in line with the relevant 
benchmarks and confirmation that 
FIFA’s investment strategy had proved 
its worth in a distressed environment. 

2019-2022 BALANCE SHEET | 2019-2022 CYCLE IN REVIEW

5,745
85% of total assets were cash and 
financial assets
(in USD million)

229%
Current ratio (current assets over 
current liabilities)

58%
Equity ratio (reserves over total 
assets) 

6,796
Total assets at 31 December 2022
(in USD million)
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Balance sheet as at 31 December 2018 versus 31 December 2022 (USD million)

Development of reserves 2014-2022 (USD million)

As at 31 December 2018 As at 31 December 2022 

AssetsAssets

Non-current  
assetsNon-current  

assets

Current
assetsCurrent

 liabilities

Current
 liabilities

Current 
assets

Reserves

Reserves

Non-current 
 liabilities

Non-current 
 liabilities

Liabilities 
and reserves

Liabilities 
and reserves

6,7966,796

4,3894,389

3,197

5,287

1,192
1,509

2,745

3,971

477

519

1,167

2,306

2014 2015 2017 2019 20212016 2018 2020 2022

3,971

1,638

1,881

2,586
2,745

930
1,048

1,410
1,523

+55%



226

FIFA outperformed 
its cycle budget 
despite the global 
COVID-19 pandemic 
An outstanding four-year 
net result was achieved for 
the 2019-2022 cycle with an 
elevenfold increase compared 
with the budgeted figure. All 
revenue categories exceeded 
their budget targets and 
administrative costs were kept 
to a minimum so that maximum 
resources could be allocated to 
football development.

In line with its strategic 2.0 vision to 
increase football development funds 
and allow its international 
tournaments to flourish, FIFA 
established the initial 2019-2022 
budget with a full-cycle revenue 
budget of USD 6,560 million and an 
investment budget of USD 
6,460 million, as approved at the 2018 
FIFA Congress. However, in 2020, 
COVID-19 severely disrupted football 
at all levels, and the non-staging of the 
FIFA Confederations Cup had a 
significant effect on FIFA’s revenue 
and expenses in the cycle. Accordingly, 
FIFA revised its full-cycle budget by 
reducing the revenue budget to USD 
6,440 million and the investment 
budget to USD 6,340 million, as 
approved at the 2020 FIFA Congress.

This section compares the revised 
budget with the actuals for the full 
2019-2022 cycle. 

2019-2022 REVENUE

Total revenue for 2019-2022 amounted 
to USD 7,568 million, of which 45% 
came from broadcasting rights, 24% 
from marketing rights, 10% from 
licensing rights, 13% from hospitality 
rights and tickets, and 8% from other 
revenue and income. All revenue 
categories exceeded their budget 
targets, producing a 18% increase in 
the full-cycle revenue compared to the 
budgeted target. 

Revenue from television 
broadcasting rights of USD 
3,426 million exceeded the full-cycle 
budget by USD 126 million (4%). Of the 
five main sales territories, the 
European territory delivered the most 
substantial part of the revenue of USD 
1,061 million, USD 73 million over the 
budget level.

Revenue from marketing rights for 
the full cycle totalled USD 
1,795 million, outperforming the 
budget by USD 29 million (2%), mainly 
thanks to the outstanding sales 
performance of the FIFA World Cup 
Qatar 2022™ sponsorships. All 14 slots 
for FIFA Partner and FIFA World Cup 
Sponsor categories were sold out and 
18 Regional Supporters were signed, 
resulting in an unprecedented 
marketing revenue in the 2019-2022 
cycle.

USD 769 million was generated from 
licensing rights, USD 166 million 
(28%) above budget. This outstanding 
result was driven primarily by a strong 
performance in branding licensing 
rights, which are related to FIFA marks 
and brand elements in connection 
with FIFA World Cup™ products and 
other services. 

2019-2022 BUDGET COMPARISON | 2019-2022 CYCLE IN REVIEW 

+1,128
Record revenue versus full-cycle 

budget (in USD million)

+9%
Additional football investments in 
Development & Education versus 

budget

-17%
Actual FIFA Governance  

& Administration expenses versus 
budget

+1,087
Net result versus full-cycle budget 

 (USD million)
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Hospitality and ticket sales totalled 
USD 949 million, or USD 441 million 
over budget. This figure includes 
revenue from the FIFA Woman’s World 
Cup France 2019™ (USD 8 million), the 
FIFA Arab Cup 2021™ (USD 12 million) 
and the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022.
The latter accounted for by far the 
biggest share at USD 929 million. 

Gate revenues from the FIFA World 
Cup Qatar 2022 benefited from strong 
demand for both ticket and hospitality 
packages, with an average attendance 
rate of 96.3% for the final tournament. 
In total, budgets were surpassed by 
87%. More details and a summary of 
the Qatar 2022™ ticketing statistics can 
be found on page 216. 

Other revenue and income exceeded 
the budget by USD 366 million, mainly 
due to contributions from the country 
staging the FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 
(USD 123 million) and the FIFA Arab 
Cup 2021 (USD 77 million), an award to 
FIFA by the United States Department 
of Justice that was paid into the newly 
created World Football Remission Fund 
(USD 60 million), break fees relating to 
contract cancellations, income from 
the Olympic Football Tournaments 
and gains on sales of investment 
properties.

Actual versus budget (USD million)

Actual Budget Variance to budget

Revenue from television broadcasting rights 3,426 3,300 126

Revenue from marketing rights 1,795 1,766 29

Revenue from licensing rights 769 603 166

Revenue from hospitality rights and ticket sales 949 508 441

Other revenue and income 629 263 366

Total 7,568 6,440 1,128
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EXPENSES 2019-2022

FIFA’s total investments for the 2019-
2022 cycle amounted to USD 6,302 
million, slightly below the budget 
figure of 6,340 million. Two main 
factors influenced the investment 
budget. Firstly, total investments in 
football were further increased to a 
total of USD 5,266 million, exceeding 
the budget by 4%. At the same time, 
FIFA streamlined its administrative 
and commercial activities (USD 1,036 
million), which accounted for a 18% 
reduction compared to the budget, or 
a total of USD 224 million.

Expenses for Competitions & Events 
amounted to USD 2,542 million, USD 
35 million below budget. 

The FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022™ 
was a great success from both an 
organisational and a cost-efficiency 
point of view. FIFA took on certain host-
country activities, leading to additional 
investments in the tournament, which 
were mainly offset by host country 
contributions.

The highlight of 2021 was the delivery 
of a successful inaugural FIFA Arab 
Cup™ in Qatar in December, a key 
test event for the following year’s FIFA 
World Cup™. The expenses for the FIFA 
Arab Cup were offset in the form of 
host country contributions.

As a consequence of the COVID-19 
pandemic, some of FIFA’s youth 
tournaments scheduled for 2020 and 
2021 had to be cancelled. In addition, 
with the FIFA Club World Cup 2022™ 
and the Best FIFA Football Awards™ 
2022 both being postponed to 2023, 
the expenses for those events were 
shifted from 2022 to 2023.

In 2022, FIFA benefited from the 
release of provisions in connection 
with cost savings relating to the 2018 
FIFA World Cup Russia™ and the 2014 
FIFA World Cup Brazil™.

2019-2022 BUDGET COMPARISON | 2019-2022 CYCLE IN REVIEW 

Actual versus budget (USD million)
Actual Budget Variance to budget

FIFA World Cup™ 1,831 1,656 –175

FIFA U-17 Women’s World Cup India 2022TM 16 21 5

FIFA U-20 Women’s World Cup Costa Rica 2022TM 16 22 6

FIFA World Cup™ intercontinental play-off matches 2 0 –2

Youth Olympic Games 0 2 2

FIFA Arab Cup 2021™ 86 0 –86

FIFA Futsal World Cup Lithuania 2021™ 16 22 6

Olympic Football Tournaments Tokyo 2020 12 20 8

FIFA Beach Soccer World Cup Russia 2021™ 6 7 1

Cancelled youth tournaments 0 103 103

FIFA Women`s World Cup France 2019™ 155 157 2

FIFA U-17 World Cup Brazil 2019™ 26 26 0

FIFA U-20 World Cup Poland 2019 24 24 0

FIFA Beach Soccer World Cup Paraguay 2019™ 6 6 0

FIFA Club World CupTM 67 86 19

FIFA eFootball tournaments 34 39 5

The Best FIFA Football Awards™ 13 30 17

Blue Stars/FIFA Youth Cup™ 2 3 1

FIFA events from previous cycles –211 –92 119

Value-in-kind and other 162 140 –22

Other FIFA events 432 616 184

FIFA Club Protection Programme 80 109 29

Personnel expenses 178 179 1

Depreciation of property and equipment 21 17 –4

Competitions & Events 2,542 2,577 35
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Expenses for Development & 
Education amounted to USD 
2,577 million, USD 213 million higher 
than the budget for the 2019-2022 
cycle.

The global pandemic left its mark 
on FIFA’s signature development 
programme, FIFA Forward 2.0 – not 
in terms of available funds but in the 
speed of project implementation. 
The full-cycle budget of USD 1,746 
million for 2019-2022 has been 
expensed for the benefit of FIFA’s 
211 member associations, the six 
confederations and the zonal/regional 
associations, with unused funds 
accrued for subsequent use by the 
respective beneficiary. With a total 
of USD 1,719 million in expenses 
relating to the Forward Programme 

and the establishment of a specific 
Football Development Fund with an 
allocation of USD 27 million, the USD 
1,746 million of funds earmarked 
by FIFA under Forward for football 
development remains fully available 
for those who will benefit from the 
programme.

In 2022, FIFA launched its innovative 
Talent Development Scheme, offering 
bespoke assistance to member 
associations to help them achieve 
their full potential and continuing the 
measures taken to reduce the disparity 
in the level of football between 
different regions of the world. The total 
amount earmarked for this programme 
includes a kick-off fund of USD 
10 million as well as implementation 
funds of USD 200 million.

Also in 2022, FIFA further invested in 
its new FIFA+ platform as part of its 
endeavours to make football truly 
global and inclusive, thus underpinning 
its core mission to expand and develop 
football globally.

In 2021, FIFA was awarded a sum 
of USD 60 million in the form of the 
World Football Remission Fund, 
which will be invested to help finance 
football-related projects with a positive 
community impact. This amount, 
awarded and recognised as income, 
has been offset by corresponding 
development expenses under the 
Development & Education category.

Actual Budget Variance to budget

FIFA Forward Programme and Football Development Fund 1,746 1,746 0

FIFA Talent Development Scheme 210 0 –210

Other projects 80 78 –2

World Football Remission Fund 60 0 –60

Digital development services 53 0 –53

Technical development programmes 52 84 32

Refereeing 30 42 12

Women’s football promotion 22 57 35

Education 19 21 2

FIFA Foundation 17 34 17

Audit and financial education 11 12 1

Sustainability, human rights and safeguarding 10 8 –2

WHO solidarity fund 10 10 0

Medicine and science 5 9 4

FIFA Museum 21 26 5

Personnel expenses 150 148 –2

Depreciation of property and equipment 81 89 8

Development & Education 2,577 2,364 –213
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Expenses for Football Governance 
stood at USD 147 million, USD 8 million 
more than the budget for the 2019-
2022 cycle.

Investments in football governance 
bodies and third-party services 
exceeded the budget, mainly driven by 
the launch of the Fund for Football 

Players and increased investment in 
the FIFA Clearing House for its go-live 
in 2022. 

Actual Budget Variance to budget

Football governance bodies and third-party services 67 52 –15

Personnel expenses 72 79 7

Depreciation of property and equipment 8 8 0

Football Governance 147 139 –8

FIFA Governance & Administration 
achieved cost savings of USD 
158 million across all departments, 
mainly through reduced travel activities 
and holding many more virtual 
conferences for meetings, including 

the FIFA Congresses in 2020 and 2021 
as well as FIFA Council and committee 
meetings. Further savings were made 
in personnel expenses, legal costs, 
communications and information 
technology. FIFA remains committed to 

keeping Governance & Administration 
expenses as low as possible so that 
maximum resources can be dedicated 
to football development.

Actual Budget Variance to budget

Information technology 91 103 12

Communications 83 88 5

Legal costs 59 67 8

Annual FIFA Congress and committees 54 90 36

Buildings and maintenance 26 28 2

Expected credit losses of receivables and contract assets 3 0 –3

Other 77 133 56

Personnel expenses 347 389 42

Depreciation of property and equipment 27 27 0

FIFA Governance & Administration 767 925 158

FIFA spent USD 269 million in 
commercialising Marketing & TV 
Broadcasting rights, which was USD 
66 million below budget. 

These significant cost savings were 
primarily due to the launch of digital 
activities in marketing rights and a 
reduction in sales commissions in the 
area of TV broadcasting rights.

Actual Budget Variance to budget

Marketing rights 47 82 35

Broadcasting and media rights 33 27 –6

Licensing rights 12 13 1

Sales commission and other 82 113 31

Personnel expenses 87 93 6

Depreciation of property and equipment 8 7 –1

Marketing & TV Broadcasting 269 335 66

2019-2022 BUDGET COMPARISON | 2019-2022 CYCLE IN REVIEW 
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Revenue growth to 
significantly boost 
global football 
development
FIFA’s 2023-2026 budget is 
aligned with its strategic vision, 
the aim being to increase 
football development funds 
and allow FIFA’s international 
tournaments to flourish.

FIFA’s budgeted revenue for 2023-2026 
is an unprecedented amount that is 
mainly driven by the expansion of its 
flagship tournaments, the FIFA 
Women’s World Cup™ and FIFA World 
Cup™. This growth in the 
commercialisation of rights will deliver 
a significant cycle-on-cycle increase in 
football development funds and 
reinforce FIFA’s commitment to 
putting its revenues back into the 
game. 

The budget for 2023-2026 has been 
prepared on the basis of the 
International Match Calendar valid at 
the time of its preparation. The FIFA 
Council’s endorsement in December 
2022 of several key strategic principles 
relating to the International Match 
Calendars and competitions for both 
men’s and women’s football occurred 
after the budget had been prepared.

The 2023-2026 budget and detailed 
budget for 2024 were approved by the 
FIFA Finance Committee in November 
2022 and the FIFA Council in 
December 2022, with final approval 
due to be provided by the FIFA 
Congress in March 2023.

This section focuses on the highlights 
of the 2023-2026 budget. 

2023-2026 REVENUE

Compared to the previous budget 
cycle, the 2023-2026 budget 
assumes a substantial increase in 

revenue of USD 4,560 million to 
a total of USD 11,000 million.

This growth is the result of increased 
revenue from TV broadcasting rights 
(up by USD 964 million) and marketing 
rights (up by USD 927 million).
Additional revenue of USD 66 million is 
planned from licensing rights and 
there is an increase in the budgeted 
income from ticket sales and 
hospitality rights of USD 2,589 million. 
Other revenue and income is expected 
to rise by USD 14 million.

The total budgeted revenue from the 
sale of television broadcasting 
rights amounts to USD 4,264 million. 
With North American time zones 
offering favourable coverage across 
the globe for the FIFA World Cup 
2026™ plus an expanded match 
schedule, there is a solid platform for 
the commercialisation of rights, with 
43% already contracted for the cycle.

The total budget for marketing rights 
sales is USD 2,693 million, of which 
21% had already been contracted as at 
31 December 2022. FIFA’s new global 
commercial partnership structure and 
range of packages offer more options 
and flexibility for companies to 
connect with global football and the 
biggest cultural events on the planet, 
enabling brands to take up dedicated 
partnerships in connection with 
women’s football or esports/gaming. 
FIFA’s first Women’s Football Partners, 
Visa and Xero, are supporting the 
continued growth in the women’s 
game. FIFA continues to explore 
commercial opportunities and expects 
new sponsors to be signed for the 

upcoming FIFA Women’s World Cup 
2023™. In relation to the men’s 
commercialisation programme, there 
is great anticipation ahead of the 
expanded FIFA World Cup in 2026.

The licensing rights budget amounts 
to USD 669 million for the cycle, 
mainly in the area of brand licensing, 
where FIFA receives royalty-based 
income payments. In addition, FIFA is 
expanding its global presence with an 
enhanced licensing programme that 
includes a 365-day e-commerce and 
digital marketplace presence. It is 
expected that licensing rights targets 
will exceed the previous cycle budget.

Hospitality and ticket sales amount 
to a record budget level of 
USD 3,097 million. The FIFA World Cup 
2026 will be co-hosted by Canada, 
Mexico and the USA across 16 Host 
Cities and in state-of-the-art stadiums. 
Hospitality sales are largely driven by 
the strategic model in operation, 
which has moved away from the rights 
fee model, under which FIFA’s 
hospitality services were outsourced. 
With the attractive hospitality features 
already imbedded in the modern 
stadiums, fans from all around the 
world will be able to experience the 
various packages available.

The other revenue and income 
budget is USD 277 million and will be 
generated from the FIFA Quality 
Programme, the Olympic Football 
Tournaments, the sale of video rights, 
the FIFA Museum, penalties and 
appeals, and rental income and other 
sources of income.

2023-2026 BUDGET | A LOOK AHEAD TO 2023-2026

11,000
+4,560 versus cycle  
revenue budget 2019-
2022 (in USD million)

9,708
Total 2019-2022  
investments in football 
activities (in USD million)

2,250
+29% in Forward 
investments for 3.0  
versus previous edition 
(in USD million)

660
Investment in new 
Football Development 
Fund (in USD million)



 
Budget 

2023-2026
 

Variance

TV broadcasting rights 4,264 +964

Marketing rights 2,693 +927

Licensing rights 669 +66

Hospitality rights and ticket sales 3,097 +2,589

Other revenue and income 277 +14

Total 11,000 +4,560
22%
contracted

Budget 
2023-2026

Budget 
2019-2022

6,440

11,000

4,560

 
Budget 

2023-2026
 

Variance

Competitions & Events 5,618 –3,041

Development & Education 3,923 –1,559

Football Governance 167 –28

FIFA Governance & Administration 850 +75

Marketing & TV Broadcasting 342 –7

Total 10,900 –4,560
Budget 

2023-2026
Budget 

2019-2022

6,340

10,900

4,560
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Overview of the revenue budget for the 2023-2026 cycle (USD million)

Overview of the investment budget for the 2023-2026 cycle (USD million)
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2023-2026 INVESTMENTS

The investment budget for the 
2023-2026 cycle has increased to a 
similar extent as the revenue budget, 
totalling USD 10,900 million, producing 
a result before taxes and financial 
result of USD 100 million. 

Competitions & Events
The FIFA World Cup 2026™ will be the 
biggest event in the 2023-2026 cycle. 
For the first time, the competition will 
be co-hosted by three countries and 
expanded to 48 teams. 

At the FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023™, 
the world’s top players will compete 
from 20 July to 20 August for the 
greatest prize in women’s football.  
The expanded format will now feature 
32 teams, and the tournament will 
also be the first to feature hosts from 
two confederations. The event budget 
amounts to USD 435 million. The FIFA 
Women’s World Cup 2023 will be the 
first tournament hosted under the 
new operational model, with a local, 
FIFA-owned subsidiary on the ground. 
Despite the challenging regional and 
global conditions imposed by the 
pandemic, the new model has had 
the benefit of ensuring that FIFA’s 
preparations can continue unabated.

At its meeting on 16 December 2022, 
the FIFA Council endorsed several key 
principles related to the international 
match calendars and competitions 
for both men’s and women’s football. 
These changes will all have a budgetary 
impact and may require a budget 
revision at a later stage:
•  A budget of USD 167 million was 

included for youth tournaments and 
will form the base of the proposals 
to revise FIFA’s youth tournament 
inventory.

•  For women’s football, the current 
international match calendar 
structure will remain unchanged until 
2025 and is included in the present 
budget. The creation of a new FIFA 
Women’s Club World Cup™, a new 
FIFA Futsal Women’s World Cup™ 
and the expansion of the Women’s 

Olympic Football Tournament from 
12 to 16 teams are not considered in 
the current version of the budget.

•  For men’s football, an expanded  
32-team FIFA Club World Cup™ 
is set to begin in June 2025 and 
will take place every four years. 
Furthermore, FIFA will launch friendly 
tournaments - the FIFA World Series. 
Both tournaments are not included 
in the current version of the budget, 
neither for revenue nor expenses.

Development & Education 
The new FIFA Forward 3.0 will increase 
the funds currently available under 
Forward 2.0 by a substantial 29%. 
The total investment for the benefit 
of FIFA’s member associations, the 
confederations and zonal/regional 
associations amounts to USD 
2,250 million for the full cycle. This next 
stage of the programme represents an 
almost sevenfold increase in football 
development investment compared to 
the development programmes in place 
prior to 2016.

On top of the increased FIFA Forward 
funds, the FIFA World Cup 2026 will 
provide FIFA with excess revenues 
available for additional football 
development. This excess cash 
flow will be accessible in 2026 and 
beyond. Consequently, the 2023-
2026 budget anticipates a dedicated 
Football Development Fund of USD 
660 million. The objective of this fund 
is to strengthen FIFA’s vision to make 
football truly global by supporting all 
of FIFA’s member associations and the 
confederations in their endeavours to 
develop football in all its forms and at 
all levels – in line with their individual 
needs and the overall parameters of 
Forward 3.0.

A total amount of USD 102 million 
across the cycle will be dedicated to 
technical development programmes, 
which are tailored to each member 
association with the goal of increasing 
competitiveness around the world.

The FIFA Foundation will have an 
available budget of USD 38 million in 

2023-2026 to help promote positive 
social change around the world 
and raise support for the recovery 
and reconstruction of damaged 
or destroyed sports infrastructure 
worldwide.

In order to achieve Goal 8 of FIFA’s 
2020-2023 vision – to accelerate the 
growth of women’s football – FIFA 
will invest USD 71 million in women’s 
football development programmes 
across the world, in addition to those 
funds allocated under Forward and 
other development programmes. 

Football Governance 
The football governance budget for 
the 2023-2026 cycle of USD 167 million 
covers judicial bodies, preventing 
match manipulation and the transfer 
matching system (TMS).

FIFA Governance & Administration 
These expenses are closely monitored 
by means of firm cost control. The 
planned legal costs for the full cycle 
are significantly lower than in previous 
years due to the fact that certain legal 
cases are drawing to a close. Given the 
lower impact on travel as the COVID-19 
pandemic recedes, FIFA is planning 
four on-site Congresses for all member 
associations to gather together and 
take decisions on the future of football.

Marketing & TV Broadcasting  
The expense allocation for Marketing 
& TV Broadcasting mainly focuses on 
commercialising the marketing, media 
and TV broadcasting rights for the FIFA 
World Cup™. The main operational 
changes are a fully insourced media 
sales force to deliver significant 
efficiencies and the utilisation of 
resources that can better serve FIFA’s 
commercial obligations. In addition, 
continued enhancements to FIFA’s 
digital and esports landscape are on 
course to be delivered during the cycle.

2023-2026 BUDGET | A LOOK AHEAD TO 2023-2026



100% = 
USD 3,923 million

11%    Other FIFA World Cup™ items 408

23%  Prize money and  
Club Benefits Programme 896

10%    Workforce management 394

5%      Team services 181

2%      ICT 70

39%    Operational expenses 1,516
Safety and security 110
Competition management 27
Event transport 83
Ticketing 51
Hospitality 638
Guest management 37
Technical services 307
Commercial 31
Insurance 35
Logistics 14
Referee services 18
Volunteers 13
Special events 98
Legal 33
Football technology 9
Sustainability 9
Communications 3

9%      TV operations 329

1%      Marketing rights delivery  45

100% = 
USD 3,839 million
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Investment budget for the FIFA World Cup 2026™ (USD million)

Investment budget for Development & Education for 2023-2026 (USD million)

56%    FIFA Forward Programme 2,250
Member associations 1,688
Confederations 360
Regional/zonal associations 65
Travel/equipment/other costs 137

19%    Football Development Fund 660

5%      Digital development services 193

6%      Other development   
and educational programmes 218
FIFA Foundation 38
Women’s football promotion 71
FIFA Museum 51
Education 19
Sustainability, human rights  
and safeguarding 15
Audit and financial education 12
Medicine and science 12

2%      Depreciation of property  
and equipment 97

5%      Personnel expenses 202

3%      Development offices,  
Executive Football Summits  
and other projects 146

1%      Refereeing 55

3%       Technical development 102
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Budget for the year 2024 and the full  
2023-2026 cycle (USD million)

2024 2023-2026
Revenue from TV broadcasting rights 15 4,264
Revenue from marketing rights 137 2,693
Revenue from licensing rights  75 669
Revenue from hospitality rights and ticket sales 0 3,097
Other revenue and income 66 277
Total revenue 293 11,000
FIFA World Cup 2026™ 0  3,839 
FIFA Women’s World Cup 2023™ 0 435
FIFA youth tournaments 36 167
Other tournaments and events 98  395
Value in kind and other 39  330
FIFA Club Protection Programme 41  150
Personnel expenses 68  287 
Depreciation of property and equipment 4  15
Competitions & Events 286  5,618
FIFA Forward Programme  456  2,250
Football Development Fund 0 660
Technical development  25  102 
Refereeing  15  55 
Development offices, Executive Football Summits and other projects  23  146
Digital development services 45 193
Other Development & Education programmes  55  218
Personnel expenses  50  202
Depreciation of property and equipment 25 97
Development & Education 694  3,923
Football governance bodies and third-party services  19  78
Personnel expenses  21  85 
Depreciation of property and equipment 1 4
Football Governance 41  167
Legal and governance costs related to investigations 9  34
Annual FIFA Congress and committees 26  103 
Communications 12  49 
Information technology 28 106 
Buildings and maintenance 7  31
Other (including finance, Executive Office, ERP costs, insurance and auditors’ fees, VIK) 28  146
Personnel expenses 91  367 
Depreciation of property and equipment 4  14 
FIFA Governance & Administration 205  850
Broadcasting and media rights 12  63
Marketing rights 8 56
Licensing rights 5  21
Sales commission and other 8  82 
Personnel expenses 28  114 
Depreciation of property and equipment 2  6 
Marketing & TV Broadcasting 63  342 
Total investment 1,289  10,900

2024 DETAILED BUDGET | A LOOK AHEAD TO 2023-2026
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Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

in TUSD Note 2022 2021

REVENUE

Revenue	from	television	broadcasting	rights 1 	2,958,352	 	123,119	

Revenue	from	marketing	rights 2 	1,424,524	 	131,387	

Revenue	from	licensing	rights 3 	270,397	 	180,202	

Revenue	from	hospitality	rights	and	ticket	sales 4 	929,016	 	12,172	

Other	revenue 5 	62,072	 	85,621	

Other	income 6 	124,852	 	233,987	

Total revenue and other income  5,769,213  766,488 

EXPENSES

Competitions	&	Events 7 	–2,005,358 	–234,380

Development	&	Education 8 	–1,038,113 	–554,763

Football	Governance 9 	–40,278 	–43,877

Total expenses from football activities  –3,083,749  –833,020

FIFA	Governance	&	Administration 10 	–187,846 	–191,967

Marketing	&	TV	Broadcasting 11 	–132,396 	–52,384

Total expenses from administrative activities  –320,242  –244,351

COVID-19	Relief	Plan	–	grants	(stage	3) 12 	–6,500 	–44,500

Total other expenses  –6,500  –44,500

Result before taxes and financial result  2,358,722  –355,383

Taxes	and	duties 14 	–22,716 	–1,591

Financial	income	and	costs,	net 13 	31,877	 	44,762	

Net result for the year  2,367,883  –312,212

Other comprehensive income

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Remeasurements	of	post-employment	benefit	obligations 31 	55,537	 	43,270	

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss

Foreign	currency	translation	differences 	–760 	–228

Net	gain/(loss)	on	cash	flow	hedges 30 	–13,884 	35,894	

Net	gain/(loss)	on	debt	instruments	at	FVOCI 	–75,587 –9,482

Total other comprehensive income  –34,694  69,454 

Total comprehensive income for the year  2,333,189  –242,758

Net result for the year  2,367,883  –312,212

Allocation	to	restricted	reserves 	–2,367,883 	312,212	

Result for the year after allocation 0 0

The	notes	on	pages	248	to	293	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
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Consolidated balance sheet

in TUSD Note 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Assets

Cash	and	cash	equivalents 15 	1,708,102	 832,089

Receivables 16 	357,850	 398,985

Derivative	financial	assets 30 	10,696	 41,328

Financial	assets 22 	2,855,744	 2,158,442

Contract	assets 18 	195,227	 88,723

Prepaid	expenses	and	accrued	income 17 	157,729	 352,577

Inventories 19 	992	 4,336

Current assets  5,286,340 3,876,480

Property	and	equipment 20 272,835 289,224

Intangible	assets 21 27,730 20,007

Derivative	financial	assets 30 8,126 5,195

Financial	assets 22 1,180,680 1,279,360

Prepaid expenses 17 19,831 21,541

Non-current assets 1,509,202 1,615,327

Total assets 6,795,542 5,491,807

Liabilities and reserves

Payables 23 653,434 100,437

Contract	liabilities 25 233,458 2,511,451

Accrued	expenses	and	deferred	income 24 1,305,740 659,512

Derivative	financial	liabilities 30 102,970 19,675

Lease	liabilities 27 10,063 8,938

Current liabilities  2,305,665 3,300,013

Contract	liabilities 25 31,677 114,582

Accrued	expenses	and	deferred	income 24 238,272 22,856

Post-employment	benefit	obligation 31 16,989 65,187

Provisions 26 54,960 172,685

Lease	liabilities 27 176,720 178,414

Non-current liabilities 518,618 553,724

Total liabilities 2,824,283 3,853,737

Association	capital 28 4,104 4,104

Cash	flow	hedge	reserves 30 12,255 26,139

Foreign	currency	translation	reserves –445 315

Fair	value	reserves	of	financial	assets	at	FVOCI –82,504 –6,917

Restricted	reserves 28 4,037,849 1,614,429

Total reserves 3,971,259 1,638,070

Total liabilities and reserves 6,795,542 5,491,807

The	notes	on	pages	248	to	293		are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
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Consolidated cash flow statement

in TUSD Note 2022 2021

Net	result	for	the	year 2,367,883 –312,212

Depreciation	 20–21 33,372 37,105

Net	financial	result 13 –31,877 –44,762

Gain	on	disposal	of	property	and	equipment 0 –18,547

Other	non-cash	items –25 –56

Taxes	and	duties 14 22,716 1,591

(Increase)/Decrease	in	receivables 39,949 18,083

(Increase)/Decrease	in	prepaid	expenses	and	accrued	income 202,557 –210,061

(Increase)/Decrease	in	derivative	financial	assets	and	liabilities 61,182 2,026

(Increase)/Decrease	in	inventories 3,345 114

(Increase)/Decrease	in	contract	assets –106,504 23,766

Increase/(Decrease)	in	payables 550,531 37,978

Increase/(Decrease)	in	accrued	expenses	and	deferred	income 850,818 90,040

Increase/(Decrease)	in	contract	liabilities –2,410,682 1,177,397

Increase/(Decrease)	in	provisions –120,196 –4,871

Taxes	and	duties	paid –3,296 –17,397

Net cash (used)/generated by operating activities 1,459,773 780,194

Purchase	of	property	and	equipment 20 –3,692 –4,102

Purchase	of	intangible	assets 21 –12,307 –18,440

Sale	of	property	and	equipment 0 20,986

Investment	in	financial	assets –9,439,027 –5,877,351

Repayments	and	sale	of	financial	assets 8,847,149 4,760,971

Interest	received 45,056 30,200

Net cash (used)/generated in investing activities –562,821 –1,087,736

Interest paid –7,105 –5,920

Repayment	of	lease	liabilities –9,858 –9,678

Net cash (used)/generated in financing activities –16,963 –15,598

Net (decrease)/increase in cash and cash equivalents 879,989 –323,140

Cash and cash equivalents as at 1 January 15 832,089 1,155,191

Effect	of	exchange	rate	fluctuations –3,976 38

Net	increase/(decrease)	in	cash	and	cash	equivalents 879,989 –323,140

Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 15 1,708,102 832,089

The	notes	on	pages	248	to	293	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
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Consolidated statement of changes in reserves

in TUSD Association  
capital

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserves

Translation 
reserves

Fair value 
reserves of 

financial 
assets at 

FVOCI

Restricted 
reserves

Total  
reserves

Balance as at 1 January 2021 4,104 –9,755 543 2,565 1,883,371 1,880,828

Net	result	for	the	year 0 0 0 0 –312,212 –312,212
Remeasurement	of	post-employment	benefit	
obligations 0 0 0 0 43,270 43,270

Foreign	currency	translation	differences 0 0 –228 0 0 –228

Fair	value	gain/(loss)	on	cash	flow	hedges 0 35,894 0 0 0 35,894
Fair	value	gain/(loss)	on	debt	instruments	at	
FVOCI 0 0 0 –9,483 0 –9,483

Reclassified	to	statement	of	profit	or	loss	 0 0 0 1 0 1

Total comprehensive income for the year 0  35,894 –228 –9,482 –268,942 –242,758

Balance as at 31 December 2021 4,104 26,139 315 –6,917 1,614,429 1,638,070

in TUSD Association  
capital

Cash flow 
hedge 

reserves

Translation 
reserves

Fair value 
reserves of 

financial 
assets at 

FVOCI

Restricted 
reserves

Total  
reserves

Balance as at 1 January 2022 4,104 26,139 315 –6,917 1,614,429 1,638,070

Net	result	for	the	year 0 0 0 0 2,367,883 2,367,883
Remeasurement	of	post-employment	benefit	
obligations 0 0 0 0 55,537 55,537

Foreign	currency	translation	differences 0 0 –760 0 0 –760

Fair	value	gain/(loss)	on	cash	flow	hedges 0 35,900 0 0 0 35,900
Fair	value	gain/(loss)	on	debt	instruments	at	
FVOCI 0 0 0 –80,351 0 –80,351

Reclassified	to	statement	of	profit	or	loss	 0 –49,784 0 4,764 0 –45,020

Total comprehensive income for the year 0  –13,884 –760 –75,587 2,423,420  2,333,189 

Balance as at 31 December 2022 4,104 12,255 –445 –82,504 4,037,849 3,971,259

The	notes	on	pages	248	to	293	are	an	integral	part	of	these	consolidated	financial	statements.
 

Please	see	Note	30	–	Hedging	activities	and	derivative	financial	instruments	for	detailed	information	on	the	hedge	
accounting.

Please	see	Note	31	–	Personnel	expenses	for	detailed	information	relating	to	the	remeasurement	of	 
post-employment	benefit	obligations.
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Notes to the consolidated financial statements

Significant	accounting	policies

A General information and statement of compliance

The Fédération Internationale de 
Football	Association	(FIFA),	domiciled	
in	Zurich,	Switzerland,	is	an	
international	non-governmental,	
non-profit	organisation	in	the	form	of	
an	association	under	Swiss	law.	FIFA’s	
members	comprise	211 associations	
affiliated	to	six	confederations.	FIFA’s	
principal	mission	is	to	promote	the	
game	of	football,	protect	its	integrity	
and	bring	the	game	to	all.

The	consolidated	financial	statements	
were	approved	by	the	FIFA	Council	on	
14	February	2023,	and	will	be	
submitted	to	the	73rd FIFA Congress on 
16	March	2023	for	approval.

FIFA	prepares	the	consolidated	
financial	statements	in	accordance	
with	International	Financial	Reporting	
Standards	(IFRS)	as	issued	by	the	IASB.	
The	scope	of	consolidated	subsidiaries	
is	set	out	in	Note	35.	Other	football	
associations	are	not	consolidated	as	
they	are	not	controlled	by	FIFA.	Based	
on	the	FIFA	Statutes,	the	financial	
cycle	of	FIFA	is	four	years	and	begins	
on	1	January,	in	the	year	following	the	
final	competition	of	the	FIFA	World	
CupTM.	While	these	consolidated	
financial	statements	cover	the	period	
from	1 January	2022	to	31	December	
2022,	FIFA’s	financial	reporting	cycle	
extended	from	1	January	2019	to	 
31	December	2022.

Some	figures	cannot	be	compared	on	
a	year-on-year	basis,	in	particular	
revenue	and	expenses	from	
Competitions	&	Events.	Due	to	its	
nature	as	a	not-for-profit	organisation	
and	the	distribution	of	revenue	across	
various	financial	years,	FIFA’s	financial	
figures	are	best	analysed	considering	
the	full	four-year	cycle.	The	first	three	
years	of	each	cycle	structurally	
produce	a	negative	result,	while	year	
four	produces	a	significant	positive	
result.

Consequently,	a	comparison	of	a	
single	year	against	figures	for	the	
previous	year	is,	in	some	cases,	not	
meaningful.

B Basis of presentation

The	consolidated	financial	statements	
are	presented	in	US dollars	(USD),	
which	is	the	reporting	currency	of	
FIFA.

The	consolidated	financial	statements	
are	prepared	on	a	historical	cost	basis,	
except	for	derivative	financial	
instruments	and	certain	financial	
assets	that	are	stated	at	fair	value.

New standards, interpretations and 
amendments adopted
Several	IFRS	amendments	and	
interpretations	were	effective	for	the	
first	time	in	2022,	but	did	not	have	an	
impact	on	the	financial	statements,	
whether	individually	or	in	aggregate.

FIFA	has	not	adopted	any	standards,	
interpretations	or	amendments	that	
have	been	issued	but	are	not	yet	
effective.

Standards or amendments issued 
but not yet effective
The following standards and 
amendments	had	been	issued	but	
were	not	mandatory	for	the	reporting	
period	ending	31	December	2022:
• Amendments	to	IAS	1	–	
Classification	of	Liabilities	as	Current	
or	Non-Current	and	Disclosure	of	
Accounting	Policies,	effective	date	 
1	January	2023

• Amendments	to	IAS	8	–	Accounting	
Policies,	Changes	in	Accounting	
Estimates	and	Errors,	effective	date	
1	January	2023

• Amendments	to	IAS	12	–	Deferred	
Tax	related	to	Assets	and	Liabilities	

arising	from	a	Single	Transaction,	
effective	date	1	January	2023

• IFRS	17	–	Insurance	Contracts	and	
amendments	thereto,	effective	date	
1	January	2023

• Amendments	to	IAS	1	–	Non-current	
Liabilities	with	Covenants,	effective	
date	1	January	2024

• Amendments	to	IFRS	16	–	Lease	
Liability	in	a	Sale	and	Leaseback,	
effective	1	January	2024

 
FIFA	does	not	expect	the	standards	or	
amendments	that	have	been	issued	
but	are	not	yet	effective	to	have	a	
significant	effect	on	the	consolidated	
financial	statements.
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C Basis of consolidation

The	term	“FIFA”	is	hereafter	also	used	
for	the	consolidated	group,	which	
represents  the parent FIFA and its 
subsidiaries.

Subsidiaries	are	all	entities	over	which	
FIFA	has	control.	FIFA	controls	an	
entity	when	FIFA	is	exposed	to,	or	has	
rights	to,	variable	returns	from	its	
involvement	with	the	entity	and	has	
the	ability	to	affect	those	returns	

through	its	power	over	the	entity.	
Subsidiaries	are	fully	consolidated	
from	the	date	on	which	control	is	
transferred	to	the	group.	They	are	
deconsolidated	from	the	date	on	
which	that	control	ceases.

The	individual	subsidiaries	included	in	
this	consolidation	are	shown	in	Note	
35.

Intra-group	balances	and	transactions	
and	any	unrealised	gains	arising	from	
intra-group	transactions	are	
eliminated	in	preparing	the	
consolidated	financial	statements.

Unrealised	losses	are	eliminated	in	the	
same	way	as	unrealised	gains,	but	
only	to	the	extent	that	there	is	no	
evidence	of	impairment.

D Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions 
and balances 
Transactions	in	foreign	currencies	are	
converted	on	the	date	of	the	
transaction	into	the	functional	
currency	of	the	respective	entity.	
Monetary	assets	and	liabilities	
denominated	in	foreign	currencies	on	
the	balance	sheet	date	are	converted	
at	the	foreign	exchange	rate	ruling	on	
that	date.	Foreign	exchange	
differences	arising	from	conversion	
are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

Financial statements of foreign 
subsidiaries
For	FIFA’s	foreign	subsidiaries,	assets	
and	liabilities	including	fair	value	

adjustments	arising	on	consolidation	
are	converted	into	USD at	the	foreign	
exchange	rate	ruling	on	the	balance	
sheet	date.	The	revenue	and	expenses	
of	foreign	subsidiaries	are	converted	
into	USD at	the	average	foreign	

exchange	rates	of	the	period.	
Exchange	differences	arising	from	
conversion	of	the	accounts	of	foreign	
subsidiaries	are	recognised	in	other	
comprehensive	income.

E Revenue recognition

The	main	revenue	streams	for	FIFA	
relate to the sale of the following 
rights:

• Television	broadcasting	rights
• Marketing	rights
• Licensing	rights
• Hospitality	rights
• Ticket	sales 

The	transaction	price	of	a	contract	
consists	in	general	of	fixed	and	
variable	consideration	as	well	as,	

infrequently,	non-cash	components	
(value	in	kind).

Nature of performance obligations
The	following	is	a	description	of	the	
principal	activities	with	which	FIFA	
generates	revenue:

Television broadcasting rights are 
granted	primarily	to	TV	stations	and	
other	broadcasting	institutions.	These	
rights	are	granted	to	broadcast	the	
television	signal	for	a	defined	period	in	

a	particular	territory.	The	
performance	obligation	is	defined	as	
the	right	to	access	intellectual	
property.	Revenue	related	to	
television	broadcasting	rights	is	
recognised	over	the	rights	period	
measured	based	on	the	pattern	of	
broadcasting	of	the	contractual	
events.

Marketing rights provide the FIFA 
Partners,	FIFA	World	Cup	Sponsors/
FIFA	Women’s	World	Cup	Sponsors,	

The	main	foreign	exchange	rates	used	are	as	follows	(USD per	1 unit/100 units):

31 Dec 2022 Average 2022 31 Dec 2021 Average 2021

1	CHF 1.0824 1.0481 1.0935 1.0942

1	EUR 1.0644 1.0542 1.1314 1.1833

1	GBP 1.2042 1.2379 1.3496 1.3758

100	QAR 27.4669 27.4645 27.4650 27.4617

1	AUD 0.6774 0.6949 0.7258 0.7515
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Regional	Supporters,	National	
Supporters	and	World	Cup	Partners/
Women’s	Football	Partners	with	
access	to	intellectual	property	by	
enabling	them	to	enter	into	a	long-
term	strategic	alliance	with	FIFA,	which	
also	includes	a	set	of	predefined	
rights.	The	performance	obligations	
under	marketing	rights	contracts	
consist	of	both	tangible	and	intangible	
marketing	rights,	which	are	separated.	
The	tangible	rights	include	event-
related	media	and	advertising	rights	
which	result	in	revenue	recognition	as	
the	contractual	events	are	broadcast.	
The	intangible	right	is	attributed	to	the	
promise	to	benefit	from	a	strategic	
association	with	FIFA,	its	competitions	
and	brand,	resulting	in	a	straight-line	
recognition	of	revenue	over	the	
contractual	rights	period.

Licensing rights are granted to 
licensees	to	both	associate	the	
licensee	with	FIFA	and	the	FIFA	
competitions	and	to	obtain	the	right	to	
use	FIFA	marks	and	brand	elements	as	
a	platform	to	brand	its	related	
products	and	services.	As	the	licensee	
has	access	to	intellectual	property,	the	
amount	of	revenue	is	recognised	over	
the	rights	period	and	is	further	
determined	by	categorising	each	
licensing	right	contract	as	follows:

1)	For	the	right	to	consideration	of	
fixed	fees	only,	revenue	is	
recognised	over	the	rights	period	on	
the	basis	of	fixed-fee	amounts.

2)	For	the	right	to	consideration	of	
sales-	or	usage-based	royalties	with	
specified	minimum	guarantee	
amounts,	FIFA	assesses	at	each	
reporting	date	whether	the	royalty	
amounts	to	be	received	will	exceed	
the	contractual	minimum	guarantee	
threshold.
a.	 If	the	sales-based	royalty	is	not	

expected	to	clearly	exceed	the	
minimum	guarantee	threshold,	
revenue	is	recognised	over	the	
rights	period	measured	on	the	
basis	of	the	fixed	guaranteed	
consideration.	Any	royalties	
received	in	one	period	in	excess	
of	the	minimum	guarantee	due	
are	deferred	and	recognised	only	
when	total	royalties	received	
exceed	the	contractual	minimum	
guarantee	threshold.

b.	 When	FIFA	has	a	reasonable	
expectation	that	royalty	amounts	
to	be	received	will	clearly	exceed	
the	contractual	minimum	
guarantee	threshold,	fixed	and	
variable	considerations	are	
estimated	and	revenue	is	
recognised	as	the	performance	
obligation	is	satisfied.	The	
amount	of	revenue	recognised	
for the reporting period is 
subject	to	the	royalty	constraint	
(i.e.	cumulative	revenue	amounts	
cannot	exceed	cumulative	
royalty	amounts).

Hospitality rights provide the 
licensee	with	the	right	to	provide	
hospitality	and	ticketing	services	for	
selected	FIFA	competitions.	The	
amount	of	revenue	for	the	FIFA	World	
Cup™	includes	both	fixed	and	variable	
considerations,	whereas	all	other	
events	have	variable	considerations	
only.	Contractually	determined	fixed	
payments	are	recognised	in	the	period	
in	which	the	FIFA	World	Cup	takes	
place.	Revenue	based	on	profit-share	
agreements	is	recognised	once	the	
profit	share	for	the	event	has	been	
determined	by	the	licensee.

Ticket sales in	connection	with	the	
FIFA	World	Cup	or	other	FIFA	events	
are	recognised	in	the	year	the	event	
takes	place.

Revenue from rendering of services 
is	recognised	in	the	accounting	period	
in	which	the	services	are	rendered.

Value-in-kind revenue consists	of	
promises	to	receive	pre-determined	
services	and	the	delivery	of	goods	to	
be	used	in	connection	with	the	FIFA	
World	Cup	or	other	FIFA	events.	The	
revenue	related	to	value-in-kind	forms	
part	of	the	overall	consideration	
receivable	and	is	recognised	applying	
the	same	measure	of	progress	as	the	
performance	obligation	to	which	it	
relates.	Value-in-kind	consideration	is	
measured	at	fair	value.

F Other income

Other	income	represents	income	
(other	than	financial	income	as	
defined	in	Note	K)	that	does	not	arise	
in	the	course	of	FIFA’s	ordinary	
activities	and	is	non-recurring.	Other	
income	is	recognised	to	the	extent	
that	it	is	probable	that	FIFA	will	derive	
economic	benefit	from	it	and	that	it	
can	be	reliably	measured.	It	includes	 

government	grants	in	the	form	of	host	
country	contributions	for	staging	a	
particular	FIFA	event.	Such	
government	grants	related	to	income	
are	deferred	and	recognised	in	profit	
or	loss	over	the	period	necessary	to	
match	them	with	the	expenses	that	
they	are	intended	to	compensate,	in	
line	with	IAS	20.
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G Expenses from football activities

Expenses	from	football	activities	are	
separated	into	Competitions	&	Events,	
Development	&	Education	and	
Football	Governance:

Competitions & Events expenses are 
the	outflow	of	economic	benefits	that	
arise	in	the	ordinary	activity	of	
organising	an	event.	Incurred	costs	
related	to	the	FIFA	World	Cup™	and	
other FIFA events are deferred and 
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	
period	in	which	the	event	takes	place.

Development & Education expenses 
include	all	expenditures	related	to	
FIFA’s	statutory	objectives	to	improve	
the	game	of	football	constantly	and	
promote	it	globally	in	light	of	its	
unifying,	educational,	cultural	and	
humanitarian	values	as	well	as	to	

further	the	development	of	women’s	
football	globally.

An	integral	part	of	FIFA’s	development	
path	is	the	FIFA	Forward	Programme,	
which	provides	360-degree,	tailor-
made	support	for	football	
development	in	each	of	FIFA’s	member	
associations	and	the	six	
confederations.	Following	the	
successful	implementation	of	the	first	
edition	of	FIFA	Forward	1.0,	the	second	
edition,	FIFA	Forward	2.0,	came	into	
force	on	1	January	2019	and	ran	until	
31	December	2022.	The	core	
principles,	approach	and	procedures	
of	FIFA	Forward	1.0	largely	remain	
intact,	whilst	certain	elements	have	
been	adapted	to	reflect	the	increase	in	
the	member	associations’	
entitlements	along	with	the	need	for	

greater	football	development	and	
more	reports	on	the	programme’s	
achievements,	its	legacy	and	impact.	

Football Governance expenses 
comprise	all	expenditure	in	relation	to	
FIFA’s	statutory	objective	to	govern	
association	football	and	related	
matters.	The	costs	mainly	include	the	
judicial	bodies	(Disciplinary,	Ethics	and	
Appeal	Committees),	plus	the	costs	of	
the	Football	Tribunal,	which	includes	
the	Players’	Status	Chamber	and	the	
Dispute	Resolution	Chamber.	It	also	
includes	expenses	with	regard	to	
preventing	match	manipulation	as	
part	of	the	agreement	with	
Sportradar,	players’	status	
proceedings	as	part	of	the	Transfer	
Matching	System	and	expenses	
related	to	the	FIFA	Clearing	House.

H Expenses from administrative activities 
Expenses	from	administrative	
activities	are	separated	into	FIFA	
Governance	&	Administration	and	
Marketing	&	TV	Broadcasting:

FIFA Governance & Administration 
expenses	comprise	all	costs	related	to	
the	governance	of	FIFA	itself	and	are	

recognised	in	profit	or	loss	as	
incurred.	Expenses	from	
administrative	activities	include,	in	
particular,	costs	related	to	information	
technology,	buildings	and	
maintenance,	communications,	the	
annual	FIFA	Congress	and	legal	costs.

Marketing & TV Broadcasting 
expenses are	costs	incurred	by	the	
FIFA	Commercial	Division	for	the	
commercialisation	of	marketing	and	
broadcasting	rights,	mainly	costs	
relating	to	oversight	of	and	assistance	
to	Commercial	Affiliates.

I Other expenses 
In	order	to	alleviate	the	impact	of	
COVID-19	on	the	football	world,	FIFA	
set	up	a	COVID-19	Relief	Plan,	which	
was	approved	by	the	FIFA	Council	on	
25	June	2020.	The	relief	plan	consists	
of	three	stages,	with	stages	1	and	2	
being	linked	to	the	existing	Forward	
Programme,	and	stage	3	providing	

further	financial	support	via	a	system	
of	grants	and	loans	enabling	member	
associations	and	confederations	to	
tailor	their	use	of	the	funds,	thus	
helping	to	safeguard	football	from	the	
adverse	economic	effects	of	COVID-19.
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J Leases

FIFA is a lessee and holds leases for 
various	buildings	as	well	as	offices,	
other	equipment	and	land,	all	of	which	
are	recognised	as	right-of-use	assets	
and	lease	liabilities.

Right-of-use assets
FIFA	recognises	right-of-use	assets	at	
the	commencement	date	of	the	lease	
(i.e.	the	date	on	which	the	underlying	
asset	is	available	for	use).	Right-of-use	
assets	are	measured	at	cost,	less	any	
accumulated	depreciation	and	
impairment	losses,	and	adjusted	for	
any	remeasurement	of	lease	liabilities.	
The	cost	of	right-of-use	assets	
includes	the	amount	of	lease	liabilities	
recognised,	initial	direct	costs	
incurred,	and	lease	payments	made	at	
or	before	the	commencement	date	
less	any	lease	incentives	received.

Unless	FIFA	is	reasonably	certain	of	
obtaining	ownership	of	the	leased	
asset	at	the	end	of	the	lease	term,	the	
recognised	right-of-use	assets	are	
depreciated	on	a	straight-line	basis	
over	the	shorter	of	its	estimated	
useful	life	and	the	lease	term.	Right-
of-use	assets	are	subject	to	
impairment.	FIFA	presents	right-of-use	
assets	in	property	and	equipment	in	
the	consolidated	balance	sheet.

Lease liabilities
At	the	commencement	date	of	the	
lease,	FIFA	recognises	lease	liabilities	
measured	at	the	present	value	of	
lease	payments	to	be	made	over	the	
lease	term.	In	calculating	the	present	
value	of	lease	payments,	the	group	
uses	the	incremental	borrowing	rate	
at	the	lease	commencement	date	if	
the	interest	rate	implicit	in	the	lease	is	

not	readily	determinable.	After	the	
commencement	date,	the	amount	of	
lease	liabilities	is	increased	to	reflect	
the	accretion	of	interest	and	reduced	
for	the	lease	payments	made.

Short-term leases and leases of 
low-value assets
FIFA	applies	the	short-term	lease	
recognition	exemption	to	all	classes	of	
underlying	assets	(i.e.	those	leases	
that	have	a	lease	term	of	12	months	or	
less	from	the	commencement	date	
and	do	not	contain	a	purchase	option).	
It	also	applies	the	lease	of	low-value	
assets	recognition	exemption	to	
leases	that	are	considered	of	low	
value.	Lease	payments	on	short-term	
leases	and	leases	of	low-value	assets	
are	recognised	as	expenses	on	a	
straight-line	basis	over	the	lease	term.

K Financial income and financial costs 

Financial	income	comprises	interest	
income	from	cash	and	cash	
equivalents,	income	from	deposits	
and	debt	securities,	foreign	exchange	
gains,	gains	from	financial	assets	at	
fair	value	through	profit	or	loss	and	
from	debt	securities	at	fair	value	
through	other	comprehensive	income	

(FVOCI)	as	well	as	gains	on	the	sale	of	
debt	securities	at	amortised	cost.

Financial	costs	consist	of	interest	
expenses	on	financial	liabilities,	
expenses	from	debt	securities,	foreign	
exchange	losses,	losses	from	financial	
assets	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	

loss	and	from	debt	securities	at	FVOCI	
as	well	as	other	financial	expenses.	
Interest	income	is	recognised	in	profit	
or	loss	using	the	effective	interest	rate	
method.	Dividend	income	is	
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	on	the	date	
that	the	dividend	is	declared.

L Taxes and duties 

FIFA	was	established	in	the	legal	 
form	of	an	association	in	accordance	
with	articles	60ff.	of	the	Swiss	Civil	
Code.

FIFA’s	vision,	as	stated	in	the	FIFA	
Statutes,	is	to	promote	the	game	of	
football,	protect	its	integrity	and	bring	
the	game	to	all.

FIFA	is	a	non-profit	organisation	and	is	
obliged	to	spend	its	reserves	for	the	
above-mentioned	purpose.

FIFA	is	taxed	in	Switzerland	according	
to	the	ordinary	taxation	rules	applying	
to	associations.	The	non-profit	
character	of	FIFA	and	the	four-year	
accounting	cycle	are	thereby	taken	
into	account.

The	subsidiaries	are	taxed	according	
to	the	relevant	tax	legislation.	This	
position	includes	all	non-recoverable	
taxes	and	duties	borne	by	FIFA	and	its	
subsidiaries.
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M Cash and cash equivalents 

Cash	and	cash	equivalents	comprise	
cash	on	hand,	post	and	bank	accounts,	

as	well	as	call	accounts	and	short-term	
deposits	with	an	original	maturity	of	

three	months	or	less.

N Derivatives and hedge accounting 

FIFA	uses	derivative	financial	
instruments	to	hedge	its	exposure	to	
foreign	exchange	rate	risks	arising	
from	operating	and	investing	activities.	

Derivative	financial	instruments	are	
initially	recognised	at	fair	value	on	the	
date	on	which	a	derivative	contract	is	
entered	into	and	are	subsequently	
remeasured	at	fair	value.	Derivatives	
are	carried	as	financial	assets	when	
the	fair	value	is	positive	and	as	
financial	liabilities	when	the	fair	value	
is	negative.

For	the	purposes	of	hedge	accounting,	
FIFA	designates	some	of	these	hedges	
as	cash	flow	hedges.	At	the	inception	
of	a	hedge	relationship,	the	group	
formally	designates	and	documents	
the	hedge	relationship	to	which	it	
wishes	to	apply	hedge	accounting	and	
the	risk	management	objective	and	
strategy	for	undertaking	the	hedge.

The	documentation	includes	
identification	of	the	hedging	
instrument,	the	hedged	item,	the	
nature	of	the	risk	being	hedged	and	

how	the	group	will	assess	whether	the	
hedging	relationship	meets	the	hedge	
effectiveness	requirements.	A	hedging	
relationship	qualifies for hedge 
accounting	if	it	meets	all	the following 
effectiveness	requirements:

• There	is	an	economic	relationship	
between	the	hedged	item	and	the	
hedging	instrument.

• The	effect	of	credit	risk	does	not	
dominate	the	value	changes	that	
result	from	that	economic	
relationship.

• The hedge ratio of the hedging 
relationship	is	the	same	as	that	
resulting	from	the	quantity	of	the	
hedged	item	that	the	group	actually	
hedges	and	the	quantity	of	the	
hedging	instrument	that	the	group	
actually	uses	to	hedge	that	quantity	
of	hedged	item.

Hedges	that	meet	all	the	qualifying	
criteria	for	hedge	accounting	are	
accounted	for	as	cash	flow	hedges.	
The	effective	portion	of	the	gain	or	
loss	on	the	hedging	instrument	is	

recognised	in	other	comprehensive	
income	(OCI)	in	the	cash	flow	hedge	
reserve,	while	any	ineffective	portion	
is	recognised	immediately	in	the	
statement	of	profit	or	loss.	The	cash	
flow	hedge	reserve	is	adjusted	to	the	
lower	of	the	cumulative	gain	or	loss	on	
the	hedging	instrument	and	the	
cumulative	change	in	fair	value	of	the	
hedged	item.	For	these	cash	flow	
hedges,	the	amount	accumulated	in	
OCI	is	reclassified	to	profit	or	loss	as	a	
reclassification	adjustment	in	the	
same	period	during	which	the	hedged	
cash	flows	affect	profit	or	loss.	If	cash	
flow	hedge	accounting	is	discontinued,	
the	amount	that	has	been	
accumulated	in	OCI	must	remain	in	
accumulated	OCI	if	the	hedged	future	
cash	flows	are	still	expected	to	occur.	
Otherwise,	the	amount	will	be	
immediately	reclassified	to	profit	or	
loss	as	a	reclassification	adjustment.

The	fair	value	of	forward	exchange	
contracts	is	their	market	price	at	the	
balance	sheet	date,	being	the	present	
value	of	the	quoted	forward	price.

O Inventories

Inventories	are	stated	at	cost	or	net	
realisable	value,	whichever	is	the	
lower.	The	net	realisable	value	is	the	 

estimated	selling	price	less	costs	
incurred	in	connection	with	
completion	and	sale	of	the	asset.
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P Property and equipment 
Property	and	equipment	are	stated	at	
acquisition	cost	or	at	cost	for	right-of-
use	assets	(as	defined	in	Note	J	–	
Leases),	less	accumulated	
depreciation	and	impairment	losses.

Where	parts	of	an	item	of	property	
and	equipment	have	different	useful	
lives,	they	are	accounted	for	as	
separate	items	of	property	and	
equipment.	Repairs	and	maintenance	

costs	are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	
as	an	expense	as	they	are	incurred.

Depreciation	is	charged	to	profit	or	
loss	on	a	straight-line	basis	over	the	
estimated	useful	lives	of	property	and	
equipment.	Depreciation	is	allocated	
to	FIFA’s	key	activity	expenses.	Land	is	
not	depreciated.	The	right-of-use	
assets	are	depreciated	on	a	straight-
line	basis	over	the	shorter	of	their	

estimated	useful	life	and	the	lease	
term.	The	estimated	useful	lives	are	
20-50	years	for	operational	buildings	
and	three	to	20	years	for	office	and	
other	equipment.

For	the	accounting	treatment	of	
right-of-use	assets,	please	also	refer	
to	Note	J	–	Leases.

Q Intangible assets 

Intangible	assets	acquired	and	
internally	developed	are	measured	at	
cost	on	initial	recognition.	Following	

initial	recognition,	they	are	carried	at	
cost	less	any	accumulated	
depreciation	and	impairment	losses.	

The	estimated	useful	life	of	intangible	
assets	is	three	to	five	years.	

R Non-derivative financial assets 
FIFA	classifies	its	non-derivative	
financial	assets	into	the	following	
categories:	financial	assets	measured	
at	amortised	cost,	financial	assets	
measured	at	fair	value	through	profit	
or	loss	and	financial	assets	measured	
at	FVOCI.

Financial	assets	measured	at	
amortised	cost	are:
• loans	and	receivables	created	by	
FIFA	as	a	result	of	pursuing	its	
business	activity;	and

• FIFA’s	investment	in	debt	securities	
and	deposits. 

Regarding	these	financial	assets,	FIFA’s	
business	model	is	to	hold	and	collect	
contractual	cash	flows	for	them.	The	
cash	flows	are	comprised	solely	of	
principal	and	interest	payments.	
These	financial	assets	are	initially	
recognised	at	fair	value	plus	any	
directly	attributable	transaction	costs.	
Subsequently,	they	are	measured	at	
amortised	cost	using	the	effective	

interest	method	less	impairment	
losses.

Financial	assets	at	fair	value	through	
profit	or	loss	are	certain	debt	
securities	and	global	equities	held	for	
trading,	essentially	in	the	event	of	a	
need	for	liquidity	or	positive	market	
changes.	Such	financial	assets	are	
measured	at	fair	value	with	changes	
thereto	recognised	in	profit	or	loss.

Financial	assets	at	FVOCI	represent	
investments	in	debt	securities	where	
the	contractual	cash	flows	are	solely	
principal	and	interest	and	the	
objective	of	FIFA’s	business	model	is	
achieved	both	by	collecting	
contractual	cash	flows	and	selling	
financial	assets.	For	debt	securities	at	
FVOCI,	interest	income,	foreign	
exchange	revaluation,	and	impairment	
losses	or	reversals	are	recognised	in	
profit	or	loss	and	determined	in	the	
same	manner	as	for	financial	assets	
measured	at	amortised	cost.	The	

remaining	fair	value	changes	are	
recognised	in	OCI.	

Financial	assets	and	liabilities	are	
offset	and	the	net	amount	is	
presented	in	the	balance	sheet	when	
FIFA	has	a	legally	enforceable	right	to	
offset	the	recognised	amount	and	the	
transactions	are	intended	either	to	be	
settled	on	a	net	basis	or	to	realise	the	
asset	and	settle	the	liability	
simultaneously.

Regular-way	purchases	and	sales	of	
financial	assets	are	recognised	on	
settlement	date,	being	the	date	that	
an	asset	is	delivered	to	or	by	FIFA.
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S Non-derivative financial liabilities 

Non-derivative	financial	liabilities	such	
as	payables	are	measured	at	

amortised	cost,	which	equals	nominal	
value	for	short-term	payables.

T Impairment 
The	carrying	amounts	of	FIFA’s	
property	and	equipment,	intangible	
assets	and	financial	assets	measured	
at	amortised	cost	are	reviewed	at	
each	balance	sheet	date	to	determine	
whether	there	is	any	indicator	of	
impairment.	If	any	such	indication	
exists,	the	recoverable	amount	of	the	
non-financial	asset	or	its	cash-
generating	unit,	being	the	greater	of	
its	fair	value	less	costs	of	disposal	
and	its	value	in	use,	is	estimated.	An	
impairment	loss	is	recognised	in	
profit	or	loss	whenever	the	carrying	
amount	of	an	asset	or	its	cash-
generating	unit	exceeds	the	

respective	recoverable	amount. For 
financial	assets	measured	at	
amortised	cost,	an	impairment	
allowance	is	determined	using	a	
forward-looking	expected	credit	loss	
(ECL)	approach	that	is	based	on	the	
difference	between	the	contractual	
cash	flows	due	under	the	contract	and	
all	of	the	cash	flows	that	FIFA	expects	
to	receive.	The	shortfall	is	then	
discounted	at	an	approximation	of	the	
asset’s	original	effective	interest	rate.

For	contract	assets	and	trade	and	
other	receivables,	FIFA	has	applied	a	 
simplified	approach	and	calculated	

ECLs	based	on	lifetime	ECLs.	For	other	
debt	financial	assets	(debt	securities),	
the	ECL	is	based	on	the	12-month	ECL,	
as	it	is	assumed	to	have	a	low	credit	
risk.	However,	when	there	has	been	a	
significant	increase	in	credit	risk	since	
origination,	the	allowance	will	be	
based	on	lifetime	ECLs.

Changes	in	the	impairment	allowance	
are	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	and	
reflected	in	an	allowance	account	
against	the	respective	financial	asset	
measured	at	amortised	cost.

U Employee benefit obligations

The	Swiss	pension	plan	is	accounted	
for	as	a	defined	benefit	plan.	The	
financial	impact	of	this	plan	on	the	
consolidated	financial	statements	is	
determined	in	accordance	with	the	
projected	unit	credit	method	and	
applying	actuarial	assumptions	based	 

on	best	estimates	at	the	balance	sheet	
date.

Actuarial	gains	and	losses	on	the	
post-employment	obligation,	
comprising	the	effects	of	changes	in	
assumptions	and	experience	 

adjustments,	as	well	as	the	difference	
between	the	theoretical	and	the	
actual	income	from	plan	assets,	are	
recognised	in	other	comprehensive	
income.	Costs	relating	to	the	
administration	of	the	pension	plan	are	
recognised	in	the	statement	of	
comprehensive	income.	

V Provisions

A	provision	is	recognised	when	FIFA	
has	a	legal	or	constructive	obligation	
as	a	result	of	a	past	event	and	it	is	
probable	that	an	outflow	of	economic	
benefits	will	be	required	to	settle	the	
obligation.	If	the	effect	is	material,	
provisions	are	determined	by	

discounting	the	expected	future	cash	
flows	at	a	pre-tax	rate	that	reflects	
current	market	assessments	of	the	
time,	value	of	money	and,	where	
appropriate,	the	risks	specific	to	the	
liability.
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W Reserves

Reserves	consist	of	association	capital,	
restricted	reserves,	translation	
reserves,	fair	value	reserves	of	
financial	assets	at	FVOCI	and	cash	flow	
hedge	reserves.	As	FIFA	is	an	
association,	no	dividends	are	paid.
Based	on	article	61	of	the	FIFA	
Statutes,	the	revenue	and	expenditure	 
of	FIFA	are	managed	so	that	they	 

balance	out	over	the	financial	cycle.	
FIFA’s	major	duties	in	the	future	will	be	
guaranteed	through	the	creation	of	
reserves.

Therefore,	the	net	result	for	the	year	is	
allocated	to	the	reserves.	Such	
reserves	are	presented	as	restricted	
reserves	in	the	balance	sheet.

In	the	event	of	the	dissolution	of	FIFA,	
its	funds	shall	not	be	distributed,	but	
transferred	to	the	supreme	court	of	
the	country	in	which	the	headquarters	
are	situated.	The	supreme	court	shall	
invest	them	in	gilt-edged	securities	
until	the	re-establishment	of	the	
federation.

X Significant accounting judgements, estimates and assumptions 

The	preparation	of	financial	
statements	requires	the	management	
to	make	judgements,	estimates	and	
assumptions	that	affect	the	reported	
amounts	of	assets,	liabilities,	income	
and	expenses.	Actual	results	may	
differ	from	these	estimates.	The	
consolidated	financial	statements	of	
FIFA	include	estimates	and	
assumptions	that	could	influence	the	
financial	statements	of	subsequent	
financial	years.

Estimates	and	underlying	assumptions	
are	reviewed	on	an	ongoing	basis.	
Revisions	to	accounting	estimates	are	
recognised	in	the	period	in	which	the	
estimate	is	revised	and	in	any	future	
periods	affected:

Revenue recognition
As	set	out	in	Note	E,	IFRS	15	–	Revenue	
Recognition	from	Contracts	with	
Customers	requires	judgements	and	
estimates.	“Judgements”	relate	to	the	
determination	of	performance	
obligations	in	each	of	the	major	
revenue	streams,	having	the	potential	
to	impact	the	revenue	recognition	
pattern	under	the	contract	as	well	as	
to	the	determination	of	customer	
contracts.		Furthermore,	the	allocation	
of	consideration	to	different	
performance	obligations	requires	
estimation	of	the	stand-alone	selling	
price	of	each	of	these.	Assumptions	

are	required	to	determine	an	
appropriate	measure	of	progress	
when	determining	how	control	over	
promised	services	transfers	to	the	
customer.	All	of	the	above	have	the	
potential	to	result	in	a	different	
revenue	recognition	pattern.

Competitions & Events expenses
Competitions	&	Events	expenses	are	
the	outflow	of	economic	benefits	that	
arise	in	the	ordinary	activity	of	
organising	an	event.	Incurred	costs	 
related	to	the	FIFA	World	CupTM and 
other FIFA events are deferred and 
recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	the	
period	in	which	the	event	takes	place.	
Assumptions	are	required	to	
determine	an	appropriate	measure	of	
allocation	and	quantification	of	
accruals	related	to	the	FIFA	World	Cup	
and	other	FIFA	events	expenses.	All	
assumptions	have	the	potential	to	
result	in	a	different	cost	recognition.

Defined benefit plans  
(pension benefits)
The	cost	of	the	defined	benefit	
pension	plan	and	the	present	value	of	
the	pension	obligation	are	determined	
using	actuarial	valuations.	An	actuarial	
valuation	involves	making	various	
assumptions	that	may	differ	from	
actual	developments	in	the	future.	
These	include	the	determination	of	
the	discount	rate,	future	salary	

increases,	credit	rate,	mortality	rates	
and	future	pension	increases.

Due	to	the	complexities	involved	in	
the	valuation	and	its	long-term	nature,	
a	defined	benefit	obligation	is	highly	
sensitive	to	changes	in	these	
assumptions.	All	assumptions	are	
reviewed	at	each	reporting	date	(see	
also	Note	31	–	Personnel	expenses).

Leases
Leases	require	judgement	in	
determining	the	lease	term	of	
contracts	with	renewal	options.	FIFA	
specifies	the	lease	term	as	the	non-
cancellable	term	of	the	lease,	together	
with	any	periods	covered	by	an	option	
to	extend	the	lease	if	it	is	reasonably	
certain	to	be	exercised,	or	any	periods	
covered	by	an	option	to	terminate	the	
lease,	if	it	is	reasonably	certain	not	to	
be	exercised.	FIFA	has	options	to	
extend	the	lease	term	under	some	of	
its	real	estate	leases.	It	applies	
judgement	in	evaluating	whether	it	is	
reasonably	certain	to	exercise	the	
option	to	renew,	i.e.	it	considers	all	
relevant	factors	that	create	an	
economic	incentive	for	it	to	exercise	
the	renewal.	After	the	commencement	
date,	FIFA	reassesses	the	lease	term	if	
there	is	a	significant	event	or	change	
in	circumstances	that	is	within	its	
control	and	affects	its	ability	to	
exercise	(or	not	to	exercise)	the	option	
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to	renew.	Furthermore,	when	there	is	
no	implicit	rate	in	the	lease,	FIFA	
determines	the	incremental	borrowing	
rate	(IBR)	to	measure	lease	liabilities.	
The IBR is the rate of interest that FIFA 
would	have	to	pay	to	borrow	over	a	
similar	term,	and	with	a	similar	
security,	the	funds	necessary	to	obtain	
an	asset	of	a	similar	value	to	the	
right-of-use	asset	in	a	similar	
economic	environment.	FIFA	estimates	
the	IBR	using	observable	inputs	(such	
as	market	interest	rates,	depending	on	
the	duration	and	underlying	currency	

of	the	contract)	when	available	and	is	
required	to	make	certain	entity-
specific	estimates	(such	as	FIFA’s	credit	
rating).

Legal matters
FIFA	is	currently	involved	in	a	number	
of	legal	disputes	arising	from	its	
operating	activities.	In	some	legal	
disputes,	FIFA	is	the	defendant	and	
thus	these	proceedings	may	–	
depending	on	the	respective	outcome	
–	result	in	payment	or	other	
obligations.	Provisions	are	recorded	

where	a	reliable	estimate	can	be	made	
of	the	probable	legal	outcome.	For	
provisions	for	legal	matters,	reference	
is	made	to	Note	26.

For	contingent	liabilities,	reference	is	
made	to	Note	32.
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Notes to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

1 Revenue from television broadcasting rights

in TUSD 2022 2021

Europe 1,030,880 2,179

Asia	and	North	Africa 875,120 46,888

South	and	Central	America 351,526 24,294

North	America	and	the	Caribbean 518,965 38,986

Rest of the world 103,111 1,810

Total revenue from television broadcasting rights by region 2,879,602 114,157

Other	broadcasting	revenue 75,416 2,246

Other	FIFA	event	revenue 3,334 6,716

Total revenue from television broadcasting rights 2,958,352 123,119

Television	broadcasting	rights	are	
granted	primarily	to	TV	stations	and	
other	broadcasting	institutions.	These	
rights	are	granted	to	broadcast	the	
television	signal	for	a	defined	period	in	
a	particular	territory.	Revenue from 
television broadcasting rights by 
region is	recognised	when	the	actual	
broadcasting	of	the	event	in	question	
takes	place	and	is	contingent	on	the	
number	of	broadcasting	hours.	As	a	
consequence,	a	comparison	against	
previous	years	is	not	meaningful.	
Revenue	should	be	analysed	
considering	the	full	four-year	cycle	of	
FIFA.

Other broadcasting revenue reflects	
additional	revenue	for	services	during	
the	events	in	order	to	fulfil	FIFA’s	
broadcasting	obligations.	

Revenue	from	broadcasting	rights	
contracts,	which	include	the	right	to	
broadcast	other	FIFA	events,	but	
excluding	the	FIFA	World	Cup™,	is	
presented as Other FIFA event 
revenue.	Such	other	FIFA	events	
staged	in	2022	were	the	FIFA	Club	
World	Cup	UAE	2021™,	The	Best	FIFA	
Football	Awards™	2021,	both	of	which	
were	postponed	from	2021	to	2022	as	 

a	consequence	of	the	COVID-19	
pandemic,	as	well	as	the	FIFA	U-17	
Women’s	World	Cup	India	2022™,	the	
FIFA	U-20	Women’s	World	Cup	Costa	
Rica	2022™,	the	Blue	Stars/FIFA	Youth	
Cup	2022™,	the	FIFA	World	Cup	2022™	
intercontinental	play-off	matches	and	
FIFAe	tournaments.

In	2022,	the	value	of	services	or	goods	
received	for	television	broadcasting	
rights	(i.e.	value-in-kind	revenue)	
amounted	to	USD	3	million	(2021:	USD	
0.2	million).

2 Revenue from marketing rights

in TUSD 2022 2021

FIFA Partners 762,568 93,172

FIFA	World	Cup	Sponsors/FIFA	Women's	World	Cup	Sponsors 534,527 30,078

FIFA	Regional	Supporters 122,028 5,326

FIFA	National	Supporters 2,793 1,059

World	Cup	Partners/Women's	Football	Partners 2,608 1,752

Total revenue from marketing rights 1,424,524 131,387

Marketing	rights	provide	the	FIFA 
Partners, FIFA World Cup Sponsors/ 
FIFA Women’s World Cup Sponsors,    
FIFA Regional Supporters and World 

Cup Partners/Women’s Football 
Partners	with	access	to	intellectual	
property	by	enabling	them	to	enter	
into	a	long-term	strategic	alliance	with	

FIFA,	which	also	includes	a	set	of	
predefined	rights.	These	rights	are	
further	split	into	tangible	and	
intangible	rights.	Revenue	for	tangible	
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marketing	rights	is	recognised	when	
the	event	in	question	is	broadcast	and	
is	entirely	dependent	on	the	number	
of	broadcasting	hours.	As	such,	due	to	
the	different	nature	and	therefore	
different	number	of	broadcasting	
hours	of	FIFA	competitions	from	one	
year	to	another,	a	comparison	against	
the	previous	year	is	not	meaningful.	

Revenue	should	be	analysed	
considering	the	full	four-year	cycle	of	
FIFA.

FIFA National Supporters	only	have	
the	contractual	right	for	one	single	
other	FIFA	event.	As	a	consequence,	

revenue	for	these	contracts	is	 
recognised	in	the	period	in	which	the	
event	takes	place.	

In	2022,	the	value	of	services	or	goods	
included	in	the	above-mentioned	
marketing	rights	(i.e.	value-in-kind	
revenue)	amounted	to	USD	110.7	
million	(2021:	USD	11.4	million).

3 Revenue from licensing rights

in TUSD 2022 2021

Brand	licensing	rights	 	268,139	 178,573

Other	licensing	rights 	2,258	 1,629

Total revenue from licensing rights 270,397 180,202

Brand licensing rights are related to 
FIFA	marks	and	brand	elements	in	
connection	with	FIFA	World	Cup™	
products	and	other	services.

Licensing	rights	from	products	and	
services	for	other	FIFA	events	in	2022	
–	the	FIFA	Club	World	Cup	UAE	2021™,	
The	Best	FIFA	Football	Awards™	2021,	
the	FIFA	U-17	Women’s	World	Cup	
India	2022™,	the	FIFA	U-20	Women’s	
World	Cup	Costa	Rica	2022™,	the	Blue	

Stars/FIFA	Youth	Cup	2022™,	the	FIFA	
World	Cup	2022™	intercontinental	
play-off	matches	and	FIFAe	
tournaments	–	are	presented	as	
Other licensing rights.

The	majority	of	the	licensing	rights	
contracts	consist	of	royalty	payments	
with	a	specified	minimum	guarantee	
threshold.	FIFA	reassesses	these	
contracts	after	each	reporting	period,	
whether	or	not	the	royalty	amounts	to	

be	received	will	exceed	the	contractual	
minimum	guarantee	threshold.	Where	
the	expected	total	royalties	to	be	
received	for	significant	contracts	
clearly	exceed	the	minimum	
threshold,	they	have	been	estimated	
and	included	in	the	transaction	price.

In	2022,	the	value	of	services	or	goods	
included	in	licensing	rights	(i.e.	
value-in-kind	revenue)	amounted	to	
USD	2.8	million	(2021:	USD	1.3	million).

4 Revenue from hospitality rights and ticket sales

in TUSD 2022 2021

Revenue	from	hospitality	rights	–	FIFA	World	Cup™ 242,900 0

Revenue	from	ticket	sales	–	FIFA	World	Cup™ 685,881 0

Revenue	from	ticket	sales	–	other	FIFA	events 235 12,172

Total revenue from hospitality rights and ticket sales 929,016 12,172

Revenues	from hospitality	rights	in	
relation	to	the	FIFA	World	Cup	Qatar	
2022™	amounted	to	USD	242.9	million.		

Revenue from ticket sales – FIFA 
World Cup™ relates	to	ticket	sales	in	
connection	with	revenue	generated	by	
the	FIFA	World	Cup	Qatar	2022	of	USD	
685.9	million.	

Revenue from ticket sales – other 
FIFA events	for	2021	consisted	of	
ticket	sales	for	the	FIFA	Arab	Cup	
2021™.

Ticket	sales	are	recognised	in	the	year	
the	event	takes	place.
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5 Other revenue

in TUSD 2022 2021

FIFA	Club	World	Cup™ 	26,080	 26,567

FIFA	Quality	Programme 	11,133	 17,386

Revenue	from	the	sale	of	film	and	video	rights 	10,176	 3,971

Penalties/appeals 	5,241	 3,029

FIFA	Museum	 	5,163	 2,539

Olympic	Football	Tournaments 	0 25,950

Revenue	from	prior	cycles	and	other 	4,279	 6,179

Total other revenue 62,072 85,621

Other	revenue	is	recognised	in	the	
accounting	period	in	which	the	
services	are	rendered.	In	2022,	it	
mainly	comprised	revenues	generated	
from	the	FIFA Club World Cup™, the 
sale of film and video rights and the 

FIFA Quality Programme.	The	latter	
contains	revenue	in	connection	with	
test	programmes	for	footballs,	
football	turf	and	goal-line	technology.	

Revenue from prior cycles and 
other	concerns	various	smaller	
sources	of	revenue,	such	as	revenue	
generated	from	players’	status-related	
proceedings	and	revenue	from	prior	
cycles.

6 Other income

in TUSD 2022 2021

Other	operating	income 	124,852	 233,987

Total other income 124,852 233,987

Other operating income for	2022	
includes	host	country	contributions	
for	the	event	operational	costs	of	
hosting and staging the FIFA World 
Cup	Qatar	2022™	of	USD	122.6	million	
as	well	as	other	sources	of	income,	
such	as	rental	income.

In	2021,	operating	income	consisted	of	
host	country	contributions	in	relation	
to	the	FIFA	Arab	Cup	2021™,	remission	
proceeds	awarded	to	FIFA	by	the	
United	States	Department	of	Justice	as	
well	as	other	income	such	as	rent	 

income,	termination	fees	relating	to	
contract	cancellations	and	a	gain	on	
sale	of	property	and	equipment.
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7 Competitions & Events

in TUSD 2022 2021

FIFA World Cup™ 1,831,193 0

FIFA	U-20	Women‘s	World	Cup	Costa	Rica	2022™ 16,311 0

FIFA	U-17	Women‘s	World	Cup	India	2022™ 15,563 0

FIFAe	tournaments	2022 12,011 0

FIFA	World	Cup™	intercontinental	play-off	matches 2,177 0

Blue	Stars/FIFA	Youth	Cup	2022™ 881 0

FIFA	Club	World	Cup	Qatar	2021™ 23,429 0

The	Best	FIFA	Football	Awards™	2021 2,169 0

FIFA	Beach	Soccer	World	Cup	Russia	2021™ 11 5,868

Olympic	Football	Tournaments	Tokyo	2020 4 12,427

FIFAe	tournaments	2021 0 9,998

FIFA	Futsal	World	Cup	Lithuania	2021™ –30 15,672

FIFA	Arab	Cup	2021™ –57 86,303

FIFA	Club	World	Cup	Qatar	2020™ 11 21,759

The	Best	FIFA	Football	Awards™	2020 7 408

FIFA	eFootball	tournaments	2020 0 –2,121

FIFA	eWorld	Cup	2019™ 0 13

FIFA	U-20	World	Cup	Poland	2019 0 –2

The	Best	FIFA	Football	Awards™	2019 0 –3

FIFA	Women‘s	World	Cup	France	2019™ 0 –102

FIFA	events	from	previous	cycles –119,475 –896

Value-in-kind	and	other 130,223 8,964

Total other FIFA events 83,235 158,288

FIFA Club Protection Programme 22,249 22,724

Personnel expenses 61,137 47,885

Depreciation of property and equipment 7,544 5,483

Total Competitions & Events 2,005,358 234,380

FIFA World Cup™
The	FIFA	World	Cup	Qatar	2022TM was 
an	extraordinary	success	with	
memorable	experiences	and	
unforgettable	footballing	moments.	

Because	the	tournament	took	place	in	
2022,	all	related	expenses	–	costs	
incurred	in	previous	years	and	up	to	
the	end	of	2022	–	are	fully	recognised	
in	profit	or	loss	of	the	2022	reporting	
year.	These	expenses	are	the	outflow	
of	economic	benefits	that	arise	in	the	
ordinary	activity	of	organising	the	
event.

The	costs	attributable	to	the	FIFA	
World	Cup	Qatar	2022	over	the	cycle	
are	USD	39.3	million	in	2019,	USD	
75.7 million	in	2020,	USD	140.8	million	
in	2021	and	USD	1,575.4	million	in	
2022.	The	main	cost	categories	were	
prize	money	amounting	to	USD	
440 million,	TV	operations	at	USD	
247.8 million,	workforce	at	USD	
217.3 million,	the	Club	Benefits	
Programme	at	USD	209	million	and	
further	preparatory,	organisational	
and	administrative	costs	of	USD	
717.1 million.		

Other FIFA events
Other	FIFA	events	for	2022	include	the	

FIFA	U-20	Women’s	World	Cup	2022™,	
the	FIFA	U-17	Women’s	World	Cup	
2022™,	the	FIFA	World	Cup	Qatar	2022	
intercontinental	play-off	matches,		
FIFA’s	eFootball	tournaments	and	the	
Blue	Stars/	FIFA	Youth	Cup™.

The expenses for other FIFA events 
are	recognised	in	the	year	in	which	the	
event	takes	place,	and	include	the	
event	organising	costs,	such	as	
promotion,	production,	prize	money,	
accommodation	and	operations.

The	FIFA	Club	World	Cup	2022™	and	
The	Best	FIFA	Football	Awards™	2022	
were	postponed	until	early	2023.	
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Expenses	incurred	up	to	the	end	of	
2022	for	those	FIFA	events	that	were	
postponed	have	been	deferred	and	
will	be	recognised	in	profit	or	loss	in	
the	year	in	which	the	event	takes	
place.

In	2022,	FIFA	events	from	previous	
cycles	benefited	from	the	release	of	
provisions	of	USD	120	million	in	
connection	with	legal	cases	related	to	
the	2018	FIFA	World	Cup	Russia™	and	
the	2014	FIFA	World	Cup	Brazil™.	The	
release of the legal provision was 
either	the	result	of	court	decisions	or	
of	an	expired	limitation	period.	These	
circumstances	led	to	a	re-evaluation	
of	the	need	for	a	provision	(Note	26).

“Value-in-kind	and	other”	relates	to	
expenses for overall operations as 
well	as	for	value-in-kind	costs,	which	
include	predetermined	services	and	
the	delivery	of	goods	to	be	used	in	
connection	with	other	FIFA	events.

FIFA Club Protection Programme
Under	the	FIFA	Club	Protection	
Programme,	clubs	are	compensated	
for	any	injuries	due	to	an	accident	
sustained	by	their	players	while	on	
duty	with	senior	men’s	representative	
“A”	teams	for	matches	on	dates	listed	
in	the	International	Match	Calendar.	
FIFA	provides	compensation	up	to	a	
maximum	amount	for	losses	incurred	
by	the	football	club	during	the	period	

that	the	football	player	is	temporarily	
totally	disabled.	Costs	for	the	FIFA	
Club	Protection	Programme	are	costs	
for	FIFA	and	are	recognised	in	the	year	
they	are	incurred.	A	total	of	241	
incidents	were	reported	by	clubs	
under	the	programme	in	respect	of	
accidents	occurring	over	the	2019-
2022	cycle.	In	2022,	71	incidents	were	
counted	and	the	expenditure	in	the	
FIFA	Club	Protection	Programme	line	
item	was	USD	22.2	million	(2021:	 
USD	22.7	million).

8 Development & Education

in TUSD 2022 2021

FIFA	Forward	project	costs	member	associations 258,365 46,840

FIFA	Forward	operational	costs	member	associations 211,000 211,000

FIFA	Forward	confederations 72,000 72,000

FIFA	Forward	travel	and	equipment 22,000 31,600

FIFA	Forward	zonal/regional	associations 13,000 13,000

FIFA	Forward	other	football	associations 1,800 1,200

Football	Development	Fund 27,000 0

FIFA	Talent	Development	Scheme 209,550 0

Digital	development	services 52,583 0

Other	projects 43,748 16,160

Technical	development	programmes 19,790 12,132

Refereeing 9,387 4,159

Women’s	football	promotion 8,410 3,283

Sustainability,	human	rights	and	safeguarding 7,605 1,153

FIFA	Foundation 5,562 4,788

Education 4,695 4,844

Audit	and	financial	education 3,292 2,936

Medicine	and	science	 1,909 1,220

World	Football	Remission	Fund 0 60,429

Total Development & Education programmes 971,696 486,744

FIFA Museum 6,177 4,666

Personnel expenses 43,584 41,090

Depreciation of property and equipment 16,656 22,263

Total Development & Education 1,038,113 554,763
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In	2022,	expenditure	relating	to	FIFA	
Forward	for	member	associations,	
zonal/regional	associations	and	
confederations,	travel	and	equipment	
and	other	football	associations	as	well	
as	for	the	FIFA	Football	Development	
Fund	totalled	USD	605.2	million.	This	
amount	also	includes	the	remaining	
available	funds	from	the	FIFA	Forward	
Programme	for	the	2019-2022	cycle	
(Forward	2.0),	which	were	fully	
recognised	at	the	end	of	the	cycle.	
Total	expenditure	for	the	2019-2022	
cycle	amounted	to	USD	1,746	million	
and	the	total	investment	since	the	
launch	of	the	Forward	programme	in	
2016	amounted	to	USD	2,824.6	million.	

Further	details	on	the	funds	released	
under	the	Forward	Programme	are	
contained	in	Note	24	–	Accrued	
expenses	and	deferred	income	and	in	
the	Annexe	to	this	report.

FIFA Forward project costs member 
associations
Under	Forward	2.0,	each	of	the	211	
member	associations	was	entitled	to	
receive	up	to	USD	2	million	for	
projects	in	the	2019-2022	cycle.	During	
this	period,	FIFA	supported	its	
member	associations	with	
development	projects	in	the	areas	of	
football	infrastructure,	capacity	
building,	competitions,	national	teams	
and	subsidies,	as	well	as	other	
projects	such	as	contributions	for	
training	and	maintenance	equipment,	
IT	and	new	media,	and	merchandising	
and	marketing	activities.	

The	total	costs	for	this	category	of	
USD	258.4	million	in	2022	(2021:	USD	
46.8	million)	include	the	recognition	of	
the	remaining	available	funds	under	
Forward	2.0,	which	will	be	transferred	
to	the	FIFA	Football	Development	
Fund	if	they	are	not	approved	for	use	
by	31	December	2024. 

FIFA Forward operational costs 
member associations 
Each	member	association	is	entitled	to	
up	to	USD	1	million	per	year	for	
operating	costs	under	Forward	2.0.	
The	purpose	of	this	operational	

funding	is,	on	the	one	hand,	to	finance	
ongoing	activities,	administration	and	
general	operating	costs,	and	on	the	
other	hand,	to	involve	member	
associations	in	the	active	design	and	
implementation	of	national	men’s,	
women’s	and	youth	competitions.

FIFA Forward confederations
The	six	confederations	recognised	by	
FIFA	are	each	entitled	to	USD	12	million	
per	year,	representing	a	total	annual	
investment	of	USD	72	million.	These	
funds	support	the	confederations	in	
their	efforts	to	promote	the	interests	
of	football	and	contribute	to	the	
development	of	football	worldwide.

FIFA Forward travel and equipment
Under	the	Forward	2.0	regulations,	
member	associations	could	receive	up	
to	USD	0.2	million	per	year	for	travel	
and	accommodation	and	up	to	 
USD	0.2	million	for	equipment	in	the	
2019-2022	cycle.	These	funds	are	
earmarked	for	member	associations	
that	are	most	in	need	of	support	and	
whose	annual	revenue	does	not	
exceed	USD	4	million,	so	that	they	can	
organise	travel	for	the	national	team	
and	purchase	football	equipment	that	
they	could	not	otherwise	afford.	In	
2022,	110	member	associations	met	
the	eligibility	criteria	for	funding,	
resulting	in	a	total	expenditure	of	 
USD	22	million	(2021:	USD	31.6	million).		

FIFA Forward zonal/regional 
associations
The	13	zonal/regional	associations	
(recognised	by	the	respective	
confederation)	are	entitled	to	up	to	
USD	1	million	per	year	to	cover	the	
costs	of	organising	regional	youth	
competitions	for	girls	and	boys.

FIFA Forward other football 
associations
Other	football	associations	benefiting	
from	the	FIFA	Forward	Programme	are	
overseas territories that are not FIFA 
member	associations	but	are	
members	of	a		confederation	
recognised	by	FIFA.	Under	this	
initiative,	USD	1.8	million	was	spent	in	
2022	(2021:	USD	1.2	million).	

Football Development Fund
The	establishment	of	a	specific	
Football	Development	Fund	will	
ensure	that	the	total	amount	of	funds	
earmarked	by	FIFA	under	the	Forward	
Programme	for	football	development	
remains	available.	In	2022,	the	
available	Forward	funds	in	the	“Other	
football	associations”	and	“Travel	and	
equipment”	categories	that	had	not	
been	approved	were	transferred	to	
the	Football	Development	Fund	to	
support	the	beneficiaries	of	Forward	
3.0	in	the	amount	of	USD	27	million.

FIFA Talent Development Scheme
Following	an	extensive	analysis,	the	
Talent	Development	Scheme	(TDS)	
was	launched	under	the	leadership	of	
Arsène Wenger as part of the High 
Performance	Programme	in	2022.	This	
includes	a	kick-off	fund	of	USD	9.6	
million	as	well	as	an	implementation	
funding	allocation	of	USD	200	million		
to	help	member	associations	reach	
their	full	potential	and	deliver	tailor-
made	long-term	talent	development	
programmes.	The	funds	must	be	
invested	in	programmes	for	talent	
identification,	academies,	national	
youth	teams,	elite	coaching	or	games.	
Expenditure	for	the	kick-off	and	
implementation	funds	are	shown	
under	this	line	item,	while	operational	
costs	in	connection	with	the	TDS	are	
included	under	“Technical	
development	programmes”.

Digital development services
In	2022,	FIFA+	was	launched,	the	new,	
digital	destination	for	football	fans.	
The	direct-to-consumer	platform,	
available	as	an	app	or	on	the	web,	
houses	an	archive	of	all	men’s	and	
women’s	FIFA	World	Cup™	matches,	
thousands	of	live	fixtures	every	year,	
interactive	games	and	predictors,	as	
well	as	original	documentaries,	
docuseries,	talk	shows,	and	shorts.	

FIFA+	aims	to	make	football	accessible	
to	everyone,	providing	a	platform	
allowing	all	211	member	associations	
to	produce	and	make	their	content,	
leagues	and	matches	available	to	an	
international	audience	in	a	way	that	
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they	would	not	be	able	to	do	
otherwise.

The	line	item	“Digital	development	
services”	includes	the	costs	for	FIFA+,	
content	creation	and	the	update	of	
related	platforms	and	features	and	
amounts	to	USD	36	million.	The	
remaining	expenses	relate	to	
customer	experience	management	
totalling	USD	13.7	million	and	the	
general	development	of	digital	
products	amounting	to	USD	2.9	million	
in	2022.

Other projects
Expenditure	on	other	projects	covers	
the	day-to-day	operational	and	
support	activities	of	the	Member	
Associations	Division,	which	continues	
to	work	with	FIFA’s	members	to	
integrate	good-governance	practices	
based	on	ethics,	risk	management,	
compliance	and	administration.	
Collaborating	with	its	network	of	
regional	offices	has	widened	the	
organisation’s	reach	of	its	engagement	
around	the	globe	and	strengthened	its	
support	of	member	associations.	
Technical	solutions	are	also	offered	to	
promote	good-governance	practices,	
including	dedicated	tools	and	
platforms	such	as	the	FIFA	Connect	
programme,	which	provides	members	
with	the	transparency	and	control	
they	need	over	their	football	
landscape	where	information	is	
concerned.	In	addition,	FIFA’s	Football	
Executive	Programme,	run	in	
cooperation	with	the	International	
Centre	for	Sports	Studies	(CIES),	
provides	member	associations	with	
key	management	tools.

Expenditure	for	the	Regional	
Development	Offices	was	 
USD	2.2	million	(2021:	USD	1.1	million),	
for	the	FIFA	Connect	Programme	USD	
1.9	million	(2021:	USD	1.3	million),	and	
for	other	general	expenditure	
(including	programmes	from	previous	
years)	USD	39.6	million,	of	which	USD	
16	million	related	to	the	FIFA	Executive	
Summit	in	Doha	(2021:	USD	13.8	
million).	

Technical development programmes
The	aim	of	the	technical	development	
programmes	is	to	improve	the	
technical	side	of	the	game	and	to	
ensure	that	talented	players	all	over	
the	world	have	the	chance	to	reach	
their	full	potential.	

In	2022,	the	FIFA	Training	Centre,	
which	acts	as	an	online	academy	
featuring	training	sessions	and	in	
depth	analyses	to	educate	coaches	
and	players	at	every	level,	became	
fully	operational.	To	help	its	members’	
develop	talented	players,	FIFA	
continued	to	provide	educational	
programmes	via	dedicated	mentors,	
regional	technical	consultants,	
high-performance	specialists	as	well	
as	coach	educators.

Expenses	for	educational	campaigns	
and	workshops	including	those	for	the	
new online FIFA Training Centre 
amounted	to	USD 5.9 million	(2021:	
USD 3.4 million).	Analysis,	consultancy	
and	technical	service	expenses	also	
include	operational	costs	in	
connection	with	the	Talent	
Development	Scheme	and	totalled	
USD 11 million	(2021:	USD 7.3 million).	
Other	development	programme	
expenses,	such	as	for	grassroots	and	
youth	development	initiatives,	
amounted	to	USD 2.9 million	(2021:	
USD 1.4 million).

Refereeing
In	2022,	the	FIFA	Refereeing	
Subdivision	continued	to	implement	
the	decisions	taken	by	the	FIFA	
Referees	Committee	relating	to	
refereeing	matters	worldwide.	It	
successfully	prepared	and	managed	
all	FIFA	match	officials	and	refereeing	
delegations	for	all	FIFA	competitions	
as	well	as	for	some	non-FIFA	
international	flagship	events.	Activities	
in	2022	focused,	as	before,	on	the	
continuous	improvement	of	the	
quality	of	match	officials	and	
instructors	(including	video	assistant	
referees	(VARs))	in	all	confederations	
and	member	associations.	By	the	end	
of	2022,	more	than	350	various	
courses	had	been	conducted.	

Moreover,	the	Refereeing	Subdivision	
continued	to	assist	the	member	
associations	in	developing	the	VAR	
system	by	increasing	the	number	of	
countries	using	it	to	53,	with	a	further	
12	associations	in	the	process	of	
implementing	it	at	reporting	date.

Refereeing	project	expenses	for	FIFA	
World	Cups	amounted	to	USD	4.9	million	
in	2022	(2021:	USD	1.1	million).	General	
development	and	equipment	
expenses,	which	mainly	refer	to	
event-related	preparation	work,	
equipment	and	implementation	costs	
such	as	for	the	VAR	system,	totalled	
USD	4.5	million	(2021:	USD	3.1	million).

Women’s football promotion
FIFA’s	commitment	to	the	women’s	
game	is	underpinned	by	its	Women’s	
Football	Strategy,	which	sets	out	three	
key	objectives	and	five	pillars	that	
chart	the	course	for	how	FIFA	intends	
to	work	with	confederations,	member	
associations,	clubs,	players,	the	media,	
fans	and	other	stakeholders	to	realise	
the	full	potential	that	exists	within	the	
women’s	game.	In	line	with	that	
strategy,	the	FIFA	Women’s	
Development	Programme	was	
launched	in	2021	to	provide	all	
211 member	associations	with	the	
opportunity	to	access	additional	
resources	and	specialist	expertise	to	
develop	women’s	football	at	national	
level.	The	implementation	of	the	
programme	progressed	well	in	2022,	
further	strengthening	the	foundations	
of	the	game	globally.	

Member	associations	worked	on	their	
long-term	strategies	for	the	women’s	
game,	reactivating	women’s	football	
competitions	and	development	
activities	following	the	COVID-19	
restrictions	and	achieving	excellent	
results	in	terms	of	increased	
participation	in	and	awareness	of	
women ś	football	around	the	world.	
FIFA	also	delivered	the	highly	popular	
Women	in	Football	Leadership	
Programme	as	well	as	the	second	
edition	of	the	very	successful	Coach	
Mentorship	Programme.
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Working	hand	in	hand	with	our	
stakeholders,	the	FIFA	Guide	to	Club	
Licensing	in	Women’s	Football	was	
published	along	with	the	second	
edition	of	the	FIFA	Benchmarking	
Report:	Setting	the	Pace,	both	aimed	
at	supporting	member	associations,	
leagues	and	clubs	in	accelerating	the	
professionalisation	of	the	women’s	
game.		

In	2022,	support	services	for	
stakeholders	in	women’s	football	
promotion	amounted	to	USD	8.4	million	
(2021:	USD	3.3	million).

Sustainability, human rights and 
safeguarding
FIFA’s	human	rights	work	continued	to	
focus	on	addressing	salient	risks	to	
people	in	line	with	FIFA’s	statutory	
human	rights	commitment	and	
Human	Rights	Policy	in	the	areas	of	
FIFA	competitions,	players’	rights	and	
relationships	with	member	
associations	(e.g.	labour,	anti-
discrimination	and	press	freedom).	
Another	priority	of	FIFA’s	human	rights	
work	in	2022	was	the	support	of	a	
group	of	approximately	150	Afghan	
sports	people	and	human	rights	
defenders who FIFA had helped to 
evacuate	in	late	2021,	including	in	
relation	to	their	stay	in	Albania	and	
permanent	relocation	to	a	new	
country.

Numerous	sustainability	initiatives	
were	implemented	and	revolved	
around	sustainable	buildings	
(including	operations),	the	reduction	
and	offsetting	of	greenhouse	gas	
emissions	(to	achieve	carbon	
neutrality),	air	quality	(to	understand	
pollution	sources	and	mitigate	them),	
waste	minimisation	(to	ensure	proper	
waste	segregation,	sorting	and	
recycling),	and	water	conservation	(to		
reduce	consumption	of	this	precious	
resource	and	reuse	it	whenever	
possible).	FIFA,	together	with	its	local	
partners,	also	produced	numerous	
training	materials	and	sessions	that	
allowed	for	more	than	74,000	
individuals	(workforce,	volunteers	and	
contractors)	to	receive	sustainability-

related	training,	raise	their	awareness	
and	improve	operations.	The	FIFA	
Women’s	World	Cup	2023™	was	also	
the	focus	of	attention	with	the	launch	
of	the	event’s	sustainability	strategy.	

FIFA	further	invested	in	promoting	
safe	sport	and	raising	safeguarding	
standards	in	football	to	ensure	the	
safety	and	well-being	of	everyone	
across	the	game,	especially	children.	

Expenses	for	sustainability	and	
human	rights	activities	amounted	to	
USD	1.6	million	(2021:	USD	0.4	million)	
and	costs	for	accommodation	and	
other	external	services	relating	to	the	
Afghan	Future	Fund	amounted	to	
USD 4.8 million.	

Anti-discrimination	activities	resulted	
in	expenses	of	USD 0.4 million	(2021:	
USD 0.3 million),	while	activities	
relating	to	safeguarding	and	child	
protection	totalled	0.8 million	(2021:	
USD 0.5 million).	

FIFA Foundation
The	FIFA	Foundation’s	activities	focus	
on	impacting	society	through	the	
power	of	football	and	empowering	
children	and	young	people	to	realise	
their	full	potential,	whilst	addressing	
the	most	pressing	global	challenges,	
thus	making	a	tangible	contribution	to	
the	UN	Sustainable	Development	
Goals.

In	2022,	the	expenses	of	the	FIFA	
Foundation	amounted	to	USD	5.6	million	
(2021:	USD	4.8	million).

Education
FIFA	provides	annual	financial	support	
to	CIES,	which	is	based	in	Neuchâtel,	
Switzerland.	CIES	is	a	leading	
institution	with	an	ever-expanding	
offering	of	educational	programmes	
for	the	development	of	new	football	
administrators	and	management	
education	of	athletes	and	sport	
executives,	and	it	also	serves	as	a	
reference	point	for	research	and	
consulting	services	provided	to	a	wide	
range	of	sport	stakeholders.

FIFA’s	contributions	to	CIES	amounted	
to	USD	4.7	million	in	2022	(2021:	 
USD	4.8	million).	The	figure	includes	
the FIFA Master along with several 
post-graduate	worldwide	
programmes,	including	scholarships	
for	deserving	students.

Audit and financial education
FIFA	appoints	globally	recognised	
audit	and	assurance	firms,	which	
perform	independent	reviews	on	a	
member	association’s	processes	and	
compliance	with	regulations.	Every	
year,	a	central	audit	review	is	
conducted	for	each	member	
association	that	has	received	funds	
under	the	Forward	Programme.	In	
addition,	FIFA	provides	capacity	
development	assistance	to	support	
FIFA’s	member	associations	in	
identifying	areas	that	require	
improvement.

In	2022,	expenses	for	audit	and	
financial	education	amounted	to	 
USD	3.3	million	(2021:	USD	2.9	million).

Medicine and science
FIFA	strives	to	protect	the	health	and	
wellbeing	of	players	globally.	The	FIFA	
Medical	Subdivision	has	increasingly	
leveraged	the	knowledge	and	
experience	of	carefully	selected	
international	experts	to	ensure	that	all	
projects	and	services	are	underpinned	
by	current	scientific	evidence.	FIFA	
seeks	to	ensure	that	football	can	be	
played	on	a	level	playing	field	by	
everyone	by	setting	an	example	
through	its	anti-doping	programme,	
thus	preserving	the	ethics	of	the	game.

Key	focus	areas	in	2022	included	the	
definition	of	processes	and	medical	
services	training	both	inside	and	
outside	stadiums,	the	development	of	
a	new	post-graduate	masters	course	
in	football	medicine,	the	production	of	
FIFA	medical	emergency	bags	sent	to	
all	member	associations,	and	the	
establishment	of	a	medical	
governance	framework	for	the	49	FIFA	
medical	centres	of	excellence	around	
the	world	as	well	as	investment	in	
various	medical-related	scientific	
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projects,	such	as	the	BrainHOPE	
initiative.

In	2022,	FIFA’s	anti-doping	
expenditure	was	USD	0.4	million	
(2021:	USD	0.5	million)	and	its	medical	
expenditure	was	USD	1.5	million	(2021:	
USD	0.7	million).	

FIFA Museum
The	impact	of	the	COVID-19	pandemic	
having	subsided	in	2022,	the	museum	
was	able	to	significantly	increase	its	
number	of	visitors	in	2022,	welcoming	
195,000	football	fans	from	more	than	
135	different	countries.	A	new	special	
exhibition	entitled	“211	Cultures.	One	
Game”	opened	in	Zurich	to	shine	a	
light	on	FIFA’s	211	member	
associations	and	the	unique	football	
culture	of	each	one.	A	new	
collaboration	with	the	Zurich	Film	
Festival	was	launched	to	bring	football	
to	the	cinema	as	part	of	a	globally	
focused	cultural	programme.	As	the	
final	highlight	of	the	year,	the	museum	
welcomed	more	than	175,000	visitors	
from	all	around	the	world	to	its	special	
“Goals	Create	History”	exhibition	at	
the	FIFA	Fan	Festival™	in	Doha	during	
the	FIFA	World	Cup	Qatar	2022™.	

In	2022,	the	FIFA	Museum’s	
operational	costs	as	stated	in	the	line	
item	amounted	to	USD	6.2	million	
(2021:	USD	4.7	million).

World Football Remission Fund
In	2021,	the	US	Department	of	Justice	
granted	FIFA	USD 60.4 million	in	
remission	proceeds,	representing	
monies	forfeited	by	defendants	to	the	
US	government	that	are	returned	to	
victims	of	their	criminal	schemes.	
These	funds	are	administered	by	the	
FIFA	Foundation	and,	together	with	
CONMEBOL’s	and	Concacaf’s	shares	of	
the	World	Football	Remission	Fund,	
amount	to	a	total	award	of	over	
USD 201 million.	These	proceeds	will	
be	invested	in	line	with	the	terms	of	
the	fund,	with	a	particular	focus	on	
youth	and	community	programmes.	
FIFA	therefore	reserved	corresponding	
development	expenses	of	
USD 60.4 million	in	2021.	

Personnel expenses
Supported	by	advanced	tools	and	
platforms	that	enable	multiple	teams	
to	work	remotely	with	great	efficiency,	
FIFA	has	an	agile,	mobile	and	
productive	workforce	that	enables	

secure	collaboration	between	its	
employees	and	stakeholders.	In	the	
2022	World	Cup	year,	FIFA	staff	were	
able	to	seamlessly	move	between	
work	location,	venue	and	
accommodation,	while	maintaining	
productivity	and	support	activities	at	
a	high	level.	By	successfully	
connecting	the	traditional	and	digital	
parts	of	its	development	business,	
FIFA	was	able	to	be	more	responsive	
to	stakeholder	needs.	

In	2022,	personnel	expenses	
amounted	to	USD	43.6	million	(2021:	
USD	41.1	million).	For	further	details,	
please	refer	to	Note	31	–	Personnel	
expenses.

Depreciation of property and 
equipment 
Depreciation	expenses	for	operational	
buildings,	offices	and	other	equipment	
as	well	as	right-of-use	assets	totalled	
USD	16.7	million	for	2022	(2021:	USD	
22.3	million).	FIFA	did	not	identify	any	
indicators	for	impairment	in	2022.

9 Football Governance

in TUSD 2022 2021

Football	Governance	bodies	and	third-party	services 20,783 23,834

Personnel expenses 17,713 18,295

Depreciation	of	property	and	equipment 1,782 1,748

Total Football Governance 40,278 43,877

Football	Governance	includes	all	
expenses	related	to	FIFA’s	statutory	
objective	of	regulating	association	
football	and	related	matters.	It	
includes	Football Governance bodies 
and third parties that	act	as	
regulators	of	football	and	define	and	
protect	the	Laws	of	the	Game.	
Consequently,	it	does	not	include	the	
governance	of	FIFA	itself,	which	is	
listed	under	FIFA	Governance	&	
Administration	(see	Note	10).

The	Appeal,	Disciplinary	and	Ethics	
Committees	are	FIFA’s	judicial	bodies	
and	apply	the	criteria	and	rules	set	out	
in	the	FIFA	Disciplinary	Code	and	the	
FIFA	Code	of	Ethics,	respectively.	They	
are	involved	in	football-related	
disputes	and	perform	legal	and	
administrative	functions.	In	2022,	their	
activities	resulted	in	expenses	of	USD	
3.1	million	(2021:	USD	2.4	million).

Together	with	the	decision-making	
chambers	of	the	Football	Tribunal	–	the	
Players’	Status	Chamber	(PSC)	and	the	
Dispute	Resolution	Chamber	(DRC)	–	
these	committees	form	FIFA’s	Football	
Governance	bodies.	The	Football	
Tribunal	decides	claims	and	disputes	
relating to the legal rights and 
obligations	of	football	stakeholders.	
The	PSC	monitors	compliance	with	the	
Regulations	on	the	Status	and	Transfer	
of	Players	and	determines	the	status	of	
players	for	various	FIFA	competitions,	
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while	the	DRC	provides	arbitration	
services	based	on	equal	representation	
of	players	and	clubs.	Their	combined	
expenses	totalled	USD	2.6	million	
(2021:	USD	1.3	million).

The	new	FIFA	Clearing	House	located	
in	Paris	centralises	and	processes	
payments	related	to	training	rewards	
between	clubs	following	an	
international transfer or the initial 
registration	of	a	professional	player.	In	
this	way,	clubs	that	sponsor	and	train	
players	receive	appropriate	financial	
compensation	for	their	contribution	to	
player	development,	after	both	new	
and	training	clubs	have	passed	the	
appropriate	due	diligence	in	
compliance	with	international	financial	
regulations.	In	2022,	FIFA	Clearing	
House-related	expenses	amounted	to	
USD	3.1	million	(2021:	USD	2.8	million).		

FIFA’s	agreement	with	Sportradar	
Integrity	Services	provides	a	
comprehensive	range	of	monitoring,	
education	and	information	services,	
including	the	fraud	detection	system,	
to	detect	and	prevent	match-fixing.	
Spending	in	this	area	amounted	to	
USD	1.9	million	in	2022	(2021:	USD	
2.7 million).

FIFA	and	FIFPRO	have	established	the	
FIFA	Fund	for	Football	Players	to	
provide	financial	assistance	to	players	
who	have	not	received,	or	are	unlikely	
to	receive,	the	salaries	agreed	with	
their	clubs.	In	2022,	expenses	
amounted	to	USD	4	million	(2021:	USD	
12	million).	

Other	expenses	included	The	IFAB	of	
1.8	million	USD	(2021:	USD	1.5	million)	
and	general	professional	football	and	
legal	services	of	USD	4.3	million	(2021:	 
USD	0.9	million).

Personnel costs	in	the	field	of	
Football	Governance	relate	to	the	
respective	judicial	committees	and	
FIFA’s	corresponding	departments,	
providing	advice	and	support	in	the	
field	of	Football	Governance.	This	
includes	helping	to	ensure	that	FIFA’s	
activities	are	in	strict	compliance	with	
the law and representing FIFA and its 
stakeholders	before	the	competent	
courts.	For	further	details,	please	
refer	to	Note	31	–	Personnel	expenses.

10  FIFA Governance & Administration

in TUSD 2022 2021

Annual	FIFA	Congress	and	committees 19,486 3,446

Information	technology 18,503 25,423

Communications 16,889 26,101

Legal	costs 12,392 23,947

Buildings	and	maintenance 6,079 7,116

Expected	credit	losses	of	receivables	and	contract	assets 1,609 –185

Other	(including	consultancy,	Executive	Offices,	ERP	costs,	insurance	and	auditors’	fees,	VIK) 31,620 19,731

Personnel expenses 76,083 80,771

Depreciation	of	property	and	equipment 5,185 5,617

Total FIFA Governance & Administration 187,846 191,967

FIFA	Governance	&	Administration	
comprises	all	costs	related	to	the	
governance	and	administration	of	
FIFA.	A	concerted	effort	to	improve	
the	efficiency	of	the	FIFA	
administration	led	to	cost	savings	
compared	to	the	previous	year.

The	72nd FIFA Congress was held in 
Doha	and	was		FIFA’s	first	in-person	
event	since	2019,	the	2020	and	2021	
Congresses	having	been	held	virtually	

due	to	the	COVID-19	pandemic.	
Consequently,	travel	and	
accommodation	arrangements	were	
needed	for	the	official	delegates	of	the	
211	member	associations,	the	six	
confederations	and	other	Congress	
guests.	The	costs	of	organising	the	
annual	FIFA	Congress	naturally	
increased	and	amounted	to	 
USD	16.8	million	(2021:	 
USD	0.7	million).	The	same	applied	to	
organisation	costs	for	FIFA	Council	

members,	which	also	increased	to	USD	
1.8	million	(2021:	USD	0.1	million).	The	
remaining	costs	under	Annual FIFA 
Congress and committees mainly	
relate	to	the	meetings	of	some	of	the	
standing	committees	as	well	as	of	the	
Governance,	Audit	and	Compliance	
committee	and	amounted	to	USD	0.9	
million	(2021:	USD	2.6	million).

Information technology at FIFA 
mainly	comprised	costs	related	to	IT	
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infrastructure	and	operations,	IT	
security,	and	digital	product	
management.	Investment	in	IT	
infrastructure	related	to	the	
continuous	upgrading	and	refining	of	
hardware,	software	and	network	
resources	that	are	necessary	for	FIFA	
to	continue	to	operate	efficiently.	
Spending	on	IT	security	focused	on	
the ongoing integration of the 
necessary	tools	and	protocols	that	
best	protect	FIFA’s	business	from	
cyber	threats.	Digital	product	
management	concerns	the	
management	of	all	aspects	of	the	
digital	experience	for	the	end	user	and	
mainly	involves	services	to	develop	
new	features	or	build	new	products.	
Examples	of	well-integrated	systems	
in	FIFA	include	the	enterprise	resource	
planning	(ERP)	tool	to	manage	day-to-
day	operations,	the	Integrated	
Football	and	Event	System	and	the	
FIFA	event	platform	to	manage	event	
management	and	planning,	and	
identity	and	access	management	tools	
to	control	user	access	within	FIFA.

In	2022,	the	cost	of	IT	infrastructure	
and	operations	amounted	to	 
USD	5.2	million	(2021:	USD	5	million),	
digital	product	development	together	
with	consultancy	services	was	 
USD	10.4	million	USD	(2021:	 
USD	15.8	million),	and	IT	and	cyber	
security	amounted	to	USD	2.9	million	
(2021:	USD	4.6	million).

Spending on communications	mainly	
related	to	content	management	
services	for	websites,	apps	and	social	

media.	FIFA	lived	up	to	its	role	as	the	
main	source	of	information	for	
football	lovers	everywhere	and	
ensured	that	all	of	its	platforms	were	
engaging	and	up	to	date	with	fresh	
and	relevant	data	in	multiple	
languages.	FIFA	continued	to	invest	in	
maintaining	and	expanding	its	
communication	channels	to	increase	
its	visibility,	attract	the	attention	of	
visitors	and	thus	promote	football	
worldwide.

In	2022,	expenses	under	this	line	item	
represented	editorial	content	
production	and	sharing	totalling	USD	
9.7	million	(2021:	USD	5.9	million),	and		
communication	services,	public	affairs	
and	strategic	planning	amounting	to	
USD	7.2	million	(2021:	USD	4.4	million).

Legal costs	cover	various	legal	
matters	with	respect	to	disputes	and	
consultations	in	relation	to	the	core	
business	of	FIFA	as	well	as	legal	and	
governance	costs	related	to	
investigations.	For	further	details,	
please	refer	to	Note	26	–	Provisions	
and	Note	32	–	Contingent	liabilities.

In	2022,	total	buildings and 
maintenance	expenses	amounted	to	
USD	6.1	million	(2021:	USD	7.1	million).	
These	expenses	consist	of	
maintenance	and	renovation	costs	for	
the	Home	of	FIFA	of	USD	3.1	million	
(2021:	USD	3	million)	and	for	FIFA’s	
other	properties	and	offices	of	USD	
1.5	million	(2021:	USD	2.8	million).	The	
remaining	expenses	mainly	relate	to	
corporate	security	and	supply	chain	

logistics	and	total	USD	1.5	million	
(2021:	USD	1.3	million).	

Expected credit losses of 
receivables and contract assets 
amounted	to	USD	1.6	million	(2021:	
USD	-0.2	million)	and	represent	
impairments	of	overdue	trade	
receivables	from	contracts	with	
customers.

General	expenses	for	FIFA	Governance	
&	Administration	are	grouped	under	
Other	and	are	required	to	administer	
FIFA’s	business	and	maintain	day-to-
day	operations.	In	2022,	these	
expenses	consisted	of	consultancy	
costs	of	USD	8	million	(2021:	USD	6.8	
million),	Executive	Offices	expenses	of	
USD	4.4	million	(2021:	USD	2.7	million),	
ERP	and	technical	support	costs	of	USD	
3	million	(2021:	USD	1.8	million),	
insurance	and	auditors	fees	of	USD	6.5	
million	(2021:	USD	6.2	million),	and	
value-in-kind	expenses	of	USD	3.7	
million	(2021:	USD	0.6	million),	while	
other	office	administration	activities,	
including	translation	and	interpretation	
services,	came	to	USD	5.9	million	(2021:	
USD	1.7	million).

FIFA	Governance	&	Administration	
personnel costs relate	to	FIFA’s	
administrative	activities	and	mainly	
include	personnel	management,	
technology	development,	maintenance	
and	security	operations	as	well	as	
strategic	management	and	controlling	
activities.	In	2022,	these	personnel	
expenses	amounted	to	USD	76.1	
million	(2021:	USD	80.8	million).

11  Marketing & TV Broadcasting

in TUSD 2022 2021

Marketing	rights 15,849 9,256

Broadcasting	and	media	rights 14,096 8,685

Licensing	rights 3,794 3,129

Sales	commission	and	other 72,309 4,257

Personnel expenses 24,144 25,064

Depreciation	of	property	and	equipment 2,204 1,993

Total Marketing & TV Broadcasting 132,396 52,384
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The	Marketing	&	TV	Broadcasting	
expenses	reflect	the	costs	incurred	by	
the	FIFA	Commercial	Division	for	the	
commercialisation	of	FIFA’s	marketing	
and	broadcasting	rights.	In	this	
respect,	FIFA	ensures	and	provides	
correct	oversight,	assistance	and	
promotional	activities	for	rights	which	
have	been	transferred	to	Commercial	
Affiliates.

In	2022,	marketing rights expenses 
mainly	related	to	customer	experience	
management	and	its	related	software	
and	applications,	the	focus	being	on	
sales,	customer	service,	marketing	

automation	and	analytics.	Using	
additional	marketing	techniques	such	
as	digital	and	brand	marketing,	FIFA	
was	able	to	expand	its	customer	base	
and	level	of	sales.	

Broadcast and media rights 
expenditure	includes	broadcast	
services,	FIFA	films	and	products,	i.e.	
all	forms	of	information	that	are	
broadcast	or	streamed	digitally.

Expenditure	on	licensing rights 
mainly	related	to	licensing	
partnerships	and	the	FIFA	Quality	
Programme,	under	which	

manufacturers	can	enter	into	a	
licensing	agreement	to	use	the	
prestigious	FIFA	Quality	marks	for	
products,	technologies	and	pitch	
surfaces	that	have	passed	the	rigorous	
testing	process.

Sales commission and other mainly	
relates	to	recognised	agents’	fees	and	
value-in-kind	expenses.	In	2022,	sales	
commission	costs	were	amortised	to	
profit	or	loss	in	accordance	with	the	
revenue	pattern	of	the	respective	
underlying	revenue	contracts	under	
IFRS	15	(see	Note	18	–	Contract	assets).

12  COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

in TUSD 2022 2021

COVID-19	Relief	Plan	–	solidarity	grants	 2,000 22,000

COVID-19	Relief	Plan	–	women’s	football	grants 4,500 22,500

COVID-19	Relief	Plan	–	confederation	grants	 0 0

Total COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3) 6,500 44,500

Approved	by	the	FIFA	Council	on	 
25	June	2020,	FIFA’s	COVID-19	Relief	
Plan	made	USD 1.5	billion	available	to	
support	all	211	member	associations	
and	the	six	confederations	to	help	
alleviate	the	financial	impact	of	the	
COVID-19	pandemic.	It	consists	of	
three	stages:	1	and	2	are	linked	to	the	
existing	FIFA	Forward	Programme,	and	
stage	3	provides	for	further	financial	
support	via	a	system	of	grants	and	
loans	that	enable	member	
associations	and	confederations	to	
use	the	available	funds	as	they	see	fit	
and	thus	help	safeguard	football	in	
their	region	from	the	adverse	
economic	effects	of	COVID-19.

Further	details	on	the	funds	released	
under	the	COVID-19	Relief	Plan	stages	
1-3	are	contained	in	Note	24	–	Accrued	
expenses	and	deferred	income,	Note	
22	–	Financial	assets	and	in	the	
Annexe	to	this	report.

Details	of	the	COVID-19	Relief	Plan	
grants	(stage	3)	are	as	follows	(see	also	
the	Annexe):	

COVID-19 Relief Plan – solidarity 
grants	relates	to	a	universal	solidarity	
grant	of	USD	1	million	that	has	been	
made	available	to	each	of	the	211	
member	associations.	Of	this	total	
entitlement	of	USD	211	million,	USD	
210	million	had	already	been	
recognised	by	31	December	2022	
(2021:	USD	208	million).

In	order	to	protect	women‘s	football	
and	to	ensure	its	healthy	resumption,	
dedicated	funds	were	also	made	
available	under	COVID-19 Relief Plan 
– women’s football grants,	with	USD	
0.5	million	being	paid	to	each	member	
association.	The	total	available	is	USD	
105.5	million,	of	which	USD	99.5	
million	had	been	recognised	by	31	
December	2022	(2021:	USD	95	million).	

COVID-19 Relief Plan – 
confederation grants	concerns	a	
basic	solidarity	fund	of	USD 2 million	
to	each	of	the	six	confederations	at	a	
total	of	USD 12 million,	all	of	which	
was	expensed	in	2020.
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13  Financial income and financial costs, net

in TUSD 2022 2021

Income	from	cash	and	cash	equivalents,	deposits	and	debt	securities 51,060 29,669

Gains	from	financial	instruments	at	fair	value	through	profit	or	loss,	net 87,494 41,933

Gains	on	sale	of	debt	securities	at	amortised	cost,	net 0 13,594

Other	financial	income 17 74

Total financial income 138,571 85,270

Interest	expenses	on	lease	liabilities 4,256 4,701

Expenses	from	debt	securities 15,498 16,889

Foreign	currency	losses,	net 75,468 13,337

Losses	from	debt	securities	at	fair	value	through	OCI,	net 4,764 786

Other	financial	expenses 6,707 4,795

Total financial costs 106,694 40,508

Total financial income and costs, net 31,877 44,762

The	overriding	long-term	objective	of	
FIFA’s	investment	policy	is	the	
preservation	of	the	real	value	of	its	
financial	assets.	FIFA	continued	to	
focus	on	maintaining	a	strong	and	
reliable	portfolio,	which	is	why	only	
counterparties	with	good	or	very	good	
credit	ratings	were	chosen.

Income from cash and cash 
equivalents, deposits and debt 
securities	represents	interest	income	
on	cash	and	financial	assets	measured	
at	amortised	cost	and	measured	at	
FVOCI.

Net gains from financial 
instruments at fair value through 
profit or loss primarily	arise	from	
equity	investment	funds	and	from	
derivatives	that	are	not	accounted	for	
hedging	purposes.	

In	2021,	FIFA	made	a	one-time	sale	of	
some	debt	securities	measured	at	
amortised	cost.	The	securities	sold	had	
a	fair	value	of	USD 296.6 million	at	the	
time	of	the	sale	and	FIFA	realised	a	
gain	of	USD 13.6 million,	which	is	
disclosed	in	the	item Net gains on 
sale of debt securities at amortised 
cost.

For Interest expenses on lease 
liabilities,	please	refer	to	Note	27	–	
Leases.	

Expenses from debt securities 
include	interest	expenses	on	debt	
securities	that	are	measured	at	
amortised	cost	and	debt	securities	
measured	at	FVOCI.

Net foreign currency losses mainly	
result	from	the	valuation	of	net	assets	
denominated	in	foreign	currencies	
such	as	CHF	and	EUR.	

14  Taxes and duties

in TUSD 2022 2021

Taxes	and	duties 22,716 1,591

Total taxes and duties 22,716 1,591

Pursuant	to	the	Swiss	taxation	rules,	
the	statutory	financial	statements	are	
the	basis	for	taxation.	In	FIFA’s	
statutory	financial	statements,	the	
character	of	a	non-profit	organisation,	
the	obligation	to	spend	the	net	result,	
reserves	and	funds	on	the	
development	of	football,	the	four-year	
accounting	cycle,	and	the	financial	
risks	inherent	to	FIFA’s	core	event	

–	the	FIFA	World	Cup™	–	are	all	duly	
considered.	FIFA’s	restricted	reserves	
are	reviewed	on	a	regular	basis	to	
assess	whether	they	are	commercially	
justified	as	per	the	applicable	tax	laws.

The	final	assessment	with	the	tax	
authority	will	occur	after	the	
completion	of	the	four-year	cycle	and	
is	based	on	the	final	assessment	of	the	

required	funds	and	reserves.	The	
normal	tax	rate	for	associations	
applies.	FIFA’s	subsidiaries	are	taxed	
based	on	the	applicable	local	tax	laws.

This	position	includes	all	non-
recoverable	taxes	and	duties	borne	by	
FIFA	or	its	subsidiaries.
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Notes to the consolidated balance sheet

15  Cash and cash equivalents

in TUSD 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Cash	on	hand,	post	and	bank	accounts 1,021,657 242,006

Short-term	deposits	with	maturities	of	up	to	3	months 686,445 590,083

Total cash and cash equivalents 1,708,102 832,089

Restricted	cash	and	cash	equivalents	
amounted	to	USD	68.7	million	in	2022	
(2021:	USD	14.6	million).	These	

balances	are	not	immediately	available	
for	general	use	by	FIFA.

16  Receivables

in TUSD 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Receivables from the sale of rights

Due	from	third	parties 	127,789	 363,891

Provision	for	bad	debts 	–9,684 –7,260

Total receivables from the sale of rights  118,105 356,631

Other receivables

Due	from	member	associations	and	confederations 	11,669	 17,295

Due	from	related	parties 0 3

Due	from	third	parties 	228,160	 25,133

Provision	for	bad	debts 	–84 –77

Total other receivables  239,745 42,354

Total receivables, net 357,850 398,985

The	majority	of	the	open	receivables	
from	the	sale	of	rights	relate	to	
contractual	payments	from	
broadcasters	and	sponsors.	FIFA	

receives	payments	from	customers	
based	on	a	billing	schedule,	as	
established	in	the	contracts	with	
customers.	Account	receivables	are	

unconditional,	as	the	instalments	are	
non-cancellable	and	non-refundable	
once	received.

Provisions for bad debts

in TUSD 2022 2021

Balance as at 1 January  7,337 16,581

Use/release 	–315 –9,411

Additions 	2,762	 186

Foreign	exchange	effect 	–16 –19

Balance as at 31 December 9,768 7,337

Additions	to	bad	debt	provisions	are	related	to	an	impairment	of	overdue	trade	receivables	from	contracts	with	customers.	
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Ageing analysis of receivables

in TUSD 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Not	due 	333,821	 365,779

Overdue	–	less	than	30	days 	7,196	 17,412

Overdue	–	less	than	60	days 	14,391	 977

Overdue	–	more	than	60	days 	12,210	 22,154

Total receivables  367,618 406,322

17  Prepaid expenses and accrued income

in TUSD 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Prepaid expenses 101,171 282,213

Accrued	income 56,558 70,364

Total current prepaid expenses and accrued income 157,729 352,577

Prepaid expenses 19,831 21,541

Total non-current prepaid expenses 19,831 21,541

Current	prepaid	expenses	as	at	 
31	December	2022	mainly	relate	to	
deferred	costs	in	connection	with	 

the	FIFA	Women’s	World	Cup™.	This	
item	was	significantly	lower	compared	
to	31	December	2021	as	deferred	

costs	relating	to	the	FIFA	World	Cup	
Qatar	2022™	were	recognised	in	profit	
or	loss	during	2022.

18  Contract assets

in TUSD 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Contract	assets 192,947 69,113

Contract	acquisition	costs 2,280 19,610

Total contract assets 195,227 88,723

Contract	assets	relate	to	FIFA’s	past	
performance	under	a	contract	for	
which	the	customer	has	not	yet	paid	
consideration	or	before	payment	is	
due.	They	are	transferred	to	

receivables	when	the	right	to	receive	
payment	becomes	unconditional.	
Contract	assets	are	regularly	reviewed	
for	impairment	indicators.

Significant	changes	in	contract	asset	
balances	during	the	period	are	as	
follows:

 
in TUSD 2022 2021

Contract assets as at 1 January  69,113 100,627

Transfers	from	contract	assets	recognised	at	the	beginning	of	the	period	to	receivables 	–68,931	 	–100,627	

Increase	as	a	result	of	changes	in	the	measure	of	progress 	192,944	 68,977

Impairment	(loss)/release	 	–179	 136

Contract assets as at 31 December  192,947 69,113

Of	which	current 	192,947	 69,113

Of	which	non-current 0 0
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in TUSD 2022 2021

Contract acquisition costs as at 1 January 19,610 11,862

Costs	of	obtaining	contracts	during	the	year 50,790 10,577

Amortisation	recognised	as	cost	of	providing	services	during	the	year	 –68,120 –2,829

Contract cost assets as at 31 December 2,280 19,610

FIFA	has	recognised	contract	
acquisition	costs	arising	from	the	
capitalisation	of	incremental	agency	
fees.	These	costs	have	been	incurred	
in	order	to	obtain	certain	Asian	
television	broadcasting	rights	and	
contracts	with	FIFA	Marketing	
Affiliates.

The	contract	acquisition	costs	are	
amortised	in	line	with	the	pattern	of	
when	services	are	actually	provided	to	
the	customers.	

 
in TUSD 2022 2021
Aggregate amount of the transaction price allocated to long-term contracts for the 
2023–2026 cycle that are partially or fully unsatisfied as at 31 December  2,587,972  2,466,019 

	Of	which	

	–	Television	broadcasting	rights	 	1,913,278	 	1,891,601	

	–	Marketing	rights	 	602,104	 	564,683	

	–	Licensing	rights	 	72,590	 	9,735	

The	above	table	includes	revenue	
expected	to	be	recognised	in	FIFA’s	
2023-2026	business	cycle	ending	with	
the	FIFA	World	Cup™	in	2026	and	is	
related	to	performance	obligations	
that	are	unsatisfied	during	the	

reporting	period.	Revenue	from	
unsatisfied	performance	obligations	
at	31	December	2022,	which	is	
expected	to	be	recognised	in	the	
cycles	ending	in	2030	and	2034,	
amounted	to	USD	1,174	million	(as	at	

31	December	2021:	USD	1,174	million).	
Contracted	revenue	will	be	recognised	
in	line	with	the	transfer	of	control	over	
services	as	described	in	Note	E.

19  Inventories

in TUSD 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Held	for	distribution 992 4,336

Total inventories 992 4,336

Inventories	as	at	31	December	2022	
related	to	footballs	purchased	and	
stored	in	connection	with	the	Football	
for	Schools	Programme	and	held	for	
distribution	to	participating	primary	
schools	via	the	member	associations.	

Under	the	Football	for	Schools	
Programme,	FIFA	has	committed	to	
provide	football	equipment	to	schools	
with	the	goal	of	making	football	more	
accessible	to	boys	and	girls	around	the	
world.
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20  Property and equipment

in TUSD Operational 
buildings

Assets under 
construction Land

Office  
and other  

equipment

Right-of-use 
assets Total

Cost

Balance	as	at	1	January	2021 430,738 268 15,124 49,091 137,258 632,479

Additions 226 3,072 0 804 4,822 8,924

Reclassifications 219 –1,499 0 1,280 0 0

Foreign	exchange	effects –5,205 0 0 –298 –3,191 –8,694

Disposals –14,435 –269 –848 0 0 –15,552

Balance as at 31 December 2021 411,543 1,572 14,276 50,877 138,889 617,157

Additions 503 2,829 0 360 11,293 14,985

Reclassifications 2,716 –3,490 0 401 0 –373

Foreign	exchange	effects –1,892 –127 0 –97 –1,396 –3,512

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance as at 31 December 2022 412,870 784 14,276 51,541 148,786 628,257

Accumulated depreciation

Balance	as	at	1	January	2021 258,646 0 0 35,093 13,808 307,547

Depreciation 23,584 0 0 3,565 8,698 35,847

Foreign	exchange	effects –2,403 0 0 –175 –239 –2,817

Disposals –12,644 0 0 0 0 –12,644

Balance as at 31 December 2021 267,183 0 0 38,483 22,267 327,933

Depreciation 16,350 0 0 3,128 8,885 28,363

Foreign	exchange	effects –808 0 0 –51 –15 –874

Disposals 0 0 0 0 0 0

Balance as at 31 December 2022 282,725 0 0 41,560 31,137 355,422

Net carrying amount

As	at	31	December	2021 144,360 1,572 14,276 	12,394	 116,622 289,224

As at 31 December 2022 130,145 784 14,276 9,981 117,649 272,835

The	category	“Operational	buildings”	
refers	to	the	Home	of	FIFA,	the	FIFA	
Museum	and	two	other	buildings	in	
Zurich.

FIFA’s	management	has	assessed	that	
the	museum	should	not	be	considered	

a	separate	cash-generating	unit	(CGU)	
for	the	purposes	of	impairment	
testing.	Residential	apartments	have	
been	identified	as	a	separate	CGU.

FIFA	did	not	identify	any	triggering	
events	for	impairment	and	therefore	

did	not	recognise	any	impairment	for	
property	and	equipment	in	2022.
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21  Intangible assets

in TUSD Assets under 
development

Internally 
developed Acquired Total

Cost

Balance	as	at	1	January	2021 1,026 0 8,867 9,893

Additions 17,070 0 1,370 18,440

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0

Balance as at 31 December 2021 18,095 0 10,237 28,332

Additions 12,307 0 0 12,307

Reclassifications –28,823 29,196 0 373

Foreign	exchange	effects 52 0 0 52

Balance as at 31 December 2022 1,631 29,196 10,237 41,064

Accumulated depreciation

Balance	as	at	1	January	2021 0 0 7,067 7,067

Amortisation 0 0 1,258 1,258

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0

Balance as at 31 December 2021 0 0 8,325 8,325

Amortisation 0 3,893 1,116 5,009

Reclassifications 0 0 0 0

Balance as at 31 December 2022 0 3,893 9,441 13,334

Net carrying amount

As	at	31	December	2021 18,095 0 1,912 20,007

As at 31 December 2022 1,631 25,303 796 27,730

Internally	developed	intangible	assets	
mainly	comprise	the	initial	set-up	
costs	for	the	FIFA+	platform,	which	has	
been	reclassified	from	intangible	
assets	under	development,	the	
platform	having	been	launched	in	

2022.	The	internally	developed	
intangible	assets	as	at	31	December	
2022	have	a	carrying	amount	of		USD	
25.3	million	and	a	remaining	
amortisation	period	of	four	years.	

Acquired	intangible	assets	mainly	
include	FIFA’s	enterprise	resource	
planning	(ERP)	system	as	well	as	other	
related	software.
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22  Financial assets

in TUSD 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Debt	securities 1,700,159 1,219,394

Deposits 314,395 310,775

Equity	investment	funds 86,970 106,950

Loans to third parties 736,743 513,681

Loans	to	member	associations	and	confederations 17,477 7,642

Current financial assets 2,855,744 2,158,442

Debt	securities 1,079,325 1,172,679

Loans	to	member	associations	and	confederations 100,571 106,681

Loans to related parties 784 0

Non-current financial assets 1,180,680 1,279,360

Total financial assets 4,036,424 3,437,802

FIFA’s	financial	assets	are	invested	in	
short-term	and	long-term	bonds,	
equity	investment	funds,	loans	and	
deposits.	Loans	to	third	parties	are	
granted	mainly	to	Swiss	public	
authorities.

Under	stage	3	of	the	COVID-19	Relief	
Plan,	loans	are	granted	to	member	
associations	and	confederations.	
Member	associations	are	able	to	apply	
for	interest-free	loans	of	up	to	35%	of	
their	audited	annual	revenues,	with	a	
minimum	loan	of	USD 0.5 million	and	
a	maximum	loan	of	USD 5 million	
being	available.	These	loans	are	

initially	recognised	at	fair	value,	i.e.	the	
current	value	of	the	expected	future	
cash	flows	discounted	at	a	market-
related	interest	rate.

As	at	31	December	2022,	FIFA	had	an	
outstanding	loan	of	USD	0.8	million	
due	from	a	key	member	of	
management.	

23  Payables

in TUSD 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Due	to	member	associations	and	confederations 377,979 49,071

Due	to	related	parties 391 0

Due	to	third	parties 275,064 51,366

Total payables 653,434 100,437

24  Accrued expenses and deferred income

in TUSD 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

FIFA	World	Cup™	and	other	FIFA	events 487,545 72,819

Development	and	relief	programmes 700,887 501,607

Other	accrued	expenses 109,422 54,369

Deferred	income	 7,886 30,717

Total current accrued expenses and deferred income 1,305,740 659,512

Development	and	relief	programmes 238,272 22,000

Deferred	income	 0 856

Total non-current accrued expenses and deferred income 238,272 22,856
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The	“Development	and	relief	
programmes”	line	item	includes	
accruals	relating	to	the	FIFA	Forward	
programmes	of	USD	415.3	million	
(2021:	USD	252.1	million),	the	Football	
Development	Fund	of	USD	27	million	
(2021:	0	million),	the	Talent	

Development	Scheme	of	USD	202.7	
million	(2021:	USD	0	million),	the	World	
Remission	Fund	of	USD	126.6	million	
(2021:	USD	71.9	million),	the	Football	
for	Schools	Programme	of	USD	88	
million	(2021:	USD	100.1	million),	
legacy	funds	of	USD	61.7	million	(2021:	

USD	65.1	million),	the	COVID-19	Relief	
Plan	of	USD	11	million	(2021:	USD	24.5	
million)	and	other	development	
programmes	of	USD	6.9	million	(2021:	
USD	9.9	million).

25  Contract liabilities 

in TUSD 2022 2021

Contract liabilities as at 1 January  2,626,033 1,445,572 
Revenue	recognised	that	was	included	in	the	contract	liability	balance	at	 
the	beginning	of	the	period 	–2,490,606	 	–222,631	

Increases	due	to	payments	made	or	payments	due,	excluding	amounts	received	as	revenue	
during	the	period 	129,708	 	1,403,092	

Contract liabilities as at 31 December  265,135 2,626,033

Of	which	current 	233,458	 	2,511,451	

Of	which	non-current 	31,677	 	114,582	

Contract	liabilities	are	recognised	if	
FIFA	has	received	consideration	or	the	
amount	is	due	in	advance	of	FIFA’s	

performance	under	a	contract.	They	
are	recognised	as	revenue	when	FIFA	
satisfies	its	contractually	agreed	

performance	obligations	to	the	
customer.

26  Provisions

in TUSD 2022 2021

Balance as at 1 January 172,685 185,768

Provisions	made	during	the	year 1,484 4,001

Provisions	released	during	the	year –120,622 –8,325

Provisions	used	during	the	year –1,058 –546

Exchange	differences 2,471 –8,213

Balance as at 31 December 54,960 172,685

The	provisions	cover	primarily	various	
legal	matters	with	respect	to	disputes	
concerning	FIFA’s	core	business.	The	
legal	cases	are	mainly	related	to	FIFA	
events	from	previous	cycles.	The	
estimates	of	the	outcome	of	the	
various	legal	cases	are	based	on	the	
advice	and	assessments	of	FIFA’s	
external	lawyers	and	consider	various	
possible	outcomes.	The	potential	
timing	of	the	outflow	cannot	be	
definitively	assessed	as	it	depends	on	
the	timing	of	the	court	decisions.	
However,	based	on	the	cases	currently	

at	hand,	FIFA	believes	that	there	will	
be	no	significant	outflow	within	the	
next	12	months.	No	detailed	
information	can	be	provided	at	this	
point	since	legal	disputes	and	their	
corresponding	timing	of	settlement	
are	sensitive	matters.	The	mere	fact	
that	a	provision	for	certain	matters	
has	been	set	up	might	be	
misinterpreted	and	thus	prejudice	
FIFA’s	position	in	such	proceedings.	In	
accordance	with	acknowledged	rules,	
provisions	are	recognised	if	and	when	
an	obligation	has	arisen	from	a	past	

event,	it	is	probable	that	FIFA	will	be	
required	to	settle	the	obligation,	and	a	
reliable	estimate	can	be	made	of	the	
amount	of	the	obligation.

For	the	impact	of	the	provision	release	
on	the	profit	or	loss	line	item,	please	
refer	to	Note	7	–	Competitions	&	
Events.
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27  Leases

FIFA	is	a	lessee	and	has	contracts	for	
various	buildings,	offices	and	other	
equipment	as	well	as	land	that	are	
accounted	for	by	recognising	a	

right-of-use	asset	and	a	lease	liability.	
Set	out	below	are	the	carrying	
amounts	of	FIFA’s	right-of-use	assets	
and	lease	liabilities	as	well	as	their	

movements	during	the	period.	For	the	
carrying	amounts	of	FIFA’s	right-of-use	
assets,	please	also	refer	to	Note	20	–	
Property	and	equipment.	

in TUSD
Leased  

operational 
 buildings

Leased land
Leased offices 

 and other 
 equipment

Total right-of- 
use assets

Total lease 
liabilities

Balance as at 1 January 2022  114,070  2,435  117  116,622  187,352 

Additions 	11,293	 0 0 	11,293	 	11,293	

Depreciation	expense	 	–8,744 	–71 	–70 	–8,885

Interest expenses 	4,256	

Payments 	–14,114

Foreign	exchange	effects 	–1,381 0 0 	–1,381 	–2,004

Balance as at 31 December 2022  115,238  2,364  47  117,649  186,783 

Of	which	current 0 0 0 0 	10,063	

Of	which	non-current 	115,238	 	2,364	 	47	 	117,649	 	176,720	

in TUSD
Leased  

operational 
 buildings

Leased land
Leased offices 

 and other  
equipment

Total right-of- 
use assets

Total lease 
liabilities

Balance as at 1 January 2021  120,648  2,506  296  123,450  198,116 

Additions 	4,822	 0 0 	4,822	 	4,822	

Depreciation	expense	 	–8,448 –71 –179 	–8,698

Interest expenses 	4,701	

Payments 	–14,379

Foreign	exchange	effects 	–2,952 0 0 	–2,952 	–5,908

Balance as at 31 December 2021  114,070  2,435  117  116,622  187,352 

Of	which	current 0 0 0 0 	8,938	

Of	which	non-current 	114,070	 	2,435	 	117	 	116,622	 	178,414	

Set	out	below	is	the	maturity	analysis	of	contractual	undiscounted	cash	flows	as	at	31	December:	

in TUSD 31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Maturity	less	than	1	year 14,427 13,784

Maturity	1–5	years 41,452 43,067

Maturity	more	than	5	years 186,217 188,347

Balance as at 31 December 242,096 245,198

FIFA	recognised	lease	expenses	from	
short-term	leases	of	USD	0.4	million	
(2021:	USD	0.3	million)	for	the	year	 

ended	31	December	2022.	There	are	
no	leases	to	which	FIFA	is	committed	
that	have	not	yet	commenced.
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28  Reserves

Association capital
The	association	capital	is	
CHF 5 million.

Restricted reserves
Pursuant	to	article	61	of	the	FIFA	
Statutes,	FIFA	has	to	balance	out	
revenue	and	expenditure	over	the	
financial	period	and	build	up	sufficient	
reserves	to	guarantee	the	fulfilment	of	
its	major	duties.

The	purpose	of	the	reserves	is	to	
protect	FIFA	against	risks	and	
unforeseen	events,	in	particular	in	
relation	to	the	FIFA	World	Cup™.	The	
financial	dependency	of	FIFA	on	the	
FIFA	World	Cup,	which	takes	place	only	
every	four	years,	needs	to	be	
considered,	since	the	FIFA	World	Cup	
is	FIFA’s	main	revenue	source.	The	
restricted	reserves	cover,	in	particular,	
future	non-profit	activities,	such	as	
development	programmes	and	other	
FIFA	events.

The	use	of	the	reserves	is	restricted	to	
FIFA’s	statutory	duties	such	as	the	
organisation of international 
competitions	–	in	particular	the	FIFA	
World	Cup	–	and	the	implementation	
of	football-related	development	
programmes.

Restricted	reserves	include	
remeasurement	gains	and	losses	on	
the	net	post-employment	benefit	
obligation.

Translation reserves
The	translation	reserves	comprise	all	
foreign	currency	differences	arising	
from	the	translation	of	the	financial	
statements	of	foreign	operations.

Cash flow hedge reserves
The	effective	portion	of	the	gain	or	
loss	on	the	hedging	instrument	is	
recognised	in	other	comprehensive	
income	in	the	cash	flow	hedge	
reserve.

Fair value reserves of financial 
assets at FVOCI 
FIFA	has	certain	debt	investments	
measured	at	FVOCI	for	which	changes	
in	fair	value	are	accumulated	in	these	
separate	reserves.	The	accumulated	
changes	in	fair	value	are	transferred	
to	profit	or	loss	when	the	investment	
is	derecognised	or	impaired.	

Capital management
FIFA	was	established	in	the	legal	form	
of	an	association	in	accordance	with	
articles	60ff.	of	the	Swiss	Civil	Code.	
Pursuant	to	article	2	of	its	Statutes,	
FIFA’s	objective	is	to	improve	the	game	
of	football	constantly	and	promote	it	
globally,	particularly	through	youth	
and	development	programmes.	FIFA	is	
a	non-profit	organisation	and	is	
obliged	to	spend	its	results,	reserves	
and	funds	for	this	purpose.	As	FIFA	is	
an	association,	no	dividends	are	paid.

In	the	event	of	the	dissolution	of	FIFA,	
its	funds	shall	not	be	distributed,	but	
transferred	to	the	supreme	court	of	
the	country	in	which	the	headquarters	
are	situated.	The	supreme	court	shall	
invest	them	in	gilt-edged	securities	
until	the	re-establishment	of	the	
federation.

FIFA’s	goal	is	to	maintain	its	solid	
reserve	level	in	order	to	cover	
inherent	risks	in	connection	with	the	
FIFA	World	Cup	and	to	finance	its	
non-profit	activities,	especially	future	
development	activities	and	other	FIFA	
events.
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Other disclosures

29  Financial risk management 

a) Accounting classifications and fair value measurements

31 December 2022 in TUSD

Financial assets/ 
liabilities at fair  

value through  
profit and loss

Financial  
assets/ 

liabilities at 
amortised cost

Financial 
assets/ 

liabilities at 
FVOCI

Total

Financial assets measured at fair value

Derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments 12,255 12,255

Other derivative financial instruments 6,567 6,567

Equity investment funds 86,970 86,970

Debt securities 98,322 536,226 634,548

Total 204,114 536,226 740,340

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 1,708,102 1,708,102

Receivables 357,850 357,850

Deposits 314,395 314,395

Debt securities 2,144,936 2,144,936

Loans 855,575 855,575

Total 5,380,858 5,380,858

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Other derivative financial instruments 102,970 102,970

Total 102,970 102,970

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Payables 653,434 653,434

Lease liabilities 186,783 186,783

Total 840,217 840,217
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Carrying 
amount Fair value

31 December 2022 in TUSD Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value

Derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments 12,255 12,255

Other derivative financial instruments 6,567 6,567

Equity investment funds 86,970 86,970

Debt securities 634,548 634,548

Total 740,340

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 1,708,102

Receivables 357,850

Deposits 314,395

Debt securities 2,144,936 864,606 1,235,765

Loans 855,575

Total 5,380,858

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Other derivative financial instruments 102,970 102,970

Total 102,970

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Payables 653,434

Lease liabilities 186,783

Total 840,217

Fair value disclosure: equity investment funds and some debt securities are traded in active markets and the fair value is based on unadjusted quoted market 
prices on the balance sheet date (Level 1). Derivatives and some debt securities are not traded in active markets and the fair value on the balance sheet is 
determined by using valuation techniques (Level 2) with observable market data. No transfer was made between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year. FIFA has not 
disclosed the fair values for financial instruments such as short-term receivables and payables because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of 
fair value.

Fair value measurements and 
disclosure of assets and liabilities
When measuring the fair value of an 
asset or a liability, the group uses 
observable market data as far as 
possible. Fair values are categorised 
into different levels in a fair value 
hierarchy based on the inputs used in 
the valuation techniques as follows:
1) Level 1: quoted prices (unadjusted) 

in active markets for identical assets 
or liabilities. 

2) Level 2: inputs other than quoted 
prices included in Level 1 that are 
observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly (i.e. as prices) or 
indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

3) Level 3: inputs for the asset or 
liability that are not based on 
observable market data 
(unobservable inputs).

 
If the inputs used to measure the fair 
value of an asset or a liability are 
categorised in different levels of the 

fair value hierarchy, then the fair value 
measurement is categorised in its 
entirety at the lowest level input that 
is significant to the entire 
measurement.
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31 December 2021 in TUSD

Financial assets/ 
liabilities at fair  

value through 
profit and loss

Financial 
assets/ 

liabilities at 
amortised cost

Financial 
assets/ 

liabilities at 
FVOCI

Total

Financial assets measured at fair value

Derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments 30,830 30,830

Other derivative financial instruments 15,693 15,693

Equity investment funds 106,950 106,950

Debt securities 105,852 591,370 697,222

Total 259,325 591,370 850,695

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents 832,089 832,089

Receivables 398,985 398,985

Deposits 310,775 310,775

Debt securities 1,694,851 1,694,851

Loans 628,004 628,004

Total 3,864,704 3,864,704

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments 2,013 2,013

Other derivative financial instruments 17,662 17,662

Total 19,675 19,675

Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost

Payables 100,437 100,437

Lease liabilities 187,352 187,352

Total 287,789 287,789
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Carrying 
amount Fair value

31 December 2021 in TUSD Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

Financial assets measured at fair value

Derivative financial assets designated as hedging instruments 30,830 30,830

Other derivative financial instruments 15,693 15,693

Equity investment funds 106,950 106,950

Debt securities 697,222 697,222

Total 850,695

Financial assets not measured at fair value

Cash and cash equivalents 832,089

Receivables 398,985

Deposits 310,775

Debt securities 1,694,851 1,026,649 661,811

Loans 628,004

Total 3,864,704

Financial liabilities measured at fair value

Derivative financial liabilities designated as hedging instruments 2,013 2,013

Other derivative financial instruments 17,662 17,662

Total 19,675

Financial liabilities not measured at fair value

Payables 100,437

Lease liabilities 187,352

Total 287,789

Fair value disclosure: equity investment funds and some debt securities are traded in active markets and the fair value is based on unadjusted quoted market 
prices on the balance sheet date (Level 1). Derivatives and some debt securities are not traded in active markets and the fair value on the balance sheet is 
determined by using valuation techniques (Level 2) with observable market data. No transfer was made between Level 1 and Level 2 during the year. FIFA has not 
disclosed the fair values for financial instruments such as short-term receivables and payables because their carrying amounts are a reasonable approximation of 
fair value.
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b) Financial risk management

FIFA is exposed to currency and 
interest risks as well as credit, liquidity 
and equity price risks in the course of 
its normal operations.

Credit risk
The revenue from television and 
marketing rights is received from large 
multinational companies and public 
broadcasters. Part of the outstanding 
revenue is also covered by bank 
guarantees. Additionally, the contracts 
include a default clause, whereby the 
contract terminates as soon as one 
party is in default. In the event of a 
default, FIFA is not required to 
reimburse any of the services or 
contributions received. FIFA is also 
entitled to replace terminated 
contracts with new marketing or 
broadcasting agreements.

Material credit risks could arise if 
several parties were unable to meet 
their contractual obligations. FIFA’s 
management monitors the credit 
standing of the Commercial Affiliates 
very closely on an ongoing basis. 
Given their good credit ratings and the 
high diversification of the portfolio of 
Commercial Affiliates, the 
management believes that this 
scenario is unlikely to occur.

The vast majority of cash and cash 
equivalents are held with bank and 
financial institution counterparties 
with a rating equivalent to “A-1” or 
higher in S&P ratings. Fixed-income 
investments with residual terms to 
maturity of 12 months or less are only 
executed with borrowers with a 
short-term rating of “A-3” or higher. 
Investments in bonds are only 
executed in listed, tradable bonds 
issued by borrowers with a “BBB-” 
rating or higher. Derivative financial 
instruments are executed only with 
counterparties with high credit 
ratings. The carrying amount of the 
financial assets represents the 
maximum exposure to credit risk.

Equity price risk
FIFA’s exposure to equity price risk 
arises from equity investment funds 
held by the group classified as at fair 
value through profit or loss. FIFA 
manages its price risk arising from 
equity securities through 
diversification. 

As at 31 December 2022, the exposure 
to equity investments was USD 87 
million (2021: 107 million). If the fair 
values of the equity investments had 
increased/(decreased) by 10%, the 
impact on the net result would have 
been USD +8.7 million or USD -8.7 
million, respectively (2021: USD +10.7 
million or USD -10.7 million).

Interest rate risk
Interest rate risks arise from changes 
in market interest rates, which could 
affect the Group’s profit or loss or 
equity. Since the interest rates of all 
term deposits and debt securities are 
fixed, there is only limited exposure to 
cash flow interest rate risk. FIFA’s 
interest rate risk exposure therefore 
mainly arises from changes in the fair 
value of such fixed-rate debt 
instruments measured at FVOCI and 
FVTPL.

As at 31 December 2021 and 
31 December 2022, there was no 
interest rate risk arising from financing 
transactions because FIFA is self-
financed.

Foreign currency risk
FIFA’s functional currency is USD 
because the majority of its cash flows 
are denominated in USD. Exposure to 
foreign currency exchange rates arises 
from transactions denominated in 
currencies other than USD, especially 
in EUR, CHF and QAR.

FIFA receives foreign currency cash 
inflows in the form of revenue from 
the sale of certain rights denominated 
in currencies other than USD, such as 
EUR, GBP and CHF. On the other hand, 
FIFA has substantial costs, especially 

employee costs and operating costs in 
connection with FIFA’s offices in 
Zurich, denominated in CHF and other 
currencies. The Controlling & Strategic 
Planning Subdivision regularly 
forecasts the liquidity and foreign 
exchange requirements. If any foreign 
currency risks are identified, FIFA uses 
derivative products to hedge this 
exposure (see also Note 30).

As at 31 December 2022, FIFA was 
exposed to the following foreign 
exchange fluctuation risks:
• If the CHF had gained 10% against 

the USD as at 31 December 2022, 
the impact on the net result would 
have been USD +1.6 million (2021: 
USD +1.2 million).

• If the EUR had gained 10% against 
the USD as at 31 December 2022, 
the impact on the net result would 
have been USD +2.4 million (2021: 
USD +0.8 million). 

• If the GBP had gained 10% against 
the USD as at 31 December 2022, 
the impact on the net result would 
have been USD -0.4 million (2021: 
USD 0 million).

• If the AUD had gained 10% against 
the USD as at 31 December 2022, 
the impact on the net result would 
have been USD -0.2 million (2021: 
USD 0 million).

• If the QAR had gained 10% against 
the USD as at 31 December 2022, 
the impact on the net result would 
have been USD +4.6 million (2021: 
USD +0.1 million).

 
This fluctuation analysis can be 
applied using the same method in 
reverse (a decrease of 10%). It only 
shows the effect from a risk 
management perspective and not 
realised gains or losses. 
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Positions exposed to foreign currency risk as at 31 December 2022

in thousands CHF EUR GBP AUD QAR

Cash and cash equivalents* 19,688 18,224 293 93 205,272

Receivables 28,708 22,769 141 69 51,851

Financial assets* 724 0 0 0 0

Total assets in foreign currency 49,120 40,993 434 162 257,123

Payables 32,280 16,655 3,772 3,493 91,390

Lease liabilities 2,460 1,680 0 0 0

Total liabilities in foreign currency 34,740 18,335 3,772 3,493 91,390

Net exposure in foreign currency 14,380 22,658 –3,338 –3,331 165,733

Net exposure in functional currency (USD) 15,564 24,116 –4,019 –2,257 45,522

Positions exposed to foreign currency risk as at 31 December 2021

in thousands CHF EUR NZD BRL QAR

Cash and cash equivalents* 0 0 887 0 4,961

Receivables 26,800 12,581 122 3,883 354

Financial assets* 0 0 0 0 0

Total assets in foreign currency 26,800 12,581 1,009 3,883 5,315

Payables 13,506 2,634 134 12 79

Lease liabilities 2,558 3,067 54 0 0

Total liabilities in foreign currency 16,064 5,701 188 12 79

Net exposure in foreign currency 10,736 6,880 821 3,871 5,236

Net exposure in functional currency (USD) 11,740 7,783 561 695 1,438

* Positions exposed to foreign currency risk arise on financial instruments that are denominated in a foreign currency, i.e. in a currency other than the functional 
currency in which they are measured. The amounts displayed in the above tables represent the unhedged portion in foreign currency. As at 31 December 2022, 
FIFA held a total amount of USD 1,868 million (2021: USD 1,312 million) in financial assets, USD 92 million (2021: USD 70.3 million) in cash and cash equivalents 
as well as zero (2021: USD 36.4 million) in receivables, categories of which were denominated in CHF and are fully hedged against foreign currency risk.

Liquidity risk
As at 31 December 2021 and 
31 December 2022, FIFA was  

self-financed. Moreover, FIFA holds 
mortgage notes in the amount of CHF 
145.7 million (2021: CHF 145.7 million), 

guaranteed by its own properties, 
which could be used to cover any 
additional liquidity needs. 
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Maturity of financial liabilities

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

in TUSD 90 days 1 year or less More than   
a year 90 days 1 year or less More than  

a year

Payables – member associations and 
confederations 0 377,979 0 0 49,071 0

Payables – third parties and related parties 275,455 0 0 51,366 0 0

Derivative financial liabilities 0 102,970 0 0 19,675 0

Total 275,455 480,949 0 51,366 68,746 0

Please refer to Note 27 for the maturity analysis of undiscounted lease liabilities.

30  Hedging activities and derivative financial instruments

FIFA uses derivative instruments to 
manage its foreign currency risk, 
which is the risk that the fair value or 
future cash flows of an exposure will 
fluctuate because of changes to 
foreign exchange rates. The group’s 
exposure to that risk relates primarily 
to its operating activities (when 
contracts with customers or suppliers 
are denominated in foreign currency).

Derivatives designated as hedging 
instruments
Foreign exchange forward contracts 
are designated as hedging 
instruments in cash flow hedges of 
forecast television broadcasting sales 
in EUR, GBP and CAD. These forecast 
transactions are highly probable. 

The total notional amount of the 
outstanding foreign exchange forward 
contracts, which are designated as 
hedge accounting, was USD 129.9 
million (2021: USD 607 million). A 
significant portion of the derivatives 

designated as hedging instruments 
will mature in 2023 with a weighted 
average forward price of the hedging 
instruments of EUR/USD 1.20. 

There is an economic relationship 
between the hedged items and the 
hedging instruments, as the terms of 
the foreign exchange forward 
contracts match those of the highly 
probable forecast transactions. 
Because the group does not hedge all 
of its revenue denominated in foreign 
currencies, the hedged item is 
identified as a proportion of the 
forecast transaction. The group has 
established a hedge ratio of 1:1 for the 
hedging relationships, as the 
underlying risk of the foreign 
exchange forward contracts is 
identical to the hedged risk. There are 
no material sources of ineffectiveness 
and, therefore, no ineffectiveness was 
recognised in the income statement.  
 

In 2022, a transfer of USD 49.8 million 
from the cash flow hedge reserves to 
the “Revenue from television 
broadcasting rights” line item had 
been recognised in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income 
(2021: no transfer).

Other derivative financial 
instruments
Several financial investments were 
made in foreign currencies in 2022. 
The foreign exchange risk was hedged 
using swaps, forwards and options. 
The total notional value of the 
outstanding swaps and options as at 
31 December 2022 amounted to USD 
3,554 million (2021: USD 3,060 million). 

All other derivative financial 
instruments will mature in 2023. The 
derivative financial instruments are 
valued at fair market prices.
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The following table sets out the 
carrying amounts of derivative 

financial assets and liabilities 
recognised in the consolidated 

balance sheet:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

in TUSD Positive  
fair value

Negative  
fair value

Positive  
fair value

Negative  
fair value

Derivatives designated as hedging instruments

– to mature in 1 year 4,129 0 25,635 2,013

– to mature in subsequent years 8,126 0 5,195 0

Other derivative financial instruments

– to mature in 1 year 6,567 102,970 15,693 17,662

– to mature in subsequent years 0 0 0 0

Total 18,822 102,970 46,523 19,675

Of which

– recognised in hedging reserve 12,255 0 27,477 1,338

In certain credit events only (such as 
defaults), derivative financial liabilities 
of USD 103 million could have been 
offset against USD 18.8 million 
derivative financial assets and USD 
66.5 million receivables (and vice 
versa) as at 31 December 2022 under 

the agreements with the derivative 
counterparties (2021: USD 19.7 million 
derivative financial liabilities could 
have been offset against USD 
46 million derivative financial assets 
and vice versa).

At the reporting date, the group held 
the following foreign exchange 
forward contracts, which are 
designated as hedge accounting:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

in TUSD Notional 
amount

Average 
forward 

exchange rate 
EUR/USD

Notional 
amount

Average 
forward 

exchange rate 
EUR/USD

Average 
forward 

exchange rate 
GBP/USD

Average 
forward 

exchange rate 
CAD/USD

– to mature in 1 year 41,695 1.20 524,666 1.21 1.32 0.80

– to mature in subsequent years 88,177 1.23 82,340 1.25

Total 129,872 607,006

31  Personnel expenses

in TUSD 2022 2021

Wages and salaries  327,476 151,251

Social benefit costs  39,116 45,308

Other employee benefit costs  29,792 6,190

Other  11,585 10,356

Total personnel expenses 407,969 213,105

Of which

– Competitions & Events - general 61,137 47,885

– Competitions & Events - directly attributable to FIFA World Cup 2022™ 185,308 0

– Development & Education 43,584 41,090

– Football Governance 17,713 18,295

– FIFA Governance & Administration 76,083 80,771

– Marketing & TV Broadcasting 24,144 25,064
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Personnel expenses
In 2022, personnel expenses naturally 
increased due to the FIFA World Cup™ 
and the associated need for more 
resources. Personnel costs that were 

directly allocated to the FIFA World 
Cup were deferred in previous years 
and recognised in 2022 when the 
event was staged. In general, FIFA 
delivers the right space and 

technology to support its employees 
in any location, creating a 
comprehensive physical and virtual 
work environment in the process.

in TUSD 2022 2021

Net post-employment benefit obligation 16,989 65,187

Total post-employment benefit obligation 16,989 65,187

Retirement benefit plan for 
employees
FIFA has established a retirement 
benefit plan in Switzerland for all of its 
employees through an insurance 
company. This Swiss plan is governed 
by the Swiss Federal Law on 
Occupational Retirement, Survivors’ 
and Disability Pension Plans (BVG), 
which stipulates that pension plans 
are to be managed by independent, 
legally autonomous units. The assets 
of the pension plan are held within a 
separate foundation and cannot 
revert to the employer. Pension plans 
are overseen by a regulator as well as 
by a state supervisory body.

FIFA participates in a Swiss 
“Sammelstiftung”, which is a collective 
foundation administrating the pension 
plan of various unrelated employers. 
The pension plan has reinsured all 
demographic risks and fully 
transferred the investment activities 
to the insurance company.

The most senior governing body of the 
collective foundation is the Board of 
Trustees, which manages the pension 
fund in compliance with the statutory 
provisions, the articles of association 
of the foundation and the directives of 
the supervisory authority. 

The plan’s governing body 
(Occupational Benefits Fund 
Commission) is composed of an equal 
number of employer and employee 
representatives. The plan is funded by 
employee and employer contributions 
and has certain defined benefit 
characteristics, such as the interest 
guaranteed on the savings and the 
conversion of the savings at the end of 
working life into a life-long pension 
annuity. The employee’s contributions 
are determined based on the insured 
salary and range from 5% to 9% of the 
insured salary, depending on the 
selection of the scale by the 
beneficiary. The employer’s  

contributions must be at least equal to 
those of the employee. If the plan 
becomes underfunded, various 
measures can be adopted, such as 
lowering the interest credit rate, 
reducing benefits or increasing the 
employer and employee contributions.

If an employee leaves FIFA or the plan 
before reaching retirement age, the 
law provides for the transfer of the 
vested benefits to the new plan. These 
vested benefits comprise the 
employee’s and the employer’s 
contributions plus interest, the money 
originally brought in to the pension 
plan by the beneficiary and an 
additional legally stipulated amount. 
On reaching retirement age, the plan 
participant may decide whether to 
withdraw the benefits in the form of 
an annuity or (entirely or partly) as a 
lump-sum payment. The pension law 
requires pension annuities to be 
adjusted for inflation, depending on 
the financial condition of the plan.
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Movement in the employees’ post-employment benefit obligation over the year 2022

in TUSD Present value 
of obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets

Net post- 
employment  

benefit  
obligation

At 1 January 2022 294,345 –229,158 65,187

Included in profit or loss:

– Current service cost 25,872 0 25,872

– Plan amendments 0 0 0

– Interest expense/(income) 1,000 –782 218

– General administration costs 0 293 293

– Exchange differences –4,939 2,770 –2,169

Total 21,933 2,281 24,214

Remeasurements included in comprehensive income:

– Return on plan assets, excluding interest income 0 21,238 21,238

– (Gain)/loss from change in demographic assumptions 0 0 0

– (Gain)/loss from change in financial assumptions –76,734 0 –76,734

– Experience (gains)/loss –41 0 –41

Total –76,775 21,238 –55,537

Contributions and benefits paid:

– Plan participants 8,620 –8,620 0

– Employer 0 –16,875 –16,875

– Benefit payments –18,186 18,186 0

Total –9,566 –7,309 –16,875

At 31 December 2022 229,937 –212,948 16,989

Of which

– Due to active members 217,255

– Due to pensioners 12,682

Post-employment benefit 
obligation
The post-employment benefit 
expenses of USD 26.4 million included 
in profit or loss are part of the total 
expenses from football activities and 
total expenses from administrative 
activities (2021: USD 32.7 million).

As at 31 December 2022, the plan 
assets were invested in cash and cash 
equivalents of 2.4% (2021: 3.4%), debt 
instruments of 32.7% (2021: 35.5%), 
equity instruments of 34.1% (2021: 
35.5%), real estate of 27.2% (2021: 
22.7%) and other of 3.6% (2021: 2.9%).

The expected contributions to be paid 
by the employer into the plan for 2023 
are USD 14.5 million.
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Movement in the employees’ post-employment benefit obligation over the year 2021

in TUSD Present value 
of obligation

Fair value of 
plan assets

Net post- 
employment  

benefit  
obligation

At 1 January 2021 301,266 –208,244 93,022

Included in profit or loss:

– Current service cost 31,738 0 31,738

– Plan amendments 522 0 522

– Interest expense/(income) 596 –415 181

– General administration costs 0 305 305

– Exchange differences –7,802 5,412 –2,390

Total 25,054 5,302 30,356

Remeasurements included in comprehensive income:

– Return on plan assets, excluding interest income 0 –17,542 –17,542

– (Gain)/loss from change in demographic assumptions –18,560 0 –18,560

– (Gain)/loss from change in financial assumptions –8,504 0 –8,504

– Experience (gains)/loss 1,336 0 1,336

Total –25,728 –17,542 –43,270

Contributions and benefits paid:

– Plan participants 9,055 –9,055 0

– Employer 0 –14,921 –14,921

– Benefit payments –15,302 15,302 0

Total –6,247 –8,674 –14,921

At 31 December 2021 294,345 –229,158 65,187

Of which

– Due to active members 280,438

– Due to pensioners 13,907

Principal actuarial assumptions

31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Discount rate 2.30% 0.35%

Future salary increases 2.00% 1.00%

Future pension increases 0.50% 0.50%

Inflation rate 1.50% 0.50%

Assumptions regarding future 
mortality as presented below are set 
based on Swiss BVG/LLP 2020 
mortality tables for 2022 (2021: 

Swiss BVG/LLP 2020), which include 
generational mortality rates allowing 
for future projections of increasing 
longevity.
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31 Dec 2022 31 Dec 2021

Longevity at age 63/62 for current pensioners:

– male 24.66 24.53

– female 27.51 27.39
Longevity at age 63/62 for employees retiring 20 years after the end of the reporting 
period:
– male 26.98 26.88

– female 29.56 29.46

Sensitivity of the employees’ post-employment benefit obligation to changes  
in the weighted principal assumption at 31 December 2022

Impact on post-employment benefit obligations

Change in  
assumption

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.25% Decrease 3.73% Increase 4.00%

Future salary increases 0.25% Increase 0.31% Decrease 0.30%

Future pension increases 0.25% Increase 1.82% Decrease 1.75%

Sensitivity of the employees’ post-employment benefit obligation to changes 
in the weighted principal assumption at 31 December 2021

Impact on post-employment benefit obligations

Change in  
assumption

Increase in 
assumption

Decrease in 
assumption

Discount rate 0.25% Decrease 4.52% Increase 4.89%

Future salary increases 0.25% Increase 0.42% Decrease 0.41%

Future pension increases 0.25% Increase 2.31% Decrease 2.19%

The above sensitivity analyses are 
based on a change in assumption 
while holding all other assumptions 
constant. In practice, this is unlikely to 
occur, and changes in some of the 
assumptions may be correlated. When 
calculating the sensitivity of the 
post-employment benefit obligation to 
significant actuarial assumptions, the 
same method (present value of the 
defined post-employment obligation 
calculated with the projected unit 

credit method at the end of the 
reporting period) has been applied as 
when calculating the net post-
employment benefit obligation 
recognised within the balance sheet.

The weighted average duration of the 
post-employment benefit obligation is 
16 years (2021: 19.2 years). 

Accounting estimates and 
judgements
The rates and parameters applied 
above are based on past experience. 
Future developments in capital and 
labour markets could make 
adjustments of such rates necessary, 
which could significantly affect the 
calculation of the net post-
employment benefit obligation.
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32  Contingent liabilities

FIFA is currently involved in a number 
of legal disputes arising from its 
operating activities. In relation to the 
majority of these disputes, FIFA 
considers the possibility of any 
outflow in settlement to be remote. 

Therefore, FIFA has not recognised a 
provision in relation to these legal 
matters.  

The safeguarding of FIFA’s interest in 
the ongoing legal matters and the 

protection against currently known 
legal risks will continue to generate 
some costs, which FIFA intends to limit 
to the strict minimum necessary.

33  Capital commitments

As at 31 December 2022, FIFA had no 
capital commitments (2021: FIFA had 
no capital commitments).

34  Related-party transactions

The following persons are regarded as 
related parties: members of the 
Council, the President, the Secretary 
General and the key management 
personnel as well as their close family 
members.

In 2022, short-term employee benefits 
for related parties amounted to USD 
30.2 million (2021: USD 30 million). In 
addition to these short-term employee 
benefits, FIFA contributes to post-
employment benefits. The pension 

expenses in 2022 amounted to USD 
1.8 million (2021: USD 1.6 million). 
Further disclosures and information 
are available in the “Compensation” 
section of the FIFA Annual Report 
2022.
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35  Consolidated subsidiaries

FIFA’s subsidiaries as at 31 December 2022 are set out below: 

Location of 
incorporation Activity

Ownership 
interest 

2022

Ownership 
interest 

2021

FIFA Museum AG Zurich, Switzerland Museum 100% 100%

FIFA Ticketing AG Zurich, Switzerland Ticket sales 100% 100%

FIFA Development Zurich AG Zurich, Switzerland Service company 100% 100%

FIFA Foundation Zurich, Switzerland Foundation 100% 100%

2018 FIFA World Cup Ticketing Limited Liability Company Moscow, Russia Ticket sales 100% 100%

FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 LLC Doha, Qatar Service company 51% 51%

FIFA Ticketing LLC Doha, Qatar Ticket sales 100% 100%

FWWC2023 Pty Ltd  Sydney, Australia Service company 100% 100%

FWC2026 US, Inc. Wilmington, USA Service company 100% 100%

FWC26 Canada Football Ltd. Victoria, Canada Service company 100% 100%

FWC2026 Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. Mexico City, Mexico Service company 100% 0%

FIFA Clearing House SAS Paris, France Service company 100% 0%

Hotel Ascot GmbH (in liquidation) Zurich, Switzerland Hotel industry 100% 100%

FIFA World Cup Brazil Assessoria Ltda. (in liquidation) Rio de Janeiro, Brazil Service company 100% 100%

FIFA Clearing House Stichting (liquidated) Amsterdam, Netherlands Service company 0% 100%

2010 FIFA World Cup Ticketing (Pty) Ltd (liquidated) Nasrec, South Africa Ticket sales 0% 100%

FIFA World Cup South Africa (Pty) Ltd (liquidated) Nasrec,South Africa Service company 0% 100%

FIFA World Cup South Africa (Pty) Ltd, 
2010 FIFA World Cup Ticketing (Pty) Ltd 
and FIFA Clearing House Stichting 
were fully liquidated as at 
31 December 2022. The latter has 
been replaced by the newly 
established FIFA Clearing House SAS, 
which has assumed the same 
intermediary role for the processing of 
training reward payments with a view 
of protecting the integrity of football. 

Other noteworthy changes in 2022 
were the ongoing voluntary liquidation 
of FIFA World Cup Brazil Assessoria 
Ltda. and the establishment of 
FWC2026 Mexico, S. de R.L. de C.V. to 
operate the final competition of the 
FIFA World Cup 2026TM.

FIFA’s 51% ownership of the subsidiary 
FIFA World Cup Qatar 2022 LLC does 
not coincide with the economic result 
allocation, as the equity of the 
subsidiary is fully attributable to FIFA. 
No non-controlling interests are 
therefore disclosed in these 
consolidated financial statements.

36  Post-balance-sheet events

The FIFA Council authorised the issue 
of these consolidated financial 
statements on 14 February 2023. Up 
to this date, no other events have 
occurred since 31 December 2022 that 

would require any adjustment to the 
carrying amount of FIFA’s assets and 
liabilities as at 31 December 2022  
and/or disclosure. The consolidated 
financial statements for 2022 will be 

submitted to the FIFA Congress for 
approval on 16 March 2023.
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Report of the statutory auditor to the Congress  
of Fédération Internationale de Football Association  
(FIFA) on the audit of the consolidated financial  
statements 2022

Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated 
financial statements of Fédération 
Internationale de Football Association 
(FIFA) and its subsidiaries (the Group), 
which comprise the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income 
for the year ended 31 December 
2022, the consolidated balance 
sheet as at 31 December 2022, the 
consolidated cash flow statement and 
the consolidated statement of changes 
in reserves for the year then ended 
and notes to the consolidated financial 
statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated 
financial statements (pages 244 to 
293) give a true and fair view of the 
consolidated financial position of the 
Group as at 31 December 2022 and 
its consolidated financial performance 
and its consolidated cash flows for the 
year then ended in accordance with 
the International Financial Reporting 
Standards (IFRS) and comply with 
Swiss law.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance 
with Swiss law, International Standards 
on Auditing (ISAs) and the Swiss 
Standards on Auditing (SA-CH). Our 
responsibilities under these regulations 
and standards are further described 
in the ‘Auditor’s responsibilities for 
the audit of the consolidated financial 
statements’ section of our report. 
We are independent of the Group 
in accordance with the provisions of 
Swiss law and the requirements of 
the Swiss audit profession, as well as 
the International Code of Ethics for 
Professional Accountants (including 
International Independence Standards) 
of the International Ethics Standards 
Board for Accountants (IESBA Code), 
and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence 
we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for  
our opinion.

Our audit approach — Overview

Materiality

Audit 
scope

Key audit
matters

Overall Group materiality:  
USD 34.1 million

We performed full scope audit work at 
the parent association (FIFA) in Switzer-
land and one subsidiary in Qatar.

Our full scope audit addressed 
99.9% of the revenue, 98.6% of the 
expenses and 87.8% of the assets of 
the Group. In addition, we performed 
specified procedures on assets held 
in a subsidiary in Switzerland and in 
Qatar, addressing a further 8.5% of the 
Group’s assets. 

As key audit matters, the following 
areas of focus have been identified:
—  Appropriateness and application  

of the revenue recognition policy
—   Financial implications of legal cases 

and/or potential claims
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Materiality 
The scope of our audit was influenced 
by our application of materiality. 
Our audit opinion aims to provide 
reasonable assurance that the 
consolidated financial statements 
are free from material misstatement. 
Misstatements may arise due to fraud 
or error. They are considered material 
if, individually or in aggregate, they 
could reasonably be expected to influ-
ence the economic decisions of users 
taken on the basis of the consolidated 
financial statements.

Based on our professional judgement, 
we determined certain quantitative 
thresholds for materiality, including 
the overall Group materiality for the 
consolidated financial statements as 
a whole as set out in the table below. 
These, together with qualitative 
considerations, helped us to determine 
the scope of our audit and the 
nature, timing and extent of our audit 
procedures and to evaluate the effect 
of misstatements, both individually 
and in aggregate, on the consolidated 
financial statements as a whole.

Audit scope 
We tailored the scope of our audit in 
order to perform sufficient work to 
enable us to provide an opinion on 
the consolidated financial statements 
as a whole, taking into account the 
structure of the Group, the accounting 
processes and controls, and the 
industry in which the Group operates. 

FIFA is an international not-for-profit 
association incorporated under Swiss 
law and based in Zurich. Its vision, as 
expressed within the FIFA Statutes, 
is to promote the game of football, 
protect its integrity and bring the 
game to all. FIFA’s activities include 
the organisation and realisation of 
global football tournaments, including 
the FIFA World Cup™, and the sale 
of the television broadcasting rights, 
marketing rights and licensing rights 
for these events. Most of the Group’s 
operations are conducted by the 
parent association (FIFA), although 
there are 14 subsidiaries that 
undertake specific activities, including 
operating a museum.

FIFA has 211 member associations 
(MAs), which together form the FIFA 
Congress, the supreme legislative 
body of FIFA. The MAs receive financial 
assistance from FIFA earmarked for 
specific football-related projects. 
The MAs are not considered to be 
controlled by FIFA as defined by the 
relevant financial reporting standard 
and, therefore, expenditures incurred 
by the MAs are excluded from the 
consolidated financial statements. 

In addition to our full scope audit 
of the parent association and one 
subsidiary in Qatar, we performed 
specified procedures on the cash 
and cash equivalents held by the 
FIFA Ticketing LLC in Qatar and on 
the property and equipment held 
by FIFA Museum AG considering the 
significance of the balances.

Key audit matters 
Key audit matters are those matters 
that, in our professional judgement, 
were of most significance in our 
audit of the consolidated financial 
statements of the current period. 
These matters were addressed 
in the context of our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements as 
a whole, and in forming our opinion 
thereon, and we do not provide a 
separate opinion on these matters.

Overall Group materiality USD 34.1 million

Benchmark applied Total expenses (expenses from football 
activities, administrative activities and other 
expenses)

Rationale for the materiality  
benchmark applied

FIFA is a not-for-profit association and due 
to its four-year revenue cycle, has uneven 
revenue flows leading to volatile annual 
income and results. We therefore chose 
total expenses as the benchmark for our 
materiality which is a commonly used 
benchmark for not-for-profit associations.
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Appropriateness and application  
of the revenue recognition policy

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key  
audit matter

In the 2022 financial year, total revenue 
amounted to USD 5,644.4 million. 
Event-related revenue was attributable 
to the sale of television broadcasting 
rights (USD 2,958.4 million), marketing 
rights (USD 1,424.5 million), licensing 
rights (USD 270.4 million) and 
hospitality and ticketing revenue (USD 
929.0 million). The increase in revenue 
compared with the prior year is mainly 
driven by the revenue earned from the 
FIFA World Cup 2022™.

FIFA has a four-year revenue cycle, 
which is dominated by the FIFA 
World Cup™ which occurred in 2022. 
Therefore the current cycle was 
completed as at 31 December 2022. 
FIFA usually signs major contracts 
for television broadcasting rights, 
marketing rights, licensing rights and 
hospitality rights for at least a full four-
year cycle.

We considered revenue recognition 
and the application of IFRS 15 for the 
above-mentioned revenue streams 
to be a key audit matter because of 
the risk of material misstatement in 
the consolidated financial statements 
given the complexity of the contracts 
concerned and the judgements and 
estimates required of management. 
The timing of revenue recognition 
for each revenue type and contract 
may differ considerably. For more 
detailed information on the accounting 
policy regarding revenue recognition, 
including the assumptions, please refer 
to pages 249 and 250 in the Notes to 
the consolidated financial statements.

FIFA management reviewed all new 
significant revenue contracts in 2022 relating 
to the sale of television broadcasting rights, 
marketing rights and licensing rights, 
and presented for our audit its revenue 
recognition approach for each contract. 
In 2019, FIFA updated the allocation of 
consideration to different performance 
obligations of the television broadcasting 
and marketing rights for the 2019-2022 
cycle based on the latest reports on 
broadcasting. Due to COVID-19 and the 
fact that tournaments were cancelled or 
postponed, FIFA had to update the allocation 
in 2020. We assessed the company’s revenue 
recognition policy in accordance with IFRS 
15.

For the 2022 financial year, we reviewed 
whether the assumptions described on 
pages 249 and 250 defined in prior years 
were still valid.

For revenue contracts signed before
2022 and for which the revenue is to be 
recognised over time, we performed the 
following:

— We examined audit evidence to ensure  
     that the contract terms were unchanged 
     from the prior year.
—  We verified that the contractual 

arrangements continued to satisfy the 
conditions required for revenue to be 
recognised over time.

—  We reperformed the allocation of the 
full contract price to the performance 
obligations in the contract based on the 
underlying inputs.

—  We checked the mathematical accuracy 
of the revenue recognition calculation 
prepared by FIFA.

—  We verified the accounting entries for the 
2022 financial year.

REPORTS TO THE FIFA CONGRESS
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Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key  
audit matter

For new significant contracts signed in 2022, 
we performed the following:

—  We independently identified the 
performance obligations in the contracts 
and compared them with management’s 
assessment.

—  We verified management’s assessment 
of the full contract price to underlying 
contract terms.

—  For broadcasting revenue, we 
reperformed the allocation of the full 
contract price to the performance 
obligations in the contract based on the 
underlying inputs, such as forecasted 
broadcast hours, developed by FIFA.

—  For the key inputs used to allocate 
marketing revenues to different 
performance obligations, we reperformed 
the allocation using available information 
or we compared management’s 
judgements with third party information 
or valuations performed for FIFA.

—  For the television broadcasting rights 
and marketing rights, we compared the 
underlying inputs used by FIFA with third 
party reports and forecasted broadcast 
hours for which the prior revenue cycle is 
the basis.

—  We checked the mathematical accuracy 
of the revenue recognition calculation 
prepared by FIFA.

—  We verified the accounting entries for the 
2022 financial year.

 We evaluated the appropriateness of the 
disclosures in Notes 1 to 4. 

On the basis of the procedures performed, 
we obtained sufficient evidence to evaluate 
and conclude on management’s judgements 
applied and assumptions made in relation 
to revenue recognition and the related 
disclosures.
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Financial implications of legal cases  
and/or potential claims

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key  
audit matter

As disclosed in Note 26 to the 
consolidated financial statements, 
provisions are recorded to cover legal 
exposures to the extent that a future 
outflow of resources embodying 
economic benefits is probable and can 
be estimated.

We consider the accounting for the 
financial implications of these ongoing 
legal cases to be a key audit matter 
due to the related uncertainty and 
magnitude.

From a financial reporting perspective, 
determining whether and when 
a provision is required for fines, 
penalties or other payments of punitive 
character is a critical judgement. This 
judgement requires an assessment of 
the probability that a payment will have 
to be made and a reliable estimate 
of the amount of that payment. In 
addition, the adequacy and accuracy 
of the related disclosures is critical for 
a reader of the consolidated financial 
statements.

Further, there is a risk that these legal 
cases might lead to additional liabilities 
for FIFA, which are not reflected in the 
consolidated financial statements. This 
risk is disclosed in Note 32.

We read FIFA’s internal overview of pending 
litigation prepared by its legal department. 
On the basis of this document and the 
details of legal expenses in the accounting 
records, we identified the more significant 
matters with which either the main 
external legal counsel or the internal legal 
department is involved and performed the 
following:

—  We sent letters of enquiry to 31 lawyers 
concerning various legal cases, which 
were selected on the basis of quantita-
tive and qualitative criteria. The responses 
provided an independent summary of 
the facts and merits of each case. Where 
possible, they also gave an independent 
professional perspective of the likely 
outcome.

—  We assessed those legal cases handled 
by FIFA’s own legal department and 
discussed the most important legal 
cases with FIFA’s management, FIFA’s 
legal department  and various legal 
counsellors.

—  On the basis of our discussions and 
communications with FIFA’s external legal 
counsel and internal legal department, 
we identified existing and potential claims 
in connection with the preparation of 
the consolidated financial statements. 
The lawyers’ responses we obtained 
helped us assessing management’s 
judgements regarding the recognition 
and measurement of a provision for fines, 
penalties or other payments of punitive 
character in the consolidated financial 
statements.

We evaluated the appropriateness of 
the disclosures in Note 32 relating to the 
potential financial exposure arising from 
ongoing litigation.

On the basis of the procedures performed, 
we obtained sufficient evidence to evaluate 
and conclude on management’s judgements 
regarding the level of provisioning and 
disclosures for legal exposures.

REPORTS TO THE FIFA CONGRESS
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Other information in the annual 
report 
The FIFA Council is responsible for 
the other information. The other 
information comprises all information 
included in the annual report, but does 
not include the consolidated financial 
statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon. 

Our opinion on the consolidated 
financial statements does not cover 
the other information and we do 
not express any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the 
consolidated financial statements, 
our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider 
whether the other information is 
materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or 
our knowledge obtained in the audit, 
or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated. 

If, based on the work we have 
performed, we conclude that there is 
a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report 
that fact. We have nothing to report in 
this regard.

FIFA Council’s responsibilities for the 
consolidated financial statements 
The FIFA Council is responsible for 
the preparation of the consolidated 
financial statements that give a true 
and fair view in accordance with IFRS 
and the provisions of Swiss law, and 
for such internal control as the FIFA 
Council determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated 
financial statements that are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to 
fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial 
statements, the FIFA Council is 
responsible for assessing the Group’s 
ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters 
related to going concern and using 
the going concern basis of accounting 

unless the FIFA Council either 
intends to liquidate the Group or to 
cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audit of the consolidated financial 
statements 
Our objectives are to obtain 
reasonable assurance about 
whether the consolidated financial 
statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue 
an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Swiss law, ISAs and 
SA-CH will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud 
or error and are considered material 
if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected 
to influence the economic decisions 
of users taken on the basis of these 
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance 
with Swiss law, ISAs and SA-CH,  
we exercise professional judgement 
and maintain professional scepticism 
throughout the audit. We also:

—  Identify and assess the risks of 
material misstatement of the 
consolidated financial statements, 
whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those 
risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 
The risk of not detecting a 
material misstatement resulting 
from fraud is higher than for one 
resulting from error, as fraud 
may involve collusion, forgery, 
intentional omissions, mis-
representations, or the override 
of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of 
internal control relevant to the 

audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in 
the circumstances, but not for the 
purpose of expressing an opinion 
on the effectiveness of the Group’s 
internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the rea-
sonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made.

—  Conclude on the appropriateness 
of the FIFA Council’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting 
and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material 
uncertainty exists related to events 
or conditions that may cast signifi-
cant doubt on the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. 
If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required 
to draw attention in our auditor’s 
report to the related disclosures 
in the consolidated financial 
statements or, if such disclosures 
are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained 
up to the date of our auditor’s 
report. However, future events or 
conditions may cause the Group 
to cease to continue as a going 
concern.

—  Evaluate the overall presentation, 
structure and content of the 
consolidated financial statements, 
including the disclosures, and 
whether the consolidated financial 
statements represent the underlying 
transactions and events in a man-
ner that achieves fair presentation.
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—  Obtain sufficient appropriate audit 
evidence regarding the financial 
information of the entities or 
business activities within the Group 
to express an opinion on the 
consolidated financial statements. 
We are responsible for the direction, 
supervision and performance of 
the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the FIFA 
Council or its relevant committee 
regarding, among other matters, 
the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, 
including any significant deficiencies in 
internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the FIFA Council 
or its relevant committee with a 
statement that we have complied 
with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and 
communicate with them all 
relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear 
on our independence, and where 
applicable, actions taken to eliminate 
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated 
with the FIFA Council or its relevant 
committee, we determine those 
matters that were of most significance 
in the audit of the consolidated 
financial statements of the current 
period and are therefore the key audit 
matters. We describe these matters 
in our auditor’s report unless law or 
regulation precludes public disclosure 
about the matter or when, in extremely 
rare circumstances, we determine that 
a matter should not be communicated 
in our report because the adverse 
consequences of doing so would 
reasonably be expected to outweigh 
the public interest benefits of such 
communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory 
requirements 
In accordance with article 69b 
paragraph 3 CC in connection with 
article 728a paragraph 1 item 3 CO 
and PS-CH 890, we confirm that an 
internal control system exists which 
has been designed for the preparation 
of consolidated financial statements 
according to the instructions of the 
FIFA Council.

We recommend that the consolidated 
financial statements submitted to you 
be approved.

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG

Patrick Balkanyi 
Audit expert                                        
Auditor in charge

Yvonne Burger 
Audit expert

Zurich, 14 February 2023

PricewaterhouseCoopers AG
Birchstrasse 160
8050 Zurich
Switzerland
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Governance, Audit and Compliance Committee report on the 
consolidated financial statements for 2022

In our role as the FIFA Governance, 
Audit and Compliance Committee, we 
have assessed the consolidated financial 
statements (consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income, consolidated 
balance sheet, consolidated cash flow 
statement, consolidated statement of 
changes in reserves and notes to the 
consolidated financial statements) of the 
Fédération Internationale de Football 
Association for the period from 1 
January 2022 to 31 December 2022. We 
confirm that we fulfil the independence 
criteria as defined in article 5 of the FIFA 
Governance Regulations. According 
to article 49 of the FIFA Statutes, it 
is our responsibility to ensure the 
completeness and reliability of the 
financial accounting and to review the 
consolidated financial statements and 
the external auditor’s report. We have 
assessed the financial statements for 
2022 through:

—  discussion of the financial 
statements during the meeting of the 
Governance, Audit and Compliance 
Committee held on 13 February 2023 
in the presence of the FIFA Deputy 
Secretary General (Administration), 
the FIFA Chief Finance Officer and  
the external auditors;

—  examination of the detailed report 
to the Governance, Audit and 
Compliance Committee and to the 
FIFA Council for the year ended 31 
December 2022; and

—  examination of the report of the 
statutory auditor to the FIFA Congress 
on the consolidated financial 
statements for 2022.

We have also assessed the accounting 
principles used, significant estimates 
made and overall presentation of the 
consolidated financial statements. We 
believe that our assessment provides 
a reasonable basis for our opinion. 
Furthermore, we confirm that we 
have had unrestricted and complete 
access to all the relevant documents 
and information necessary for our 
assessment. In addition, we advised and 
assisted the FIFA Council in monitoring 
FIFA’s financial and compliance matters 
and monitored compliance as set out 
in the FIFA Governance Regulations. 
On this basis, we recommend that the 
FIFA Congress approve the consolidated 
financial statements for 2022. 

For the Governance, Audit and 
Compliance Committee

Mukul Mudgal 
Chairperson

 
Zurich, 13 February 2023
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2019-2022 CYCLE: CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND NOTES | ANNEXE

Consolidated statement 2019-2022

Consolidated statement of comprehensive income 2019–2022

in TUSD Note 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

REVENUE

Revenue from television broadcasting rights 1  342,602  1,724  123,119  2,958,352  3,425,797 

Revenue from marketing rights 2  164,848  74,450  131,387  1,424,524  1,795,209 

Revenue from licensing rights 3  159,527  158,881  180,202  270,397  769,007 

Revenue from hospitality rights and ticket sales 4  7,931 0  12,172  929,016  949,119 

Other revenue 5  69,284  29,020  85,621  62,072  245,997 

Other income 6  21,482  2,466  233,987  124,852  382,787 

Total revenue and other income  765,674  266,541  766,488  5,769,213  7,567,916 

EXPENSES

Competitions & Events 7  –239,203  –63,385  –234,380  –2,005,358  –2,542,326

Development & Education 8  –512,701  –470,603  –554,763  –1,038,113  –2,576,180

Football Governance 9  –32,765  –30,276  –43,877  –40,278  –147,196

Total expenses from football activities  –784,669  –564,264  –833,020  –3,083,749  –5,265,702

FIFA Governance & Administration 10  –217,943  –168,901  –191,967  –187,846  –766,657

Marketing & TV Broadcasting 11  –43,643  –40,928  –52,384  –132,396  –269,351
Total expenses from administrative 
activities  –261,586  –209,829  –244,351  –320,242  –1,036,008

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3) 12 0  –270,500  –44,500  –6,500  –321,500

Total other expenses 0  –270,500  –44,500  –6,500  –321,500

Result before taxes and financial result  –280,581  –778,052  –355,383  2,358,722  944,706 

Taxes and duties  –623  –471  –1,591  –22,716  –25,401

Financial income and costs, net  95,916  95,529  44,762  31,877  268,084 

Net result for the year  –185,288  –682,994  –312,212  2,367,883  1,187,389 
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Notes 2019–2022

Notes to the revenue accounts 2019–2022

1 Revenue from television broadcasting rights

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

Europe 27,963 0 2,179 1,030,880 1,061,022

Asia and North Africa 102,735 0 46,888 875,120 1,024,743

South and Central America 75,478 0 24,294 351,526 451,298

North America and the Caribbean 92,090 0 38,986 518,965 650,041

Rest of the world 3,263 0 1,810 103,111 108,184
Total revenue from television broadcasting 
rights by region 301,529 0 114,157 2,879,602 3,295,288

Other broadcasting revenue 12,807 1,626 2,246 75,416 92,095

Other FIFA event revenue 28,266 98 6,716 3,334 38,414
Total revenue from television broadcasting 
rights 342,602 1,724 123,119 2,958,352 3,425,797

2 Revenue from marketing rights

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

FIFA Partners 139,090 56,723 93,172 762,568 1,051,553
FIFA World Cup Sponsors/FIFA Women's World 
Cup Sponsors 17,379 17,138 30,078 534,527 599,122

FIFA Regional Supporters 0 589 5,326 122,028 127,943

FIFA National Supporters 8,379 0 1,059 2,793 12,231

World Cup Partners/Women's Football Partners 0 0 1,752 2,608 4,360

Total revenue from marketing rights 164,848 74,450 131,387 1,424,524 1,795,209

3 Revenue from licensing rights

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

Brand licensing rights  153,433  157,302  178,573  268,139 757,447

Other licensing rights  6,094  1,579  1,629  2,258 11,560

Total revenue from licensing rights 159,527 158,881 180,202 270,397 769,007
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4 Revenue from hospitality rights and ticket sales

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total
Revenue from hospitality rights – FIFA World 
Cup™ 0 0 0 242,900 242,900

Revenue from ticket sales – FIFA World Cup™ 0 0 0 685,881 685,881

Revenue from ticket sales – other FIFA events 7,931 0 12,172 235 20,338
Total revenue from hospitality rights and 
ticket sales 7,931 0 12,172 929,016 949,119

5 Other revenue

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

FIFA Club World Cup™  23,118 0  26,567 26,080 75,765

FIFA Quality Programme  16,493 9,441  17,386 11,133 54,453

Olympic Football Tournaments 0 0  25,950 0 25,950

Penalties/appeals  7,571 6,029  3,029 5,241 21,870

Income from the sale of film and video rights  1,899 3,524  3,971 10,176 19,570

FIFA Museum  3,492 1,518  2,539 5,163 12,712

Revenue from prior cycles and other  16,711 8,508  6,179 4,279 35,677

Total other revenue 69,284 29,020 85,621 62,072 245,997

6 Other income

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

Other operating income  21,482 2,466  233,987 124,852 382,787

Total other income 21,482 2,466 233,987 124,852 382,787
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Notes 2019-2022

Notes to the expense accounts 2019-2022

7 Competitions & Events

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

FIFA World Cup™ 0 0 0 1,831,193 1,831,193

FIFA U-20 Women`s World Cup Costa Rica 2022™ 0 0 0 16,311 16,311

FIFA U-17 Women`s World Cup India 2022™ 0 0 0 15,563 15,563
FIFA World Cup™ intercontinental play-off 
matches 0 0 0 2,177 2,177

FIFA Arab Cup 2021™ 0 0 86,303 –57 86,246

FIFA Futsal World Cup Lithuania 2021™ 0 0 15,672 –30 15,642

Olympic Football Tournaments Tokyo 2020 0 0 12,427 4 12,431

FIFA Beach Soccer World Cup Russia 2021™ 0 0 5,868 11 5,879

FIFA Women`s World Cup France 2019™ 156,891 –1,463 –102 0 155,326

FIFA U-17 World Cup Brazil 2019™ 25,971 256 0 0 26,227

FIFA U-20 World Cup Poland 2019 23,840 79 –2 0 23,917

FIFA Beach Soccer World Cup Paraguay 2019™ 5,510 610 0 0 6,120

FIFA Club World Cup™ 22,069 –44 21,759 23,440 67,224

FIFA eFootball tournaments 5,616 8,430 7,890 12,011 33,947

The Best FIFA Football Awards™ 9,108 1,734 405 2,176 13,423

Blue Stars/FIFA Youth Cup™ 1,076 0 0 881 1,957

FIFA events from previous cycles –90,897 –222 –896 –119,475 –211,490

Value-in-kind and other 18,192 3,690 8,964 130,223 161,069

Total other FIFA events 177,376 13,070 158,288 83,235 431,969

FIFA Club Protection Programme 24,814 10,194 22,724 22,249 79,981

Personnel expenses 33,760 35,667 47,885 61,137 178,449

Depreciation of property and equipment 3,253 4,454 5,483 7,544 20,734

Total Competitions & Events 239,203 63,385 234,380 2,005,358 2,542,326
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8 Development & Education

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

FIFA Forward project costs member associations 73,629 43,166 46,840 258,365 422,000
FIFA Forward operational costs member 
associations 211,000 211,000 211,000 211,000 844,000

FIFA Forward confederations 72,000 72,000 72,000 72,000 288,000

FIFA Forward travel and equipment 32,400 21,600 31,600 22,000 107,600

FIFA Forward zonal/regional associations 13,000 13,000 13,000 13,000 52,000

FIFA Forward other football associations 2,400 0 1,200 1,800 5,400

Football Development Fund 0 0 0 27,000 27,000

FIFA Talent Development Scheme 0 0 0 209,550 209,550

Other projects 8,363 11,676 16,160 43,748 79,947

World Football Remission Fund 0 0 60,429 0 60,429

Digital development services 0 0 0 52,583 52,583

Technical development programmes 9,140 10,745 12,132 19,790 51,807

Refereeing 12,727 3,694 4,159 9,387 29,967

Women’s football promotion 9,192 1,317 3,283 8,410 22,202

Education 4,645 4,666 4,844 4,695 18,850

FIFA Foundation 1,919 4,768 4,788 5,562 17,037

Audit and financial education 2,876 1,843 2,936 3,292 10,947

WHO solidarity fund 0 10,000 0 0 10,000

Sustainability, human rights and safeguarding 473 699 1,153 7,605 9,930

Medicine and science 1,280 689 1,220 1,909 5,098

Total Development & Education programmes 455,044 410,863 486,744 971,696 2,324,347

FIFA Museum 6,322 3,765 4,666 6,177 20,930

Personnel expenses 30,747 34,319 41,090 43,584 149,740

Depreciation of property and equipment 20,588 21,656 22,263 16,656 81,163

Total Development & Education 512,701 470,603 554,763 1,038,113 2,576,180

9 Football Governance

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total
Football Governance bodies and third-party 
services 12,318 10,205 23,834 20,783 67,140

Personnel expenses 18,315 17,983 18,295 17,713 72,306

Depreciation of property and equipment 2,132 2,088 1,748 1,782 7,750

Total Football Governance 32,765 30,276 43,877 40,278 147,196
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10  FIFA Governance & Administration

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

Information technology 22,487 24,876 25,423 18,503 91,289

Communications 24,317 16,108 26,101 16,889 83,415

Legal costs 10,692 11,580 23,947 12,392 58,611

Annual FIFA Congress and committees 26,458 4,342 3,446 19,486 53,732

Buildings and maintenance 7,436 5,530 7,116 6,079 26,161
Expected credit losses of receivables and contract 
assets 1,495 210 –185 1,609 3,129

Other (including consultancy, Executive Offices, 
ERP costs, insurance and auditors‘ fees, VIK) 16,481 9,049 19,731 31,620 76,881

Personnel expenses 99,982 89,972 80,771 76,083 346,808

Depreciation of property and equipment 8,595 7,234 5,617 5,185 26,631

Total FIFA Governance & Administration 217,943 168,901 191,967 187,846 766,657

11  Marketing & TV Broadcasting

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

Marketing rights 12,388 9,827 9,256 15,849 47,320

Broadcasting and media rights 5,083 4,777 8,685 14,096 32,641

Licensing rights 2,087 2,934 3,129 3,794 11,944

Sales commission and other 5,923 688 4,257 72,309 83,177

Personnel expenses 16,554 20,831 25,064 24,144 86,593

Depreciation of property and equipment 1,608 1,871 1,993 2,204 7,676

Total Marketing & TV Broadcasting 43,643 40,928 52,384 132,396 269,351

12  COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

in TUSD 2019 2020 2021 2022 Total

COVID-19 Relief Plan – solidarity grants 0 186,000 22,000 2,000 210,000

COVID-19 Relief Plan – women’s football grants 0 72,500 22,500 4,500 99,500

COVID-19 Relief Plan – confederation grants 0 12,000 0 0 12,000

Total COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3) 0 270,500 44,500 6,500 321,500
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FIFA Forward funds overview
FIFA Forward funds to member associations (TUSD)1

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Member 
associations

Total Forward 
funds available  

2019-2022

Total Forward  
funds released4

Percentage of total 
funds released

Total Forward 
funds available 

2016-2018

Total Forward 
funds released4

Percentage of total 
funds released

Project costs2  422,000  150,871 36%  474,750  383,918 81%

Operational costs  844,000  806,346 96%  316,500  313,800 99%

Travel and equipment costs 107,600  97,494 91%  81,375  79,263 97%

Total  1,373,600  1,054,711 77% 872,625  776,982 89%

FIFA Forward funds to confederations (TUSD)

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Confederation
Total Forward 

funds available  
2019-2022

Total Forward  
funds released4

Percentage of total 
funds released

Total Forward 
funds available 

2016-2018

Total Forward 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

AFC  48,000  48,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

CAF  48,000  48,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

Concacaf  48,000  48,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

CONMEBOL  48,000  48,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

OFC  48,000  48,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

UEFA  48,000  48,000 100%  30,000  30,000 100%

Total  288,000  288,000 100%  180,000  180,000 100%

FIFA Forward funds to zonal/regional associations (TUSD)

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Confederation of 
zonal/regional 
associations

Total Forward 
funds available  

2019-2022

Total Forward  
funds released4

Percentage of total 
funds released

Total Forward 
funds available 

2016-2018

Total Forward 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

AFC  20,000  20,000 100%  10,000  10,000 100%

CAF  24,000  24,000 100%  12,000  12,000 100%

Concacaf  8,000  8,000 100%  4,000  4,000 100%

Total  52,000  52,000 100%  26,000  26,000 100%

FIFA Forward funds to other football associations (TUSD)

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Other associations
Total Forward 

funds available  
2019-2022

Total Forward  
funds released4

Percentage of total 
funds released

Total Forward 
funds available 

2016-2018

Total Forward 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

Other football associations 5,400 4,900 91% 0 0 0%

Total  5,400 4,900 91%  0 0 0%

FIFA Forward funds to Football Development Fund (TUSD)

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Football 
Development Fund

Total Forward 
funds available  

2019-2022

Total Forward  
funds released4

Percentage of total 
funds released

Total Forward 
funds available 

2016-2018

Total Forward 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

Football Development Fund3 27,000 0 0% 0 0 0%

Total  27,000 0 0%  0 0 0%

Total 1,746,000 1,399,611 80%  1,078,625 982,981 91%

1. For further details of FIFA Forward funds released to member associations, please see pages 311 to 317.
2.  Forward 1.0 and Forward 2.0 funds budgeted for specific projects of member associations that have not been approved for use by 31 December 2024 will be automatically   
    transferred to the Football Development Fund by 31 December 2024. 
3.  Forward 2.0 funds budgeted for travel and football equipment as well as for other football associations that were not approved for use by 31 December 2022 were automatically 

transferred to the Football Development Fund by the same date.
4. Forward funds released include COVID-19 Relief Plan funds amounting to USD 133 million; for further details, please see pages 311 to 317.
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FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Available 
funds  

2019-2022 
(TUSD)5

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)6

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)6

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 
1 & 2)6

Travel and 
equipment 

costs Total7

Percentage 
of funds
released

Available 
funds 

2016-2018 
(TUSD)5

Percentage  
of funds 
released

Afghanistan  7,000  298  2,489  800  1,010  4,597 66%  4,445 100%

Australia  6,000  977  3,500  500  0    4,977 83%  3,750 100%

Bahrain  6,000  1,660  3,500  500  0    5,660 94%  4,376 100%

Bangladesh  7,000  0  3,115  885  900  4,900 70%  4,445 63%

Bhutan  7,000  675  3,500  500  1,000  5,675 81%  4,445 97%

Brunei Darussalam  7,000  1,247  3,250  750  1,000  6,247 89%  4,425 99%

Cambodia  7,000  1,004  3,450  550  1,000  6,004 86%  4,445 100%

China PR  6,000  0    3,500  500  0    4,000 67%  3,851 100%

Chinese Taipei  6,000  638  3,250  750  0    4,638 77%  4,376 100%

Guam  7,000  0    3,400  600  1,000  5,000 71%  4,376 65%

Hong Kong  6,000  0    3,450  550  0    4,000 67%  4,376 90%

India  6,000  1,796  3,500  500    0  5,796 97%  3,900 100%

Indonesia  6,000  0    3,300  700  0    4,000 67%  4,445 86%

IR Iran  6,000  0    0  928  0    928 15%  3,851 67%

Iraq  6,200  0    300  900  100  1,300 21%  4,425 46%

Japan  6,000  2,000  3,500  500  0    6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Jordan  6,000  0    3,500  500  0    4,000 67%  4,376 100%

Korea DPR  7,000  0    0    0    0    0   0%  4,376 15%

Korea Republic  6,000  0    3,500  500  0    4,000 67%  3,851 74%

Kuwait  6,000  0    3,350  650  0    4,000 67%  4,425 61%

Kyrgyz Republic  7,000  800  3,500  500  1,000  5,800 83%  4,425 100%

Laos  7,000  350  3,000  1,000  1,000  5,350 76%  4,445 100%

Lebanon  7,000  316  3,500  500  1,000  5,316 76%  4,425 100%

Macau  7,000  2,000  3,400  600  1,000  7,000 100%  4,376 100%

Malaysia  6,000  0    3,450  550  0    4,000 67%  3,900 97%

Maldives  7,000  636  3,500  500  1,000  5,636 81%  4,425 97%

Mongolia  7,000  1,460  3,500  500  1,000  6,460 92%  4,425 100%

Myanmar  6,200  3  3,400  600  200  4,203 68%  4,376 100%

Nepal  7,000  0    2,642  550  600  3,792 54%  4,445 98%

Oman  6,000  1,507  3,400  600  0    5,507 92%  4,425 100%

Pakistan  7,000  0    150  944  100  1,195 17%  3,920 38%

Palestine  6,700  0    3,450  550  700  4,700 70%  4,376 97%

FIFA Forward funds to member associations 

5.  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity 
funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

6.  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance and gave them the 
opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

7.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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Philippines  7,000  0    3,050  950  1,000  5,000 71%  4,425 100%

Qatar  6,000  0    3,250  750  0    4,000 67%  3,851 82%

Saudi Arabia  6,000  0    3,250  750  0    4,000 67%  3,851 42%

Singapore  6,000  1,174  3,400  600  0    5,174 86%  4,376 99%

Sri Lanka  7,000  0    2,800  700  700  4,200 60%  4,425 54%

Syria  7,000  0    0    812  1,000  1,812 26%  4,445 49%

Tajikistan  7,000  1,600  3,450  550  1,000  6,600 94%  4,445 100%

Thailand  6,000  1,267  3,400  600  0    5,267 88%  3,851 100%

Timor-Leste  7,000  0    2,641  1,250  460  4,351 62%  4,445 49%

Turkmenistan  7,000  0    2,850  750  500  4,100 59%  4,425 49%

United Arab Emirates  6,000  33  3,400  600  0    4,033 67%  3,851 100%

Uzbekistan  6,400  755  3,100  500  200  4,555 71%  4,376 93%

Vietnam  6,300  594  3,350  650  300  4,894 78%  3,851 100%

Yemen  7,000  0    0    0    0    0   0%  4,445 3%

Total  299,800  22,790  132,188  28,919  18,770  202,667 68%  195,721 83%

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Available 
funds  

2019-2022 
(TUSD)5

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)6

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)6

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 
1 & 2)6

Travel and 
equipment 

costs Total7

Percentage 
of funds
released

Available 
funds 

2016-2018 
(TUSD)5

Percentage  
of funds 
released

Algeria  6,000 0 3,000 500 0 3,500 58%  3,900 42%

Angola  7,000 0 1,000 600 374 1,974 28%  4,445 39%

Benin  7,000 0 2,758 506 800 4,064 58%  4,445 96%

Botswana  7,000 180 3,500 500 1,000 5,180 74%  4,425 98%

Burkina Faso  6,700 0 3,500 500 700 4,700 70%  4,445 93%

Burundi  7,000 435 3,350 650 1,000 5,435 78%  4,445 100%

Cabo Verde  7,000 751 3,200 800 1,000 5,751 82%  4,445 99%

Cameroon  6,000 1,672 3,139 850 0 5,662 94%  3,900 100%

Central African Republic  7,000 189 3,146 850 1,000 5,185 74%  4,445 99%

Chad  7,000 0 2,600 750 905 4,255 61%  4,445 90%

Comoros  7,000 366 2,368 900 1,000 4,634 66%  4,445 71%

Congo  7,000 1,717 3,000 1,000 1,000 6,717 96%  4,445 100%

Congo DR  7,000 0 3,500 500 1,000 5,000 71%  4,445 49%

Côte d’Ivoire  6,000 0 1,800 1,500 0 3,300 55%  3,900 69%

Djibouti  7,000 1,942 3,500 500 1,000 6,942 99%  4,445 99%

Egypt  6,000 1,900 3,000 800 0 5,700 95%  4,445 100%

FIFA FORWARD FUNDS TO MEMBER ASSOCIATIONS | ANNEXE

5.  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity 
funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

6.  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance and gave them the 
opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

7.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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Equatorial Guinea  7,000 0 2,756 944 200 3,900 56%  4,425 90%

Eritrea  7,000 0 3,500 500 1,000 5,000 71%  4,445 51%

Eswatini  7,000 1,234 3,500 500 1,000 6,234 89%  4,445 100%

Ethiopia  7,000 967 3,500 500 1,000 5,967 85%  4,445 100%

Gabon  7,000 596 3,400 600 1,000 5,596 80%  4,425 94%

Gambia  7,000 1,529 3,400 600 1,000 6,529 93%  4,445 93%

Ghana  6,800 0 3,250 750 800 4,800 71%  3,900 85%

Guinea  7,000 817 3,000 500 800 5,117 73%  4,445 79%

Guinea-Bissau  7,000 299 2,300 1,700 1,000 5,299 76%  4,445 68%

Kenya  6,700 0 2,500 500 500 3,500 52%  4,445 99%

Lesotho  7,000 150 3,500 500 1,000 5,150 74%  4,445 81%

Liberia  7,000 1,735 3,500 500 1,000 6,735 96%  4,445 97%

Libya  7,000 1,384 2,050 1,850 800 6,084 87%  4,425 100%

Madagascar  7,000 0 2,350 1,050 900 4,300 61%  4,445 61%

Malawi  7,000 156 3,450 550 1,000 5,156 74%  4,445 98%

Mali  7,000 0 3,200 800 1,000 5,000 71%  4,445 83%

Mauritania  6,700 1,478 3,500 500 700 6,178 92%  4,445 100%

Mauritius  7,000 481 3,500 500 1,000 5,481 78%  4,425 92%

Morocco  6,000 2,000 3,150 850 0 6,000 100%  4,425 94%

Mozambique  7,000 719 3,400 600 1,000 5,719 82%  4,445 99%

Namibia  7,000 0 2,822 1,178 999 4,999 71%  4,425 93%

Niger  7,000 0 3,500 500 1,000 5,000 71%  4,445 92%

Nigeria  6,000 31 2,550 1,450 0 4,031 67%  3,900 86%

Rwanda  7,000 0 3,500 500 1,000 5,000 71%  4,445 100%

São Tomé and Príncipe  7,000 0 3,100 900 1,000 5,000 71%  4,445 73%

Senegal  6,500 0 3,500 500 500 4,500 69%  4,425 70%

Seychelles  7,000 95 3,350 650 1,000 5,095 73%  3,900 99%

Sierra Leone  7,000 0 3,000 1,000 1,000 5,000 71%  4,445 72%

Somalia  7,000 1,250 2,600 500 1,000 5,350 76%  4,445 97%

South Africa  6,000 0 3,500 500 0 4,000 67%  4,425 88%

South Sudan  7,000 1,385 3,350 650 1,000 6,385 91%  4,445 100%

Sudan  7,000 0 2,500 500 550 3,550 51%  4,445 50%

Tanzania  6,600 1,840 3,500 500 600 6,440 98%  4,445 96%

Togo  7,000 0 3,150 850 800 4,800 69%  4,445 99%

Tunisia  6,000 0 3,299 700 0 3,999 67%  4,376 86%

Uganda  6,500 1,848 3,500 500 500 6,348 98%  4,445 99%

Zambia  6,700 0 3,500 500 700 4,700 70%  4,425 90%

Zimbabwe  7,000 0 2,266 734 800 3,800 54%  4,445 77%

Total  367,200 29,146 165,555 39,112 39,928 273,740 75%  236,472 87%

5.  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity 
funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

6.  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance and gave them the 
opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

7.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Available 
funds  

2019-2022 
(TUSD)5

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)6

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)6

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 
1 & 2)6

Travel and 
equipment 

costs Total7

Percentage 
of funds
released

Available 
funds 

2016-2018 
(TUSD)5

Percentage  
of funds 
released

Anguilla 7,000 0 3,500 500 1,000 5,000 71%  3,900 61%

Antigua and Barbuda 7,000 0 3,500 500 1,000 5,000 71%  3,851 79%

Aruba 7,000 0 3,300 500 800 4,600 66%  4,376 66%

Bahamas 7,000 0 3,300 700 1,000 5,000 71%  4,425 96%

Barbados 7,000 1,125 3,500 500 1,000 6,125 87%  4,376 100%

Belize 7,000 885 3,500 500 1,000 5,885 84%  4,425 100%

Bermuda 7,000 290 3,300 700 1,000 5,290 76%  3,851 94%

British Virgin Islands 7,000 0 2,350 750 800 3,900 56%  3,851 97%

Canada 6,000 1,450 3,450 550 0 5,450 91%  4,275 100%

Cayman Islands 7,000 0 3,500 500 900 4,900 70%  3,851 50%

Costa Rica 6,000 1,328 3,500 500 0 5,328 89%  3,851 100%

Cuba 7,000 0 3,100 500 700 4,300 61%  4,376 70%

Curaçao 7,000 1,928 3,500 500 1,000 6,928 99%  4,376 99%

Dominica 7,000 0 3,450 550 1,000 5,000 71%  3,900 63%

Dominican Republic 7,000 207 3,500 500 1,000 5,207 74%  4,425 100%

El Salvador 7,000 0 3,500 500 1,000 5,000 71%  4,376 100%

Grenada 7,000 0 3,500 500 1,000 5,000 71%  4,425 94%

Guatemala 7,000 350 3,500 500 1,000 5,350 76%  4,425 62%

Guyana 7,000 507 3,500 500 894 5,400 77%  4,425 100%

Haiti 7,000 1,128 3,324 500 974 5,926 85%  4,425 100%

Honduras 6,000 887 3,500 500 0 4,887 81%  3,920 100%

Jamaica 7,000 462 3,300 700 752 5,214 74%  4,376 100%

Mexico 6,000 1,241 3,500 500 0 5,241 87%  3,851 100%

Montserrat 7,000 0 3,150 850 1,000 5,000 71%  3,900 100%

Nicaragua 7,000 1,509 3,500 500 1,000 6,509 93%  4,425 100%

Panama 6,200 195 3,500 500 200 4,395 71%  4,376 100%

Puerto Rico 7,000 0 3,500 500 1,000 5,000 71%  4,425 99%

St Kitts and Nevis 7,000 629 3,350 650 1,000 5,629 80%  3,851 97%

St Lucia 7,000 0 3,500 500 1,000 5,000 71%  4,425 92%

St Vincent and the 
Grenadines

7,000 0 2,750 950 876 4,576 65%  4,376 88%

Suriname 7,000 743 3,500 500 1,000 5,743 82%  4,425 100%

Trinidad and Tobago 7,000 1,445 2,949 1,050 1,000 6,444 92%  4,376 100%

Turks and Caicos Islands 7,000 871 3,300 700 1,000 5,871 84%  3,900 100%

US Virgin Islands 7,000 20 3,400 600 1,000 5,020 72%  4,425 99%

USA 6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Total  239,200  19,200  117,773  20,250  27,896  185,119 77%  146,978 92%

FIFA FORWARD FUNDS TO MEMBER ASSOCIATIONS | ANNEXE

5.  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity 
funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

6.  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance and gave them the 
opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

7.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Available 
funds  

2019-2022 
(TUSD)5

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)6

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)6

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 
1 & 2)6

Travel and 
equipment 

costs Total7

Percentage 
of funds
released

Available 
funds 

2016-2018 
(TUSD)5

Percentage  
of funds 
released

Argentina  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 79%

Bolivia  6,600 0 3,500 500 600 4,600 70%  4,425 86%

Brazil  6,000 0 3,400 600 0 4,000 67%  3,750 100%

Chile  6,000 500 3,500 500 0 4,500 75%  3,750 100%

Colombia  6,000 650 3,500 500 0 4,650 78%  3,750 100%

Ecuador  6,000 0 3,500 500 0 4,000 67%  3,851 86%

Paraguay  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  4,275 100%

Peru  6,000 0 3,500 500 0 4,000 67%  3,750 100%

Uruguay  6,000 0 3,500 500 0 4,000 67%  3,750 100%

Venezuela  6,500 0 3,000 1,000 500 4,500 69%  3,851 97%

Total  61,100  5,150  34,400  5,600  1,100  46,250 76%  38,901 95%

FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Available 
funds  

2019-2022 
(TUSD)5

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)6

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)6

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 
1 & 2)6

Travel and 
equipment 

costs Total7

Percentage 
of funds
released

Available 
funds 

2016-2018 
(TUSD)5

Percentage  
of funds 
released

American Samoa  7,000 0 3,250 750 1,000 5,000 71%  4,289 54%

Cook Islands  7,000 228 3,200 800 1,000 5,228 75%  4,289 99%

Fiji  7,000 1,649 3,500 500 1,000 6,649 95%  4,289 95%

New Caledonia  7,000 1,180 3,500 500 1,000 6,180 88%  4,289 99%

New Zealand  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  4,289 100%

Papua New Guinea  7,000 226 2,450 1,100 500 4,276 61%  4,289 82%

Samoa  7,000 923 3,200 800 1,000 5,923 85%  4,289 100%

Solomon Islands  7,000 0 3,300 700 1,000 5,000 71%  4,289 53%

Tahiti  7,000 1,544 3,450 550 1,000 6,544 93%  4,289 100%

Tonga  7,000 0 3,450 550 1,000 5,000 71%  4,289 86%

Vanuatu  7,000 1,495 3,450 550 1,000 6,495 93%  4,289 100%

Total  76,000  9,244  36,250  7,300  9,500  62,294 82%  47,175 88%

5.  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity 
funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

6.  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance and gave them the 
opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

7.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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FORWARD 2.0 FORWARD 1.0

Forward funds released (TUSD)

Available 
funds  

2019-2022 
(TUSD)5

Project  
costs 

(ordinary)6

Opera tional 
costs 

(ordinary)6

COVID-19 
relief funds 

(stages 
1 & 2)6

Travel and 
equipment 

costs Total7

Percentage 
of funds
released

Available 
funds 

2016-2018 
(TUSD)5

Percentage  
of funds 
released

Albania  6,000 1,500 3,400 600 0 5,500 92%  3,851 94%

Andorra  6,000 0 3,300 700 0 4,000 67%  3,750 85%

Armenia  6,300 2,000 3,500 500 300 6,300 100%  4,275 100%

Austria  6,000 1,500 3,500 500 0 5,500 92%  3,750 100%

Azerbaijan  6,000 1,959 3,450 550 0 5,959 99%  3,851 100%

Belarus  6,000 1,634 3,500 500 0 5,634 94%  3,750 100%

Belgium  6,000 0 3,500 500 0 4,000 67%  3,750 99%

Bosnia and Herzegovina  6,000 0 3,400 600 0 4,000 67%  3,750 100%

Bulgaria  6,000 1,849 3,500 500 0 5,849 97%  3,750 100%

Croatia  6,000 1,748 3,500 500 0 5,748 96%  3,750 100%

Cyprus  6,000 0 3,450 550 0 4,000 67%  3,750 40%

Czechia  6,000 0 3,500 500 0 4,000 67%  3,750 80%

Denmark  6,000 0 3,500 500 0 4,000 67%  3,750 97%

England  6,000 707 3,500 691 0 4,898 82%  3,750 100%

Estonia  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Faroe Islands  6,000 2,000 3,450 550 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Finland  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

France  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Georgia  6,000 1,974 3,450 550 0 5,974 100%  3,851 100%

Germany  6,000 1,650 3,000 500 0 5,150 86%  3,750 100%

Gibraltar  6,000 2,000 2,950 1,050 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Greece  6,000 0 2,200 1,800 0 4,000 67%  3,750 74%

Hungary  6,000 512 3,500 500 0 4,512 75%  3,750 100%

Iceland  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Israel  6,000 465 3,500 500 0 4,465 74%  3,750 91%

Italy  6,000 1,029 3,500 500 0 5,029 84%  3,750 84%

Kazakhstan  6,000 795 3,400 600 0 4,795 80%  3,851 100%

Kosovo  6,000 1,283 3,400 600 0 5,283 88%  3,851 91%

Latvia  6,000 1,897 3,450 550 0 5,897 98%  3,750 99%

Liechtenstein  6,000 1,765 3,350 650 0 5,765 96%  3,750 96%

Lithuania  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Luxembourg  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Malta  6,000 1,740 3,300 700 0 5,740 96%  3,750 100%

Moldova  6,000 0 3,400 600 0 4,000 67%  3,851 100%

Montenegro  6,000 2,000 3,300 700 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Netherlands  6,000 496 3,500 500 0 4,496 75%  3,750 100%

FIFA FORWARD FUNDS TO MEMBER ASSOCIATIONS | ANNEXE

5.  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity 
funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

6.  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance and gave them the 
opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

7.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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Northern Ireland  6,000 0 3,500 500 0 4,000 67%  3,750 67%

North Macedonia  6,000 110 3,500 500 0 4,110 69%  3,750 88%

Norway  6,000 0 3,000 500 0 3,500 58%  3,750 96%

Poland  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Portugal  6,000 0 3,500 500 0 4,000 67%  3,750 100%

Republic of Ireland  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Romania  6,000 1,478 3,500 500 0 5,478 91%  3,750 100%

Russia  6,000 423 3,500 500 0 4,423 74%  3,750 100%

San Marino  6,000 990 3,300 700 0 4,990 83%  3,750 100%

Scotland  6,000 1,500 3,500 500 0 5,500 92%  3,750 100%

Serbia  6,000 0 3,450 550 0 4,000 67%  3,750 45%

Slovakia  6,000 1,701 3,500 500 0 5,701 95%  3,750 100%

Slovenia  6,000 736 3,450 550 0 4,736 79%  3,750 100%

Spain  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Sweden  6,000 1,721 3,500 500 0 5,721 95%  3,750 100%

Switzerland  6,000 2,000 3,500 500 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Türkiye  6,000 1,800 3,500 500 0 5,800 97%  3,750 100%

Ukraine  6,000 188 3,450 550 0 4,188 70%  3,750 88%

Wales  6,000 2,000 3,050 950 0 6,000 100%  3,750 100%

Total  330,300  65,149  187,350  31,841  300  284,640 86%  207,378 95%

5.  The amount of Forward funds to which each member association is entitled varies, with some member associations also being eligible for travel and equipment solidarity 
funding (e.g. those that need the most assistance).

6.  In the first two stages of the COVID-19 Relief Plan, FIFA released Forward 2.0 operational funds for 2019 and 2020 to its member associations in advance and gave them the 
opportunity to transform Forward project funds into COVID-19 relief funds.

7.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive Forward funds.
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FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan overview
FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan in three stages (TUSD)

Total COVID-19 
funds available

Total COVID-19 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

Stage 1: Release of 2019-2020 FIFA Forward 2.0 operational-cost entitlements  152,000  131,926 87%

Stage 2: Transformation of Forward-specific allocations into COVID-19 relief funds 465,000 n/a*  n/a* 

Stage 3: FIFA COVID-19 grants and loans 884,493  445,040 50%

Total 1,501,493  n/a  n/a

*  Stage 2 funds that were not transformed into COVID-19 relief funds are fully available to member associations as Forward 2.0 project funds. Please refer to pages 311 to 317 for 
information on the release of project funds under Forward 2.0. 

FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan – stage 3 (TUSD)

Member association grants and loans Total COVID-19 
funds available

Total COVID-19 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

Solidarity grants1,4  211,000  200,251 95%

Women’s football grants2,4  105,500  98,290 93%

Relief loans3  531,993  126,499 24%

Total  848,493  425,040 50%

Confederations – grants Total COVID-19 
funds available

Total COVID-19 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

AFC  2,000  2,000 100%

CAF  2,000  2,000 100%

Concacaf  2,000  2,000 100%

CONMEBOL  2,000  2,000 100%

OFC  2,000  2,000 100%

UEFA  2,000  2,000 100%

Total  12,000  12,000 100%

Confederations – loans Total COVID-19 
funds available

Total COVID-19 
funds released

Percentage of total 
funds released

AFC 4,000 4,000 100%

CAF 4,000 0 0%

Concacaf 4,000 4,000 100%

CONMEBOL 4,000 0 0%

OFC 4,000 0 0%

UEFA 4,000 0 0%

Total 24,000 8,000 33%

1.  As at 31 December 2022, a total of USD 210 million in solidarity grants had been reviewed and approved, of which USD 200.3 million had been paid.
2.  As at 31 December 2022, a total of USD 99.5 million in women’s football grants had been reviewed and approved, of which USD 98.3 million had been paid. 
3.  As at 31 December 2022, a total of USD 126.5 million in COVID-19 Relief Plan loans had been released to 34 member associations. 
4.  For further details of COVID-19 Relief Plan grants to member associations under stage 3, please see pages 319 to 325.

FIFA COVID-19 RELIEF PLAN OVERVIEW | ANNEXE



ANNUAL REPORT 2022

319

FIFA COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3) to member associations

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)
Solidarity 

funds

Women’s 
football

funds Total5
Percentage 

of funds released

Afghanistan  1,500  1,000  0    1,000 67%

Australia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Bahrain  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Bangladesh  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Bhutan  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Brunei Darussalam  1,500  1,000  0    1,000 67%

Cambodia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

China PR  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Chinese Taipei  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Guam  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Hong Kong  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

India  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Indonesia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

IR Iran  1,500  0    0    0   0%

Iraq  1,500  500  0    500 33%

Japan  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Jordan  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Korea DPR  1,500  0    0    0   0%

Korea Republic  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Kuwait  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Kyrgyz Republic  1,500  1,000  400  1,400 93%

Laos  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Lebanon  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Macau  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Malaysia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Maldives  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Mongolia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Myanmar  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Nepal  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Oman  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Pakistan  1,500  500  310  810 54%

Palestine  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Philippines  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Qatar  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

5.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.
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Saudi Arabia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Singapore  1,500  500  500  1,000 67%

Sri Lanka  1,500  250  250  500 33%

Syria  1,500  401  0    401 27%

Tajikistan  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Thailand  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Timor-Leste  1,500  750  0    750 50%

Turkmenistan  1,500  750  500  1,250 83%

United Arab Emirates  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Uzbekistan  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Vietnam  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Yemen  1,500  100  0    100 7%

Total  69,000  39,751  18,460  58,211 84%

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)
Solidarity 

funds

Women’s 
football

funds Total5
Percentage 

of funds released

Algeria  1,500  500  500  1,000 67%

Angola  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Benin  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Botswana  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Burkina Faso  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Burundi  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Cabo Verde  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Cameroon  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Central African Republic  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Chad  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Comoros  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Congo  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Congo DR  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Côte d’Ivoire  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Djibouti  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

5.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.
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Egypt  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Equatorial Guinea  1,500  500  500  1,000 67%

Eritrea  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Eswatini  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Ethiopia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Gabon  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Gambia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Ghana  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Guinea  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Guinea-Bissau  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Kenya  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Lesotho  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Liberia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Libya  1,500  1,000  0    1,000 67%

Madagascar  1,500  250  0    250 17%

Malawi  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Mali  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Mauritania  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Mauritius  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Morocco  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Mozambique  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Namibia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Niger  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Nigeria  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Rwanda  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

São Tomé e Príncipe  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Senegal  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Seychelles  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Sierra Leone  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Somalia  1,500  1,000  0    1,000 67%

South Africa  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

South Sudan  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Sudan  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Tanzania  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Togo  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Tunisia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Uganda  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Zambia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Zimbabwe  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Total 81,000  52,250  25,500  77,750 96%

5.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.
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COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)
Solidarity 

funds

Women’s 
football

funds Total5
Percentage 

of funds released

Anguilla  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Antigua and Barbuda  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Aruba  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Bahamas  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Barbados  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Belize  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Bermuda  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

British Virgin Islands  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Canada  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Cayman Islands  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Costa Rica  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Cuba  1,500  750  0    750 50%

Curaçao  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Dominica  1,500  750  500  1,250 83%

Dominican Republic  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

El Salvador  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Grenada  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Guatemala  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Guyana  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Haiti  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Honduras  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Jamaica  1,500  1,000  330  1,330 89%

Mexico  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Montserrat  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Nicaragua  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Panama  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Puerto Rico  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

St Kitts and Nevis  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

St Lucia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

St Vincent and the Grenadines  1,500  750  500  1,250 83%

Suriname  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Trinidad and Tobago  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Turks and Caicos Islands  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

US Virgin Islands  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

USA  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Total 52,500  34,250  16,830  51,080 97%

5.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.

FIFA COVID-19 RELIEF PLAN - GRANTS (STAGE 3) TO MEMBER ASSOCIATIONS | ANNEXE



ANNUAL REPORT 2022

323

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)
Solidarity 

funds

Women’s 
football

funds Total5
Percentage 

of funds released

Argentina  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Bolivia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Brazil  1,500  1,000  500 1,500 100%

Chile  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Colombia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Ecuador  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Paraguay  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Peru  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Uruguay  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Venezuela  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Total 15,000 10,000 5,000 15,000 100%

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)
Solidarity 

funds

Women’s 
football

funds Total5
Percentage 

of funds released

American Samoa  1,500  1,000  0    1,000 67%

Cook Islands  1,500  500  500  1,000 67%

Fiji  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

New Caledonia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

New Zealand  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Papua New Guinea  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Samoa  1,500  500  500  1,000 67%

Solomon Islands  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Tahiti  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Tonga  1,500  500  500  1,000 67%

Vanuatu  1,500  500  500  1,000 67%

Total 16,500  9,000  5,000  14,000 85%

5.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.
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COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants (stage 3)

COVID-19 Relief Plan – grants released (TUSD)

Total COVID-19 
funds available 

(TUSD)
Solidarity 

funds

Women’s 
football

funds Total5
Percentage 

of funds released

Albania  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Andorra  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Armenia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Austria  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Azerbaijan  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Belarus  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Belgium  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Bosnia and Herzegovina  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Bulgaria  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Croatia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Cyprus  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Czechia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Denmark  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

England  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Estonia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Faroe Islands  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Finland  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

France  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Georgia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Germany  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Gibraltar  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Greece  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Hungary  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Iceland  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Israel  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Italy  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Kazakhstan  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Kosovo  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Latvia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Liechtenstein  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Lithuania  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Luxembourg  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Malta  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Moldova  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Montenegro  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

5.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.
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Netherlands  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Northern Ireland  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

North Macedonia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Norway  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Poland  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Portugal  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Republic of Ireland  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Romania  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Russia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

San Marino  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Scotland  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Serbia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Slovakia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Slovenia  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Spain  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Sweden  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Switzerland  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Türkiye  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Ukraine  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Wales  1,500  1,000  500  1,500 100%

Total 82,500  55,000  27,500  82,500 100%

5.  Those member associations under sanction or suspension are not eligible to receive COVID-19-related funds.
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IN MEMORIAM

Edson Arantes do Nascimento, known 
and loved across the world as Pelé, 
passed away on 29 December, aged 82 
in São Paulo following a lengthy battle 
with cancer. 

Considered by many to be the  
greatest footballer of all time, he was 
often referred to as “The King”. He 
went on to become one of the most 
recognised names not only in football, 
or sport, but the global stage. Pelé 
transcended sport. 

Named after the American inventor 
Thomas Edison and born in 1940 in 
the Brazilian State of Minas Gerais, 
he was the son of Celeste Arantes 
and Fluminense footballer Dondinho. 
The young boy with the world at his 
football feet would eventually grow up 
to become the game’s first global icon, 
and the most decorated player in FIFA 
World Cup™ history.

Aged just 17, Pelé was called up to  
the Brazil squad that travelled to 
Sweden in 1958, playing a crucial role 
in A Seleção’s first-ever World Cup 
triumph. The teenager scored six goals 
in that edition, including a brace in  
his side’s 5-2 victory over Sweden in  
the final. 

Although still only 21, Pelé was 
arguably at his technical peak four 
years later in the World Cup in Chile 
in 1962, scoring another World Cup 
goal. Unfortunately, he tore a thigh 
muscle in Brazil’s second group game, 
forcing him to watch the rest of the 
tournament from the touchline, as the 
South Americans retained their world 
title. Pelé then went on to score his 
eighth FIFA World Cup goal in England 
in 1966, a tournament that ended 
prematurely for A Seleção following 
their loss to Portugal and resulting in a 
group-stage exit. 

Many of his critics, including in Brazil, 
thought his career was over, but he 
would have his redemption at his final 
World Cup appearance four years 
later. The by-then Santos legend led 
a historic Brazilian side in Mexico 
to perhaps their most iconic and 
memorable triumph of all. Pelé scored 
four times at the tournament, including 
once in the final against Italy at the 
Estadio Azteca. Brazil and Pelé had 
claimed their record third FIFA World 
Cup title, winning seven consecutive 
games with their famous jogo bonito. 
He ended his international career with 
12 FIFA World Cup goals to his name. 

As the headline of newspaper The i 
read at the time of his passing: “He 
played like a god in a kit the colour  
of sunshine and was more famous  
than Elvis.”

Rest in peace, Pelé.
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What the world had to 
say about Pelé

“To watch him play was  
to watch the delight of a 
child combined with  
the extraordinary grace  
of a man in full.”

Nelson Mandela

Former President of South Africa

“Pelé took football to 
another level. Not only did 
he epitomise ‘the beautiful 
game’, but he also played 
with an effortless flair,  
the like of which had never 
been seen.”

Gianni Infantino

FIFA President

IN MEMORIAM
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Pelé facts

Pelé is the youngest scorer, youngest  
hat-trick scorer, youngest finalist  
and youngest player to score in a final in 
World Cup history. 

Gunnar Gren, who competed against Brazil 
in the 1958 decider, made his Sweden 
debut before Pelé was born. Theirs is the 
biggest-ever age gap – 20 years – between 
opponents in a World Cup final. 

Uwe Seeler, Pelé, Miroslav Klose, Cristiano 
Ronaldo and Lionel Messi are the only 
men to score at four or more World Cups. 
The West German pipped the Brazilian 
to become the first to do so by less than 
three minutes in 1970. 

Vavá, Pelé, Paul Breitner, Zinedine Zidane 
and Kylian Mbappé are the only players to 
have scored in two World Cup finals. 

Pelé registered six assists at Mexico 1970 
– a record for one World Cup. Four players 
managed five: Robert Gadocha at Germany 
1974, Pierre Littbarski at Spain 1982, Diego 
Maradona at Mexico 1986 and Thomas 
Hässler at USA 1994. Pelé also recorded an 
unprecedented three assists in deciders: 
one against Sweden in 1958 and two 
against Italy in 1970.

“My name is Ronald 
Reagan, I’m the President 
of the United States of 
America. But you don’t 
need to introduce yourself 
because everyone knows 
who Pelé is.”

Ronald Reagan

Former President of the USA

“Pelé was one of the few 
who contradicted my 
theory: instead of  
15 minutes of fame,  
he will have 15 centuries.”

Andy Warhol

Artist

“This debate about the 
player of the century is 
absurd. There’s only one 
possible answer: Pelé.  
He’s the greatest player 
of all time, and by some 
distance I might add.”

Zico

Former Brazil international
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Uwe Seeler  
1936‑2022

One of the most legendary strikers in German 
footballing history, Uwe Seeler was prolific for 
Hamburger SV and West Germany, for whom he 
netted 43 times in 72 international appearances. 

In 2004, he was named in the FIFA 100, Pelé’s 
list of the greatest living players, and he held 
the distinction of being the first footballer to be 
awarded the Great Order of Merit by the Federal 
Republic of Germany. 

The talismanic frontman featured at four FIFA 
World Cups™, scoring in each of them – a feat 
matched only by Pelé, Miroslav Klose, Lionel Messi 
and Cristiano Ronaldo. Seeler captained the West 
German side that contested the 1966 final and  
he retained the armband four years later, when 
they came third. He became only the second 
honorary captain of the national team when he 
received the distinction from the German Football 
Association (DFB) in 1972.

He spent almost all of his club career at 
hometown club Hamburg, with whom he lifted 
the 1959/60 domestic title and the 1963 German 
Cup. His record of 404 goals in 476 matches 
earned him a cult following amongst Die Rothosen 
faithful. He topped the Bundesliga scoring charts 
in the competition’s maiden campaign (1963/64) 
and was crowned Germany’s Footballer of the 
Year three times. 

Seeler was also reputed for his fair play on  
the pitch and as a role model off it, assisting 
a host of charities and holding a number of 
honorary positions. 

Admiration for Seeler extended far beyond 
Hamburg, with fans across Germany referring to 
him as “Uns Uwe” (“Our Uwe”). 

“News of Uwe Seeler’s death hit us all hard,” 
declared FIFA President Gianni Infantino. “He’s 
one of the greatest-ever legends of German 
football. His performances and the records 
he set will never be forgotten. He wasn’t just 
a great striker, but above and beyond that, 
he was an example of how to be humble and 
down-to-earth.”

IN MEMORIAM
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Francisco “Paco”  
Gento López  
1933‑2022 

Spanish footballing icon Paco Gento left a unique 
legacy on the European game. A veteran of two 
FIFA World Cups™, the flying winger featured in 
all five of Real Madrid’s successive European Cup 
triumphs between 1956 and 1960 and later went 
on to captain the Madrid side that captured a 
sixth continental crown in 1966, making him the 
most decorated player in the history of Europe’s 
elite club competition.

Gento lined up in all of Los Blancos’ European 
Cup campaigns between 1955 and 1970, making 
more than 80 appearances in the continental 
tournament. During the course of his career, 
he played in eight European Cup finals, claimed 
12 Spanish championship winner’s medals and 
was capped 43 times by Spain between 1955  
and 1969, appearing in the 1962 and 1966 FIFA 
World Cups.

Born in the village of Guarnizo in the Cantabria 
region of north-west Spain, Gento made his 
debut for Real Racing Club de Santander at the 
age of 19, but only made ten league appearances 
before signing for Real Madrid in 1953. He earned 
his first cap for La Roja in 1955 in a 1-1 draw 
against England in Madrid and featured in his first 
European Cup final the following year, when Los 
Merengues met Stade de Reims in Paris, where he 
provided the assist for José Héctor Rial Laguía’s 
winner in a game won 4-3 by Madrid.

Gento and the great Alfredo Di Stéfano also 
combined with devastating effect to strike fear 
into the heart of opposition defences. Gento’s 
ferocious pace saw him nicknamed “La Galerna 
del Cantábrico” (“the Gale of the Cantabrian Sea”).

After calling time on his playing days at Madrid, 
Gento went on to coach a number of lower-league 
Spanish teams during the 1970s and early 1980s, 
including Castellón, the now defunct Palencia CF 
and Granada CF, before taking on a long-term 
ambassadorial role at Real Madrid, where he 
served as honorary president until he passed 
away at the age of 88.
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Samar Banerjee  
1930‑2022

Samar Banerjee, known as “Badru”, 
was a talented striker who will be best 
remembered for captaining India to 
a fourth-place finish at the Olympic 
Football Tournament Melbourne 1956. 

His footballing journey began at Milan 
Samity before he joined Bally Protiva 
in his native Howrah. A brief spell with 
Bengal Nagpur Railway followed before 
he shot to prominence at Mohun Bagan. 

He propelled the club to their first-
ever Durand Cup triumph in 1953, 
plundering crucial goals in both the 
semi-final and final. The club went 
on to break further new ground in 
1954 after securing a maiden Calcutta 
Football League and Indian Football 
Association Shield double.  

A keen student, the prolific front 
runner was admitted to study medicine 
at university but abandoned the 
course after three years to focus on his 
football career. 

His performances for Mohun Bagan 
paved the way for national-team 
selection, where his performances saw 
him handed the captain’s armband. India 
took fourth spot at the 1956 Olympics 
after losing out to Yugoslavia in the 
semi-finals and Bulgaria in the bronze-
medal match. However, India’s exploits 
represented the nation’s best-ever 
showing at the Olympics or any other 
global competition. As the team captain, 
Badru will forever be associated with that 
successful campaign, which secured his 
place in Indian football’s hall of fame.

He spent eight seasons at Mohun Bagan 
before hanging up his boots at the age of 
30. He later took up coaching and went 
on to manage the Bengal football team, 
whom he guided to Santosh Trophy glory 
in 1962. Following his spell in the dugout, 
he took up a role in which he helped to 
select the national team and retained his 
ties with the Indian Football Association 
for a number of years.

Mohun Bagan accorded Banerjee the 
club’s highest honour, the Mohun 
Bagan Ratna, in 2009, and the West 
Bengal Government honoured him with 
the Award for Lifetime Achievement in 
Sports and Games in 2017.

Banerjee passed away at the age of 
92 after suffering COVID-19-related 
complications. 
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Wim Jansen  
1946‑2022

Dutchman Wim Jansen is assured of a place 
in European footballing folklore. A combative 
defensive midfielder, he claimed 65 caps for the 
Netherlands and featured for his country at the 
1974 and 1978 editions of the FIFA World Cup™. 
He played in all of the team’s games at both 
tournaments, with the Dutch finishing runners-up 
on both occasions. 

Feyenoord proved to be Jansen’s footballing home 
after he spent a 15-season spell (1965-1980) at  
the famous sentinel of Dutch football. He 
captured four league titles, a Dutch Cup and 
the 1970 European Cup, a triumph that saw the 
Rotterdam-based outfit become the first club from 
the Netherlands to secure the coveted continental 
crown. He was also part of the Feyenoord side that 
triumphed in the 1974 UEFA Cup.

The tough-tackling midfielder spent a fleeting 
spell in the North American Soccer League with 
the Washington Diplomats before bringing 
the curtain down on his playing career with 
Feyenoord’s arch-rivals, Ajax. With Johan Cruyff 
very much the standout player of Jansen’s 
generation, the wiry-haired, aggressive midfielder 
blessed with a burst of pace represented the 
perfect foil for Cruyff’s talents. Indeed, Jansen 
was described by Cruyff as “one of only four men 
in the world it’s worth listening to when they talk 
about soccer”.

As a coach, Jansen twice led Feyenoord to Dutch 
Cup success during the 1990s, but his time in 
the De Kuip hot seat was cut short following a 
boardroom disagreement. His next destination 
was Japan, where he spent a season in charge 
of Sanfrecce Hiroshima before a brief stay in 
Scotland saw him write a significant chapter 
in the history books of the Scottish game after 
he delivered Celtic’s first title in a decade. He 
was also the first man to manage the Glasgow 
club without having represented them as a 
player. Jansen returned to his hometown club as 
technical director in 2005 and served as assistant 
to Gertjan Verbeek in the 2008-2009 season. 

He passed away due to complications from 
dementia on 25 January 2022 at the age of 75.

ANNUAL REPORT 2022



Faouzi Mansouri  
1956‑2022

Despite spending all of his club career 
in France, Faouzi Mansouri left an 
indelible mark on Algerian football. 
A versatile defender, he was part of 
the golden generation that recorded 
the country’s first-ever FIFA World 
Cup™ victory, a famous 2-1 win over 
West Germany at Spain 1982 that also 
earned the Fennec Foxes the distinction 
of being the first African side to defeat 
European opposition on the world’s 
biggest stage.

The impressive defender also 
represented Algeria at the 1986 FIFA 

World Cup™ in Mexico. Although the 
North Africans failed to progress from 
the group stage on both occasions, 
their appearances at the global 
showpiece left the nation’s supporters 
with some fine memories. 

Born in the Tunisian town of Menzel 
Bourguiba, Mansouri’s family emigrated 
to France for financial reasons when 
he was a child. He took his first steps 
in the game at the Nîmes Olympique 
academy, where he spent five seasons 
between 1975 and 1980, before 
embarking on a journey that saw him 

turn out for AS Béziers, Montpellier 
Hérault SC and FC Mulhouse.

Mansouri is best remembered for his 
time at Montpellier, where he enjoyed 
an initial spell between 1981 and 1983 
before returning for a second stint in 
1985 and 1986. 

IN MEMORIAM
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Jesús del Muro  
1937‑2022

One of the great Mexican players of 
his generation, Jesús del Muro was a 
veteran of three FIFA World Cups™:  
Sweden 1958, Chile 1962 and  
England 1966.

“Chucho”, as he was affectionately 
known, began his career in the Mexican 
second tier with Atlas as a forward 
but he later switched to centre-back, 
where he would spend the rest of his 
career. After almost a decade with the 
Guadalajara-based outfit, he went on 
to represent CD Veracruz, Cruz Azul, 
where he was part of the side that 

secured the club’s first-ever league 
title and cup crown in the 1968-1969 
season, and Deportivo Toluca.

It is believed that several of the game’s 
contemporary heavyweights, including 
Boca Juniors and Pelé’s Santos, were 
keen to secure Del Muro’s services, 
but any such move was thwarted by 
the Atlas board’s insistence on an 
exorbitant fee for their prized asset.

After calling time on his playing days, 
Del Muro remained in the game and 
coached at youth level, most notably 

with the Mexican national team, where 
he occupied prominent roles with the 
U-17 and U-20 sides, helping to nurture 
the development of the nation’s 
emerging talents.

In March 2022, the former central 
defender was inducted into the 
International Football Hall of Fame, 
along with Raúl González, Fabio 
Cannavaro, Roberto Carlos, Antônio 
Carlos Santos, Didí, Ronaldinho Gaúcho, 
Pia Sundhage and his compatriots 
Maribel Domínguez, Oswaldo Sánchez, 
Vicente Pereda and Pablo Larios.
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Kornelius Shilixuleni 
Ndapewa  
1993‑2022 

The sudden death of highly respected Namibian 
assistant referee Kornelius Shilixuleni Ndapewa 
at the age of just 29 shocked the international 
football community.

Just a month after obtaining her FIFA assistant 
referee certification, the talented official sadly 
passed away following a short illness.

A spokesperson from the Oshana Regional 
Football League described her as a “passionate, 
beloved and fearless” individual.

“On behalf of the FIFA Referees Committee and 
the worldwide football family, I wish to extend 
our condolences to you, to the Namibia Football 
Association community and, most importantly, 
to Kornelius Shilixuleni Ndapewa’s family, friends 
and loved ones,” said Pierluigi Collina.

IN MEMORIAM
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Ivica Osim  
1941‑2022

Born as Ivan but known as Ivica, Osim was perhaps 
most famed for his resignation as Yugoslavia coach 
on the eve of the 1992 European Championship when 
he voiced his deep resentment over the Serbian 
bombardment of his native Sarajevo. He issued a 
parting shot, stating that, “My country doesn’t deserve 
to play in the European Championship.” 

At no point did Osim regret his decision and he insisted at 
the time that, “On the scale of human suffering, I cannot 
reconcile events at home with my position as national 
manager.” Yugoslavia were subsequently expelled from 
the finals on account of the country’s war-torn status, with 
eventual winners Denmark taking their place.

Osim’s coaching career saw him travel extensively. He 
firstly left Yugoslavia for Greece to take up the reins at 
Panathinaikos, where he delivered Greek Cup success 
in the 1992-93 season. He next checked into Austrian 
football for an eight-year spell with Sturm Graz, whom 
he twice steered to league glory in the 1997-98 and 
1998-99 seasons.

His next destination was Japan, where, between 2003 
and 2006, he coached JEF United Ichihara, who, despite 
not having one of the biggest budgets in the Japanese 
top flight, enjoyed considerable success. On the 
strength of his achievements at the Chiba-based club, 
he was appointed coach of the Japan national team in 
2006 and became a massively popular figure. Indeed, 
a book of his apopthegms, Words of Osim, sold an 
impressive 400,000 copies.

As for his playing career, Osim started out at local team 
Željezničar in 1959. Five years after his senior debut for the 
club, the elegant midfielder shone for Yugoslavia at the 
Olympic Football Tournament Tokyo 1964 and soon began 
to attract suitors from overseas. Football Association of 
Yugoslavia rules prohibited players from moving abroad 
until their late 20s, however, and so it was not until 1968 
that he was able to join Dutch club Zwolsche Boys. He later 
went on to ply his trade at RC Strasbourg and CS Sedan 
before securing a move to US Valenciennes. He then 
returned to Strasbourg for a two-season spell between 
1976 and 1978 before calling time on his career.

Osim was capped 16 times by Yugoslavia between 1964 
and 1969 and was part of the team that beat the then 
world champions, England, 1-0 in the semi-finals of the 
1968 European Championship in Italy. 
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Freddy Rincón  
1966‑2022

A pivotal part of Colombia’s golden generation 
that played in three consecutive FIFA World 
Cups™ (1990, 1994 and 1998), Freddy Rincón 
always played with a smile on his face. A 
commanding midfielder who amassed 85 caps for 
Los Cafeteros and netted 17 goals, “El Coloso” left 
an indelible mark on the game. 

His most memorable goal came in Colombia’s 
1990 FIFA World Cup group-stage encounter 
against West Germany at Milan’s San Siro. 
Having comfortably kept the Europeans at bay 
for 88 minutes, the Colombians were facing 
heartbreak when Pierre Littbarski struck, but 
Rincón slotted home an injury-time leveller 
to book the South Americans’ spot in the last 
16 after a 28-year absence from the tournament. 

Rincón also notched a brace in Colombia’s famed 
1994 FIFA World Cup™ 5-0 qualifying win over 
Argentina in Buenos Aires in 1993.

Born in the western Colombian town of 
Buenaventura in 1966, Rincón enjoyed iconic 
status amongst a whole generation of La Tricolor 
followers and featured in the same squad as 
the likes of Carlos Valderrama, Faustino Asprilla, 
Óscar Córdoba and Wilmer Cabrera. 

He began his professional career in his homeland 
with Santa Fe and América de Cali, with whom 
he twice lifted the domestic title, before landing 
a move to Brazilian outfit Palmeiras. Following 
a loan spell with Napoli, he became the first 
Colombian to sign for Real Madrid in 1995, 
enjoying a two-season spell at the Santiago 
Bernabéu before returning to South America, 
where he captained Brazil’s Corinthians to glory in 
the inaugural FIFA Club World Cup™ in 2000.

He retired as a player in 2004 and later went on to 
coach a number of lower-league teams in Brazil. 
He subsequently served as assistant to former 
Brazil coach Vanderlei Luxemburgo at Atlético 
Mineiro in 2010 and acted as number two to Jorge 
Luis Pinto at Colombian side Millonarios in 2019.
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Leonel Sánchez   
1936‑2022

Widely regarded as Chile’s greatest-ever player, 
Leonel Sánchez had a clear appreciation of his place 
in the minds of his compatriots, saying: “I think I’m 
Universidad de Chile’s most iconic player and one of 
Chile’s greatest-ever forwards.” 

Blessed with a delicious left foot, Sánchez’s legend 
was founded on more than 500 appearances, 
200 goals and countless flashes of brilliance. There 
was the sublime 40-yard strike in 1959 that forever 
changed the face of the rivalry between Universidad 
de Chile and Colo-Colo or the free kick that caught 
the great Soviet keeper Lev Yashin off guard at the 
1962 FIFA World Cup™ in Chile, where the hosts 
claimed a third-place finish and Sánchez topped the 
tournament scoring charts along with Brazilian duo 
Vavá and Garrincha, Yugoslavia’s Dražan Jerković, 
Hungary’s Flórián Albert and Valentin Ivanov of the 
Soviet Union. 

Sánchez made his senior club debut at the age of 
17 for Universidad de Chile, who had only tasted 
league glory once in their history (in 1940). He spent 
17 years of a career that spanned two decades with 
the Ballet Azul, helping the Santiago-based outfit to 
secure six league titles between 1959 and 1969.

Besides his on-field mastery, Sánchez, the son of a 
professional boxer, had another side to his game. He 
is widely remembered for his disputes with several 
Italian players in the now infamous 1962 FIFA World 
Cup match during which he knocked Mario David to 
the ground with a punch after the Italian defender 
had fouled him. David retaliated a few minutes later 
by kicking Sánchez in the head when challenging for 
the ball and received his marching orders. Later on, 
Sánchez was again involved as Humberto Maschio 
was left with a broken nose after receiving a left 
hook. The match became known as the “Battle of 
Santiago” and played its part in the introduction 
of the game’s current disciplinary system involving 
yellow and red cards.

Sánchez rejected the overtures of Real Madrid, 
Juventus and AC Milan, but in 1969, after a contract 
rule was settled, Universidad de Chile were forced to 
sell their precious jewel. The final throes of his career 
saw him turn out for a number of Chilean clubs, 
including Colo-Colo, Palestino and Ferroviarios. 
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George Cohen  
1939‑2022

Few players leave such an indelible impression 
on the history of their club or team that a statue 
is erected in their honour, so the sculpture of 
George Cohen that stands proudly outside Craven 
Cottage, the home of Fulham, is testament to 
the impact he had on the Cottagers as well as on 
English football in general. The former right-back 
began his professional career in 1956 at just 17 
and played for the same club until he retired 
13 years later. 

The only other shirt he wore bore the colours of 
England, for whom he won 37 caps. Thrust into 
the international limelight by Sir Alf Ramsey in 
1964, when he played in a preparatory match for 
the 1966 FIFA World Cup™, Cohen rapidly made 
the position on the right flank his own thanks to 
his attacking qualities, which were comparatively 
rare for a full-back at the time. He played every 
minute of every match for the Three Lions on their 
triumphant march to the title in 1966 and was 
made vice-captain by Ramsey for the legendary 
final against West Germany, which England won 
4-2 after extra time.

Strangely, this ultimate prize in football would 
be the only honour won by Cohen in his entire 
career, and it was in 2016, on the 50th anniversary 
of that victory, that Fulham unveiled his statue. 
He was, however, the recipient of many other 
tributes, particularly from legendary coach 
Ramsey, who described him as “England’s greatest 
right-back” as well as from celebrated Northern 
Irish winger George Best, for whom Cohen was 
“the best full-back I ever played against”.

Forced to retire in 1969 due to injury, Cohen, 
whose nephew Ben won the Rugby World Cup 
with England in 2003, briefly coached the Fulham 
youth team and the England U-23 team.

Cohen, who was selected by supporters in 2004 
as right-back in England’s best-ever XI, passed 
away on 23 December 2022, leaving two other 
legends, Sir Bobby Charlton and Sir Geoff Hurst, 
as the only remaining survivors of England’s 
World Cup-winning team. However, his talent and 
exploits will always be etched in stone at Fulham 
and, indeed, in the memories of everyone who 
loves football.
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Siniša Mihajlović  
1969‑2022

Widely considered one of the greatest 
free-kick takers of all time, boasting a 
devastating ability to turn games in his 
team’s favour from set pieces, Siniša 
Mihajlović represented Yugoslavia and 
Serbia and Montenegro with distinction 
on 67 occasions. During a 12-year 
international career, he plundered ten 
goals and featured at the 1998 FIFA 
World Cup France™.

At club level, Mihajlović shone for 
FK Vojvodina and the Crvena zvezda 
side that secured European Cup glory 
in the 1990-1991 campaign before 
claiming the Intercontinental Cup crown 
a few months later. 

He plied his trade in Italian football 
between 1992 and 2006, turning out 
for AS Roma and Sampdoria, while 
subsequent spells with Lazio and 
Internazionale brought Serie A title 
success. It was during his time in Italy 
that Mihajlović established himself 
as one of the most iconic defenders 

in the game, with his hat-trick of free 
kicks in Lazio’s 5-2 league victory over 
Sampdoria on 13 December 1998 
representing a particularly memorable 
feat, as he became the first-ever player 
to hit a trio of free-kick goals in a  
single game.

He continues to lead the Italian  
top-flight standings for the number 
of free kicks scored, with 28 in total, 
a haul that places him ahead of some 
illustrious names, including Andrea 
Pirlo and Diego Maradona. After calling 
time on a career that yielded more than 
500 appearances, Mihajlović took up 
his first management assignment at 
Bologna in the 2008-2009 season.

Barring a spell in charge of Serbia 
between 2012 and 2013, during which 
he was ultimately unsuccessful in his 
efforts to guide the Balkan nation to the 
2014 FIFA World Cup Brazil™, he spent 
practically all of his coaching career in 
Italy, where he occupied the hot seat at 

clubs including Fiorentina, Sampdoria, 
AC Milan and Torino.

He was reappointed by Bologna in 
January 2019 and remained at the helm 
until September 2022. He continued 
to serve as head coach at the Stadio 
Renato Dall’Ara while undergoing 
chemotherapy after having been 
diagnosed with leukaemia in the same 
year as his reappointment.

“Siniša Mihajlović was one of Serbia’s 
most celebrated footballers and 
coaches. On the pitch, his free kicks 
embodied a passion for, and dedication 
to, the beauty of the game that left 
a lasting impression on the world of 
sport, and his death is a great loss to all 
of us. Our heartfelt condolences go out 
to his family and loved ones during this 
difficult time,” declared FIFA President 
Gianni Infantino.
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André Sinédo  
1978‑2022

A powerful defender who spent the bulk 
of his career with AS Magenta in his native 
New Caledonia, André Sinédo was capped 
27 times by his national team during a 
career that yielded seven league titles and 
six Caledonian Cup crowns.

“Eder”, as he was nicknamed, passed away 
suddenly at the age of 44 and was head 
coach of the AS Magenta U-18 team at the 
time of his passing.
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Lim Kia Tong   
1952‑2022

A devoted servant of the game in his native 
Singapore and across the south-east Asia region, 
Lim Kia Tong was a highly respected figure in 
the global footballing community after serving 
as deputy chairman of the FIFA Disciplinary 
Committee and chairman of the Asian Football 
Confederation Disciplinary Committee.

Lim, a lawyer by profession, was appointed as a 
member of the Football Association of Singapore 
(FAS) Council in 1999, before being named FAS 
Vice-President in 2007. 

Lim occupied a number of roles that allowed 
him to foster the development of the game in 
his homeland. In April 1999, he took up his first 
position in football as a FAS Council member 
before being elected chairman of the association’s 
Appeals Committee, Disciplinary Committee, 
Football Excellence Committee and Players’ Status 
Committee, among other roles. He took up the 
FAS Vice-President post in April 2007 and was later 
named President. Between 1999 and 2001, Lim 
also served as team manager of the national futsal 
sides from U-18 to U-20 level.

In May 2013, two years after becoming a member 
of the FIFA Disciplinary Committee, Lim was 
elected as the body’s deputy chairman, an 
appointment that made him the first Singaporean 
to occupy a leadership role on a FIFA committee. 
He was also part of the FIFA Ad Hoc Electoral 
Committee in 2015 and 2016 and continued to sit 
on the Disciplinary Committee from 2017 to 2021.

Lim combined his many voluntary roles within 
football with his other two true passions in life: 
reading and practising law. After graduating 
with honours in 1979, he embarked on a private 
practice career in January 1980 that spanned  
42 years.
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Haidar Abdul-Razzaq, Iraq

Twanny Agius, Malta

Rustam Akramov, Uzbekistan

Franklin Anangonó, Ecuador

Javier Astúa, Costa Rica

Hans Bangerter, Switzerland

Armand Barraud, Switzerland

Mahmoud Bayati, IR Iran

Billel Benhammouda, Algeria

Víctor Benítez, Peru

Aldiglade Bhamu, Zimbabwe

Billy Bingham, Northern Ireland

Rıdvan Bolatlı, Türkiye

Tony Boskovic, Australia

Tomás Boy, Mexico

Bernd Bransch, Germany

Egidius Braun, Germany

Per Bredesen, Norway

Omar Borrás, Uruguay

Titus Buberník, Czechia

Ganbold Buyannemekh, Mongolia

Luis Calderón, Peru

Ahmet Çalık, Türkiye

Javier Cárdenas Martínez, Mexico

François Carrard, Switzerland

Joaquim da Silva Carvalho, Portugal

Des Casey, Republic of Ireland

Fernando Chalana, Portugal

Gulab Chauhan, India

Chen Chengda, China PR
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Chia Boon Leong, China PR

Cho Jung-hyun, Korea Republic

Elias Coelho Filho, Brazil

Lamin Conteh, Sierra Leone

Marco Cornez, Chile

Justice Christopher, Nigeria

Kossi Dakey, Togo

Henri Depireux, Belgium

David Dias, Angola

Kiro Dojčinovski, North Macedonia

Hans-Jürgen Dörner, Germany

József Duró, Hungary

Milan Dvořák, Czechia

Nils Arne Eggen, Norway

Naci Erdem, Türkiye

Bo Ingemar Erlandsson, Sweden

Carlo Facchin, Italy

Wolfgang Fahrian, Germany

Brian Fear, Wales

Máté Fenyvesi, Hungary

Jim Fleming, Canada

Fred  
(Frederico Rodrigues de Oliveira),  
Brazil

Carlo Galli, Italy

Francisco Rodríguez García, Spain

Alex Gilady, Israel

Cor van der Gjip, Netherlands

Einārs Gņedojs, Latvia

Fernando Gomes, Portugal

Andy Goram, Scotland
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Sumanta Ghosh, India

Jürgen Grabowski, Germany

Josué Grande, Peru

Henk Groot, Netherlands

Roland Guillas, France

Alberto Gurrola, Mexico

Freddy Hall, Bermuda

Johan Hamel, France

Jens Jøorgen Hansen, Denmark

Jürgen Heinsch, Germany

Ronnie Hellström, Sweden

Alexander Horváth, Slovakia

John Hughes, Scotland

Andrzej Iwan, Poland

Miodrag Ješić, Serbia

David John-Williams, Trinidad and Tobago

Joseph Kabungo, Zambia

József Kardos, Hungary

Karim Bavi, IR Iran

Evaristo Kasunga, Zambia

Yoshio Kikugawa, Japan

Bello Koformata, Nigeria

Anatoli Kuksov, Ukraine

Janusz Kupcewicz, Poland

Ernst Lämmli, Switzerland

Le Hung Dzung, Vietnam

Kamel Lemoui, Algeria

Luciano Macías, Ecuador

Sergei Mandreko, Russia

Babu Mani, India

FIFA remembers 
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Marcel Mauron, Switzerland

Peter McDonald, Republic of Ireland

Morton McKnight, Northern Ireland

Mick Meagan, Republic of Ireland

Rómulo Méndez, Guatemala

Abdelmalek Messaoud, Algeria

Kálmán Mészöly, Hungary 

Katie Meyer, USA

Alberto Michelotti, Italy

Abdelkader Mokhtatif, Morocco

Julio Morales, Uruguay

Ahmed Mostafa, Egypt

Adel Al Mulla, Qatar

Manuel Muñoz, Chile

Terry Neill, Northern Ireland

Jacques N’Gguea, Cameroon

Luciano Nizzola, Italy

Jürgen Nöldner, Germany

Maurice Norman, England

Théodore Nzue, Gabon

Frank O’Farrell, Republic of Ireland

Fabián O’Neill, Uruguay

Juan Carlos Orellana, Chile

Jorge Ovando, Guatemala

František Plass, Czechia

Andrés Prieto, Chile 

Héctor Pulido, Mexico

Duckson Puslas, Sri Lanka

François Remetter, France

Francis Rion, Belgium
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Carlos Adolfo Riquelme, Paraguay

Francesco Rizzo, Italy

Gerhard Rodax, Austria

Ramazan Rragami, Albania

Andrejs Rubins, Latvia

Goran Sankovič, Slovenia

Víctor Santos, Andorra

Stavros Sarafis, Greece

David Sassoli, Italy

Hussein Sattar, Singapore

Piet Schrijvers, Netherlands

Vyacheslav Semenov, Ukraine

Rolando Serrano, Colombia

Oleksandr Shyshkov, Ukraine

Shebby Singh, Malaysia

Milutin Šoškić, Serbia

Joachim Streich, Germany

Pleun Strik, Netherlands

Robert Sulimae, Solomon Islands

Madhav Suvarna, India

El Hadji Malick Sy, Senegal

György Szilágyi, Hungary

Narendar Thapa, India

Dan Theis, Luxembourg

András Törőcsik, Hungary

Orlando de la Torre, Peru

Alfredo Torres, Mexico

József Tóth, Hungary

Duncan Tshegofatso, Botswana

Jason Di Tullio, Canada

FIFA remembers 
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Aarno Turpeinen, Finland

Rotislav Václavíček, Czechia

Luciano Vassalo, Ethiopia

José Luis Violeta, Spain

Wendell Lucena Ramalho, Brazil

Leo Wilden, Germany

David Wilson, Scotland

Giuseppe Wilson, Italy

Maryan Wisniewski, France

Georgi Yartsev, Russia

Charles Yohane, Zimbabwe

Fevzi Zemzem, Türkiye

Abdelhamid Zouba, Algeria

Ibrahim Zukanović, Bosnia and Herzegovina

Viktor Zvyagintsev, Ukraine 
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AFG 
Afghanistan

BDI 
Burundi

AIA  
Anguilla

BEL  
Belgium

BEN  
Benin

BER  
Bermuda

BFA  
Burkina Faso

BHR  
Bahrain

BHU  
Bhutan

BIH  
Bosnia and 

Herzegovina

ALB  
Albania

ALG  
Algeria

AND  
Andorra

ANG  
Angola

ARG  
Argentina

ARM  
Armenia

ARU  
Aruba

BLR  
Belarus

CMR  
Cameroon

ASA  
American 

Samoa

BLZ  
Belize

COD  
Congo DR

ATG  
Antigua and 

Barbuda

BOL 
Bolivia

COK 
Cook Islands

AUS  
Australia

BOT 
Botswana

COL 
Colombia

AUT  
Austria

BRA  
Brazil

COM 
Comoros

AZE  
Azerbaijan

BRB  
Barbados

CPV  
Cabo Verde

BAH  
Bahamas

BRU  
Brunei 

Darussalam

CRC  
Costa Rica

BAN  
Bangladesh

BUL  
Bulgaria

CRO  
Croatia

CAM 
Cambodia

CAN  
Canada

CAY 
Cayman Islands

CGO  
Congo

CHA  
Chad

CHI  
Chile

CHN  
China PR

CIV  
Côte d’Ivoire

CTA 
Central African 

Republic 

CUB  
Cuba

CUW 
Curaçao

CYP 
Cyprus

CZE  
Czech Republic

DEN  
Denmark

DJI  
Djibouti

DMA  
Dominica
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DOM  
Dominican 
Republic

GER  
Germany

IRL  
Republic of 

Ireland

LAO  
Laos

ECU  
Ecuador

GHA  
Ghana

IRN  
IR Iran

LBN  
Lebanon

EGY 
Egypt

GIB 
Gibraltar

IRQ 
Iraq

LBR 
Liberia

ENG 
England

GNB 
Guinea-Bissau

ISL 
Iceland

LBY 
Libya

EQG 
Equatorial 

Guinea

GRE 
Greece

ISR 
Israel

LCA 
St Lucia

ERI  
Eritrea

GRN  
Grenada

ITA  
Italy

LES  
Lesotho

ESP  
Spain

GUA 
Guatemala

JAM 
Jamaica

LIE 
Liechtenstein

EST  
Estonia

GUI  
Guinea

JOR  
Jordan

LTU  
Lithuania

ETH 
Ethiopia

FIJ  
Fiji

FIN 
Finland

FRA 
France

FRO  
Faroe Islands

GAB  
Gabon

GAM  
Gambia

GEO  
Georgia

GUM 
Guam

GUY 
Guyana

HAI 
Haiti

HKG 
Hong Kong

HON 
Honduras

HUN  
Hungary

IDN  
Indonesia

IND  
India

JPN 
Japan

KAZ 
Kazakhstan

KEN 
Kenya

KGZ 
Kyrgyz

Republic

KOR 
Korea Republic

KSA  
Saudi Arabia

KUW  
Kuwait

KOS  
Kosovo
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LUX 
Luxembourg

LVA  
Latvia

MAC  
Macau

MAD  
Madagascar

MAR  
Morocco

MAS  
Malaysia

MDA  
Moldova

MDV  
Maldives

MKD  
North 

Macedonia

MLI  
Mali

MLT 
Malta

MNE  
Montenegro

MNG  
Mongolia

MOZ  
Mozambique

MRI  
Mauritius

MEX  
Mexico

MSR 
Montserrat

MTN  
Mauritania

MWI  
Malawi

MYA  
Myanmar

NAM  
Namibia

NCA  
Nicaragua

NCL  
New Caledonia

NED  
Netherlands

NEP  
Nepal

NGA  
Nigeria

NIG 
Niger

NIR 
Northern 
Ireland

NOR  
Norway

NZL  
New Zealand

OMA  
Oman

PAK  
Pakistan

PAN 
Panama

PAR  
Paraguay

PER 
Peru

PHI  
Philippines

PLE  
Palestine

PNG  
Papua New 

Guinea

POL  
Poland

POR  
Portugal

PRK  
Korea DPR

PUR  
Puerto Rico

QAT 
Qatar

ROU 
Romania

RSA 
South Africa

RUS  
Russia

RWA  
Rwanda

SAM  
Samoa

SCO 
Scotland

SDN  
Sudan

SEN 
Senegal

SEY 
Seychelles

SGP  
Singapore

SKN  
St Kitts  

and Nevis

SLE  
Sierra Leone

SLV  
El Salvador
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FSGC Logo - main versions (pantone)

SMR  
San Marino

SOL  
Solomon 
Islands

SOM 
Somalia

SRB 
Serbia

SRI 
Sri Lanka

SSD  
South Sudan

STP  
São Tomé and 

Príncipe

SUI  
Switzerland

SUR 
Suriname

SVK  
Slovakia

SVN 
Slovenia

SWE 
Sweden

SWZ  
Eswatini

SYR  
Syria

TAH  
Tahiti

TAN  
Tanzania

TCA  
Turks and 

Caicos Islands

TGA  
Tonga

THA 
Thailand

TJK 
Tajikistan

TKM 
Turkmenistan

TLS 
Timor-Leste

TOG 
Togo

TPE  
Chinese Taipei

TRI 
Trinidad and 

Tobago

TUN 
Tunisia

TUR 
Turkey

UAE 
United Arab 

Emirates

UGA 
Uganda

UKR  
Ukraine

URU  
Uruguay

USA  
USA

UZB  
Uzbekistan

VAN  
Vanuatu

VEN 
Venezuela

VGB 
British Virgin 

Islands

VIE 
Vietnam

VIN  
St Vincent and 
the Grenadines

VIR 
US Virgin 
Islands

WAL  
Wales

YEM 
Yemen

ZAM 
Zambia

ZIM 
Zimbabwe
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